

# Evidence to improve clubfoot services in Africa with Zimbabwe as a case study

## TRACEY HEATHER SMYTHE

# Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy University of London August 2018

Department of Clinical Research

Faculty of Infectious and Tropical Diseases

LONDON SCHOOL OF HYGIENE & TROPICAL MEDICINE

Funded by the Beit Trust, CBM, MiracleFeet, ZANE

Research group affiliation(s): The International Centre for Evidence in Disability

#### Declaration

I, Tracey Heather Smythe, confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where data and information have been derived from other sources. I confirm that these have been appropriately indicated in the thesis.

Signature: Date: 12 09 2018

1

#### Abstract

#### Background

Clubfoot is one of the most common congenital musculoskeletal birth defects. Untreated it leads to physical impairment and deformity, resulting in loss of mobility and function. The cause in most cases is unknown.

With early diagnosis and appropriate treatment functional impairment from clubfoot is avoidable. A minimally invasive technique as described in the Ponseti method is recommended for the treatment of the clubfoot deformity. In some resource-constrained settings, this treatment is being provided by non-specialised health workers, 'clubfoot therapists', trained to treat children with clubfoot.

This PhD thesis seeks to provide evidence to improve services for children with clubfoot in Africa using data from Zimbabwe as a case study.

#### Methods

Two systematic reviews were undertaken; first to investigate the birth prevalence of clubfoot in low-and middle-income countries, and second to determine and evaluate how results of clubfoot management in sub-Saharan Africa are reported.

A Delphi process with 35 experts (Ponseti technique trainers) from across Africa was used to determine (a) the criteria to assess clubfoot treatment and (b) to identify the indicators to evaluate the functionality of clubfoot clinics.

In a retrospective case series of 218 children with idiopathic clubfoot in Harare, Zimbabwe, the results of corrective treatment and the factors that affect outcome were analysed.

Using the results of the first Delphi exercise, a tool (the Assessing Clubfoot Treatment (ACT) score) was developed for clubfoot therapists to assess the results of Ponseti treatment in children of walking age in low resource settings. The tool was evaluated prospectively using the cohort from Harare, and also compared with other existing assessment methods. From the second Delphi study - to obtain a consensus definition on indicators to assess the functionality of a clubfoot clinic in Africa - a questionnaire was developed (Functionality Assessment clubfoot Clinic Tool, FACT) and piloted in a cross-sectional study of service provision in 12 clubfoot clinics in Zimbabwe.

A prospective mixed methods (both quantitative and qualitative) evaluation was used to assess the feasibility of a training programme (delivered through the Africa Clubfoot Training project from 2015 - 2017) for clubfoot therapists in Africa.

#### Results

There is similarity of pooled estimates of birth prevalence of clubfoot in Africa, Eastern Mediterranean region, India and South East Asia (between 1.11 (95%Cl 0.96 - 1.26)/1,000 live births and 1.21 (95%Cl 0.73 - 1.68)/1,000 live births).

Of 22 studies that report results of the Ponseti method in sub-Saharan Africa only 14 (64%) described a primary outcome. Clinical assessment was the most commonly reported outcome measure and the Pirani score was the most frequent tool used to assess clubfoot severity. Results were predominantly reported though case series.

The case series from Parirenyatwa Hospital demonstrated that the Ponseti method was successful in the majority (85%) of feet (defined as a Pirani score of 1 or less) up to completion of the corrective phase, with a relatively low loss to follow-up (8.9%).

The ACT score, which was developed as a result of the first Delphi exercise, included one simple clinical assessment and three parent reported outcomes. In the children who were followed up (n=68) in the cohort from Harare, 72% (49/68) achieved an acceptable outcome (defined as an ACT score of 9 or more). The 'success' of treatment defined by five different assessment tools varied between 56% and 93% in the cohort.

Using the FACT score, developed from the second Delphi exercise, the most common needs identified in the 12 clubfoot clinics in Zimbabwe were (a) a

PhD Thesis

standard treatment protocol, (b) a process for surgical referrals, and (c) a process to monitor drop out of patients.

Fifty-one regional trainers from 18 countries in Africa were trained over the two years of the Africa Clubfoot Training project. These regional trainers delivered the basic and advanced course to 113 participants in 3 countries (Ethiopia, Rwanda and Kenya). The mean participant confidence and the mean participant knowledge both increased substantially following the training. Participants expressed high acceptability of the training, which they attributed to its clear purpose and guidance, and the interpersonal interaction with the trainers.

#### Conclusion

Clubfoot services can be improved in Zimbabwe and probably the wider Africa region. It requires a health system-oriented approach. The evidence presented indicates that children with clubfoot can be effectively treated by trained clubfoot therapists (using the Ponseti method). To enable this there is a need to ensure that clubfoot clinics are appropriately equipped and clubfoot therapists are appropriately trained. Two tools have been developed to assist clubfoot therapists monitor their results (ACT score) and to enable programme managers to monitor the national clubfoot service provision (FACT). Studies to refine and test the ACT and FACT scores in other settings in Africa are required.

### Format of the Thesis

The thesis for this PhD is presented in the 'research paper style' format, in accordance with the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine research degree regulations. It includes a number of different but related journal articles that have been published in, accepted by, or submitted to peer-reviewed journals.

The chapters listed in italics in the Table of Contents are in the research paper format and include publication details in a cover sheet, including acknowledgement of the contributions of other people. The other chapters of the thesis are composed of 'linking material', which includes information or data not covered in the papers and makes the thesis a coherent body of work. I, Tracey H. Smythe, wrote the linking material.

This thesis is divided into four sections (A to D) with each section sub-divided into chapters.

Section A includes the introductory chapter on clubfoot epidemiology and clinical care (Chapter 1), and Chapter 2 on the study rationale, aim, hypothesis and research questions. Chapter 3 provides background information on the Zimbabwe Sustainable Clubfoot Programme and the Africa Clubfoot Training project.

Section B comprises nine research papers (Chapters 4 - 12), which describe the results of the PhD research study. Each chapter is introduced with a preamble that includes information on the rationale for the research. An epilogue follows the research paper and the associated appendices, and summarises the main findings and limitations of the study. The epilogue also includes supplementary material under the sub-title of 'additional information' that clarifies data published in the paper.

Chapters 4 and 5 comprise systematic reviews on birth prevalence of clubfoot in low- and middle-income countries, and the assessment of clubfoot treatment in sub-Saharan Africa, respectively. Chapters 6 to 9 present the short and long-term results of clubfoot treatment, as described in the Ponseti method, in a cohort of children in one referral hospital in Zimbabwe. Chapter 6 reports the short-term results of clubfoot treatment in a case series. Chapter 7 proposes a tool for use by clubfoot therapists to assess success of treatment in children of walking age. The tool is developed and used to evaluate the cohort, and also compared to full clinical assessment in Chapter 8. Chapter 9 presents the long-term results of clubfoot treatment in the cohort and evaluates five tools for use by clubfoot therapists to assess of treatment in children of walking age.

Chapter 10 outlines the indicators to assess clubfoot clinic functionality, and the extent to which these components are provided in Zimbabwe.

Chapters 11 and 12 present the formative research and short-term outcomes for the feasibility of a training programme for clubfoot therapists in Africa.

Section C is a general discussion of the findings from this PhD research study. It includes the implications of the findings of this body of work for future research, policy and clubfoot programmes. Chapter 13 includes an analysis of clubfoot service pathways to discern achievements and identify barriers to improving clubfoot services, using evidence identified in the previous chapters. A health system-oriented approach is used to make recommendations to improve clubfoot services in Zimbabwe. The strengths and limitations of this study are described in Chapter 14. Chapter 15 concludes the thesis with a summary of the findings, and implications for future research, policy and clubfoot programmes are considered.

Section D includes the appendices.

# **Table of Contents**

Format of the Thesis	6
List of Tables	10
List of Figures	11
List of Abbreviations	12
Acknowledgements	14
Contributors to the research presented in this thesis	16

### SECTION A INTRODUCTION

Chapter 1.	Clubfoot epidemiology and clinical care17
Chapter 2.	Study rationale, aim, hypothesis and research questions41
Chapter 3.	The Zimbabwe Sustainable Clubfoot Programme and the Africa
	Clubfoot Training project49

### SECTION B RESULTS

Chapter 4.	Birth prevalence of congenital talipes equinovarus in low- and
	middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis
Chapter 5.	Assessment of success of the Ponseti method of clubfoot
	management in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review91
Chapter 6.	Results of clubfoot treatment after manipulation and casting using
	the Ponseti method: experience in Harare, Zimbabwe115
Chapter 7.	What is a good result after clubfoot treatment? A Delphi-based
	consensus on success by regional clubfoot trainers from across
	Africa127
Chapter 8.	Evaluation of a simple tool to assess the results of Ponseti
	treatment for use by clubfoot therapists143
Chapter 9.	A comparison of outcome measures used to report clubfoot
	treatment with the Ponseti method: results from a cohort in
	Harare, Zimbabwe168
Chapter 10.	Indicators to assess the functionality of clubfoot clinics in low
	resource settings: a Delphi consensus approach and pilot study.

Chapter 11.	The development of a training course for clubfoot treatment in		
	Africa: learning points for course development217		
Chapter 12.	The feasibility of a training course for clubfoot treatment in Africa:		

a mixed methods study.....240

#### SECTION C DISCUSSION

Chapter 13.	Improving clubfoot services in Zimbabwe	264
Chapter 14.	Strengths and limitations	288
Chapter 15.	Conclusions and recommendations	296

#### SECTION D APPENDICES

Appendix 1	Ethics approval	305
Appendix 2	Information and consent documents	314
Appendix 3	Data collection forms	323

# List of Tables

Table 1 Estimated clubfoot cases/million population	20
Table 2 Research methodology	45
Table 3 PhD thesis timescale	46
Table 4 Clubfoot services provided in Zimbabwe	51
Table 5 GDP and expenditure on health	53
Table 6 Estimates of population level effectiveness of clubfoot care in	
Zimbabwe	270
Table 7 Estimation of clubfoot service need per million population in Zim	babwe
Table 8 Summary of limitations of individual research papers	290

# List of Figures

18
19
22
23
24
27
28
30
34
50
51
266
271
272
273
275
281

Unless stated otherwise, all photographs included in this PhD thesis were taken by myself with permission from the participant

### List of Abbreviations

ACT project: Africa Clubfoot Training project

- ACT score: Assessing Clubfoot Treatment score
- CI: confidence interval
- CER: cost effectiveness ratio
- CFT: clubfoot therapists
- CTEV: congenital talipes equinovarus
- DALY: disability adjusted life year
- DOB: date of birth
- FAB: foot abduction brace
- FACT: Functionality Assessment clubfoot Clinic Tool
- GCI: Global Clubfoot Initiative
- **GDP: Gross Domestic Product**
- HIV: human immunodeficiency virus
- ICC: intra-class correlation coefficient
- IMCI: Integrated management of childhood illness
- JREC: Joint Research Ethics Committee for the University of Zimbabwe, College of Health Sciences and Parirenyatwa Group of Hospitals
- LMIC: low- and middle-income countries
- LSHTM: London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine
- MoHCC: Ministry of Health and Child Care
- MOOSE: meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology

MRCZ: Medical Research Council of Zimbabwe

- NGO: Non-governmental organisation
- PPP: purchasing power parity
- PRISMA: preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses
- RCT: randomised control trial
- SD: standard deviation
- THET: Tropical Health Education Trust
- USD: United States Dollar
- VAS: visual analogue scale
- WHO: World Health Organisation
- ZSCP: Zimbabwe Sustainable Clubfoot Programme

### Acknowledgements

The contributions and support of many people have made this work possible.

I am grateful to my supervisors, Professor Allen Foster and Professor Chris Lavy; my work is embedded with lessons from your wisdom and integrity. Your constant encouragement and guidance has developed my penchant for problem solving. Allen, you have guided and honed my ability to wordsmith. Over these years I have experienced that 'it will sort', I am grateful for the opportunity. Chris, I owe this brilliant turn in my life to you, I am thankful for your unwavering support. You taught me to pause, and the value of hearing the quiet voices. I am so pleased to be able to continue to work alongside you both.

Professor Daniel Chandramohan, and in memory Jeroen Ensink. You encouraged my leap into further study and your voices are a reminder of perspective. Jeroen, I hope in some small way this work contributes to your legacy.

Thank you to my advisory committee. Professor Hannah Kuper, for your insightful feedback, and continued support. Professor Jayne Webster, for providing invaluable advice, and for shared laughter.

The ICED team. Thank you for your generosity of friendship. You provide an enriching and challenging environment in which to work. Jyoti Shah, project administrator extraordinaire, I appreciate your patience and willingness to help with small details that go unseen.

I thank the Beit Trust for funding this research study. Your generous financial support of my PhD studentship and project costs has made this work possible.

I thank CBM, MiracleFeet and ZANE for funding project costs.

Thank you to the children and caregivers in this research, for sharing a small part of your lives with me. I hope that this work can further your voices being heard.

I am deeply grateful to my family. You have given me the most. You encourage me to be curious and to question. Thank you for keeping me grounded whilst encouraging me to leap. I could not have accomplished this work without your unwavering support.

This work is dedicated to Mackenzie. May your sensitive and kind spirit discern how you can care for those less able to help themselves. Continue to shine my love.

## Contributors to the research presented in this thesis

	Person	Position	Contribution
Supervision	Allen Foster	Professor of	PhD supervisor
	Christopher	Professor of	PhD supervisor
	Lavy	Orthopaedic and Tropical Surgery	
Advisory	Hannah	Professor of	PhD advisory
panel	Kuper	Epidemiology	committee
members	Jayne	Professor of	PhD advisory
	Webster	International Health and Evaluation	committee
Upgrading	David Moore	Professor of Infectious	PhD upgrading
		Diseases and Tropical Medicine	examiner
	Karl Blanchet	Associate Professor in	PhD upgrading
		Health Systems	examiner
		Research	
LSHTM	Jyoti Shah	Research Projects	Administrative
staff		administrator	support
Africa	Adugna Hirpa	Programme manager	Administrative
Training	Endashaw	Clinical supervisor	Administrativo
project		(Ethionia)	support
team	JMV	Administrator (Rwanda)	Administrative
	Bemeyimana		support
Zimbabwe	Memory	Physiotherapist	Participant informed
team	Mwadziwana	(Parirenyatwa Hospital)	consent, cohort
			demographic data
			collection
	Mediatrice	Physiotherapist	Participant informed
	Mutsambi	(Parirenyatwa Hospital)	consent, cohort
			collection
	Rvan	Director, ZSCP	Logistics support
	Bathurst	,	

Contributors to the research project besides listed authors in the manuscripts

## SECTION A INTRODUCTION



# Chapter 1. Clubfoot epidemiology and clinical care

Child with bilateral clubfoot

#### 1.1 Definition of clubfoot

Birth defects, or congenital anomalies, are a leading cause of mobility impairment in children (1). Congenital talipes equinovarus (CTEV), known as clubfoot, is one of the most common musculoskeletal birth defects. The structural development of the bones and muscles in the foot is affected and the clubfoot is fixed in a rigid downward and inward position (Figure 1).



*Figure 1 Child with bilateral clubfoot* (Credit: Marieke Driese)

Specifically, the clubfoot deformity is characterised by four components:

- cavus of the midfoot (a high arch in the sole of the foot);
- adductus of the forefoot (the front of the foot is positioned toward the opposite leg);
- varus of the hindfoot (the heel is fixed inward); and
- equinus of the hindfoot (the foot points downward) (Figure 2).

There is also an associated decrease in size of the calf muscle.



cavus

varus



adductus



equinus

Figure 2 Three-dimensional deformity of a clubfoot (Credit: Lynn Staheli)

#### 1.2 Birth prevalence

A limited group of statistics is commonly reported for the birth prevalence of clubfoot. The estimates vary with ethnicity, from 0.39/1,000 live births in Chinese populations to 6.8/1,000 live births in Polynesian populations (2) and 1/1,000 live births in Caucasian populations (3). It is estimated that 80% of children born with clubfoot each year live in low- and middle-income countries (LMIC) (4) due to the increased birth rate in these countries.

The birth prevalence of clubfoot and the population birth rate allow estimates of the number of children born with clubfoot per year per million total population. This estimate can be used for planning purposes. For example, a birth rate of 10 live births/1,000 population per year extrapolates to 10,000 live births/million population/year. When the birth prevalence of 1/1,000 cases of clubfoot is applied to this population, this gives a figure of 10 clubfoot cases per million total population.

Data for a population of one million people are presented in Table 1. This information demonstrates how the estimate of the number of children born with clubfoot per million population will vary with birth rate, and with two hypothesised clubfoot birth prevalence rates, 1/1,000 and 6/1,000 live births respectively.

Birth rate/1,000 Projected births/mill pop		Clubfoot cases/mill pop for CFBP of 1/1,000	Clubfoot cases/mill pop for CFBP of 6/1,000	
10	10,000	10	60	
20	20,000	20	120	
30	30,000	30	180	
40	40,000	40	240	

#### Table 1 Estimated clubfoot cases/million population

Legend: mill = million, pop = population. CFBP = clubfoot birth prevalence

Applying clubfoot birth prevalence rates of 1/1,000 and 6/1,000 live births to the population of Zimbabwe (16.15 million), with a crude birth rate of 33 live births/1,000 population (5), estimates 532 to 3,198 children born with clubfoot per year.

#### 1.3 Aetiology and risk factors

Most cases of clubfoot occur as an isolated birth defect and are known as 'idiopathic' because the cause is not known. The remaining 20% of cases are associated with other structural conditions such as arthrogryposis, syndromes and disorders of the nervous system, for example spina bifida (6).

Many theories for the cause of idiopathic clubfoot have been proposed. It is likely that genetic and environmental factors are responsible (6). Transcriptional pathways on genes have been explored (6, 7), however the exact mechanisms by which genetic abnormalities cause clubfoot remain unknown. Male sex is consistently associated with an increased risk of clubfoot (8-11); clubfoot affects twice as many boys as girls. Studies of environmental factors are inconsistent and hypotheses include seasonal variation (12) and intrauterine immobility (13). Associations with ethnicity are not clear. Other risk factors that have been reported are maternal smoking (9-11, 14-16), maternal diabetes (9, 14) and early amniocentesis (17). The underlying pathogenesis for these factors remains uncertain.

Idiopathic clubfoot is bilateral in half of the cases (18).

#### 1.4 Early diagnosis and screening

The relationship between the foot and leg develops by the eleventh week of pregnancy and ultrasound screening can detect the presence of clubfoot after this period (19). Diagnosis at this stage is dependent on the skills of the examiner, the quality of the equipment and the methodology used (20), with a false positive rate of approximately 1 in 5 (18%) (21). In settings where ultrasound is not routinely available, clubfoot can be recognisable at birth due to the distinct fixed structure of the foot.

#### 1.5 Assessment and classification of clubfoot deformity

The severity of clubfoot can vary from mild deformity to a rigid foot that is resistant to manipulation or movement (22). The most widely used severity classifications are the Pirani (23) and Dimeglio (24) scores, which are based on physical assessment of the foot.

#### The Pirani Score

The Pirani score grades six components of the deformity, three components in the midfoot and three in the hindfoot. Each component may score 0, 0.5 or 1. A total score of 6 is the most severe deformity and 0 is a normal foot. The score of the six components of the deformity is determined with either observation, measurement or palpation, and the foot can be assessed within one minute. This scoring system uses different views of the foot to assess the deformity and no technical equipment is required.

The midfoot components that are scored with the Pirani score are the medial crease, the curvature of the lateral border and the lateral head of talus (Figure 3).

# Medial crease







Curved lateral border

0



0.5

1





0

0.5

1

Figure 3 The Pirani score: midfoot assessment (Credit: ACT training)

The hindfoot components that are scored are the rigid equinus, posterior crease and empty heel (Figure 4).

**Rigid equinus** 







0 Posterior crease 0.5

1



0











Figure 4 The Pirani score: hindfoot assessment (Credit: ACT training)

#### The Dimeglio score

The Dimeglio score has a maximum of 20 points and includes eight assessments, one of which is muscle function. The method of assessment is based on a checklist and diagrams (Figure 5) (25) and training material includes an audio-visual package. It requires a specialised instrument for the precise measurement of angles, known as a goniometer.



Figure 5 The Dimeglio score

(Credit: Benson M, Fixsen J, Macnicol M, Parsch K. Children's orthopaedics and fractures: Third Edition. 2010.)

The angle of deformity is assessed in four planes of movement. These components are scored 1 - 4, with 4 the most severe. The presence of four additional elements are observed and scored as 1 (or 0 for absence). The elements are: posterior crease, medial crease, cavus and poor muscle function. The higher the score, the more severe the deformity and the total score is graded as benign, moderate, severe or very severe.

#### Measurement of recurrence

The clubfoot deformity has a strong tendency to recur after corrective treatment. This is because the factors that initiate the deformity remain active as the child grows (26). Recurrence of the deformity is less common after the child is four years old as growth of the foot decreases in speed. There is no agreed assessment of severity of recurrence and elements of the deformity that recur are typically noted under clinical examination and observation of function.

#### 1.6 Clinical management of clubfoot

#### Surgical management

The approach to management of clubfoot has changed over the years as understanding of the deformity has improved. Extensive open surgery to obtain a foot with a 'perfect' shape began in the late 1800s (27). Case series published between 1971 and 1985 estimate a 25% failure rate in extensive open clubfoot surgery (28). Complications included wound scarring, foot and leg weakness, pain in the foot and loss of normal ankle motion with age.

Current indications for surgery include when non-operative treatment reaches a plateau and elements of the clubfoot deformity remain (29), in the treatment of residual muscle imbalance (for example, a tendon transfer) (30), and in cast resistant feet of older children with clubfoot (31).

#### Conservative management

A second approach to clubfoot management is conservative treatment. Conservative techniques achieve correction of the clubfoot deformity gradually, by slowly stretching tight structures through manipulation and then fixation, either with casting materials or strapping. This allows time for soft tissue to remodel and for the position of the bones in the foot to re-align. Treatment ideally begins soon after birth. Conservative treatment developed by Dr J.H. Kite in the 1930s involved manipulation, where each component of the deformity was corrected separately instead of uniformly, and the corrected position was then held with plaster casts (32). The process takes many cast changes over months as the method of manipulation of the foot prevents the hindfoot deformity from resolving, and the below knee casts are unable to maintain the position of the foot adequately (33).

Another conservative technique involves daily manipulation and stretching of the foot, stimulation of underactive muscles and taping (34), and is known as the 'French' or 'functional physical therapy' method. It is human resource intensive and relies on daily dedication of the parents over months.

#### 1.7 The Ponseti method of conservative clubfoot management

In the late 1940s, after extensive anatomical studies, Dr I.V. Ponseti of the University of Iowa devised a minimally invasive technique that included a correction and a maintenance phase. The technique is started as soon as possible after birth. The aim of clubfoot treatment as recommended by Ponseti is to provide children with

"a functional, pain-free, normal-looking foot, with good mobility, without calluses, and requiring no special shoes." (27)

The corrective phase of treatment involves the simultaneous correction of three components of the clubfoot deformity, with the equinus (downward pointing of the foot) corrected last. The manipulated foot is held in a series of long leg (toe to groin) plaster of paris (POP) casts, with the knee at 90 degrees. Two people are required to perform the treatment, one to manipulate the foot and maintain the corrected position, and the other to apply the POP. The casts retain the degree of correction and allow the soft tissue time to remodel. The corrective phase usually takes 4-8 weeks and the baby/infant is seen weekly for treatment (Figure 6).



Figure 6 Positions of the foot and cast after weekly manipulations (Credit: Lynn Staheli)

An outpatient procedure to cut the Achilles tendon (heel tendon), known as a tenotomy, is usually needed to correct the downward position of the foot. An Achilles tenotomy is performed when the cavus, adductus and varus have been corrected, but the rigid equinus remains. The procedure can be undertaken in the outpatient clinic under local anaesthetic (35) and can be performed by a trained medical officer or orthopaedic clinical assistant. The decision of when to refer for tenotomy typically rests with the treating clubfoot therapist. The picture on the right side of Figure 6 demonstrates the foot position after a tenotomy. The final cast remains for 3 weeks to allow the Achilles tendon to re-grow in this lengthened position.

The corrected foot is then maintained in a foot abduction brace (FAB) immediately after the removal of the final cast (Figure 7), with the aim to prevent recurrence of the deformity. The wear schedule of the FAB is recommended as 23 hours a day for the first three months and then only at night until the age of four years (26). The FAB size is changed as the child's foot grows. Both phases are equally as important for success of clubfoot management.



Figure 7 The FAB used in the maintenance phase

#### **1.8 Evidence for clubfoot treatment**

There is some evidence from a small number of randomised controlled trials (RCTs), before-and-after treatment studies and case studies to suggest that the minimally invasive Ponseti method is the treatment of choice.

In 2009 Zwick et al (36) conducted a RCT of the Ponseti method versus surgical treatment with 19 infants (28 feet). The trial was stopped for ethical reasons, before the sample size that was calculated *a priori* was reached, because interim analysis revealed that the surgical group had worse outcome. Minimum follow-up was 3.3 years. In the study, the Ponseti method resulted in better parental satisfaction and passive mobility of the corrected foot when compared to surgery. These results are supported by other observational studies. A cohort study of 45 patients (73 feet) that had undergone clubfoot surgery found a correlation between the extent of clubfoot surgery and the degree of functional limitation (mean follow-up of 30 years) (29). A second cohort study of 24 patients reported that the patients treated with extensive open foot surgery experienced more foot pain, weakness and limited foot range of motion when compared to 48 age matched controls (mean follow-up 21 years) (37). A retrospective study comparing surgery (n=24) against the Ponseti method (n=18) with a control group of healthy young adults (n=48) (38) found an increased range of motion in the foot, greater strength and less arthritis in the adults treated with the Ponseti method compared to surgery. The surgical group had the lowest ankle power generation (strength) compared with the control subjects.

A Cochrane review of clubfoot treatment in 2014 (39) included 14 trials (607 children) and concluded that the Ponseti technique produced better short-term foot alignment compared to other non-operative methods. Recurrence of the deformity following the Kite method led to extensive open foot surgery more often than recurrence following the Ponseti technique.

A systematic review of treatment of clubfoot in children under 2 years old (12 studies, 852 children) in 2017 (40) found that the Ponseti technique required fewer casts, and had a shorter duration to achieve correction and a lower recurrence rate when compared to other techniques. The majority of included studies were case series.

The Ponseti technique for clubfoot treatment has replaced the previous methods as the first line of management for clubfoot in many countries (it is used in 113 of the 193 United Nations member states (41)), and has been shown to reduce the need for extensive open foot surgery (42, 43).

#### 1.9 Untreated clubfoot

Children with untreated or partially treated clubfoot walk on the side or top of their foot because the bones and joints of their foot become fixed in the deformed position (Figure 8).



Figure 8 Child with untreated clubfeet

Untreated clubfoot results in decreased mobility, pain, skin breakdown, callus formation and the inability to wear standard shoes (22, 44), all of which contribute to disability. The World Report on Disability (2011) (45) identifies children with disabilities as being amongst the most socially excluded and vulnerable. Children with neglected or partially corrected clubfoot are therefore likely to experience less access to education, social exclusion and discrimination because of the physical deformity (46). The personal, social and economic consequences for untreated clubfoot extend beyond that of the individual, to their families and wider community, and the cycle of disability and poverty is well recognised (47). A recent systematic review of poverty and

disability in LMIC (48) found evidence for a positive association between physical impairment and poverty in 78% (14/18) of included studies.

The concept of 'access' describes the relationship between a child with clubfoot and the family, and the health system. Penchansky and Thomas (1981) (49) present access as the "degree of fit" between the population and the health system. The authors define access as a general concept that includes the dimensions of availability, accessibility, accommodation, affordability and acceptability. Factors to consider for access include the supply features of the health system and the demand features of the population (50). Levesque et al (51) define access to healthcare as the opportunity to have healthcare needs fulfilled. The authors expand on the definition of Penchansky and Thomas (1981) (49) and propose that patient centred access includes approachability, acceptability, availability, affordability and appropriateness of the service, with the population able to perceive, seek, reach, pay and engage in services.

Studies that investigate access to clubfoot care in LMIC include evaluation of carer and service provider barriers. A study in four countries in 2015 (Argentina, the Netherlands, Indonesia and South Africa), to identify factors that influence initiation of clubfoot treatment, undertook semi-structured interviews with caregivers of children with clubfoot (n=51) and practitioners treating clubfoot (n=11) (52). The study found that cost of transport, long duration of travel, poverty, lack of awareness and missed working days form a barrier toward the start of treatment. A systematic review and meta-synthesis in 2016 of factors that affect patient access to clubfoot treatment in LMIC included 11 qualitative studies (53). The study used the five levels of the Social Ecological Model (intrapersonal factors, interpersonal processes, institutional/organisational factors, social-cultural/community and public policy) (54) to inform the findings of the meta-synthesis. The review found that caregivers experienced barriers at all five levels. At the intrapersonal level, these included limited access to finance and additional responsibilities within the home. Interpersonal influences were lack of support from fathers, extended family and the wider community. Institutional or organisational factors included long distances to treatment centres, and insufficient information about treatments and bracing protocols. Sociocultural influences included stigma associated with the impairment. At the

PhD Thesis

level of public policy, caregivers who were dependant on social services or limited insurance policies experienced longer delays in acquiring braces than those accessing comprehensive private care.

#### 1.10 Cost effectiveness of clubfoot treatment

The Ponseti technique is cost-effective in low resource settings when compared to treating other conditions (55) and surgical correction (56). Grimes et al (55) found the average cost of the Ponseti treatment to be USD167 per patient using data from 12 countries in sub-Saharan Africa. The average number of disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) averted was 7.42. The cost of averting one year lost to disability due to clubfoot (cost-effectiveness ratio (CER)) (57) was USD22.46 per DALY averted. This is similar to the median CER of standard vaccinations (USD12.96–25.93 per DALY) (58). In Pakistan, Hussein et al (56) found that the average cost for the Ponseti method was USD349 compared with USD810 for children treated surgically.

#### 1.11 Task-sharing and task-shifting in clubfoot management

In high-income settings, some clubfoot clinics have adopted a task-sharing approach between physiotherapists and orthopaedic surgeons. A retrospective cohort study in a tertiary hospital in Toronto, Canada, found that the Ponseti method of casting was equally as effective when directed by a physiotherapist as compared to a surgeon, with fewer recurrences and a less frequent need for additional procedures in the physiotherapist-directed group (59). In settings where the number of trained surgeons is limited, non-specialised healthcare providers can carry out clubfoot treatment. For example, the orthopaedic clinical officer programme in Malawi has produced healthcare workers competent to manage clubfoot deformity by conservative treatment, and perform minor soft tissue surgery such as tenotomy, in small rural district hospitals (60). Of 100 consecutive cases treated by orthopaedic officers, 98 of the feet achieved plantigrade (a position where the child can stand with feet flat on the floor) (61).

#### 1.12 Research framework for clubfoot management

This PhD thesis proposes a theory of change to guide the generation of data to plan, implement and improve health care services for children with clubfoot in Africa. This model was developed to understand the clubfoot service within the health system of Zimbabwe, and the pathways that determine the extent to which the delivery and receipt of clubfoot treatment (Ponseti technique) is successful. For the purpose of this PhD thesis, a 'good clubfoot service' is defined as a clubfoot service that is appropriate to the needs of the population given the available resources in the country and that meet national standards.

A theory of change is a conceptual model. It illustrates hypothesised causal pathways. For example, this model contains key elements that, in theory, change what occurs in clubfoot services for good clubfoot management to be received. It links outcomes with activities to explain how and why the desired change is expected to come about (62).

This theory of change was refined through the course of the PhD to reflect ongoing understanding and research findings. Consensus on the hypothesised causal pathways was reached through two workshops. The workshops included experts in clubfoot service provision in Africa, health service provision in low resource settings and experts in evaluation of complex interventions.

The base of the design illustrates the activities that are required to achieve three proximal outcomes of (i) good quality clubfoot services are planned, monitored and resourced; (ii) good quality clubfoot treatment is provided; and (iii) caregivers seek diagnosis and treatment promptly and attend correction and brace reviews (Figure 9). The hypothesised causal pathways are denoted by arrows, which indicate the relationship between an activity and the output that is produced from the activity. The three proximal outcomes are preconditions to achieving the distal outcome of 'good clubfoot management is received,' which is positioned at the top of the design. Assumptions of context and processes are noted in shaded boxes.

A dashed line is drawn between the distal outcome and the impact of 'good clubfoot management is received throughout the country and physical impairment and disability from clubfoot is eliminated.' This is the ceiling of accountability and is the level at which the distal outcome may contribute to impact, but will require additional factors, for example, 'a just society.' (63)

Good clubfoot management is received throughout the country & physical impairment & disability from clubfoot is eliminated						
Good clubfoot management is received						
	Service	es are accessible affor	↑ dable acceptable av	ailable & are accommo	dating	
•	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••		••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••		<u>مراجعة المراجعة الم</u>	
Good quality clubfoot services are planned, monitored and resourced		Good quality clubfoot treatment is provided		Caregivers seek diagnosis and treatment promptly & attend correction and brace reviews		t promptly & attend ews
•	h	<b>↑</b>	<b>↑</b>	↑	↑	<b>↑</b>
CF service planning, i evaluation & availab feasible, effective and national health syste	nonitoring, ility of resources are d supported within m	Corrective treatment and bracing is appropriate	Training & supervision is effective, therapists remain in posts	Caregiver willing to seek treatment	Community acts on increased knowledge	Counselling accepted by caregivers
<u>↑</u>	<u> </u>	<b>↑</b>	<u>^</u>	<u>^</u>	<u>^</u>	<u>^</u>
Institutional capacity to plan, monitor & evaluate CF services is strengthened	Resources available for CF clinic	FABs & POP available	At least two trained therapists	HW identify clubfoot & refer child to appropriate clinic	Increased community knowledge of clubfoot	Effective counselling about treatment & bracing received
<b>^</b>	<b>^</b>	<b>^</b>	<b>↑</b>	<b>↑</b>	<b>↑</b>	<b>↑</b>
Institutional strengthening to plan for CF services, monitor & evaluate	Enabling of resources to be available for CF clinic	Functioning FAB & POP supply chain	Training, mentoring & supervising clubfoot therapists	Training HW to identify clubfoot & refer to clubfoot clinic	Providing sensitising & educational activities for the community	Giving counselling about treatment & bracing to caregivers
	Good d Good quality clui planned, monitor CF service planning, r evaluation & availab feasible, effective and national health syste ↑ Institutional capacity to plan, monitor & evaluate CF services is strengthened ↑ Institutional strengthening to plan for CF services, monitor & evaluate	Good clubfoot management i Service ↑ Good quality clubfoot services are planned, monitored and resourced ↑ CF service planning, monitoring, evaluation & availability of resources are feasible, effective and supported within national health system ↑ Institutional capacity to plan, monitor & evaluate CF services is strengthened ↑ Institutional strengthening to plan for CF services, monitor & evaluate CF services to be available for CF clinic	Good clubfoot management is received throughout Good club Services are accessible, affor Services are accessible, affor Serv	Good clubfoot management is received throughout the country & physica   Good clubfoot management is   Good clubfoot management is   Good clubfoot management is   Services are accessible, affordable, acceptable, average   Model colspan="2">Training &   Good quality clubfoot services are planned, monitored and resourced   Provided   Training &   Corrective treatment and bracing is appropriate   appropriate   Training &   At least two trained therapists remain in posts   Model colspan="2">Training mentoring &   Institutional capacity to plan, monitor & evaluate CF services is strengthened   Model colspan="2">Training mentoring &   Institutional capacity to plan, monitor & evaluate CF services is strengthened   Model colspan="2">Training mentoring available for CF clinic   FABS & POP available   Training, mentoring be available for CF clinic   Functioning FAB & POP supply chain	Good clubfoot management is received throughout the country & physical impairment & disabilit   Good clubfoot management is received	Good clubfoot management is received throughout the country & physical impairment & disability from clubfoot is elim   Good clubfoot management is received

**Clubfoot clinic** Systems Primary health care, community and caregiver

Legend: CF = clubfoot; HW = health worker; FAB = foot abduction brace; POP = plaster of paris Figure 9 The theory of change for clubfoot services in Zimbabwe

The theory of change is one method that provides a framework for evaluation of services. For example, the theory of change considers the interdependence between caregiver demand for clubfoot services, and the supply of the services by the clubfoot clinic and the broader health system. The extent of the caregiver's knowledge and understanding of clubfoot may influence their decision to seek treatment, whilst the diagnosis of clubfoot and appropriate referral from a health worker will influence the extent to which early intervention at a clubfoot clinic can be provided. Indicators can be established for these hypothesised causal pathways (e.g. proportion of children identified with clubfoot within a catchment area; extent of caregivers' understanding of clubfoot treatment after diagnosis). Both quantitative and qualitative data can be generated from the indicators and measured over time to assess the extent of improvement.

The activities on the pathways to achieve good clubfoot management being received are identified as:

- Institutional strengthening to plan for, monitor and evaluate clubfoot services within the national health system;
- Enabling resources to be made available for clubfoot clinics;
- A functioning FAB and POP supply chain;
- Training, mentoring and supervising of clubfoot therapists;
- Training of health workers to identify children with clubfoot and to refer to clubfoot clinics;
- Providing sensitising and educational activities for the community; and
- Giving counselling about treatment and bracing to caregivers.

This PhD thesis aims to address the following proximal outcomes of the model:

#### 1. Quality of treatment provided:

(i) through the evaluation of short and long-term results of clubfoot treatment in a cohort, and factors that influence the outcome;

(ii) through the development of a tool (Assessing Clubfoot Treatment (ACT) score) for clubfoot therapists to monitor their treatment and decide on need for referral for further intervention;

(iii) through evaluation of the feasibility of a training programme for clubfoot therapists in Africa that will support the implementation of the Ponseti technique.

#### 2. Clubfoot service planning and monitoring:

 (i) through the development of a tool (Functionality Assessment clubfoot Clinic Tool (FACT)) to assess the functionality of clubfoot clinics in Zimbabwe, and identify the strengths and weaknesses leading to recommendations for improvement.
# References

1. WHO. World atlas of birth defects. International Centre for Birth Defects (ICBD) of the International Clearinghouse for Birth Defects Monitoring Systems in collaboration with European Surveillance of Congenital Anomalies (EUROCAT) in cooperation with Human Genetics Programme WHO. Geneva: World Health Organisation, 2003.

2. Ching GH, Chung CS, Nemechek RW. Genetic and epidemiological studies of clubfoot in Hawaii: ascertainment and incidence. Am J Hum Genet. 1969;21(6):566-80.

3. Wynne-Davies R. Genetic and environmental factors in the etiology of talipes equinovarus. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1972;84:9-13.

4. Jowett CR, Morcuende JA, Ramachandran M. Management of congenital talipes equinovarus using the Ponseti method: A systematic review. Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery - British Volume. 2011;93-B(9):1160-4.

5. The World Bank. World Total Population 2016 [Accessed: 07/05/2018]. Available from: <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.TOTL</u>.

6. Dobbs MB, Gurnett CA. Genetics of clubfoot. J Pediatr Orthop B. 2012;21(1):7-9.

7. Dietz FR, Cole WG, Tosi LL, Carroll NC, Werner RD, Comstock D, et al. A search for the gene(s) predisposing to idiopathic clubfoot. Clin Genet. 2005;67(4):361-2.

8. Byron-Scott R, Sharpe P, Hasler C, Cundy P, Hirte C, Chan A, et al. A South Australian population-based study of congenital talipes equinovarus. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol. 2005;19(3):227-37.

9. Kancherla V, Romitti PA, Caspers KM, Puzhankara S, Morcuende JA. Epidemiology of congenital idiopathic talipes equinovarus in Iowa, 1997-2005. Am J Med Genet A. 2010;152A(7):1695-700.

10. Alderman BW, Takahashi ER, LeMier MK. Risk indicators for talipes equinovarus in Washington State, 1987-1989. Epidemiology. 1991;2(4):289-92.

11. Cardy AH, Sharp L, Torrance N, Hennekam RC, Miedzybrodzka Z. Is there evidence for aetiologically distinct subgroups of idiopathic congenital talipes equinovarus? A case-only study and pedigree analysis. PLoS One. 2011;6(4):e17895.

12. Robertson WW, Jr., Corbett D. Congenital clubfoot. Month of conception. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1997(338):14-8.

13. Dietz F. The genetics of idiopathic clubfoot. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2002(401):39-48.

14. Parker SE, Mai CT, Strickland MJ, Olney RS, Rickard R, Marengo L, et al. Multistate study of the epidemiology of clubfoot. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol. 2009;85(11):897-904.

 Dickinson KC, Meyer RE, Kotch J. Maternal smoking and the risk for clubfoot in infants. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol. 2008;82(2):86-91.
 Honein MA, Paulozzi LJ, Moore CA. Family history, maternal smoking, and clubfoot: an indication of a gene-environment interaction. Am J Epidemiol. 2000;152(7):658-65.

17. Farrell SA, Summers AM, Dallaire L, Singer J, Johnson JA, Wilson RD. Club foot, an adverse outcome of early amniocentesis: disruption or deformation? CEMAT. Canadian Early and Mid-Trimester Amniocentesis Trial. J Med Genet. 1999;36(11):843-6. 18. Gibbons PJ, Gray K. Update on clubfoot. J Paediatr Child Health. 2013;49(9):E434-7.

19. Miron M-C, Grimard G. Ultrasound evaluation of foot deformities in infants. Pediatric Radiology. 2016;46(2):193-209.

20. Faldini C, Fenga D, Sanzarello I, Nanni M, Traina F, Rosa Michele Attilio A. Prenatal Diagnosis of Clubfoot: A Review of Current Available Methodology. Folia Medica2017. p. 247.

21. Huntley JS, Howard JJ. QUESTION 2: What is the predictive value of an antenatal ultrasound showing apparently isolated talipes equinovarus? Archives of Disease in Childhood. 2016;101(11):1073-8.

22. Dobbs MB, Gurnett CA. Update on clubfoot: etiology and treatment. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2009;467(5):1146-53.

23. Pirani S, Hodges D, Sekeramayi F. A reliable and valid method of assessing the amount of deformity in the congenital clubfoot deformity. Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery, British Volume. 2008;90-B(SUPP I):53-.

24. Dimeglio A, Bensahel H, Souchet P, Mazeau P, Bonnet F. Classification of clubfoot. J Pediatr Orthop B. 1995;4(2):129-36.

25. Benson M, Fixsen J, Macnicol M, Parsch K. Children's orthopaedics and fractures: Third Edition2010. 1-905 p.

26. Ponseti IV. Relapsing clubfoot: causes, prevention, and treatment. Iowa Orthop J. 2002;22:55-6.

27. Dobbs MB, Morcuende JA, Gurnett CA, Ponseti IV. Treatment of idiopathic clubfoot: an historical review. Iowa Orthop J. 2000;20:59-64.

28. Atar D, Lehman WB, Grant AD. Complications in clubfoot surgery. Orthop Rev. 1991;20(3):233-9.

29. Dobbs MB, Nunley R, Schoenecker PL. Long-term follow-up of patients with clubfeet treated with extensive soft-tissue release. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2006;88(5):986-96.

30. Böhm S, Sinclair M. Report of the 1st European consensus meeting on Ponseti clubfoot treatment. Journal of Children's Orthopaedics. 2013;7(3):251-4.

31. Ayana B, Klungsoyr PJ. Good results after Ponseti treatment for neglected congenital clubfoot in Ethiopia. A prospective study of 22 children (32 feet) from 2 to 10 years of age. Acta Orthop. 2014;85(6):641-5.

32. Kite JH. Nonoperative treatment of congenital clubfoot. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1972;84:29-38.

33. Herzenberg JE, Radler C, Bor N. Ponseti versus traditional methods of casting for idiopathic clubfoot. J Pediatr Orthop. 2002;22(4):517-21.

34. Dimeglio A, Canavese F. The French functional physical therapy method for the treatment of congenital clubfoot. J Pediatr Orthop B. 2012;21(1):28-39.
35. Lebel E, Karasik M, Bernstein-Weyel M, Mishukov Y, Peyser A. Achilles tenotomy as an office procedure: safety and efficacy as part of the Ponseti serial casting protocol for clubfoot. J Pediatr Orthop. 2012;32(4):412-5.

36. Zwick EB, Kraus T, Maizen C, Steinwender G, Linhart WE. Comparison of Ponseti versus surgical treatment for idiopathic clubfoot: a short-term preliminary report. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2009;467(10):2668-76.

37. Graf A, Hassani S, Krzak J, Long J, Caudill A, Flanagan A, et al. Longterm outcome evaluation in young adults following clubfoot surgical release. J Pediatr Orthop. 2010;30(4):379-85.  Smith PA, Kuo KN, Graf AN, Krzak J, Flanagan A, Hassani S, et al. Long-term results of comprehensive clubfoot release versus the Ponseti method: which is better? Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2014;472(4):1281-90.
 Gray K, Pacey V, Gibbons P, Little D, Burns J. Interventions for congenital talipes equinovarus (clubfoot). Cochrane Database Syst Rev.

2014(8):Cd008602.

40. Ganesan B, Luximon A, Al-Jumaily A, Balasankar SK, Naik GR. Ponseti method in the management of clubfoot under 2 years of age: A systematic review. PLoS One. 2017;12(6):e0178299.

41. Shabtai L, Specht SC, Herzenberg JE. Worldwide spread of the Ponseti method for clubfoot. World J Orthop. 2014;5(5):585-90.

42. Morcuende JA, Dolan LA, Dietz FR, Ponseti IV. Radical reduction in the rate of extensive corrective surgery for clubfoot using the Ponseti method. Pediatrics. 2004;113(2):376-80.

43. Zionts LE, Zhao G, Hitchcock K, Maewal J, Ebramzadeh E. Has the rate of extensive surgery to treat idiopathic clubfoot declined in the United States? J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2010;92(4):882-9.

44. Penny JNMDFRCS. The Neglected Clubfoot. Techniques in Orthopaedics Orthopaedic Surgery in the Developing World. 2005;20(2):153-66.

45. WHO. World Report on Disability. 2011.

46. Filmer D. Disability, Poverty, and Schooling in Developing Countries: Results from 14 Household Surveys. The World Bank Economic Review. 2008;22(1):141-63.

47. Banks L, Polack S. The economic costs of exclusion and gains of inclusion of people with disabilities: Evidence from low and middle income countries. London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine: 2014.

48. Banks LM, Kuper H, Polack S. Poverty and disability in low- and middleincome countries: A systematic review. PLOS ONE. 2017;12(12):e0189996.

49. Penchansky R, Thomas JW. The concept of access: definition and relationship to consumer satisfaction. Med Care. 1981;19(2):127-40.

50. WHO. Health Systems: imporving performance. Geneva, Switzerland: The World Health Organisation., 2000.

51. Levesque J-F, Harris MF, Russell G. Patient-centred access to health care: conceptualising access at the interface of health systems and populations. International Journal for Equity in Health. 2013;12:18-.

52. van Wijck SF, Oomen AM, van der Heide HJ. Feasibility and barriers of treating clubfeet in four countries. Int Orthop. 2015;39(12):2415-22.

53. Drew S, Lavy C, Gooberman-Hill R. What factors affect patient access and engagement with clubfoot treatment in low- and middle-income countries? Meta-synthesis of existing qualitative studies using a social ecological model. Tropical Medicine & International Health. 2016;21(5):570-89.

54. McLeroy KR, Bibeau D, Steckler A, Glanz K. An ecological perspective on health promotion programs. Health Educ Q. 1988;15(4):351-77.

55. Grimes CE, Holmer H, Maraka J, Ayana B, Hansen L, Lavy CBD. Costeffectiveness of club-foot treatment in low-income and middle-income countries by the Ponseti method. BMJ Glob Health. 2016;1(1):e000023.

56. Hussain H, Burfat AM, Samad L, Jawed F, Chinoy MA, Khan MA. Costeffectiveness of the Ponseti method for treatment of clubfoot in Pakistan. World J Surg. 2014;38(9):2217-22. 57. Murray CJ, Acharya AK. Understanding DALYs (disability-adjusted life years). J Health Econ. 1997;16(6):703-30.

58. Chao TE, Sharma K, Mandigo M, Hagander L, Resch SC, Weiser TG, et al. Cost-effectiveness of surgery and its policy implications for global health: a systematic review and analysis. The Lancet Global Health. 2014;2(6):e334-e45.

59. Janicki JA, Narayanan UG, Harvey BJ, Roy A, Weir S, Wright JG. Comparison of surgeon and physiotherapist-directed Ponseti treatment of idiopathic clubfoot. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2009;91(5):1101-8.

60. Mkandawire N, Ngulube C, Lavy C. Orthopaedic clinical officer program in Malawi: a model for providing orthopaedic care. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2008;466(10):2385-91.

61. Tindall AJ, Steinlechner CW, Lavy CB, Mannion S, Mkandawire N. Results of manipulation of idiopathic clubfoot deformity in Malawi by orthopaedic clinical officers using the Ponseti method: a realistic alternative for the developing world? J Pediatr Orthop. 2005;25(5):627-9.

62. Breuer E, Lee L, De Silva M, Lund C. Using theory of change to design and evaluate public health interventions: a systematic review. Implementation Science. 2016;11(1):63.

63. De Silva MJ, Breuer E, Lee L, Asher L, Chowdhary N, Lund C, et al. Theory of Change: a theory-driven approach to enhance the Medical Research Council's framework for complex interventions. Trials. 2014;15(1):267. Chapter 2. Study rationale, aim, hypothesis and research questions



Members of the physiotherapy team at Parirenyatwa Hospital, Harare

# 2.1 Development of ideas for this thesis

As a paediatric physiotherapist working in Zimbabwe, I treated children with clubfoot using the Ponseti method. From 2011 – 2013 I trained health care workers and other physiotherapists to do the same. We worked in busy clinics on a 'first come first served' basis; there was little time to evaluate our results and training was on an *ad hoc* basis. I noticed that the clubfoot deformity responded well to corrective treatment in most cases but not in a few cases. I did not know what factors influenced these outcomes in our clinics, or how to evaluate our results in older children. I worked with committed clinicians and believed that the care being provided to children with clubfoot was good, but I had no method for testing this hypothesis.

Concern for my patients and for the health care workers that I was mentoring informed my decision to try and understand clubfoot services, and to identify opportunities for improvement in Zimbabwe. Work included in this PhD thesis follows the completion of my MPH (Developing Countries) in September 2015.

# 2.2 Study rationale

First, in order to plan and implement services to reduce impairment and disability from clubfoot in Africa information to estimate the magnitude of clubfoot is required.

Second, although there is a trend in Africa toward using the Ponseti technique for clubfoot treatment, there is no published review of the results in sub-Saharan Africa. In order to monitor, evaluate and improve clubfoot services in African countries it is essential to know what results can be expected and what factors influence the outcome.

Third, clubfoot services are delivered in designated clubfoot clinics in Zimbabwe; however, a tool to assess the functionality of these clinics and the areas that require improvement is not available.

Fourth, Zimbabwe is implementing strategies to improve maternal and child care; this includes policies that target improved recruitment and retention of experienced healthcare providers, and task-shifting some services to non-specialist health care workers (1). If clubfoot services are to be delivered by

specifically trained 'clubfoot therapists' it is important to explore the content and feasibility of a training programme for these clubfoot therapists, to optimise the task-shifting and task-sharing roles.

There is limited published data to inform these requirements. The body of work produced in this thesis is needed to address these gaps in evidence for the provision of care for children with clubfoot in Africa.

# 2.3 Aim

This thesis aims to determine how services for children with clubfoot in Africa can be improved using Zimbabwe as a case study.

# 2.4 Hypothesis

Children with clubfoot in Zimbabwe can be effectively treated by trained clubfoot therapists, using the Ponseti method, in appropriately equipped clubfoot clinics.

# 2.5 Research Questions

- 1. How many children are born with clubfoot per million population in African countries each year?
- 2. What are the reported results of clubfoot treatment (Ponseti technique) in Africa?
- 3. How can the results of Ponseti treatment be monitored and assessed by clubfoot therapists in Africa?
- 4. What are the short and long-term results of Ponseti treatment in a cohort of children with clubfoot in Zimbabwe and what factors influence the outcome of treatment?
- 5. What indicators are required to assess the functionality of clubfoot clinics in Africa?
- 6. What are the strengths and weaknesses of current clubfoot clinics in Zimbabwe; how can the services be improved?
- 7. What is the feasibility of a training programme for clubfoot therapists in Africa?

# 2.6 Components of the thesis

This PhD thesis contains the following components:

- Two systematic reviews. The first includes birth prevalence studies of clubfoot in LMIC to assess the magnitude of the condition. The second is a systematic review of the results of the Ponseti method as reported in sub-Saharan Africa.
- A Delphi process. This was used with experts in clubfoot treatment in Africa to establish the key criteria for measuring success of treatment.
- A cohort study of 218 children with clubfoot, treated in one clinic in Harare, Zimbabwe. This was used to document the short and long-term outcomes of clubfoot treatment and to identify the factors that influence the outcome.
- A second Delphi study. This was used to identify the indicators for assessing the functionality of a clubfoot clinic and service in Africa; the indicators were piloted in a tool to evaluate the Zimbabwe clubfoot clinics.
- A prospective mixed methods (both qualitative and quantitative) study. This evaluation of a training programme for clubfoot therapists informed the content of the programme and the feasibility of the training in Africa.

# 2.7 Research methodology

The use of both quantitative and qualitative methods, with a cohort study, a cross-sectional clinic service provision study and a pre-post evaluation of training aimed to provide multiple perspectives to determine ways in which to improve services for children with clubfoot (Table 2).

This research contributes to evidence to improve clubfoot services in Africa by employing the following methods:

Research Question (2.5)	Method (2.6 and 2.7)	PhD thesis chapter
1	Systematic review and meta-analysis	4
2	Systematic review and integrative review	5
3	Delphi study	7
4	Case series: retrospective analysis of clinic records	6
4	Cohort study: prospective follow-up	8
4	Diagnostic accuracy study of five outcome measures	9
5	Delphi study	10
6	Cross-sectional clinic service provision study	10
7	Mixed methods (qualitative and quantitative) evaluation of training development	11
7	Feasibility study of training course for clubfoot therapists	12

# Table 2 Research methodology

# 2.8 Research timescale

The time plan and activities of this PhD thesis are outlined in Table 3.

|--|

	2015		20	016			20	017		2	018
Activity	Sept-Dec	Jan - Mar	Apr - June	July - Sept	Oct - Dec	Jan - Mar	Apr - June	July - Sept	Oct - Dec	Jan - Mar	Apr - June
PhD Registration (25 <sup>th</sup> Sept 2015)											
Systematic review and meta-analysis of clubfoot birth prevalence											
Analysis of baseline Zimbabwe cohort data											
Pilot clubfoot treatment training in Ethiopia											
Delphi process in Ethiopia											
Systematic review of results of Ponseti method											
Analysis of Delphi process											
Select, develop and translate evaluation tools and questionnaires											
Pilot data collection tools in Zimbabwe											
Pilot clubfoot treatment training in Rwanda											
Review of Zimbabwe pilot cohort data collection											
Zimbabwe cohort data collection											
Zimbabwe facility data collection											
Zimbabwe cohort data analysis											
Zimbabwe facility quality score analysis											
Zimbabwe cohort data synthesis											
Data analysis of ACT training											
Write up of PhD thesis											

# 2.9 Implementation of the research

I, Tracey H. Smythe, am the Principle Investigator (PI) in this research.

To evaluate the cohort and the Zimbabwe clubfoot programme, I worked with the Zimbabwe Ministry of Health and Child Care (Cecelia Nleya, Director of Disability and Rehabilitation Services), the Zimbabwe Sustainable Clubfoot Programme (Ryan Bathurst, Director) and the Parirenyatwa orthopaedic and clubfoot clinic team (Maxman Gova and Rumbidzai Muzarurwi respectively). The Research Assistant was Debra Mudariki, and Memory Mwadziwana and Mediatrice Mutsambi provided logistics support, undertook informed consent with the cohort and collected demographic data at the Parirenyatwa clubfoot clinic, Harare. I collected and extracted the data from clubfoot clinic charts.

The cohort was followed through the bracing phase and Debra Mudariki and I collected data.

The Zimbabwe clubfoot clinic functionality data were collected Debra Mudariki.

Andrew Wainwright provided advice on research study design for the Delphi studies and I collected data for the Delphi study.

I co-authored the Africa Clubfoot Training (ACT) course materials and participated in the design of project implementation. I conveived the framework for evaluation of the ACT project, and the ACT project team (Linda Hansen, Grace Le and Rosalind Owen) and I collected data for the feasibility study. Rosalind Owen collated and analysed the qualitative data from the ACT project.

I undertook the data cleaning and analysis, with statistic advice and support for the meta-analysis provided by David Macleod.

Professor Hannah Kuper (advisory committee) and Professor Jayne Webster (advisory committee) provided advice on this research.

Professor Allen Foster and Professor Christopher Lavy provided supervision and mentorship throughout the implementation of this research.

### References

1. Haley CA, Vermund SH, Moyo P, Kipp AM, Madzima B, Kanyowa T, et al. Impact of a critical health workforce shortage on child health in Zimbabwe: a country case study on progress in child survival, 2000-2013. Health Policy Plan. 2017;32(5):613-24.

# Chapter 3. The Zimbabwe Sustainable Clubfoot Programme and the Africa Clubfoot Training project



Participants of the first Ponseti method training course in Parirenyatwa Hospital, Harare, March 2011

# 3.1 Research setting: Zimbabwe

Zimbabwe is a landlocked country situated in Southern Africa with an area of 390,757 square kilometres. The national census undertaken in 2012 estimated the population as 13.1 million (1). The World Bank estimated the population as 16,150,362 in 2016 (2). The capital city is Harare and Zimbabwe is divided into eight administrative provinces and two cities with provincial status (Figure 10), with 67% of the total population living in rural areas (3).



Figure 10 Map of Zimbabwe with administrative districts (Credit: Ezilon maps)

Clubfoot services are provided in each administrative district and Table 4 provides information on services and estimates of population data from the 2012 Census (3). Figure 11 demonstrates the geographic spread of the clubfoot clinics in Zimbabwe.

Province	Population*	Clubfoot service	No on
Harara	0 100 100	Pariranyatwa Craun of Haanitala, Harara	пар
Пагаге	2,123,132		1
		Harare Central Hospital, Harare	2
		Chitungwiza Central Hospital,	3
		Chitungwiza	
Mashonaland	1,152,520	Bindura Provincial Hospital, Bindura	4
Central			
Mashonaland	1,501,656	Chinhoyi Provincial Hospital, Chinhoyi	5
West			
Mashonaland	1,344,955	Marondera Provincial Hospital,	6
East		Marondera	
Midlands	1,614,941	Gweru Provincial Hospital, Gweru	7
Manicaland	1,752,698	Mutare Provincial Hospital, Mutare	8
Masvingo	1,485,090	Masvingo Provincial Hospital, Masvingo	9
Matabeleland	749,017	Tsholotsho Rehabilitation Village,	10
North		Tsholotsho	
Bulawayo	1,200,337	United Bulawayo Hospital, Bulawayo	11
Province		Mpilo Central Hospital, Bulawayo	12
Matabeleland South	683,893	Gwanda Provincial Hospital, Gwanda	13

### Table 4 Clubfoot services provided in Zimbabwe

\*Population data from the 2012 census



Figure 11 Map of Zimbabwe with Ponseti clubfoot clinics (May 2018) (Permission: Library of Congress)

## Demographics

The crude birth rate for Zimbabwe in 2016 was estimated by the World Bank as 33/1,000 population (2). The 2015 Demographic and Health Survey estimates the national fertility rate in Zimbabwe is four children/mother and the under-five mortality rate is 69 deaths/1,000 live births (4).

## Health system

The primary health care system in Zimbabwe is a pyramidal referral model; clinics and district hospitals provide local services for uncomplicated medical cases and refer patients with more serious or complicated conditions to the seven provincial hospitals (Mutare, Bindura, Marondera, Chinhoyi, Gwanda, Masvingo and Gweru) and six central hospitals. Orthopaedic services are offered in five of the six central hospitals (Harare Central, Parirenyatwa, Chitungwiza, Mpilo, United Bulawayo Hospitals) (5), however out-of-pocket expenses remain high, with hospitals charging on average USD50 for an x-ray (6). The majority (89%) of the population do not have health insurance (4). In 2012, 45% of orthopaedic positions were vacant, with 20% vacancy in both nursing and physiotherapy positions (5).

# Zimbabwe as an African case study

There are several reasons for choosing Zimbabwe as the case study location. I was involved in the establishment of the Zimbabwe clubfoot programme and have in-depth knowledge and understanding of the background and decision-making processes that were undertaken to develop the programme. I mentored clubfoot clinic staff between 2011 and 2013 in Parirenyatwa Hospital, Harare, in a supervisory role that is similar to national co-ordinators of clubfoot programmes in Uganda and Tanzania. The clinic has well maintained records suitable for cohort analysis. The country size and distances between clubfoot clinic sallowed data collection from all clinics within the study timeframe as each clinic has a supervisory visit at least twice a year. The findings of the research study may be applicable to clubfoot services in Africa where the challenges faced by most clubfoot therapists and caregivers of children with clubfoot are similar, such as limited human resources and specialised equipment.

Differences and similarities of national health expenditure also need to be considered for generalisability of research findings. Table 5 presents gross domestic product (GDP) (a measurement of a country's economy) and health expenditures of five countries in Africa, including Zimbabwe. The purchasing power parity (PPP) GDP allows comparison between countries by assessing similar goods, and health expenditure per capita PPP allows comparison of total health expenditure as a ratio of total population (7). The five countries spend \$97 - \$203 per person per year on health, with Zimbabwe spending \$182.

Country*	PPP GDP	GDP	Health Expenditure	Health
	(\$)	(USDmil)	(%) of GDP (World	expenditure/
			Bank 2015)	capita PPP (\$)
)Kenya	3,155	70,529	5.22	157
Tanzania	2,786	47,340	6.12	97
Uganda	1,819	24,079	7.30	139
Zambia	3,933	21,064	5.35	203
Zimbabwe	2,027	16,620	10.32	182

### Table 5 GDP and expenditure on health

\*In alphabetical order

# 3.2 Clubfoot services in Zimbabwe

The Zimbabwe Sustainable Clubfoot Programme (ZSCP) was established in 2010. It is a non-government organisation (NGO) that is registered in Zimbabwe. Since 2012, the primary funder of ZSCP has been MiracleFeet, a registered non-profit organisation based in the USA. In Africa, MiracleFeet partners with clubfoot clinics in Guinea, Liberia, Madagascar, Senegal, Tanzania and Uganda. The aim of ZSCP is to eliminate clubfoot as a lifelong disabling condition in Zimbabwe by establishing an effective and sustainable countrywide clubfoot treatment program using the Ponseti method.

The Zimbabwe Ministry of Health and Child Care (MoHCC) initiated pilot clubfoot clinics that used the Ponseti method with the ZSCP in March 2011. Prior to this, the predominant technique used for clubfoot correction was the Kite method. I co-ordinated the ZSCP between 2011 and 2013, with the aim to set up clubfoot clinics with MoHCC at the Central and Provincial level that use the Ponseti method of treatment. To achieve this aim, local government physiotherapists and rehabilitation technicians were trained in the management of clubfoot with the Ponseti method and FABs were provided to clinics. Two Ponseti treatment training courses were undertaken in Harare and Bulawayo in 2011. The programme expanded to Mutare and Gweru Provincial Hospitals in 2012. The training materials that were used were adapted from the Global Clubfoot Initiative (GCI) resources. In the first year, approximately 200 children were enrolled for treatment in the clubfoot clinics that used the Ponseti method.

The ZSCP continues to provide training, supervision and mentorship to local government clinic staff and, due to economic challenges in the past years, currently provides POP and underwrap for the casting process and FABs for the maintenance phase of clubfoot treatment. ZSCP also has a 'Ponseti guide' programme. The guides are trained to counsel caregivers of children with clubfoot and to assist with data collection in clinics.

# 3.3 The Africa Clubfoot Training project

The Africa Clubfoot Training (ACT) project was a two-year project that started in March 2015 with the aim to strengthen training and delivery capacity for clubfoot treatment in sub-Saharan Africa. The ACT project was a partnership between the Nuffield Department of Orthopaedics, Rheumatology and Musculoskeletal Sciences (NDORMS) at the University of Oxford, the Global Clubfoot Initiative (GCI), CURE Clubfoot and CURE Ethiopia Children's Hospital.

The GCI is a non-profit consortium of individuals and organisations with technical and organisational expertise in the Ponseti method of clubfoot management and with experience in establishing national clubfoot programmes in LMIC. The three main aims of GCI are to provide resources, create links and to collect and share information for clubfoot care in LMIC.

CURE International is a governing member of GCI. CURE International is a registered non-profit organisation based in the USA that was established in 1996 to provide treatment for children with physical disabilities in low resource settings.

The ACT project was funded by the UK Department for International Development (DFID) through a Health Partnership Scheme grant awarded by Tropical Health Education Trust (THET). The project proposed to:

- i. Develop a training course for novice clubfoot treatment providers;
- ii. Strengthen the training and delivery capacity for clubfoot treatment in sub-Saharan Africa; and
- iii. Build capacity for clubfoot treatment training and mentoring.

The first pilot courses were undertaken in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia (September 2015, January and June 2016), Kigali, Rwanda (October 2016), and Nairobi, Kenya (January 2017) in CURE Hospitals.

# 3.4 Funding, collaborating institutions and ethical clearance

This PhD study was supported by the Beit Trust, through a research degree scholarship administered by LSHTM.

The Beit Trust, CBM, MiracleFeet and ZANE funded project costs.

Ethical approval was obtained though LSHTM and the Medical Research Council of Zimbabwe (MRCZ). In addition permission was granted by the Ministry of Health and Child Care (MoHCC), Joint Research Ethics Committee for the University of Zimbabwe, College of Health Sciences and Parirenyatwa Group of Hospitals (JREC), ZSCP and CURE Hospitals (Appendix 1).

# 3.5 Informed consent

In the cohort study, caregivers were contacted by telephone from information on their child's clubfoot clinic chart. Debra Mudariki, the ZSCP clinical supervisor, explained the study to the caregiver and the caregiver and child were invited to attend an assessment session. Informed written consent was obtained from the caregivers of children under the age of sixteen as per national guidelines, upon attendance of the assessment (Appendix 2). Two Parirenyatwa clinic physiotherapists explained the study to caregivers and children in Shona. Care was taken to explain the study objectives and procedures in light of the study involving a vulnerable population: children with, or with a history of, functional limitations. Children were referred to local services if an element of recurrence of the clubfoot deformity was evident on assessment.

Written consent was obtained from all participants prior to commencing training in the evaluation of the ACT project (Appendix 2).

# References

1. Zimstat. 2012 Zimbabwe population census: Population projections thematic report. Zimbabwe National Statistics Agency. United Nations Population Fund, 2015.

2. The World Bank. DataBank 2016 [Accessed: 07/05/2018]. Available from: <u>https://data.worldbank.org</u>.

3. Zimstat. Zimbabwe census 2012. National report. Zimbabwe National Statistics Agency, 2013.

4. Zimstat. Zimbabwe Demographic and Health Survey. Zimbabwe National Statisticas Agency. The DHS Program, ICF International, 2016.

5. Zimstat. Zimbabwe. National Health Profile. 2012.

6. Green A. Zimbabwe post-Mugabe era: reconstructing a health system. The Lancet. 2018;391(10115):17-8.

7. Lv Z, Zhu H. Health care expenditure and GDP in African countries: evidence from semiparametric estimation with panel data. ScientificWorldJournal. 2014;2014:905747.

# SECTION B RESULTS

# Chapter 4. Birth prevalence of congenital talipes equinovarus in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis



The waiting room at the clubfoot clinic, Parirenyatwa Hospital, Harare

# Preamble

Individual epidemiological studies of clubfoot report a variation in birth prevalence range from 0.39 - 6.8/1,000 live births and no quality assessment or analysis of these studies has been undertaken to date.

Accurate information about the magnitude of clubfoot is required to plan and implement services to reduce impairment and disability from clubfoot in Africa. Estimates of birth prevalence of clubfoot are therefore important to understand the actual need, so that the resources (human, equipment and financial) required to develop good health care services for children born with clubfoot can be planned and made available.

This is the first systematic review and meta-analysis of birth prevalence of clubfoot to be undertaken globally. The review includes 48 studies undertaken in LMIC between 1960 and 2015 with data from 13,962,989 children in 20 countries. Data are presented for each World Health Organisation (WHO) region as well as for India and China separately. The information is used to estimate how many children are born with clubfoot per million population in Africa each year.

This research paper was published in the journal Tropical Medicine & International Health after peer review in December 2016.



Registry T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@ishtm.ac.uk

# **RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET**

# <u>SECTION A – Student Details</u>

Student	Tracey Heather Smythe
Principal Supervisor	Professor Allen Foster
Thesis Title	Evidence to improve clubfoot services in Africa with Zimbabwe as a case study

# **SECTION B – Paper already published**

Where was the work published?	Tropical Medicine and International Hea	alth	
When was the work published?	21 <sup>st</sup> December 2016		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	n/a		
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	The publication is covered by a Creative Commons Attribution CCBY Creative Commons Licence. Anyone may copy, distribute, or reuse the content as long as the author and original source are properly cited	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes

\*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

# SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	

# SECTION D – Multi-authored work

	For multi-authored work, give full details of your role i the research included in the paper and in the prepara of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	in ition	I designed the study, did the literature search with co-authors, extracted the data, completed data analysis with assistance from David Macleod, drafted the manuscript, considered revisions and comments from other authors
S	Student Signature:		Date: 9/5/18
S	Supervisor Signature:		Date: 9 5 18

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

VOLUME 22 NO 3 PP 269-285 MARCH 2017

### Systematic Review

# Birth prevalence of congenital talipes equinovarus in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis

Tracey Smythe<sup>1</sup>, Hannah Kuper<sup>1</sup>, David Macleod<sup>2</sup>, Allen Foster<sup>1</sup> and Christopher Lavy<sup>3</sup>

1 International Centre for Evidence in Disability, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK

2 London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK

3 Nuffield Department of Orthopaedics Rheumatology and Musculoskeletal Science, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK

Abstract

OBJECTIVE Congenital talipes equinovarus (CTEV), or clubfoot, is a structural malformation that develops early in gestation. Birth prevalence of clubfoot is reported to vary both between and within low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), and this information is needed to plan treatment services. This systematic review aimed to understand the birth prevalence of clubfoot in LMIC settings.

METHODS Six databases were searched for studies that reported birth prevalence of clubfoot in LMICs. Results were screened and assessed for eligibility using pre-defined criteria. Data on birth prevalence were extracted and weighted pooled estimates were calculated for different regions. Wilcoxon rank-sum test was used to examine changes in birth prevalence over time. Included studies were appraised for their methodological quality, and a narrative synthesis of findings was conducted. RESULTS Forty-eight studies provided data from 13 962 989 children in 20 countries over 55 years (1960–2015). The pooled estimate for clubfoot birth prevalence in LMICs within the Africa region is 1.11 (0.96, 1.26); in the Americas 1.74 (1.69, 1.80); in South-East Asia (excluding India) 1.21 (0.73, 1.68); in India 1.19 (0.96, 1.42); in Turkey (Europe region) 2.03 (1.54, 2.53); in Eastern Mediterranean region 1.19 (0.98, 1.40); in West Pacific (excluding China) 0.94 (0.64, 1.24); and in China 0.51 (0.50, 0.53).

CONCLUSION Birth prevalence of clubfoot varies between 0.51 and 2.03/1000 live births in LMICs. A standardised approach to the study of the epidemiology of clubfoot is required to better understand the variations of clubfoot birth prevalence and identify possible risk factors.

**keywords** clubfoot, congenital talipes equinovarus, birth prevalence, incidence, low income, developing country

### Introduction

Congenital anomalies, also known as birth defects, are one of the leading causes of disability in children [1]. Clubfoot, or congenital talipes equinovarus (CTEV), is one of the most common congenital deformities that cause mobility impairment [2]. The structure and position of the foot are affected, and untreated clubfoot results in pain and reduced mobility, which potentially leads to participation restrictions and activity limitation [3].

Clubfoot forms in the early weeks of gestational development, and this may be part of specific syndromes or secondary to neurologic or systemic disease.

© 2016 John Wiley & Sons Ltd

However, the majority of cases occur in isolation and are termed 'idiopathic' [4], the cause of which is not fully understood [5]. Genetic factors have been implied [6, 7], while environmental factors, for example seasonal variation and intrauterine immobility, have been reported in some studies [5, 8]. Associations with ethnicity are not clear. Other risk factors that have been reported are male gender [9–11], maternal smoking [10–15] and maternal diabetes [10, 13]. However, the underlying pathogenesis for these factors remains a matter of scientific debate. A multifactorial aetiologic model that involves both environmental and genetic factors is likely [8].

Epidemiological studies consistently report higher birth prevalence [16] of idiopathic clubfoot in males and in firstborn children [17]. The condition is bilateral in half of the cases [18]. Typically, a small set of statistics are routinely cited for birth prevalence of clubfoot with reports of 0.39 per 1000 births in Chinese populations, 1.1 per 1000 in Caucasian and 6.8 per 1000 in Polynesian populations [19]. Overall, it is estimated that 80% of children born with clubfoot each year live in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) [18].

Accurate collection of data on population birth rate and prevalence of birth defects is essential to plan,



Figure I Search strategy with PRISM flow diagram.

Table I Studies	of cor	ngenital ti	alipes equine	ovarus (CT	EV) birth prev	alence included i	n systematic review,	1960–2015	*			
Reference				9 - F - F - F				-	5	-	1.771	1
Primary Author	Year	Country	Study time	rerioa or study	Population	Setting	ivietnod of case ascertainment	Population N	Ulubroot N	birth prevalence per 1000	w11son (score)	Clubroot definition
Africa Simpkiss [42]	1961	Uganda	1956–1957	10 months	Live births	1 Hospital	Clinical evaluation by medical student or miduice	1927	1	0.52	0.09–2.93	Musculoskeletal system: talipes equinovarus
Lesi [43]	1969	Nigeria	1966–1967	1 year	Births	1 Maternity hospital	Clinical evaluation within 12 h of birth by primary author and assistant nurse	16 720	19	1.14	0.73-1.77	Congenital defects found according to system' bony: talipes
Pompe van Meerdervoort [44]	1976	South Africa	Not defined	About 3 years'	Live births	1 Hospital	physical examination day after delivery by paediatric/ orthopaedic registrar. Positive by clubfoot by clubfoot specialist.	10 000	35	3.50	2.52-4.86	Excluded spina bifida, arthrogryposis and CP. Nored CTEV: fixed deformity
Delport [45]	1995	South Africa	1986–1989	3 years	Live births	1 Urban academic hospital	Clinical evaluation within 24 h of birth by paediatrician or medical officer	17 351	×	0.46	0.23-0.91	Talipes equinovarus ICD-9 code 75450
Venter [46]	1995	South Africa	1989–1992	3 years 6 months	Live births	1 Rural hospital	Physical examination by trained nurse	7617	19	2.49	1.60–3.89	Musculoskeletal system: talipes equinovarus
Mkandawire [47]	2004	Malawi	2000–2002	22 months	Births	1 Hospital	Physical examination of all neonates, when and by whom not outlined	16 877	<del>3</del> 4	2.01	1.44–2.81	Definition of idiopathic and secondary
Mathias [48]	2010	Uganda	2006–2007	20 months	Live births	8 Regional hospitals	Physical examination by delivery room staff and by clufrmation by cluffnot specialist	110 336	130	1.18	0.99–1.40	Clear definition of clubfoot: positional, idiopathic or syndromic
Orimolade [49]	2014	Nigeria	2014	6 months	Live births	1 Tertiary hospital	Physical examination after delivery	1551	S	3.22	1.38-7.52	Idiopathic clubfoot variety

© 2016 John Wiley & Sons Ltd

	1 200											
Reference				- - -				-	- - 7	-	1.244	- - 7
Primary Author	Year	Country	Study time	Feriod of study	Population	Setting	Method of case ascertainment	Population N	Ulubroot N	birth prevalence per 1000	W1ISON (score)	Clubroot definition
Americas Monteleone-Neto and Castilla [30]	1994	Brazil	1982–1985	4 years	Live births	3 Maternity hospitals in Cubatao	Physical examination, prospective collective	10 218	21	2.06	1.34-3.14	ECLAMC definition of limb deformity: 'ralinee'
Lopez-Camelo [37]	1996	Latin America	1967–1989	32 years	Births	Large database 24 geographic regions of Latin America	ECLAMC (Latin American Collaborative Study of Congeniaal Motomorative	2 159 065	3769	1.75	1.69–1.80	Pes equinus
Guardiola [39]	2009	Brazil	2000-2005	5 years	Births	Large	ECLAMC ECLAMC	26 588	41	1.54	1.14 - 2.09	Clubfoot as defined by ECI AMC
Pachajoa [40]	2011	Columbia	2004-2008	4 years 7 months	Births	uatabase Review of data monitoring system in 1 tertiary	Hospital birth defects monitoring system	32 995	58	1.76	1.36-2.27	ICD-10 and ECLAMC version 2002
South-East Asia						care						
Simatupang [50]	1977	Indonesia	1970–1975	5 years	Live births	1 Hospital [General RSUPP Medan]	Prospective, physical examination 'soon after hirth'	17 241	19	1.10	0.71-1.72	Talipes
Kalra [51]	1984	India	Not specified	14 months	Births	1 Obstetric department, [SN medical college, Agra]	Physical examination within 28 h of birth, no description of hv whom	2720	4	1.47	0.57–3.78	'Musculoskeletal system * talipes equinovarus
Bahadur [52]	1986	India	1980–1984	5 years	Live births	Not stated	Examination of infants after birth	13 321	21	1.58	1.03–2.41	Congenital talipes equinovarus
Chaturvedi [53]	1989	India	1986–1986	12 months	Births	1 Hospital	Physical examination within 48 h of birth	3014	3	1.00	0.34-2.92	Musculoskeletal talipes
Choudhury [54]	1989	India	1986–1987	12 months	Live births	1 Hospital, West Bengal	Physical examination	10 415	4	0.38	0.15-0.99	No numerator for clubfoot. Noted as ralines
Agarwal [55]	1991	India	1981–1984	2 years 6 months	Single births	1 Hospital	Physical examination during the early neonatal	9405	30	3.19	2.24 4.55	Talipes equinovarus
Singh [56]	1991	India	1984–1987	4 years	Live births	1 Hospital, level Π care to neonates	Physical Physical examination by neonatal consultant	7015	32	4.56	3.23-6.43	CTEV

Table I (Continued)

<b>Table I</b> (Conti	nued)											
Reference				Domind of			المعامما مؤامس	Domlation	Clubface	Disch scorolorio	uniter a	Clubbood
Primary Author	Year	Country	Study time	reriod of study	Population	Setting	INTETION OF CASE ascertainment	ropulation N	Ulubroot N	birth prevalence per 1000	w11501 (score)	Clubroot definition
Taksande [57]	2010	India	2005-2007	2 years 7 months	Live births	1 Rural medical college hosnital	Physical review by consultant at time of birth	9194	11	1.20	0.67–2.14	Musculoskeletal system: 'talipes'
Chotigavanichaya [58]	2012	Thailand	2009	4 months	Births	1 Hospital	Clinical examination within 24 h	3396	×	2.36	1.19-4.73	Idiopathic clubfoot used Dimeglio
Pujari [59]	2012	India	Not defined	1 year	Live births	1 Hospital	Physical examination within 24-48 h of hirth	4280	9	1.40	0.64-3.06	CTEV
Agrawal [60]	2014	India	2010-2011	1 year	Births >28 weeks	1 Tertiary care hospital	Physical examination for musculoskeletal defects within 24 h of delivery	7268	15	2.06	1.25–3.40	Talipes equinovarus noted these were not positional
Sachdeva [61]	2014	India	2010	4 months	Births	1 Government hospital	Clinical evaluation by paediatrician soon after birth. Data collection by 30 trained	2862	×	2.80	1.42–5.51	Talipes equinovarus
Baruah [62]	2015	India	2010-2013	2 years 9 months	Live births	1 Hospital	Physical examination within 24 h	17 052	23	1.35	0.90–2.02	ICD-10 classification
Europe Say [63]	1973	Turkey	1969	10 months	Live births >28 weeks	1 Hospital	Physical examination within 48 h by specialises	9947	22	2.21	1.46–3.35	Musculoskeletal system 'clubfoot'
Tuncbilek [26]	1999	Turkey	1993–1994	12 months	Births >20 weeks	22 university hospitals	Physical examination by paediatrician	21 907	43	1.96	1.46–2.64	ICD-10 was used 'pes equinus'
Eastern Mediterranea Akhtar [64]	u 1970	Pakistan	1965–1968	3 years	Live births	Obstetric department in 1 hospital	Obstetric dept. reported data, reviewed by	3570	ω	0.84	0.29–2.47	Specific report of CTEV in Pakistan
Khrouf [65]	1986	Tunisia	1983–1984	9 months	Births	1 Teaching hospital	Clinical Clinical evaluation within 24 h of birth by paediatric staff	10 000	26	2.6	1.77–3.81	Musculoskeletal system, 'clubfoot' with additional deformities

(Continued)	
Table I	

Kererence				Dariad of			Mathod of case	Domination	Clubfoot	Rirth prevolence	Wilcon	Clubfoot
Primary Author	Year	Country	Study time	study	Population	Setting	ascertainment	r opmauon N	N	per 1000	(score)	definition
Sittar [66]	1998	Lebanon	1991–1993	2 years 6 months	Live births	1 Hospital	Physical examination within 24 h by senior resident and pre- discharge examination by	3865	М	1.81	0.88–3.73	Musculoskeletal 'equinovarus'
Ali [67]	2008	Iran	2003–2006	2 years 8 months	Live births	1 Hospital	Physical Physical examination after birth by nrimary author	4660	15	3.22	1.95-5.30	Musculoskeletal 'clubfoot'
ćarbasi [23]	2009	Iran	2003–2004	8 months	Live births	All maternity hospitals in Yadz	Physical examination by Paediatrician	4800	19	3.96	2.54-6.17	ICD-10
Delshad [24]	2009	Iran	2005-2007	2 years	All births	Maternity wards in 6 government hosnitals	Physical examination by paediatrician	61 112	62	1.01	0.79–1.30	ICD-10
vl-Ani [68]	2012	Iraq	2010-2011	1 year	Births	1 Tertiary hospital	Examined by neonatal specialists	5864	∞	1.36	0.69–2.69	Specified difference between idiopathic and secondary
3olalipour [69]	2013	Iran	2007	1 year	Live births	1 Hospital	Physical examination by a paediatrician	6204	S	0.81	0.34–1.89	ICD-10 classification 'musculoskeleta svstem clubfoor
ll Koumi [70] Vost Dacific	2013	Egypt	2011	1 year	Live births	1 Hospital	Physical examination within 24 h	2517	6	2.38	1.09–5.19	ICD-10 'musculoskeleta minor talipes'
imanuel [25]	1972	China	1965–1968	3 years	Singleton live and stillborn >28 weeks	6 Hospitals in Taipei	Examination by 1 of 4 study physicians, two public health nurses follow-up	25 549	19	0.74	0.48–1.16	ICD 1965 version, 'no reducible defect
boo [71]	1990	Malaysia	1988	4 months	Births	1 Maternity hospital,	Routine examination by Doctor, referred to research ream	8369	4	0.48	0.19–1.23	Calculated structural clubfoot
[hong [27]	2005	Malaysia	2002-2003	14 months	Births	All health centres and hospitals in Kinta District	Population-based birth defect register: physical examination by	17 720	23	1.30	0.87–1.95	ICD-10
i [31]	2008	China	1997–2007	10 years	Births	Guangdong Province, 21 cities	Hospital-based surveillance programme	150 357	152	1.01	0.86–1.18	ICD-9 and ICD- 10

	(nami											
Reference				Doutod			and of and	Ld	D	0;		Cutting and
Primary Author	Year	Country	Study time	Period of study	Population	Setting	Method of case ascertainment	Population N	Clubfoot N	birth prevalence per 1000	Wilson (score)	Clubroot definition
Hoang [28]	2013	Viet Nam	2010	1 year	Live births	127 Commune health stations	Physical examination within 24 h of birth	13 954	17	1.22	0.76–1.95	ICD-10
Li [41]	2013	China	2008–2010	2 years	Live births	4 Counties in Hengyang Province	Cluster sampling survey	52 307	50	0.96	0.73–1.26	Clubfoot
Yi [32]	2013	China	2001–2010	10 years	Births	Large database review	Data from birth defects monitoring	8 273 382	4233	0.51	0.50-0.53	ICD-10 Q66.0
Yi [38]	2013	China	2008-2011	4 years	Births	Birth defects monitoring programme in Dongguan	Prospective Collection of birth defects on hospital cards	556 282	537	0.97	0.89–1.05	Congenital clubfoot
Wang [33]	2014	China	2006-2013	8 years	Births	Database review in Haikou	Review birth defects registry forms and perinatal infants quarterly	118 199	62	0.52	0.41–0.67	Talipes equinovarus
Wei Hong [34]	2014	China	2011-2013	3 years	Births	Hospital surveillance programme in Zhuhai City	Data from monitoring institutions	87 059	53	0.61	0.47–0.80	Talipes equinovarus
Yang [35]	2015	China	2003-2009	7 years	Births	Database Database review 26 medical institutions [Longgang Discrice1	Review of birth defects surveillance network	191 017	137	0.72	0.61–0.85	Talipes equinovarus
Xia [36]	2015	China	1997–2011	15 years	Births	Large database 75 hospitals [Henan Province]	Population-based congenital anomalies surveillance system	1 815 920	757	0.42	0.39-0.45	ICD-10

T. Smythe <i>et al</i> .	Prevalence of congen	ital talipes equii	novarus in LMIC
--------------------------	----------------------	--------------------	-----------------

Tropical Medicine and International Health

\*Studies are ordered by WHO region and year of publication.

initiate and develop healthcare services. The aim of this study was to conduct a systematic literature review to estimate the birth prevalence of clubfoot in different World Health Organisation (WHO) regions, in order to inform planning of services and programme management in LMICs.

### Methods

The systematic review was planned, conducted and reported according to established MOOSE (Meta-analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology) guidelines [20] (Appendix S1). A systematic literature search was conducted in January 2016 for peer-reviewed articles that presented original research findings on the birth prevalence of clubfoot in LMIC settings.

### Search strategy

EMBASE, Medline, Global Health, LLACS, Africa-Wide Information and the Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL) were examined for studies published between January 1960 and December 2015 to capture 55 years of data. It was hypothesised that studies that reported on several congenital birth deformities may not include clubfoot in the search terms. Consequently, to capture all relevant studies, a search was carried out using both birth defects and clubfoot terms, with LMIC keywords. Boolean, truncation and proximity operators were used to construct and combine searches for the key concepts as required for individual databases, and an example is available as Appendix S2.

The articles returned by the literature search were screened by one reviewer (TS) first by title and then by abstract. 10% of the abstracts were reviewed by a second reviewer (HK) to check for agreement. The full text was obtained for any paper that was included at abstract screening.

Studies of all languages were included and translated as required. The reference list of all included studies was examined for further relevant studies. All full texts were reviewed independently by two reviewers (TS and either AF, CL or HK), and differences were agreed by discussion. The search strategy is presented in Figure 1.



Figure 2 Birth prevalence of CTEV per 1000 births (Africa region). CTEV, congenital talipes equinovarus.

### Study selection

Congenital talipes equinovarus (CTEV) was defined as a rigid deformity where the foot is fixed in a plantarflexed, supinated and adducted position. Studies were eligible if they met the following criteria: (1) original research that included CTEV; (2) results reported, or allowed calculation of, birth prevalence of clubfoot; (3) all children were screened for clubfoot; and (4) undertaken in a LMIC as defined by the World Bank country classification 2015. Exclusion criteria comprised the following: (1) full text unavailable, (2) unclear that all children were screened for clubfoot (e.g. large reviews of medical records), (3) unclear source population that prevented clear definition of the population denominator or (4) duplicate reports from the same study.

#### Data extraction and analysis

Data were extracted from articles that met inclusion criteria according to The Centre for Reviews and Dissemination guidelines [21]. The following data were extracted:

- General study information, including title, author and year of publication
- Study design
- Study setting and dates conducted

- Population characteristics
- Primary research outcome, including case definitions and results.

All extracted values were examined by the second reviewer to ensure accuracy. Differences between the reviewers were discussed, and a consensus was reached on all papers. One author was contacted for further information.

Data reporting per 1000 births were assumed to be live births unless it was stated that stillbirths were included. Birth prevalence rates were calculated per 1000 live births with 95% confidence intervals (Wilson score intervals), on the basis of the binomial distribution using Stata 14.0 (StataCorp LP, College Station, Texas), from the reported study population and the number of babies identified with clubfoot. It was decided a priori that the populations of China and India would be analysed independently of their WHO region due to their large population size. Tests for heterogeneity were performed. Weighted summary measures were estimated for the six WHO regions, India and China with a random-effects model [22] in the meta-analysis. The relative weight that each study contributed was defined by the sample size of the study. The overall effect estimate is therefore a weighted combination of the studies that contribute to it. Summary measures were graphed with forest plots.



Figure 3 Birth prevalence of CTEV per 1000 births (the Americas region). CTEV, congenital talipes equinovarus.



Figure 4 Birth prevalence of CTEV per 1000 births (South-East Asia region excluding India). CTEV, congenital talipes equinovarus.



Figure 5 Birth prevalence of CTEV per 1000 births (India). CTEV, congenital talipes equinovarus.



Figure 6 Birth prevalence of CTEV per 1000 births (Europe region). CTEV, congenital talipes equinovarus.



Figure 7 Birth prevalence of CTEV per 1000 births (Eastern Mediterranean region). CTEV, congenital talipes equinovarus.



Figure 8 Birth prevalence of CTEV per 1000 births (West Pacific region excluding China). CTEV, congenital talipes equinovarus.



Figure 9 Birth prevalence of CTEV per 1000 births (China). CTEV, congenital talipes equinovarus.
As the time frame for the included studies is wide, an analysis was undertaken to identify whether the birth prevalence of clubfoot was different in the oldest estimates. A two-sample Wilcoxon rank-sum (Mann–Whitney) test was used to compare the birth prevalence in the time periods 1960–1985 and 1986–2015, consisting of 25 and 30 years, respectively.

Cases born per million total population per year were estimated according to regional clubfoot birth prevalence and crude birth rate per 1000 people. The Global Health Observatory data repository provided estimates of crude birth rate.

#### Results

A total of 1835 studies were retrieved for assessment (Figure 1). Of these, 72 studies reported on birth prevalence of clubfoot and provided data from 25 countries (Appendix S3). Twenty-four full texts were excluded, of which 16 papers were retrospective data collection and analysis and it was unclear whether all children were screened (Appendix S4 contains details on the studies excluded). Therefore, 48 studies were selected for inclusion and provided data from 13 962 989 children in 20 countries.

Table 1 summarises the characteristics of the studies eligible for inclusion. All the studies drew cases from a hospital setting. Eight of 37 studies (21.6%) that used a prospective design with physical examination were undertaken in more than one hospital [23–30]. Nine studies used a large database review in settings where there was systematic screening for clubfoot [31–39], one study analysed data from a single hospital defects monitoring system [40] and one study used a cluster sample survey [41]. Thirteen papers (27%) were from the South-East Asia region, with 11 papers in the region published from India. The West Pacific region consisted primarily of research undertaken in China and used large database reviews. Turkey was the only LMIC represented in Europe.

The pooled estimates for clubfoot birth prevalence for Africa (1.11 [0.96, 1.26]), South-East Asia (1.21 [0.73, 1.68]), India (1.19 [0.96, 1.42]) and the Eastern Mediterranean region (1.19 [0.98, 1.40]) are similar. The pooled estimate for clubfoot birth prevalence in LMICs within the Americas region is 1.74 (1.69, 1.80); in Turkey (Europe region) 2.03 (1.54, 2.53); and in West Pacific (excluding China) 0.94 (0.64, 1.24). The birth prevalence is lowest in China at 0.51 (0.50, 0.53).

Analysis of the birth prevalence of clubfoot reported in two date ranges (1960–1985 and 1986–2015) demonstrated no evidence of a difference over time (P = 0.56).

A meta-analysis by region was undertaken (Figures 2-9). The individual study results are displayed in the first column, identified under 'Study'. The summary birth prevalence is displayed in the final row with the test for heterogeneity denoted as  $I^2$  (if  $I^2 \leq 25\%$ , studies are regarded as homogeneous). The second column visually displays the study results. The third column is the summary estimate of the birth prevalence of clubfoot, denoted by ES (95% CI) or effect size. This column gives the corresponding numerical results. The vertical line is the pooled estimate of birth prevalence, and the x-axis is the value of clubfoot cases per 1000 live births. The size of the box is directly related to the 'weighting' of the study in the meta-analysis, and the weight in % in the final column indicates the influence of the study on the overall results. The horizontal lines through the boxes depict the length of the confidence intervals. The diamond in the last row of the graph illustrates the overall result of the meta-analysis. The middle of the diamond sits on the value of the summary birth prevalence, and the width of the diamond depicts the width of the overall CL

Based on the evidence since 1960, figures to plan for clubfoot management can be calculated for the eight populations given the birth rate per million population (Table 2). Population numbers are based on WHO region population birth rates. For planning purposes, regional estimates of birth prevalence should be applied to country specific birth rates.

**Table 2** Projected clubfoot cases born per million total population/year

Region	Birth prevalence/1000	Crude Br/1000*	Clubfoot cases born per million total population/ year
Africa	1.11 (0.96, 1.26)	38.3	43 (37–48)
Americas	1.74 (1.69, 1.80)	17.0	30 (29-31)
SE Asia	1.21 (0.73, 1.68)	19.9	24 (15-33)
India	1.19 (0.96, 1.42)	20.4	24 (20-29)
Turkey	2.03 (1.54, 2.53)	16.8	34 (26-43)
(Europe region)			
Eastern	1.19 (0.98, 1.40)	26.2	31 (26-37)
Mediterranean			
West Pacific	0.94 (0.64, 1.24)	14.7	14 (9–18)
China	0.51 (0.50, 0.53)	13.3	7

\*Accessed WHO data, October 2016 (http://apps.who.int/gho/da ta/view.main.CBDR2040).

#### Discussion

This review summarises 48 studies of clubfoot birth prevalence from LMIC settings with data from 13 962 989 children in 20 countries. To our knowledge, this is the first systematic review of birth prevalence of clubfoot. The results demonstrate a range in birth prevalence from 0.51 (0.50, 0.53) per 1000 live births in China to 2.03 (1.54, 2.53) per 1000 in Turkey. Pooled estimates of birth prevalence rates appear to be similar in Africa, South-East Asia and Eastern Mediterranean regions and India. There was no evidence for a difference in clubfoot birth prevalence in LMICs between 1960–1985 and 1986–2015.

The case numbers and denominator population size differ in the individual studies included in the meta-analyses. The birth prevalence of clubfoot in China is strongly influenced by two large outlier studies [32, 36] that decrease the pooled estimate. Both studies were database reviews of data from hospitals that monitored birth defects through physical examination, and the data were collated on a congenital anomaly registration form. The authors note it is possible that cases were missed. Alternatively, the data may represent a unique feature of inheritance in the idiopathic clubfoot population of China. Only two papers contribute to the estimates of Turkey and the South-East Asia region with combined screened populations of 31 854 and 20 637 children, respectively.

#### Results compared to other studies

Many LMICs lack rigorous congenital anomaly surveillance programmes [72], which makes calculation of birth prevalence difficult. Current estimates range from 4 to 12 cases per 1000 births [73] in LMIC settings. These are likely underestimated due to stigma and exclusion [74] and are also reliant on case definition and robust screening methods. This analysis suggests some variation in the birth prevalence of clubfoot as previously indicated [75]; however, the range is not as large as reported by others [19]. Except for China, there were similar estimates across the regions.

Current data heterogeneity suggests the resulting variation in clubfoot birth prevalence in LMICs is likely influenced by study design and data collection methods and possibly by region and therefore ethnicity as well. Case definition, the case mix between tertiary and secondary facilities and the training of observers may affect prospective reporting of clubfoot. The true birth prevalence will be affected by risk factors, genetic and/or environmental, most of which are unknown.

#### Strengths and limitations

A strength of this study is the relatively large population denominator in several regions. It includes all categories of structural clubfoot (e.g. idiopathic or syndromic) as treatment is required in all cases although outcomes may differ. Data were excluded from clinics where it was not clear from the report how many babies were examined and did not have clubfoot, as birth prevalence cannot be calculated without a denominator. This has resulted in the exclusion of some studies [76, 77] that are regularly cited. This review is limited by the quality and representation of the available data from LMICs.

#### Implications

The estimated birth prevalence of clubfoot will be useful for the planning of services and to better estimate areas of need for country programmes. For instance, one equipped clinic in each district of 1 million people will be sufficient to handle clubfoot treatment if the new case load is up to 43 cases of clubfoot each year, as estimated by this review. Screening at birth for clubfoot is important, so that cases can be detected and treated early, when treatment is most effective. Scaling up appropriate services for screening and treatment remains a priority. Future studies should ensure that a clear case definition and robust screening methods are undertaken to allow comparison of epidemiological data.

#### Conclusions

Clubfoot is relatively common and should be detected at birth. There is no evidence for a large variation in birth prevalence between regions or of the folklore about a high Polynesian birth prevalence. Comparison of prevalence figures for congenital malformations reported from different parts of the world requires clear case definition and comparable methods of data collection. The published data over the last 55 years for clubfoot in LMIC suggest a birth prevalence in the range of 0.5 to 2.0 cases/1000 live births, which results in an estimated 7-43 cases of clubfoot/year/million population, dependent mainly on birth rate. The regional figures, for example in sub-Saharan Africa of approximately 43 cases/year/million population, provide useful information on planning treatment services for clubfoot in LMIC. A standardised approach to the study of the epidemiology of clubfoot is required to better understand the variations of the birth prevalence of clubfoot and possible risk factors.

#### Funding

This work was supported by The Beit Trust and CBM.

#### References

- 1. WHO. World Atlas of Birth Defects. The International Centre for Birth Defects (ICBD) of the International Clearinghouse for Birth Defects Monitoring Systems (ICBDMS) in Collaboration with EUROCAT and in Cooperation with WHO. World Health Organisation: Geneva, 2003.
- 2. Penny JN. The neglected clubfoot. *Tech Orthop* 2005: 20: 153–166.
- 3. World Health Organisation (WHO). *International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health Child and Youth Version: ICF-CY.* WHO: Switzerland, 2007.
- Werler MM, Yazdy MM, Mitchell AA *et al.* Descriptive epidemiology of idiopathic clubfoot. *Am J Med Genet A* 2013: 161A: 1569–1578.
- Siapkara A, Duncan R. Congenital talipes equinovarus: a review of current management. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2007: 89: 995–1000.
- 6. Dietz F. The genetics of idiopathic clubfoot. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2002: **401**: 39–48.
- Dobbs MB, Gurnett CA. Update on clubfoot: etiology and treatment. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2009: 467: 1146–1153.
- 8. Dobbs MB, Gurnett CA. Genetics of clubfoot. *J Pediatr Orthop B* 2012: 21: 7–9.
- Byron-Scott R, Sharpe P, Hasler C *et al*. A South Australian population-based study of congenital talipes equinovarus. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol* 2005: 19: 227–237.
- Kancherla V, Romitti PA, Caspers KM, Puzhankara S, Morcuende JA. Epidemiology of congenital idiopathic talipes equinovarus in Iowa, 1997–2005. *Am J Med Genet A* 2010: 152A: 1695–1700.
- 11. Alderman BW, Takahashi ER, LeMier MK. Risk indicators for talipes equinovarus in Washington State, 1987–1989. *Epidemiology* 1991: 2: 289–292.
- Cardy AH, Sharp L, Torrance N, Hennekam RC, Miedzybrodzka Z. Is there evidence for aetiologically distinct subgroups of idiopathic congenital talipes equinovarus? A caseonly study and pedigree analysis. *PLoS One* 2011: 6: e17895.
- Parker SE, Mai CT, Strickland MJ *et al*. Multistate study of the epidemiology of clubfoot. *Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol* 2009: 85: 897–904.
- Dickinson KC, Meyer RE, Kotch J. Maternal smoking and the risk for clubfoot in infants. *Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol* 2008: 82: 86–91.
- Honein MA, Paulozzi LJ, Moore CA. Family history, maternal smoking, and clubfoot: an indication of a gene-environment interaction. *Am J Epidemiol* 2000: 152: 658–665.
- Mason CA, Kirby RS, Sever LE, Langlois PH. Prevalence is the preferred measure of frequency of birth defects. *Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol* 2005: 73: 690–692.

- Lochmiller C, Johnston D, Scott A, Risman M, Hecht JT. Genetic epidemiology study of idiopathic talipes equinovarus. *Am J Med Genet* 1998: 79: 90–96.
- Jowett CR, Morcuende JA, Ramachandran M. Management of congenital talipes equinovarus using the Ponseti method: a systematic review. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2011: 93-B: 1160–1164.
- Ching GH, Chung CS, Nemechek RW. Genetic and epidemiological studies of clubfoot in Hawaii: ascertainment and incidence. *Am J Hum Genet* 1969: 21: 566–580.
- Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC *et al.* Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. *JAMA* 2000: 283: 2008–2012.
- 21. Dissemination CfRa. *Systematic Reviews*. University of York: Heslington, York, 2008.
- 22. Nyaga V, Arbyn M, Aerts M. Metaprop: a Stata command to perform meta-analysis of binomial data. *Arch Public Health* 2014: 72: 39.
- Karbasi SA, Golestan M, Fallah R, Mirnaseri F, Barkhordari K, Bafghee MS. Prevalence of congenital malformations in Yadz. Acta Medica Iranica 2009: 47: 149–153.
- Delshad S, Tabar AK, Samae H, et al. The incidence of selected congenital malformations during a two-year period in Tehran, Iran. *Tropical Doctor* 2009: 39: 156–158.
- Emanuel I, Huang SW, Gutman LT, Yu FC, Lin CC. The incidence of congenital malformations in a Chinese population: the Taipei collaborative study. *Teratology* 1972: 5: 159–170.
- Tuncbilek E, Boduroglu K, Alikasifoglu M. Results of the Turkish congenital malformation survey. *Turk J Pediatr* 1999: 41: 287–297.
- Thong MK, Ho JJ, Khatijah NN. A population-based study of birth defects in Malaysia. *Ann Hum Biol* 2005: 32: 180–187.
- Hoang T, Nguyen DT, Nguyen PV *et al.* External birth defects in Southern Vietnam: a population-based study at the grassroots level of health care in Binh Thuan Province. *BMC Pediatr* 2013: 13: 67.
- Mathias RG, Lule JK, Waiswa G, Naddumba EK, Pirani S. Incidence of clubfoot in Uganda. *Can J Public Health* 2010: 101: 341–344.
- Monteleone-Neto R, Castilla EE. Apparently normal frequency of congenital anomalies in the highly polluted town of Cubatao, Brazil. Am J Med Genet 1994: 52: 319–323.
- Li B, Zhang X, Ye N *et al.* Study on the changes of incidence rates on birth defects through hospital based surveillance program in Guangdong province during 1997–2007. *Chin J Epidemiol* 2008: 29: 1101–1105.
- 32. Yi L, Zhou GX, Dai L, Li KS, Zhu J, Wang Y. An descriptive epidemiological study on congenital clubfoot in China during 2001 to 2010. *Sichuan Da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban* 2013: 44: 606–609.
- Wang J-M, Xie Z-L, Liang Z-Q, Ling Z-Y, Zhang J. Monitoring of birth defects of perinatal babies in Haikou in 2006–2013. *China Trop Med* 2014: 14: 1122–1124.

- WeiHong B, XiaoBing Q, Al WP. Analysis on monitoring data of birth defects in Zhuhai city from 2011 to 2013 Wuhan. Acta Med Univ Sci Technol Huazhong 2014: 6: 711–714.
- Yang M, Zhang S, Du Y. Epidemiology characteristics of birth defects in Shenzhen city during 2003 to 2009, China. *The journal of maternal-fetal & neonatal medicine* 2015: 28: 799–803.
- Xia L, Sun L, Wang X *et al.* Changes in the incidence of congenital anomalies in Henan Province, China, from 1997 to 2011. *PLoS One* 2015: 10: e0131874.
- Lopez-Camelo JS, Orioli IM. Heterogeneous rates for birth defects in Latin America: hints on causality. *Genet Epidemiol* 1996: 13: 469–481.
- Yi Q-Y, Zhong B-M, Liu J-X, Shi S-X. Investigation of birth defects in Dongguan. *Chin J Child Health Care* 2013: 21: 182–184.
- Guardiola A, Koltermann V, Aguiar PM *et al*. Neurological congenital malformations in a tertiary hospital in south Brazil. *Arg Neuropsiquiatr* 2009: 67: 807–811.
- Pachajoa H, Ariza Y, Isaza C et al. Major Birth Defects in a Third-Level Hospital in Cali, Colombia, 2004–2008. Universidad Nacional de Colombia: Bogota, 2011; 152–162.
- Li N, Yuan Y, Liu Y *et al.* Epidemiological analysis of major congenital malformations of the body in Hengyang. J Sich Univ 2013: 4: 602–605.
- 42. Simpkiss M, Lowe A. Congenital abnormalities in the African Newborn. *Arch Dis Child* 1961: 36: 404–406.
- 43. Lesi FEA. The significance of congenital birth defects in a developing country. *Med Today* 1969: 3: 26–40.
- Pompe van Meerdervoort HF. Congenital musculoskeletal malformation in South African blacks. *S Afr Med J* 1976: 50: 1853–1855.
- 45. Delport SD, Christianson AL, Vandenberg HJS, Wolmarans L, Gericke GS. Congenital anomalies in Black South African liveborn neonates at an Urban Academic Hospital. S Afr Med J 1995: 85: 11–15.
- Venter PA, Christianson AL, Hutamo CM, Makhura MP, Gericke GS. Congenital anomalies in rural black South African neonates – a silent epidemic? *S Afr Med J* 1995: 85: 15–20.
- Mkandawire NC, Kaunda E. Incidence and patterns of congenital talipes equinovarus (Clubfoot) deformity at Queen Elizabeth Central Hospital, Banter, Malawi. *East Cent Afr J Surg* 2004: 9: 28–31.
- 48. Mathias RG, Lule JK, Waiswa G et al. Incidence of clubfoot in Uganda. Can J Public Health 2010: 101: 341–344.
- 49. Orimolade AE, Adepiti AC, Ikuomola AA, Ige OO. Congenital anomalies in a state specialist hospital; a secondary level of healthcare. *East Cent Afr J Surg* 2014: **19**: 44–48.
- Simatupang J, Raid N, Saing B, Siregar H. The incidence of congenital malformation in the General Hospital (RSUPP) Medan' 1970–1975. *Paediatr Indones* 1977: 17: 223–228.
- Kalra A, Kalra K, Sharma V, Singh M, Dayal RS. Congenital malformations. *Indian Pediatr* 1984: 21: 945–950.
- Bahadur RA, Bhat BV. Congenital musculoskeletal malformations in neonates. J Indian Med Assoc 1989: 87: 27–29.

- Chaturvedi P, Banerjee KS. Spectrum of congenital malformations in the newborns from rural Maharashtra. *Indian J Pediatr* 1989: 56: 501–507.
- 54. Choudhury AR, Mukherjee M, Sharma A, Talukder G, Ghosh PK. Study of 1,26,266 consecutive births for major congenital defects. *Indian J Pediatr* 1989: 56: 493–499.
- 55. Agarwal SS, Singh U, Singh PS *et al.* Prevalence & spectrum of congenital malformations in a prospective study at a teaching hospital. *Indian J Med Res* 1991: 94: 413–419.
- 56. Singh M, Deorari AK, Khajuria RC, Paul VK. A four year study on neonatal morbidity in a New Delhi hospital. *Indian J Med Res* 1991: 94: 186–192.
- Taksande A, Vilhekar K, Chaturvedi P, Jain M. Congenital malformations at birth in Central India: a rural medical college hospital based data. *Indian J Hum Genet* 2010: 16: 159–163.
- Chotigavanichaya C, Leurmsumran P, Eamsobhana P, Sanpakit S, Kaewpornsawan K. The incidence of common orthopedic problems in newborn at Siriraj Hospital. J Med Assoc Thai 2012: 50: 541–544.
- Pujari DK, Pujari AD. Congenital malformations detected at birth – a prospective study in Bangalore. *Indian J Public Health Res Dev* 2012: 3: 28–31.
- 60. Agrawal D, Mohanty BB, Sarangi R, Kumar S, Mahapatra SK, Chinara PK. Study of incidence and prevalence of musculoskeletal anomalies in a tertiary care hospital of eastern India. J Clin Diagn Res 2014: 8: AC04–AC06.
- Sachdeva S, Nanda S, Bhalla K, Sachdeva R. Gross congenital malformation at birth in a government hospital. *Indian J Public Health* 2014: 58: 54–56.
- Baruah J, Kusre G, Bora R. Pattern of gross congenital malformations in a tertiary referral hospital in North East India. *Indian J Pediatr* (2015) 82, 917–922.
- 63. Say B, Tuncbilek E, Balci S *et al.* Incidence of congenital malformations in a sample of the Turkish population. *Hum Hered* 1973: **23**: 434–441.
- Akhtar NM. Congenital talipes equino varus in Pakistan. J Western Pac Orthop Assoc 1970: 7: 5–11.
- 65. Khrouf N, Spang R, Podgorna T, Miled SB, Moussaoui M, Chibani M. Malformations in 10,000 consecutive births in Tunis. Acta Paediatr Scand 1986: 75: 534–539.
- Bittar Z. Major congenital malformations presenting in the first 24 hours of life in 3865 consecutive births in south of Beirut. Incidence and pattern. J Med Liban 1998: 46: 256– 260.
- Ali A, Zahad S, Masoumeh A, Azar A. Congenital malformations among live births at Arvand Hospital, 33 Ahwaz, Iran – a prospective study. *Pak J Med Sci* 2008: 24: 33–37.
- Al-Ani ZR, Al-Haj SA, Al-Ani MM, Al-Dulaimy KM, Al-Maraie A, Al-Ubaidi B. Incidence, types, geographical distribution, and risk factors of congenital anomalies in Al-Ramadi Maternity and Children's Teaching Hospital, Western Iraq. *Saudi Med J* 2012: 33: 979–989.
- Golalipour MJ, Mirfazeli A, Mobasheri E. Incidence pattern of congenital malformations in Gorgan – north of Iran. J Med Sci 2013: 13: 834–838.

- El Koumi MA, Al Banna EA, Lebda I. Pattern of congenital anomalies in newborn: a hospital-based study. *Pediatr Rep* 2013: 5: e5.
- Boo NY, Ong LC. Congenital talipes in Malaysian neonates: incidence, pattern and associated factors. *Singapore Med J* 1990: 31: 539–542.
- 72. Penchaszadeh VB. Preventing congenital anomalies in developing countries. *Community Genet* 2002: 5: 61–69.
- 73. Sitkin NA, Ozgediz D, Donkor P, Farmer DL. Congenital anomalies in low- and middle-income countries: the unborn child of global surgery. *World J Surg* 2015: **39**: 36–40.
- Bickler S, Ozgediz D, Gosselin R *et al.* Key concepts for estimating the burden of surgical conditions and the unmet need for surgical care. *World J Surg* 2010: 34: 374–380.
- 75. WHO. Birth Defects in South-East Asia. A Public Health Challenge. WHO: India, 2013.
- 76. Kromberg JG, Jenkins T. Common birth defects in South African Blacks. *S Afr Med J* 1982: 62: 599–602.

 Culverwell AD, Tapping CR. Congenital talipes equinovarus in Papua New Guinea: a difficult yet potentially manageable situation. *Int Orthop* 2009: 33: 521–526.

#### **Supporting Information**

Additional Supporting Information may be found in the online version of this article:

Appendix S1. MOOSE Checklist [for Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology].

Appendix S2. Search terms for clubfoot and birth defects and LMICs.

**Appendix S3.** Papers reporting CTEV birth prevalence published by year and WHO region prior to quality assessment.

Appendix S4. Full text excluded studies.

**Corresponding Author** Tracey Smythe, International Centre for Evidence in Disability, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street, London WC1E7HT, UK. Tel.: +44 (0) 2079 588348; E-mail: tracey.smythe@lshtm.ac.uk

# Web Appendix 1. MOOSE Checklist [for Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology]

## Background

### Problem definition

The birth prevalence of clubfoot or congenital talipes equinovarus (CTEV) is reported to vary in the literature due to inconsistent case definition and population denominators.

### Hypothesis statement

Studies of CTEV in low and middle income countries (LMICs) report different birth prevalence estimates. Studies will be homogenised and the differences in birth prevalence will be examined in terms of WHO country definition and changes in time.

### Study outcomes

- Birth prevalence of CTEV: Number of cases of congenital talipes equinovarus per 1,000 live births
- Generate a homogenous dataset that will allow for comparisons between LMICs and between the date ranges of 1960 – 1985 and 1986 - 2015.

### Type of exposure or intervention used

- Geography was assessed using LMICs (World Bank 2005) in the WHO regions: African region, Region of the Americas, South East Asia Region, European Region, Eastern Mediterranean Region and the Western Pacific Region. India and China were estimated individually due to large population size.
- Changes over time were assessed in two time periods: 1960 1985 and 1986 2015
- The Global Health Observatory data repository provided estimates of regional crude birth rate to allow estimation of cases born per million total population per year.

Type of study design used

Observational studies of CTEV

## Study population

- All children in the study population were screened for clubfoot
- Clear definition of study population with a reliable estimate of the denominator population.
- If the population was well defined and birth prevalence given without the number of cases outlined, cases were calculated with the given information.

## Reporting of search strategy

Qualifications of searchers

- Tracey Smythe has trained in systematic methods of literature searching as part of her PhD studies at the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine
- Prof Christopher Lavy, Prof Allen Foster and Dr Hannah Kuper have participated in many systematic reviews.

The researchers were guided by:

- Jane Falconer, librarian at LSHTM and Fellow of the Higher Education Academy
- David Macleod, Research Fellow, Department of Medical Statistics

Search strategy

- Six medical literature databases searched between January 1960 and January 2016
- The following search terms were used as keywords:

1	developing country
2	developing or less* developed or under developed or underdeveloped or middle income or low* income
3	underserved or under served or deprived or poor*) adj (economy or economies).ti,ab.
4	developing or less* developed or under developed or underdeveloped or middle income or low* income
5	underserved or under served or deprived or poor*) adj (countr* or nation? or population? or world)).ti,ab.
6	(low* adj (gdp or gnp or gross domestic or gross national)).ti,ab.
7	(low adj3 middle adj3 countr*).ti,ab.
8	(Imic or Imics or third world or Iami countr*).ti,ab.
9	Name of Country according to World Bank 2015 classification
10	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9
11	clubf??t
12	club-f??t
13	club ADJ1 f??t
14	talipes equinovarus
15	talipes ADJ2 equinovarus
16	talipes ADJ2 equino-varus
17	congenital talipes equinovarus
18	congenital ADJ2 talipes ADJ2 equinovarus
19	CTEV
20	11 or 12 or 13 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18 or 19
21	birth defect or birth malformation or birth abnormality or congenital defect or congenital malformation or congenital abnormality
22	incidence or occurrence or frequency
23	21 and 22

24	20 or 23
25	10 and 25

Effort to include all available studies, including contact with authors

- The final list of included studies were discussed with experts in the field: Rosalind Owen, Executive Director of the Global Clubfoot Initiative and Nyengo Mkandawire, Professor of Orthopaedics, Malawi
- Studies of all languages were included and translated as required
- Primary authors were contacted for clarification of study period

Databases and registries searched

• EMBASE, Medline, Global Health, LLACS, Africa Wide Information and the Cumulative Index to Nursing, Allied Health Literature (CINAHL)

Use of hand searching

• The reference list of all included studies were examined for further relevant studies.

List of citations located and those excluded, including justification

- See web appendix 4 for full texts that were excluded
- Studies were first excluded by title and then by abstract
- The full text was obtained for any paper that was included at both title and abstract screening
- 72 full texts were read by 2 reviewers and included or excluded according to the criteria listed.

Inclusion Criteria	Exclusion criteria
(1) Original research that included congenital	(1) Full text unavailable
talipes equinovarus	
(2) Results reported, or allow calculation of,	(2) Unclear that all children were screened
birth prevalence of clubfoot	for clubfoot
(3) Undertaken in LMIC as defined by the	(3) Unclear source population that prevents
World Bank country classification 2015	clear definition of the population denominator
(4) All children were screened for clubfoot	(4)Duplicate reports from the same study

Method of addressing articles published in languages other than English

• Non-English articles were translated for each article obtained

Method of handling abstracts and unpublished studies

 Studies published only as abstracts where the case definition and denominator population were not defined were excluded, as were those that were unpublished.

Description of any contact with authors

• Four papers required additional information from authors to ascertain their precise study period. One author (Thong 2005) was contacted via the details

provided in the published study. The study period was clarified as 7<sup>th</sup> January 2002 to 28<sup>th</sup> February 2003.

## **Reporting of methods**

Description of relevance or appropriateness of studies assembled for assessing the hypothesis to be tested

- All studies that provide observational epidemiological data on children born with confirmed CTEV
- Studies in LMICs in all WHO regions are included
- The studied period spans 55 years from 1960 to 2015

Rationale for selecting and coding of data

- Studies were included and excluded as per the criteria outlined above
- 10% of the abstracts were reviewed for agreement
- All full texts were reviewed independently by 2 reviewers (TS and either HK, CL or AF) and differences agreed by discussion
- Data were extracted according to The Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (CRD) guidelines
- Birth prevalence were recorded per 1,000 live births
- Wilson score confidence intervals were calculated

Documentation of how data were classified and coded

• Details are outlined within the methods section of the text

Assessment of confounding

• Not applicable with Wilcoxon rank-sum test due to small numbers of studies per region before 1985, two date ranges were assessed globally.

Assessment of study quality

• Inclusion/exclusion criteria were strict to ensure adequately defined study boundaries and case ascertainment

Assessment of heterogeneity

 Heterogeneity was assessed geographically, and statistically to identify differences between studies

Description of statistical methods

- Birth prevalence rates and Wilson score confidence intervals were calculated (using Stata 14.0) and plotted using forest plots
- The pooled estimate of birth prevalence was calculated per WHO region
- Wilcoxon rank sum test was used to examine change in birth prevalence between two time periods

## Reporting of results

Graphic of individual summary estimates and pooled estimate

- Forest plots are drawn to demonstrate birth prevalence and confidence intervals
- A weighted pooled estimate of birth prevalence of clubfoot was calculated according to WHO region

Table giving descriptive information of all studies included and excluded

- Table of studies included is available within the body of text
- Web appendix 4 lists all excluded papers with reasons for exclusion

Indication of statistical uncertainty of findings

 95% Wilson score confidence intervals for all calculated birth prevalence are given

## **Reporting of discussion**

Quantification of bias

• Quantification of bias is not possible with this study design.

Justification of exclusion

 Papers were excluded based upon exclusion criteria and justification is outlined within text. Excluded papers and reasons for exclusion are listed in Web Appendix 4.

Assessment of quality of included studies

• The inclusion/exclusion criteria maximised the quality of included studies and the uncertainty is illustrated by 95% confidence

## **Reporting of conclusions**

Consideration of alternative explanations for observed results

• Outlined in the discussion section of the main text

Generalisation of these conclusions

• Projected clubfoot cases per million population were estimated

Guidelines for further research

• Outlined in the discussion section of the main text

Disclosure of funding source

 Tracey Smythe received funding from the Beit Trust and Christian Blind Mission (CBM)

## Web Appendix 2. Search terms for clubfoot and birth defects and LMIC

1	developing country
2	developing or less* developed or under developed or underdeveloped or
	middle income or low* income
3	underserved or under served or deprived or poor*) adj (economy or
	economies).ti,ab.
4	developing or less* developed or under developed or underdeveloped or
	middle income or low* income
5	underserved or under served or deprived or poor*) adj (countr* or nation? or
	population? or world)).ti,ab.
6	(low* adj (gdp or gnp or gross domestic or gross national)).ti,ab.
7	(low adj3 middle adj3 countr*).ti,ab.
8	(Imic or Imics or third world or Iami countr*).ti,ab.
9	Name of Country according to World Bank 2015 classification
10	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9
11	clubf??t
12	club-f??t
13	club ADJ1 f??t
14	talipes equinovarus
15	talipes ADJ2 equinovarus
16	talipes ADJ2 equino-varus
17	congenital talipes equinovarus
18	congenital ADJ2 talipes ADJ2 equinovarus
19	CTEV
20	11 or 12 or 13 or 14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18 or 19
21	birth defect or birth malformation or birth abnormality or congenital defect or
	congenital malformation or congenital abnormality
22	incidence or occurrence or frequency
23	21 and 22
24	20 or 23
25	10 and 25

Years	Total number of Papers	African Region	Region of the Americas	South-East Asia Region	European Region	Eastern Mediterranean Region	Western Pacific Region
1960 - 1969	2	Uganda (1)ª, Nigeria (1)					
1970 - 1979	6	South Africa (1)		India (1), Indonesia (1), Pakistan (1)	Turkey (1)		Taiwan (1)
1980 - 1989	9	South Africa (1),		India (6), Thailand (1)		Tunisia (1)	
1990 - 1999	13	South Africa (2)	Brazil (1), Latin America (2)	India (3), Indonesia (1), Malaysia (1)	Turkey (1)	Lebanon (1), Pakistan (1)	
2000 - 2009	15	Malawi (2), Nigeria (2), Zimbabwe (1)	Brazil (1)	Malaysia (1)		Iran (4), Libya (1)	China (1), Philippines (1), Papua New Guinea (1)
2010 - 2015	26	Nigeria (3), Uganda (1)	Brazil (1), Columbia (2),	India (6), Thailand (1)		Egypt (1) , Iran (2), Iraq (1)	China (8), Viet Nam (1)

## Web Appendix 3. Papers reporting CTEV birth prevalence published by year and WHO region prior to quality assessment

<sup>a</sup> Number of published papers

Primary Author and	Year	Country	Study design	Data source	Time	Population	Population N	Clubfoot N	Birth prevalence	Reason
Dash Sharma (78)	1970	India	Data review	Records of birth	3 years	live births	5,554	2	0.36	Retrospective data review, unclear if all children screened
Kromberg and Jenkins (76)	1982	South Africa	Data review	Data from register of births, nursery ward, paediatric ward and mortuary records	2 years	births	29, 633	46	1.55	Retrospective data review, unclear if all children screened
Choudhury (79)	1984	India	Data review	Hospital records of birth registers	4 years	births	21, 016	6	0.29	Retrospective data review, unclear if all children screened
Limpaphayom (80)	1985	Thailand	Data review	Medical records	2 years	births	not specified	104	1.30	No specified population
Roychoudhury (81)	1988	India	Data review	Maternity records	not specified	births	72, 617	not specified	varied from 0.02 to 0.11	Retrospective data review, unclear if all children screened
Castilla (82)	1990	Latin America	large database review	ECLAMC (Latin American Collaborative	4 years	births	Tropical: 287,165	tropical: 442 non: 615	tropical: 1.54 non: 1.06	ECLAMC data used in Lopez - Camelo paper

## Web Appendix 4. Full text excluded studies

				Study of Congenital Malformations) data			Non tropical: 582, 585			
Masloman (83)	1991	Indonesia	Data review	Medical records of department of child health	5 years	births	13, 354	11	0.82	Retrospective data review, unclear if all children screened
Bhat (84)	1998	India	Prospective, physical examination	Physical examination within 24 hours	3 years 3 months	births	12, 797	40 (36 live, 4 still)	3.13	All foot deformities included
Najmi (85)	1998	Pakistan	Prospective, physical examination	Physical examination by Paediatrician	2 years 8 months	live births	11,148	2 TEV and 2 TE	0.18	Unclear definition
Singh (86)	2000	Libya	Data review	Maternal records, NICU registry and stillborn / death certificates	1 year	Births	16, 186	2: clubfoot or 4 talipes	0.37	Retrospective data review, unclear if all children screened
Madzivire (87)	2002	Zimbabwe	Data review	Children attending clubfoot clinic, <4yrs	3 years	Hospital catchment area	96,942	82	0.85	Retrospective data review, unclear if all children screened
Mkandawire (88)	2002	Malawi	Prospective physical examination	Research nurse identified and photographed	13 months	Live births	9,838	11	1.12	Data included in paper published in 2004
Padilla (89)	2003	Philippines	Large database	Birth defects registry	12 months	Births	191, 567	73	0.38	Includes all congenital

										deformities of the feet
Abdi-Rad (90)	2008	Iran	Data review	Chart review	4 years 6 months	Births	14, 121	27	1.90	Retrospective data review, unclear if all children screened
Ekanem (91)	2008	Nigeria	Data review	Data extracted from birth registries	23 years	Birth registry in 2 states of Nigeria	127, 929	31	0.24	Retrospective data review, unclear if all children screened
Culverwell (77)	2009	Papua New Guinea	Data review	Clubfoot clinic notes	2 years	Live births and hospital visits	11, 215	60	2.67	Retrospective data review, unclear if all children screened
Bakare (92)	2009	Nigeria	Prospective, physical examination	Physical examination	1 year	Live births	624	5	8.00	All foot deformities
Zarante (93)	2010	Columbia	Large database	ECLAMC	6 years 9 months	Births	52, 744	132	2.50	Foot deformities include calcaneovalgus
Ukoha (94)	2011	Nigeria	Data review	Hospital records	6 years	Children attending hospital (1 day - 2 yrs)	12,464	43	3.00	Data review for children attending hospital - not birth prevalence
Ekanem (95)	2011	Nigeria	Data review	Maternity records	13 years	Births	19,572	8	0.41	Retrospective data review, unclear if all children screened

Zhu (96)	2012	China	Data review	Data of neonates with congenital malformations	1 year	Live births	6,725	2	0.30	Retrospective data review
Vakilian (97)	2013	Iran	Data review	Review of maternal files	7 years	Live births	20,751	not specified	2.98	Retrospective data review, unclear if all children screened
Nhoncanse (98)	2014	Brazil	Data review	Review of birth certificates	5 years	Live births	12,199	4	0.32	Retrospective data review, unclear if all children screened
Ghorpade (99)	2015	India	Data review	Medical chart review	10 years	Live births	10, 674	60	5.62	Retrospective data review, unclear if all children screened

<sup>a</sup> ordered by year

### References for Web Appendix (Full text excluded studies)

78. Dash Sharma P. The incidence and prevalence of musculoskeletal anomalies in a tertiary care hospital of eastern europe. Indian journal of pediatrics. 1970;37:618-.

79. Choudhury A, Talukder G, Sharma A. Neonatal congenital malformations in Calcutta. 1984.

80. Limpaphayom M, Jirachaiprasit P. Factors related with the incidence of congenital clubfoot in Thai children. J Med Assoc Thai. 1985;68(1):1-5.

81. Roychoudhury A, Mukherjee M, Talukder G, Sharma A. Incidence of congenital malformations in relation to seasonal variation in West Bengal. Indian Pediatr. 1988;25(12):1218-21.

82. Castilla EE, Orioli IM, Lugarinho R, Dutra GP, Lopez-Camelo JS, Campana HE, et al. Monthly and seasonal variations in the frequency of congenital anomalies. Int J Epidemiol. 1990;19(2):399-404.

83. Masloman N, Mustadjab I, Munir M. Congenital malformation at Gunung Wenang
 Hospital Manado: a five-year spectrum. Paediatrica Indonesiana. 1991;31(11-12):294-302.
 84. Bhat BV, Babu L, Congenital malformations at birth — A prospective study from south

84. Bhat BV, Babu L. Congenital malformations at birth — A prospective study from south India. The Indian Journal of Pediatrics. 1998;65(6):873-81.

85. Najmi RS. Risk factors, clinical presentation and perinatal outcome of congenital malformations in a hospital based study. EmbaseJournal of the College of Physicians and Surgeons Pakistan. 1998.

86. Singh R, Al-Sudani O. Major congenital anomalies at birth in Benghazi, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya. Eastern Mediterranean health journal 2000;6(1):65-75.

87. Madzivire D, Useh D, Mashegede PT, Siziya S. Minimum incidence of congenital talipes equino-varus (CTEV) and post treatment evaluation of residual deformities in a population in Zimbabwe. Cent Afr J Med. 2002;48(3-4):33-8.

88. Mkandawire M, Kaunda E, M KEM. An Audit of Congenital Anomalies in the Neonatal Unit of Queen Elizabeth Central Hospital . One-Year Study Period : 1st November 2000 to 31st October 2001. East Cent Afr J Surg. 2002;7(November):29-33.

89. Padilla CD, Cutiongco EM, Sia JM. Birth defects ascertainment in the Philippines. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health. 2003;34 Suppl 3:239-43.

90. Abdi-Rad I, Khoshkalam M, Farrokh-Islamlou HR. The prevalence at birth of overt congenital anomalies in Urmia, northwestern Iran. Archives of Iranian Medicine. 2008;11(2):148-51.

91. Ekanem TB, Okon DE, Akpantah AO, Mesembe OE, Eluwa MA, Ekong MB. Prevalence of congenital malformations in cross river and akwa iborn states of nigeria from 1980 - 2003. Congenital Anomalies. 2008.

92. Bakare TI, Sowande OA, Adejuyigbe OO, Chinda JY, Usang UE. Epidemiology of external birth defects in neonates in Southwestern Nigeria. Afr J Paediatr Surg. 2009;6(1):28-30.

93. Zarante I, Franco L, Lopez C, Fernandez N, Zarante I, Franco L, et al. Frequencies of congenital malformations: assessment and prognosis of 52,744 births in three cities of Colombia. Bogota: Instituto Nacional de Salud; 2010. p. 65-71.

94. Ukoha U, Egwu OA, Okafor IJ. Incidence of congenital talipes equinovarus among chidlren in southeast Nigeria. Int J Biol Med Res. 2011;2(3):712-5.

95. Ekanem B, Bassey IE, Mesembe OE, Eluwa MA, Ekong MB. Incidence of congenital malformation in 2 major hospitals in reviers state of Nigeria form 1990 to 2003. Global HealthEastern Mediterranean Health Journal; 2011. 2011;17(9):701-5.

96. Zhu L, Du D, Yuan N. Analysis on neonatal congenital malformations in Xianyang hospital for gynecology and obstetrics in 2011. Maternal and Child Health Care of China. 2012;33.

97. Vakilian K, Hajian S, Sadeghian A. Frequency of congenital structural anomalies in newborns of Shahroud, Iran. 2013;15:95-.

98. Nhoncanse GC, Germano CM, de Avo LR, Melo DG. Maternal and perinatal aspects of birth defects: a case-control study. Rev Paul Pediatr. 2014;32(1):24-31.

99. Ghorpade N GNJJ. Prevalence of musculoskeletal abnormalities in newborn: A 10 years retrospective analysis of 10,674 neonates in Indian population. Journal of Clinical Neonatology. 2015;4(2):104-8.

## Epilogue (Main findings and recommendations)

The main finding of the systematic review and meta-analysis is the similarity of pooled estimates of birth prevalence of clubfoot in Africa, Eastern Mediterranean region, India and South East Asia (between 1.11 (95%CI 0.96 – 1.26)/1,000 live births and 1.21 (95%CI 0.73 -1.68)/1,000 live births).

There is no evidence for a large variation in birth prevalence of clubfoot between WHO regions.

The variation reported in the literature is likely due to inconsistent case definition and population denominators. Data heterogeneity suggests that the reported variation in clubfoot birth prevalence in LMIC is influenced by study design and data collection methods and possibly by region.

Overall the main limitation of the systematic review and meta-analysis is the low quality and narrow representation of available data, which is characterised by single tertiary hospital studies and large database reviews.

The birth prevalence of clubfoot in China is strongly influenced by two large database reviews that decrease the pooled estimate.

Only two papers contribute to the estimates of Europe (Turkey) and the South East Asia region with combined screened populations of 31,854 and 20,637 children respectively.

<u>Additional Information</u>: Erratum. The meta-analyses specified in this published paper uses a fixed-effects model. The I-squared statistic is not calculated (and is visualised by ( $I^2 = 0.00\%$ , P = .) in all graphs) as the model assumes no heterogeneity between studies and allows weighting by study size. The birth prevalence data of clubfoot were visualised and there was no apparent trend over time.

# Chapter 5. Assessment of success of the Ponseti method of clubfoot management in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review



Child wearing a foot abduction brace

## Preamble

There is no agreed definition of successful outcome following both the correction and the bracing phases of the Ponseti method in clubfoot programmes in African countries.

There is a need for a standardised approach to report clubfoot treatment outcomes in order to establish normative standards to monitor, evaluate and improve clubfoot service delivery in Zimbabwe. This includes data on the expected results of clubfoot treatment and factors that influence these outcomes.

Although the Ponseti method is promoted as an effective and low cost treatment for clubfoot in Africa, there is no published review of the results of the Ponseti method in sub-Saharan Africa.

This chapter is a systematic review of the literature between 2000 and 2017 to determine the results of the Ponseti method in sub-Saharan Africa. The different ways that results are reported are evaluated with a view to developing a reference standard for the monitoring and evaluation of clubfoot treatment in Zimbabwe.

Twenty-two papers met the inclusion criteria and data were from ten countries: Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, Malawi, Mali, Nigeria, South Africa, Togo, Uganda and Zimbabwe.

This systematic review was published in the journal BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders in November 2017 after peer review.



Registry

T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@ishtm.ac.uk

## **RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET**

## <u> SECTION A – Student Details</u>

Student	Tracey Heather Smythe
Principal Supervisor	Professor Allen Foster
Thesis Title	Evidence to improve clubfoot services in Africa with Zimbabwe as a case study

## SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders			
When was the work published?	15 <sup>th</sup> November 2017			
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	n/a			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	The publication is covered by a Creative Commons Attribution CCBY Creative Commons Licence. Anyone may copy, distribute, or reuse the content as long as the author and original source are properly cited	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes	

\*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

## SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	

## SECTION D – Multi-authored work

	For multi-authored wor the research included of the paper. (Attach a	rk, give full details o in the paper and in further sheet if nec	of your role in the preparation cessary)	I designed the study, did the literature search, extracted the data, completed data analysis, interpreted the data, drafted the manuscript, prepared the subsequent revisions with consideration of comments from co-authors				
S	tudent Signature:			Date: _	9/5/18			
S	upervisor Signature:_			Date: _	9/5/18			
1	mproving health world	wide			www.lshtm.ac.uk			

Open Acc<u>ess</u>



# Assessment of success of the Ponseti method of clubfoot management in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review

Tracey Smythe<sup>1\*</sup>, Debra Mudariki<sup>2</sup>, Hannah Kuper<sup>1</sup>, Christopher Lavy<sup>3</sup> and Allen Foster<sup>1</sup>

### Abstract

**Background:** Clubfoot is one of the most common congenital deformities affecting mobility. It leads to pain and disability if untreated. The Ponseti method is widely used for the correction of clubfoot. There is variation in how the result of clubfoot management is measured and reported. This review aims to determine and evaluate how success with the Ponseti method is reported in sub-Saharan Africa.

**Methods:** Five databases were examined in August 2017 for studies that met the inclusion criteria of: (1) evaluation of the effect of clubfoot management; (2) use of the Ponseti method; (3) original study undertaken in sub-Saharan Africa; (4) published between 2000 and 2017. We used the PRISMA statement to report the scope of studies. The included studies were categorised according to a hierarchy of study methodologies and a 27-item quality measure identified methodological strengths and weaknesses. The definition of success was based on the primary outcome reported.

**Results:** Seventy-seven articles were identified by the search. Twenty-two articles met the inclusion criteria, of which 14 (64%) reported a primary outcome. Outcomes were predominantly reported though case series and the quality of evidence was low. Clinical assessment was the most commonly reported outcome measure and few studies reported long-term outcome. The literature available to assess success of clubfoot management is characterised by a lack of standardisation of outcomes, with different measures reporting success in 68% to 98% of cases.

**Conclusion:** We found variation in the criteria used to define success resulting in a wide range of results. There is need for an agreed definition of good outcome (successful management) following both the correction and the bracing phases of the Ponseti method to establish standards to monitor and evaluate service delivery.

**Keywords:** Clubfoot, Congenital talipes equinovarus, Ponseti, Outcome, Evaluation, Treatment, Success, Africa, Sub-Sahara

#### Background

Clubfoot, or congenital talipes equinovarus (CTEV), is one of the most common congenital musculoskeletal deformities. Within the Africa region, clubfoot birth prevalence is estimated as 1.11 (95%CI 0.96–1.26) per 1000 live births [1]. Untreated clubfoot results in pain, physical impairment and can ultimately cause disability [2]. The Ponseti method is widely used for the management of clubfoot [3]. It consists of two distinct phases, the correction phase and the maintenance phase [4]. The correction phase involves precise manipulation of the foot around the talus to correct the cavus, adductus and varus of the deformity. The manipulation position is held in a long leg plaster of paris cast and the cast is typically changed weekly. A percutaneous tenotomy of the Achilles tendon is usually performed to correct the residual equinus. The maintenance phase involves the use of a foot abduction brace (FAB) for 23 h a day for three months, followed by nightly use until four to five years of age [5].



© The Author(s). 2017 **Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

<sup>\*</sup> Correspondence: tracey.smythe@lshtm.ac.uk

 $<sup>^1</sup>$ International Centre for Evidence in Disability, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

Many classification systems have been proposed to assess the severity of the clubfoot deformity and to measure the impact of treatment [6]. Ponseti and Smoley [4] based their classification on clinical assessment of ankle dorsiflexion, heel varus, forefoot supination and tibial torsion after treatment. Feet were classified as good, acceptable or poor. Harrold and Walker [7] considered the extent of deformity correction. The Pirani score [8] and the Dimeglio score [9] are two of the most widely used classification systems for clubfoot deformity [10]. The Pirani score is from 0 to 6 where zero is a normal foot and six is the most severe deformity. It is reliable when used by non-specialist health workers [11]. The Dimeglio score has a maximum of 20 points and the deformity is graded as benign, moderate, severe or very severe.

Tools that have been developed to assess function include: assessment of patient satisfaction and pain, gait, heel position and range of motion [12, 13]; a questionnaire designed to measure overall satisfaction, foot appearance, pain and physical limitations [14]; and a detailed assessment of movement quality that requires mobility testing with a goniometer and muscle testing [15], but does not include parent reported outcomes.

There is a need for a standardised approach to report clubfoot treatment outcomes [16–18]. To address this gap, this review aims to investigate the literature and to determine and evaluate how success with the Ponseti method is reported in sub-Saharan Africa.

#### **Methods**

#### Search strategy

A systematic literature search was conducted in August 2017 for peer-reviewed articles presenting original research findings on the effect of treatment of clubfoot in children in sub-Saharan Africa. Studies were limited to outcomes of the Ponseti method as this technique is widely accepted as best practice [18]. There was no language restriction. Results are presented according to the PRISMA guidelines [19].

Excerpta Medica Database (EMBASE), Global Health, Medline, Africa Wide Information and African Journals Online were examined for studies meeting the following inclusion criteria: [1] evaluation of the effect of clubfoot management, [2] use of the Ponseti method, [3] original study undertaken in sub-Saharan Africa, and [4] published between 1st January 2000 and 1st August 2017. Concepts were expanded to include related terms and synonyms. A study was excluded if there was no evaluation of treatment, however there was no restriction on type of study to allow a quality assessment review. There was no limitation on age of children and the search was restricted by date (2000–2017) to capture current best practice. Full search terms are presented in Table 1 and

Table 1	Search	terms	for	treatm	nent	of	clubfoot	with	the
Ponseti r	method	in sub	)-Sa	haran	Afric	a			

- clubf?t or club-f?t or (club ADJ1 foot) or (talipes ADJ1 equinovarus) or (talipes ADJ1 equino-varus) or (congenital ADJ1 talipes ADJ1 equinovarus) or (congenital ADJ1 talipes ADJ1 equino-varus) or CTEV
- 2 Ponseti
- 3 Country name in sub-Saharan Africa<sup>a</sup>
- 4 1 AND 2 AND 3

<sup>a</sup>Outlined in detail in Additional file 1

the search terms for the country names are outlined in detail in Additional file 1.

All titles and abstracts were screened independently by two authors (TS and DM). The full paper was reviewed if selected by either author or if the abstract was absent. In addition, the reference lists of the included articles were screened. Consensus was reached through discussion where there was disagreement on eligibility.

#### Data extraction

A pilot-tested spread-sheet was used for data extraction from articles that met the inclusion criteria. All characteristics recorded by one author (TS) were reviewed for accuracy by another author (DM). Data extracted included authors, year of publication, type of study, sample size, age of participants, duration of follow up and reported measurement of treatment outcome. Two authors [20, 21] were contacted to provide missing information. Where other forms of treatment were detailed or where a paper included a country outside of sub-Saharan Africa, only data regarding the Ponseti method and from the sub-Saharan African country were extracted.

#### Assessment of study quality

Full articles that met the eligibility criteria were categorised according to a hierarchy of study methodologies [22] developed to assess intervention strategies used with children with developmental disabilities. Quality of evidence was ranked as:

- I. Systematic review of randomised controlled trials (RCTs); RCT with *N* > 100
- II. RCT with N < 100; Systematic review of cohort studies
- III.Cohort studies with concurrent control group; Systematic reviews of case control studies
- IV.Case series; Cohort study without concurrent control group; Case-control study
- V. Expert opinion; Case study or report; Anecdotal Evidence.

In addition to the levels of evidence, we used a quality measure proposed by Downs and Black [23] to identify methodological strengths and weaknesses of the included studies as there was no limitation on type of study. The quality index is a 27-item checklist designed for use with both observational studies and randomised controlled trials. The index is comprised of five subscales: reporting (ten questions), external validity (three questions), internal validity (bias and confounding) (13 questions), and power (one question). Items are checked as 'yes', 'partially', 'no' or 'unable to determine' depending on the subscale and higher scores indicating higher quality. The maximum score is 32.

#### Data analysis

The definition of success was determined by the primary outcome reported in the studies or if explicitly stated. There were no studies that were sufficiently homogenous in terms of participants and outcomes to include in a meta-analysis and data were not combined due to methodological and clinical heterogeneity. An integrative review method [15] that included problem identification, data presentation and analysis was used to incorporate results. Summary statistics for the quality measure were calculated and include the mean and range (minimum and maximum).

#### Results

#### Search results

A total of seventy-seven articles were identified. Twentytwo studies met the inclusion criteria. The search strategy and reasons for excluding articles are presented in Fig. 1.

#### Study characteristics

Characteristics of the eligible studies are presented in Table 2 and include children from one day old [21] to 10 years [24].

The quality of evidence that reported outcomes of the Ponseti method in sub-Saharan Africa was low. Studies were included from ten countries in sub-Saharan Africa; studies undertaken in Nigeria and Malawi contributed five papers each. There were three RCTs, all with small sample sizes of less than 100 children. The majority of studies were classed as level IV [22] due to their observational nature.

#### Definition of success - Primary outcome

All authors described a form of clinical assessment to assess outcome of treatment. Only 14 studies (64%) gave a clear definition of success. The Pirani score was defined



Table 2 Characteristics of studies that report outcomes of the Ponseti method in sub-Saharan Africa<sup>a</sup>

		- p			
Primary Author Year Country	Number of children and (feet) treated	Age Range	Type of study (Level of Evidence)	Comparator Group	Duration of Follow up
Ibraheem 2017 [21], Nigeria	23 (14)	<3 months	Randomised controlled trial (II)	Children managed by accelerated Ponseti treatment	32–77 days.
Malagelada 2016 [32], South Africa	65 (91)	4–63 months	Cross sectional survey (IV)	Cases in a UK urban clinic	Not applicable
Smythe 2016 [35], Zimbabwe	173 (268)	17 days – 5 years 7 months	Case series, retrospective (IV)	Pre-treatment status of cases	10.2 weeks (9.5–10.9)
Boakye 2016 [38], Ghana	271 (430)	<6 months	Case series, Retrospective (IV)	Pre-treatment status of cases	Not reported
Adegbehingbe 2015 [39], Nigeria	4931 (7745)	Not reported	Case series (IV)	Pre-treatment status of cases	Not reported
Adewole 2014 [33], Nigeria	106 (158)	7 days – 4 years	Case series, prospective (IV)	Pre-treatment status of cases	Mean: 3 years (range 2–4)
Ayana 2014 [24], Ethiopia	22 (32)	2-10 years	Case series, prospective (IV)	Pre-treatment status of cases	Not reported
Kouamo 2014 [40], Togo	24 (41)	17 days - 7 years	Case series, prospective (IV)	Pre-treatment status of cases	Not applicable
Mang'oli 2014, Kenya	223 (361)	Mean 23 months	Cross sectional survey (IV)	Status of cases at previous appointment	One year
Kaseke 2013 [41], Zimbabwe	14 (20)	Mean 7.43 weeks	Non randomised, prospective (III)	Children managed with Kite technique	6 weeks
Adegbehingbe 2012 [42], Nigeria	493 (749)	Not reported	Case series, prospective (V)	Pre-treatment status of cases	Not reported
Cashman 2012 [20], Malawi	>2000	Not reported	Case series (IV)	No comparator	Not reported
Pirani 2012 [43], Uganda	370	Majority under 14 weeks	Case series, prospective (IV)	Pre-treatment status of cases	Not reported
Harnett 2011 [44], Malawi	21 (32)	<2 months	Randomised controlled trial (II)	Children managed by accelerated Ponseti treatment	Mean 258 days (70 to 348)
Adegbehingbe 2010 [25], Nigeria	55 (80)	<18 years	Randomised controlled trial (II)	Children treated by surgery	3–36 months post last cast
Radler 2010 [45], Mali	52	< 1 year	Case series (IV)	Pre-treatment status of cases	Not reported
Firth 2009 [30], South Africa	70 (106)	1 day – 40 months	Case series, retrospective (IV)	Pre-treatment status of cases	Mean: 2 years 5 months
Biruk 2007 [26], Ethiopia	55 (82)	< 6 months	Case series, prospective (IV)	Children in different age category	Not reported
Lavy 2007 [28], Malawi	307 (482)	<12 months	Case series, retrospective (IV)	Pre-treatment status of cases	Not reported
Khan 2005 [27], South Africa	(61)	Not reported	Case series (IV)	Pre-treatment status of cases	Not reported
Tindall 2005 [29], Malawi	75 (100)	Under 4 years	Case series, prospective (IV)	Pre-treatment status of cases	5 ft followed for 12-18 months
Mkandawire 2003 [36], Malawi	54	Under 2 years	Case series, Prospective (IV)	Pre-treatment status of cases	12 months

<sup>a</sup>Ordered by year of publication

as the primary outcome measure to assess the deformity correction in 14 studies. Change in the mean Dimeglio score was evaluated in one study [25] and frequency of initial severity was reported with the Harrold-Walker classification in two studies [26, 27]. Other definitions of primary outcome included: the number of days in casts [21], number of patients treated without extensive surgery [25], a plantigrade foot [24, 28, 29], no residual deformity [30], deformity status compared to previous visits [31] and parent reported outcomes on impact of treatment [32]. Limited definition terms included "complete correction" [26] and "satisfactory outcome" [25]. The approach to reporting severity scores varied (Table 3).

#### **Process outcomes**

There was wide variation in the measurement of process outcomes. The point in treatment when the number of casts was calculated was either before or after the final post tenotomy cast and was inconsistently described. Studies either reported frequency of tenotomy per child or per foot. Definition of relapse or recurrence of deformity differed in the included studies and technical details were only described in five studies (23%).

Six studies report on brace use [25, 28, 30–33] with the focus on non-compliance. Non-compliance was not well defined in the studies and varied from 2% to 44%.

One study assessed parent reported outcomes. The study aimed to determine the impact of the casting and bracing phases of the Ponseti method on the family. Each caregiver completed three questionnaires [32] in order to examine the level of impact that Ponseti treatment had on lives of caregivers and the coping strategies employed.

Reported process outcomes are presented in Table 4.

According to the quality assessment (Additional file 2 outlines the individual study results using the Downs and Black (1998) criteria), the mean quality score of the included studies was 14.8 (5–21).

#### Reporting

Reporting was the highest scoring category of the quality assessment. All studies included a clear study hypothesis and aim and the majority (17/22) clearly described the characteristics of the patients and the intervention. However, while some distributions of principle confounders were partially described, few studies accounted for confounding in the study design or analysis. Loss to follow up was only reported in half of the studies. Few studies demonstrated a comprehensive attempt to measure adverse effects.

#### **External validity**

Many children were recruited from University and tertiary hospitals or national centres and therefore external validity was limited as the interventions undertaken in a specialist centre are likely unrepresentative of the hospitals most of the source population would attend.

#### Internal validity - Bias and confounding

Randomisation is not possible in cohort studies and in the studies where randomisation was used, it was not possible to determine if the intervention assignment was concealed from both parents and staff until recruitment was complete and irrevocable. Characteristics of losses of patient follow up were inconsistently taken into account and reported in seven (32%) studies. Statistical tests used to assess the main outcomes and why they were chosen were inconsistently described; for example, median, mean and maximum of the number of casts used to achieve correction are reported in different papers. Power calculations were only outlined in three studies.

#### Discussion

This literature review comprises results from case series, prospective trials and cross-sectional surveys in sub-Saharan Africa. There were few comparative studies concerning the Ponseti method in the region and there were no agreed protocols for reporting the results and outcome of treatment. Due to ethical considerations, most trials investigating treatment of clubfoot are not randomised controlled trials (RCTs) but comparisons of treatments or a review of cohort outcomes. Potential sources of bias in observational studies are well documented [34] and whilst systematic reviews of health care interventions most often focus on RCTs, the inclusion of cohort studies in this review highlights the need for quality design and reporting of studies to increase the strength of evidence.

#### Principal findings and considerations

A definition of a primary outcome (success) was described in 14 of the 22 studies. Successful outcome ranged from 68% to 98% of cases using different definitions in the 14 studies. There was no consensus on how to define a successful outcome of treatment. There was selective reporting of positive results with little detail given to treatment failure [35]. A range of process measures was included in the studies. The mean number of casts required ranged from 4.6 to 8.7 and is likely affected by the point at which the last cast was measured (pre- or post-tenotomy) and the unlimited age range of the review criteria. The studies used different criteria for relapse recognition and management. Two studies reported patient attrition over 30% [28, 36] however the length of follow-up in the majority of studies was short and few data were available on characteristics of children lost to follow up.

Acknowledging the limitations of the available reported papers, this review suggests that the Ponseti method appears to give successful correction of clubfoot during the correction phase when measured by the Pirani score, Dimeglio classification or simple clinical assessment. However, the lack of a consistent measure of success and insufficient follow up of cases restricts the conclusions that can be made about what happens during the bracing phase, be it success, recurrence or loss to follow-up.

#### Main findings as related to other publications

The included studies report success in 68% to 98% of cases after the correction (casting) phase. In contrast,

Primary Author Clubfoot Reported Success Measure Year Country* severity assessment		Recurrence / relapse	Additional surgical intervention	
lbraheem 2017 [21], Nigeria	Pirani score	Number of days in casts, number of casts applied	Not reported	Not reported
Malagelada 2016 [32], South Africa	Pirani score	Parent reported outcomes	12% (8 children)	Not reported
Smythe 2016 [35], Zimbabwe	Pirani Score	85% feet; Pirani score < 1	Not reported	Not reported
Boakye 2016 [38], Ghana	Pirani Score	Number of casts to correction. Correction not defined.	Not reported	Not reported
Adegbehingbe 2015 [39], Nigeria	Not reported	89.7% (4426 patients) satisfactory outcome. Criteria for satisfactory outcome not defined.	4% (253 feet, 194 patients)	3%
Adewole 2014 [33], Nigeria	Pirani score and photograph	100%; based on clinical judgement, Plantigrade functional foot	5.16% (8 feet)	6 feet
Ayana 2014 [24], Ethiopia	Pirani score	28/41 good results Good = correction of all deformities. 97.8% achieved score of <3	2 patients, 4 feet	8 children/ (11 feet)
Kouamo 2014 [40], Togo	Not reported	94% (179/190) compliant with brace wear 93.5% no visible discomfort	12.2% (5 cases)	Not reported
Mang'oli 2014 , Kenya	Pirani score	Initial correction: 96.2% (152 feet) Initial correction not defined.	Not reported	Not reported
Kaseke 2013 [41], Zimbabwe	Pirani score	Rate of correction: Pirani score at 3 weeks and 6 weeks	Not reported	Not reported
Adegbehingbe 2012 [42], Nigeria	Pirani Score	89.7% treated successfully. Criteria for success not defined.	Not reported	3.2% (16 patients)
Cashman 2012 [20], Malawi	Not reported	30 children failed treatment (required more extensive surgery)	Not reported	30 children
Pirani 2012 [43], Uganda	Pirani Score	Mean score 5.4 falls to <2 by cast 6. Primary outcome not defined.	Not reported	Not reported
Harnett 2011 [44], Malawi	Pirani Score	Pirani score change. Median start Pirani: 5 (4 to 6). Median at tenotomy /end treatment: 0.5 (0.5 to 1) Median at 6 months: 0.5 (0 to 0.5)	No episodes of recurrence after 6 months	3 patients not corrected (7%) with Pirani >1
Adegbehingbe 2010 [25], Nigeria	Dimeglio classification	96.4% (53/55 children) = satisfactory (No recurrence) 3.6% (2/55) = fair (recurrence corrected with casts/FAB) Nil = poor (recurrence with repeat surgery)	2 had recurrence between 4 and 6 months	None
Radler 2010 [45], Mali	Not reported	77% (40 children): good or average. 23% (12 children): poor. Primary outcome not defined.	Not reported	Not reported
Firth 2009 [30], South Africa	Pirani score	61% fully corrected without residual deformity	23% (re-plaster 24 feet) 39% (41 feet mild recurrence)	7% (7 feet)
Biruk 2007 [26], Ethiopia	Harrold-Walker classification	76.8% (63 feet) No definition of complete correction.	Not reported	Not reported for Ponseti cohort
Lavy 2007 [28], Malawi	Pirani score	68% (327/482) Plantigrade or better	Not reported	12 children referred for surgery
Khan 2005 [27], South Africa	Harrold-Walker classification	6 failures from 61 feet. Criteria for success not defined.	Not reported	Not reported
Tindall 2005 [29], Malawi	Pirani score	98% plantigrade foot with Pirani score	Not reported	2%
Mkandawire 2003 [36], Malawi	Pirani score	Correction of deformity. Success of correction defined as fitting brace. Mean Pirani score decreased from 3.6–0.86	4 children with untreated clubfoot, 5 with complex and 7 with teratologic	Not reported

Table 3 Reported Primary Outcome using the Ponseti method in sub-Saharan Africa

\*Ordered by year of publication

Not reported Not reported

Primary Author	Process Outcomes									
(Year) Country	Average number of casts	Duration of casts	Percutaneous Achilles Tenotomy	Receipt of braces	Brace compliance	Loss to follow up	Complications			
Ibraheem (2017 Nigeria	5.43	52 days (35–77)	1 child did not have tenotomy, not reported case or control	100%	Not reported	Nil	Reported no complications with swelling			
Malagelada (2016) South Africa	8.7 (range 1–24)	Not reported	89% (58 children)	100% due to inclusion criteria	2% (1 child) non-compliant	Not applicable	Defined as relapse and non-compliance: 9 children			
Smythe (2016) Zimbabwe	7.27 (6.7–7.9)	10.2 (9.5–10.9) weeks included tenotomy	78.9% (127/161 children)	Not reported	Not reported	8.9% (17 children)	Not reported			
Boakye (2016) Ghana	4.93	Not reported	77%	Not reported	Not reported	Excluded from analysis	Not reported			
Adegbehingbe (2015) Nigeria	Not reported	Not reported	77% (5626 children)	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported			
Adweole (2014) Nigeria	veole (2014) 4.6 (range 3– Weekly cast change, eria 9) tenotomy 3 weeks		26.6% (42 feet)	56.8% (60 patients)	No child with relapse wore braces	Not reported	9 feet: cast complications, blisters, ulcers, skin rash			
Ayana (2014) Ethiopia	na (2014) 8 (range 6– Casts changed opia 10) every 2 weeks		63.6% (14 children, 21 feet)	100%; < 4 yrs. = FAB >4 yrs. = ankle foot orthosis	100%; Not reported < 4 yrs. = FAB >4 yrs. = ankle foot orthosis		No major complications			
Kouamo (2014) Togo	Not reported	Not reported	82.9% (34/41 feet)	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported			
Mangoli (2014) Kenya	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	100% of interviewed parents	15% (33/223) non-compliant Mean use 18 months (6–23)	Not applicable	5% (11/223) skin lesion			
Kaseke (2013) Zimbabwe	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	6 feet not reported at 6 weeks	Not reported			
Adegbehingbe (2012) Nigeria	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported			
Cashman (2012) Malawi	Not reported	Not reported	>80%	Not reported	Not reported	107 children	Not reported			
Pirani (2012) Uganda	Not reported	Majority corrected by 6th treatment'	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	83% adherence rate to end of casting	Plaster burns in 19/1000			
Harnett (2011) Malawi	Median 5 (4– 7)	42 days (35–84) in plaster prior to tenotomy.	52% (11 children)	Given FAB to wear until 3 years old	Not reported	2 after plaster. 1 patient died	Not reported			
Adegbehingbe (2010) Nigeria	≤ 6 (76.4%; range 2–6) >6 (23.6% range 7–10)	2.3–13.7 +/–1.7 weeks	5.5% (3 children)	Not reported	Noted as 'generally good'	None, not explicitly mentioned	3.6% ugly scar, recurrence, blister, infection			
Radler (2010) Mali	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported			
Firth (2009) South Africa	6.5 (range 2–18)	Not reported	74% (78 feet)	Received FABs, % unspecified	16% (11 patients) non-compliant	Not reported	8% (9 feet) minor blistering from braces			
Biruk (2007) Ethiopia	Maximum cast 17 times	Weekly cast change	Not reported	60%, average wait time	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported for Ponseti cohort			

3-4 months

37% had tenotomy

Table 4 Outco	mes of the Pon	seti Method rep	ported in sub	)-Saharan Africa <sup>a</sup>
---------------	----------------	-----------------	---------------	-------------------------------

Primary Author	Process Outcomes									
(Year) Country	Average number of casts	Duration of casts	Percutaneous Achilles Tenotomy	Receipt of braces	Brace compliance	Loss to follow up	Complications			
Lavy (2007) Malawi				44% given FABs	44% (145/ 327 feet)	32% (155 feet)	307 adequate records			
Khan (2005) South Africa	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported			
Tindall (2005) Malawi	5.3	Mean treatment 9.1 weeks	41%	All	Not reported	Not reported	2 minor complications			
Mkandawire (2003) Malawi	Weekly cast change	Mean treatment: 7.4 weeks for idiopathic, 7.1 weeks for complex	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	32 patients (35%)	Not reported			
2										

Table 4 Outcomes of the Ponseti Method reported in sub-Saharan Africa<sup>a</sup> (Continued)

<sup>a</sup>Ordered by year of publication

global success rates after the correction phase are cited as approximately 90% [18, 37]. Comprehensive tools to assess function (e.g. as described by Laaveg and Ponseti (12), the Roye tool [14], the Bangla tool [13] or the Clubfoot Assessment Protocol (CAP) [15]) are not reported in the studies from sub-Saharan Africa.

#### Implications of findings

We found that the differences between study populations, methodology and the way that outcomes are described contribute to the variation in results reported for the Ponseti method in sub-Saharan Africa. Currently, different scores are used for the assessment of clubfoot severity. Standardisation is required to define successful outcome of clubfoot management so that risk factors for good and poor outcome can be determined and services can be monitored and evaluated.

The Pirani score was the most frequent clinical assessment used. It has been validated in younger children and demonstrates acceptable interrater reliability [8]. A short assessment time is required and it is easy to use, however to ensure consistency more guidance would be helpful on how to measure the individual components, as similarly provided by the diagrams and video produced to aid assessment with the Dimeglio score. The Pirani scoring system is the only assessment that has evidence for use by paramedics, and is in our opinion the easiest severity measure to use in young children before walking age.

#### Methodologic issues

To our knowledge, this is the first systematic review of outcomes to measure success of the Ponseti method in sub-Saharan Africa. The observation of explicit methodology and lack of language restriction are strengths of this study. The literature available to assess success of clubfoot treatment is characterised by a lack of standardisation of outcomes. Studies routinely use the term "success rates" but do not define a successful outcome. Given that Ponseti management involves both correction and maintenance, the definition of success should always reflect both of these important endpoints and we encourage researchers to measure and report both. Bias in internal validity arose from studies where differences in follow up were regularly ignored, however compliance with the corrective phase of the intervention was generally reported as being good. Studies must include followup or acknowledge the limitations of selecting one part of the treatment process.

The potential for confounding in the reviewed studies to obscure true effects is significant as the majority are observational. Randomisation may be considered unethical in certain circumstances and well designed controlled trials may provide more opportunities to analyse different outcomes. Studies intended to address comparative effectiveness of management for clubfoot should use a careful control for covariates such as unilateral or bilateral clubfoot as disproportionate weighting is given to bilateral cases [17].

#### **Research gaps**

Although a number of studies are available on initial treatment (correction phase) outcomes, very few studies are available on long term outcomes and follow up in the bracing phase, which are essential for measuring success of the entire Ponseti method.

No study compared different scoring systems. A study comparing multiple assessments in the same patient before and after treatment would be of value in assessing the equivalence or superiority of measurement techniques.

Studies need to control for the side of clubfoot and previous treatment, account for loss to follow up and adjust for confounding in methods or analysis in order to avoid the shortfalls of the current observational literature.

#### Recommendations

Consensus is needed to standardise the reporting of outcomes and how success after Ponseti management is defined. For sub-Saharan Africa the definition needs to be appropriate for use by trained therapists who are managing children with clubfoot. This systematic review contributes to the knowledge about the importance of providing evidence to improve clubfoot services.

#### Conclusions

The lack of good quality studies, variation in definition of success and limited follow-up of patients means the success rate of clubfoot treatment using the Ponseti method in sub-Saharan Africa is uncertain. There is need for an agreed definition of good outcome following both the correction and the bracing phase to monitor and evaluate service delivery and identify reasons for poor outcome. It is very important that children who complete the correction phase are followed through the bracing phase and results on success, recurrence and loss to follow up are reported. Studies are also required to document the correlation between clinical outcome, functional outcome and patient/family reported satisfaction.

#### **Additional files**

Additional file 1: Expanded search terms for country name in sub-Saharan Africa. (DOCX 13 kb)

Additional file 2: Quality index assessment for included studies (studies 1–11 assessed on pages 1–3 and studies 12–22 assessed on pages 4–6). (DOCX 35 kb)

#### Abbreviations

CTEV: Congenital Talipes Equinovarus; FAB: Foot Abduction Brace; PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses

#### Acknowledgements

Professor Daniel Chandramohan for early concept considerations.

#### Funding

The Beit Trust and CBM are gratefully acknowledged for funding provided to TS.

#### Availability of data and materials

Data sharing not applicable to this article as no datasets were generated or analysed during the current study. Two web appendices are attached: detailed search terms and quality assessment scores.

#### Author's contributions

TS conceived the study. TS AF and CL designed the study protocol. TS and DM searched the literature and extracted data for analysis. TS analysed and interpreted the extracted information. AF CL HK and DM critically revised the manuscript for intellectual content. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

#### Ethics approval and consent to participate

Not applicable.

#### Consent for publication

Not applicable.

#### **Competing interests**

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

#### **Publisher's Note**

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

#### Author details

<sup>1</sup>International Centre for Evidence in Disability, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK. <sup>2</sup>University of Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa. <sup>3</sup>Nuffield Department of Orthopaedics Rheumatology and Musculoskeletal Science, University of Oxford, Headington, UK.

#### Received: 8 August 2017 Accepted: 7 November 2017 Published online: 15 November 2017

#### References

- Smythe T, Kuper H, Macleod D, Foster A, Lavy C. Birth prevalence of congenital talipes equinovarus in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Tropical Med Int Health. 2017;22(3):269–85.
- Pirani S, Naddumba E, Mathias R, Konde-Lule J, Penny JN, Beyeza T, et al. Towards effective Ponseti clubfoot care: the Uganda sustainable clubfoot care project. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2009;467(5):1154–63.
- Owen RM, Kembhavi G. A critical review of interventions for clubfoot in low and middle-income countries: effectiveness and contextual influences. J Pediatr Orthop B. 2012;21(1):59–67.
- Ponseti IV, Smoley EN. The classic: congenital club foot: the results of treatment. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2009;467(5):1133–45.
- Desai L, Oprescu F, DiMeo A, Morcuende JA. Bracing in the treatment of children with clubfoot: past, present, and future. Iowa Orthop J. 2010;30:15–23.
- Wainwright AM, Auld T, Benson MK, Theologis TN. The classification of congenital talipes equinovarus. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2002;84(7):1020–4.
- Harrold AJ, Walker CJ. Treatment and prognosis in congenital club foot. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1983;65(1):8–11.
- Pirani S, Hodges D, Sekeramayi F. A reliable and valid method for assessing the amount of deformity in the congenital clubfoot deformity. Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery, British Volume. 2008;90-B(SUPP 1):53.
- Dimeglio A, Bensahel H, Souchet P, Mazeau P, Bonnet F. Classification of clubfoot. J Pediatr Orthop B. 1995;4(2):129–36.
- Gao R, Tomlinson M, Walker C. Correlation of Pirani and Dimeglio scores with number of Ponseti casts required for clubfoot correction. J Pediatr Orthop. 2014;34(6):639–42.
- Shaheen S, Jaiballa H, Pirani S. Interobserver reliability in Pirani clubfoot severity scoring between a paediatric orthopaedic surgeon and a physiotherapy assistant. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics-Part B. 2012;21(4):366–8.
- 12. Laaveg S, Ponseti I. Long-term results of treatment of congenital club foot. J Bone Joint Surg. 1980;62
- Evans AM, Perveen R, Ford-Powell VA, Barker S. The Bangla clubfoot tool: a repeatability study. Journal of Foot and Ankle Research. 2014;7(1):1–6.
- Roye B, Vitale M, Gelijns A, Roye D. Patient-based outcomes after clubfoot surgery. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics January/February. 2001;21(1):42–9.
- Andriesse H, Hägglund G, Jarnlo G-B. The clubfoot assessment protocol (CAP); description and reliability of a structured multi-level instrument for follow-up. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2005;6
- Zhao D, Li H, Zhao L, Liu J, Wu Z, Jin F. Results of clubfoot management using the Ponseti method: do the details matter? A systematic review. Clinical Orthopaedics & Related Research. 2014;472(4):1329–36.
- 17. Gray KPV, Gibbons P, Little D, Burns J. Interventions for congenital talipes equinovarus (clubfoot). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;8
- Jowett CR, Morcuende JA, Ramachandran M. Management of congenital talipes equinovarus using the Ponseti method: a systematic review. Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery - British Volume. 2011;93-B(9):1160–4.
- Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gotzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses

of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. BMJ. 2009;339:b2700.

- Cashman J, Sakala H, Hansen L, Mayo A. Lessons and results from the first three years of the Malawi national clubfoot program. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics Part B. 2012;21(1):90.
- Ibraheem G, Adegbehingbe O, Babalola O, Agaja S, Ahmed B, Olawepo A, et al. Evaluation of an accelerated Ponseti protocol for the treatment of talipesequinovarus in Nigeria. East and Central African Journal of Surgery. 2017;22(1):28–38.
- Wiart L, Kolaski K, Butler C, Vogtle L, Logan LR, Hickman R, et al. Interrater reliability and convergent validity of the American Academy for cerebral palsy and developmental medicine methodology for conducting systematic reviews. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2012;54(7):606–11.
- Downs SH, Black N. The feasibility of creating a checklist for the assessment of the methodological quality both of randomised and non-randomised studies of health care interventions. J Epidemiol Community Health. 1998; 52(6):377–84.
- Ayana B, Klungsoyr PJ. Good results after Ponseti treatment for neglected congenital clubfoot in Ethiopia. A prospective study of 22 children (32 feet) from 2 to 10 years of age. Acta Orthop. 2014;85(6):641–5.
- Adegbehingbe OO, Oginni LM, Ogundele OJ, Ariyibi AL, Abiola PO, Ojo OD. Ponseti clubfoot management: changing surgical trends in Nigeria. Iowa Orthop J. 2010;30:7–14.
- 26. Biruk WL. Management of club-foot at Tikur Anbessa hospital; Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. East and Central African Journal of Surgery. 2007;12(1):24–9.
- 27. Khan SA. Ponseti method of treatment of clubfoot in South Africa. Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery British. 2005;2005:273.
- Lavy CB, Mannion SJ, Mkandawire NC, Tindall A, Steinlechner C, Chimangeni S, et al. Club foot treatment in Malawi - a public health approach. Disabil Rehabil. 2007;29(11–12):857–62.
- Tindall AJ, Steinlechner CW, Lavy CB, Mannion S, Mkandawire N. Results of manipulation of idiopathic clubfoot deformity in Malawi by orthopaedic clinical officers using the Ponseti method: a realistic alternative for the developing world? J Pediatr Orthop. 2005;25(5):627–9.
- Firth G, Eltringham M, Shnier G. Early results of the Ponseti technique for a clubfoot clinic in South Africa. SA Orthopaedic Journal. 2009(Summer):67–71.
- Mang'oli P, Theuri J, Kollmann T, MacDonald NE. Ponseti clubfoot management: experience with the Steenbeek foot abduction brace. Paediatr Child Health. 2014;19(10):513–4.
- Malagelada F, Mayet S, Firth G, Ramachandran M. The impact of the Ponseti treatment method on parents and caregivers of children with clubfoot: a comparison of two urban populations in Europe and Africa. J Child Orthop. 2016;10(2):101–7.
- Adewole O, Williams O, Kayode M, Shoga M, Giwa S. Early experience with Ponseti Club foot management in Lagos, Nigeria. East and Central African Journal of Surgery. 2014;19(2):72–7.
- O'Neil M, Berkman N, Hartling L, Chang S, Anderson J, Motu'apuaka M, et al. Observational evidence and strength of evidence domains: case examples. Systematic Reviews. 2014;3(1):35.
- Smythe T, Chandramohan D, Bruce J, Kuper H, Lavy C, Foster A. Results of clubfoot treatment after manipulation and casting using the Ponseti method: experience in Harare. Zimbabwe Trop Med Int Health. 2016;21(10):1311–8.
- Mkandawire NC, Chipofya E, Likoleche G, Phiri M, Katete L. Ponseti technique of correcting idiopathic clubfoot deformity. Malawi Med J. 2003;15(3):99–101.
- Radler C. The Ponseti method for the treatment of congenital club foot: review of the current literature and treatment recommendations. Int Orthop. 2013;37(9):1747–53.
- Boakye H, Nsiah A, Thomas A, Bello AI. Treatment outcome of Ponseti method in the Management of Club Foot at Komfo Anokye teaching hospital, Ghana: a retrospective study. Archives of Current Research International. 2016;3(2):1–8.
- Adegbehingbe O, Cook T, Parker E, Morcuende J. Clubfoot disability: Nigeria model for sustainable health system program.. 36th SICOT Orthopaedic World Congress; Guangzhoa, China 2015. p. Abstract No 41660.
- Kouamo El II, Doumbouya N, Nour M, Nimpa TP, Gnassingbe JP, Moh E, et al. Pirani scoring in the evaluation of the morphological results of congenital Falipes Equinovarus taken care by the Ponseti method. Medecine d'Afrique Noire. 2014;61(6):335–41.
- Kaseke F, Mudawarima T. Comparison of Ponseti and Kite's method of treatment for congentiral Talipes Equino using the Pirani scoring system. Cent Afr J Med. 2013;59(1–4):14–8.

- 42. Adegbehingbe OO, Akintayo OA, Morcuende JA. Predicitve factors for Ponseti clubfoot technique practitioners in Nigeria. In:International Society of Orthopaedic Surgery and Traumatology Annual Meeting. 2012.
- Pirani S, Mathias R, Naddumba E. Ponseti clubfoot treament by orthopaedic officers: prospective cohort study in Uganda. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics Part B. 2012;21(1):89–90.
- Harnett P, Freeman R, Harrison WJ, Brown LC, Beckles V. An accelerated Ponseti versus the standard Ponseti method: A prospective ransomised controlled trial Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery - British Volume 2011;93-B(3):404–408.
- Radler C, Gubba J, Helmers A, Kraus T, Salzer M, Waschak K. Mali clubfoot project - Experiences, problems and obstacles after two years Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery - British Volume. 2010;92-B Suppl(4):599.

# Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and we will help you at every step:

- We accept pre-submission inquiries
- Our selector tool helps you to find the most relevant journal
- We provide round the clock customer support
- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- Inclusion in PubMed and all major indexing services
- Maximum visibility for your research

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit



## Appendix 1.Expanded search terms for country name in sub-Saharan Africa

1. "africa south of the sahara"/ or africa, central/ or africa, eastern/ or africa, southern/ or africa, western/

2. ("africa south of the sahara" or sub-saharan africa or central africa or eastern africa or southern africa or western africa).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

3. Benin/

4. (Benin or Dahomey).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

5. Burkina Faso/

6. (Burkina Faso or Burkina Fasso or Upper Volta).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

7. Burundi/

8. Burundi.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

9. Central African Republic/

10. (Central African Republic or Ubangi-Shari).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

11. Chad/

12. Chad.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

13. Comoros/

14. (Comoros or Comoro Islands or Mayotte or Iles Comores).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

15. "Democratic Republic of the Congo"/

16. ((democratic republic adj2 congo) or belgian congo or zaire).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

17. Eritrea/

18. Eritrea.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

19. Ethiopia/

20. Ethiopia.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

21. Gambia/

22. Gambia.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

23. Guinea/

24. (Guinea not (New Guinea or Guinea Pig\* or Guinea Fowl)).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

25. Guinea-Bissau/

26. (Guinea-Bissau or Portuguese Guinea).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

27. Kenya/

28. Kenya.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

29. Liberia/

30. Liberia.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

31. Madagascar/

32. (Madagascar or Malagasy Republic).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

33. Malawi/

34. (Malawi or Nyasaland).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

35. Mali/

36. Mali.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

37. Mozambique/

38. (Mozambique or Portuguese East Africa).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

39. Niger/

40. (Niger not (Aspergillus or Peptococcus or Schizothorax or Cruciferae or Gobius or Lasius or Agelastes or Melanosuchus or radish or Parastromateus or Orius or Apergillus or Parastromateus or Stomoxys)).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier] 41. Rwanda/

42. (Rwanda or Ruanda).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

43. Sierra Leone/

44. Sierra Leone.mp.

45. Somalia/

46. Somalia.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

47. Tanzania/

48. (Tanzania or Zanzibar).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

49. Togo/

50. (Togo or Togolese Republic).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

51. Uganda/

52. Uganda.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

53. Zimbabwe/

54. (Zimbabwe or Rhodesia).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

55. or/3-54

56. Cameroon/

57. Cameroon.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

58. Cape Verde/

59. (Cape Verde or Cabo Verde).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

60. Congo/

61. (congo not ((democratic republic adj3 congo) or congo red or crimean-congo)).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier] 62. Cote d'Ivoire/

63. (Cote d'Ivoire or Ivory Coast).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

64. Ghana/

65. (Ghana or Gold Coast).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

66. Lesotho/

67. (Lesotho or Basutoland).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

68. Mauritania/

69. Mauritania.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

70. Nigeria/

71. Nigeria.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

72. Atlantic Islands/

73. (sao tome adj2 principe).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

74. Senegal/

75. Senegal.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

76. Sudan/

77. Sudan.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

78. South Sudan.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

79. Swaziland/

80. Swaziland.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

81. Zambia/

82. (Zambia or Northern Rhodesia).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

83. or/56-80

84. Angola/

85. Angola.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

86. Botswana/

87. (Botswana or Bechuanaland or Kalahari).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

88. Gabon/

89. (Gabon or Gabonese Republic).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

90. Mauritius/

91. (Mauritius or Agalega Islands).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

92. Namibia/

93. Namibia.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

94. Seychelles/

95. Seychelles.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

96. South Africa/

97. South Africa.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]

98. or/84-97

99. Equatorial Guinea/

100. (Equatorial Guinea or spanish guinea).mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]
101. 99 or 100
102. 1 or 2 or 55 or 83 or 98 or 101

## Appendix 2: Quality Index assessment for included studies (studies 1-11 assessed on pp 1-3 and studies 12-22 assessed on pp 4-6)

Quality Index (Downs & Black, 1998, pp. 382-383) (papers 1- 11)	lbraheem 2017, Nigeria	Malagelada 2016, SouthAfrica	Smythe 2016, Zimbabwe	Boakye 2016, Ghana	Adegbehingbe 2015, Nigeria	Adewole 2014, Nigeria	Ayana 2014, Ethiopia	Kouamo 2014, Togo	Mang'oli 2014, Kenya	Kaseke 2013, Zimbabwe	Adegbehi ngbe 2012, Nigeria
Reporting: Were the following c	learly desc	ribed? (Y/N)									
1. Study	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
hypothesis/aim/objective											
2. Main outcomes	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	0	1	0
3. Characteristics of the	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	1
participants											
<ol><li>Interventions of interest</li></ol>	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	0
5. Distributions of principal	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
confounders in each group											
6. Main findings	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
7. Estimates of random	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	0
variability for main outcomes											
8. All the important adverse	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0
events that may be a											
consequence of intervention											
are reported											
9. Characteristics of patients	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0
lost to follow-up											
10. Actual probability values	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
for main outcomes											
External validity (Y/N/unable to	determine			_		-					-
11. Were subjects who were	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1
asked to participate											
representative of the entire											
population from which they											
were recruited?											
12. Were subjects who were	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1
prepared to participate											
representative of the entire											
population from which they were recruited?											
---	--	----------------	---------------	-------	---	---	---	---	---	---	---
13. Were the staff, places, and facilities representative of the treatment the majority of subjects received?	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0
Internal validity - bias (Y/N/unat	Internal validity – bias (Y/N/unable to determine)										
14. Was an attempt made to blind subjects to the intervention they received?	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
15. Was an attempt made to blind those measuring main outcomes of the intervention?	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
16. If any of the results of the study were based on "data dredging" was this made clear?	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1
17. In trials and cohort studies, do analyses adjust for different lengths of follow-up? Or, in case-control studies, is the period between intervention and outcome the same for cases and controls?	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1
18. Were appropriate statistical tests used to assess the main outcomes?	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1
19. Was compliance with the intervention reliable?	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	1
20. Were main outcome measures reliable and valid?	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	1
Internal validity – confounding (s	selection b	pias) (Y/N/una	ble to deterr	nine)		•					
21. For trials and cohort studies, were patients in different intervention groups?	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1

For case-control studies, were cases and controls recruited from the same population?											
22. Were study subjects in different intervention groups (trials and cohort studies) or were the cases and controls (case-control studies) recruited over the same period of time?	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	1
23. Were subjects randomized to intervention groups?	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
24. Was the randomized intervention assignment concealed from both patients and staff until recruitment was complete and irrevocable?	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
25. Was there adequate adjustment for confounding in the analyses from which main findings were drawn?	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
26. Were losses of subjects to follow-up taken into account?	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	1	0	0
Power											
27. Did the study have sufficient power to detect a clinically important effect where the probability for a difference due to chance was less than 5%?	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0

Quality Index (Downs & Black, 1998, pp. 382-383) (papers 12-22)	Cashman 2012, Malawi	Pirani 2012, Uganda	Harnett 2011, Malawi	Adegbehingbe 2010, Nigeria	Radler 2010, Mali	Firth 2009, South Africa	Biruk 2007, Ethiopia	Lavy 2007, Malawi	Khan 2005, South Africa	Tindall 2005, Malawi	Mkandawire 2003, Malawi
Reporting: Were the following clearly described? (Y/N)											
1. Study hypothesis/aim/objective	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
2. Main outcomes	1	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	1
3. Characteristics of the participants	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	1	1
4. Interventions of interest	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
5. Distributions of principal confounders in each group	0	1	1	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	1
6. Main findings	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1
7. Estimates of random variability for main outcomes	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	1	1
8. All the important adverse events that may be a consequence of intervention are reported	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	0
9. Characteristics of patients lost to follow-up	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
10. Actual probability values for main outcomes	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
External validity (Y/N/unable to de	termine)										
11. Were subjects who were asked to participate representative of the entire population from which they were recruited?	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	1	1
12. Were subjects who were prepared to participate representative of the entire	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	1

population from which they were											
13 Were the staff places and	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
facilities representative of the		•	Ŭ	Ű	Ū	Ŭ	Ũ		Ū	Ŭ	Ũ
treatment the majority of											
subjects received?											
Internal validity – bias (Y/N/unable to determine)											
14. Was an attempt made to	0	ÍO	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
blind subjects to the intervention	-	-	-		-	-	-	-		-	-
they received?											
15. Was an attempt made to	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
blind those measuring main											
outcomes of the intervention?											
16. If any of the results of the	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
study were based on "data											
dredging" was this made clear?											
17. In trials and cohort studies,	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1
do analyses adjust for different											
lengths of follow-up? Or, in case-											
control studies, is the period											
between intervention and											
outcome the same for cases and											
controls?											
18. Were appropriate statistical	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1
tests used to assess the main											
outcomes?											
19. Was compliance with the	0	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	1	0
intervention reliable?											
20. Were main outcome	0	1	1	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	1
measures reliable and valid?											
Internal validity - confounding (sel	ection bias) (	Y/N/unable	e to determ	line)							
21. For trials and cohort studies,	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1
were patients in different											
intervention groups? For case-											
control studies, were cases and											

controls recruited from the same population?											
22. Were study subjects in	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1
different intervention groups											
(trials and cohort studies) or											
were the cases and controls											
(case-control studies) recruited											
over the same period of time?											
23. Were subjects randomized to	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
intervention groups?											
24. Was the randomized	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
intervention assignment											
concealed from both patients											
and staff until recruitment was											
complete and irrevocable?											
25. Was there adequate	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
adjustment for confounding in											
the analyses from which main											
findings were drawn?											
26. Were losses of subjects to	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
follow-up taken into account?											
Power				<u>.</u>							
27. Did the study have sufficient	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
power to detect a clinically											
important effect where the											
probability for a difference due to											
chance was less than 5%?											

# Epilogue (Main findings and limitations)

This systematic review found that only 64% (14/22) of included studies described a primary outcome. Clinical assessment was the most commonly reported outcome measure, and few studies reported long-term outcome. The most frequently used measure to define outcome was the Pirani score, however there was no agreement on cut-off score for success.

Outcomes were predominantly reported though case series. These different outcome measures reported success in 68% to 98% of cases after the correction (manipulation and casting) phase.

The differences between study populations, methodology and the way that outcomes are described contribute to the variation in results reported for the Ponseti method in sub-Saharan Africa.

This review is limited by the lack of standardisation of outcomes in the available literature, and the insufficient follow up of cases, which restricts the conclusions that can be made about what happens during the bracing phase.

There is a high risk of internal validity bias in the included studies; differences in follow up were regularly ignored. The potential for confounding to obscure true effects of treatment in the studies is also high as the majority of included studies were observational.

Many children were recruited from University and tertiary hospitals or national centres, which limits external validity, as the interventions undertaken in a specialist centre are not likely to represent the hospitals that most of the population would attend.

Acknowledging these limitations, this review suggests that the Ponseti method gives successful correction of clubfoot when measured by the Pirani score, Dimeglio classification or simple clinical assessment during the correction phase.

Chapter 6. Results of clubfoot treatment after manipulation and casting using the Ponseti method: experience in Harare, Zimbabwe



Assessment of a child with clubfoot

# Preamble

Parirenyatwa hospital in Harare, Zimbabwe, has provided clubfoot care as recommended by the Ponseti method since 22 March 2011. The outcomes of the Ponseti manipulation and casting method of clubfoot treatment have not been evaluated in any clinic in Zimbabwe, and predictors of these outcomes are unknown.

Evidence from case series, prospective trials and cross-sectional surveys in sub-Saharan Africa reported in the systematic review (Chapter 5) informed this study. The systematic review found that the Pirani score was the most frequent measure to define outcome. The Pirani score was therefore used as the standard reference to assess the outcome of Ponseti treatment for clubfoot in this case series.

The case series included 218 children being treated for idiopathic clubfoot at Parirenyatwa Hospital's clubfoot clinic in Harare over more than two years (22 March 2011 to 23 April 2013 (25 months)). Data were extracted retrospectively from clinic records and analysed.

This chapter reports the short-term (only after the manipulation and casting phase) outcomes of clubfoot treatment, and explores the predictors of these results. It comprises a published study that examines the outcomes of the corrective phase for clubfoot as recommended by the Ponseti method in one tertiary clinic in Harare.

This research paper was published in the journal Tropical Medicine & International Health in October 2016 after peer review (epublication: July 2016).



Registry

T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@ishtm.ac.uk

# **RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET**

### **SECTION A – Student Details**

Student	Tracey Heather Smythe
Principal Supervisor	Professor Allen Foster
Thesis Title	Evidence to improve clubfoot services in Africa with Zimbabwe as a case study

### **SECTION B – Paper already published**

Where was the work published?	Tropical Medicine and International Health					
When was the work published?	8 <sup>th</sup> July 2016					
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	n/a					
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	The publication is covered by a Creative Commons Attribution CCBY Creative Commons Licence. Anyone may copy, distribute, or reuse the content as long as the author and original source are properly cited	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes			

\*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

# SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	

## SECTION D – Multi-authored work

	For multi-authored work, give full details of your role the research included in the paper and in the prepar of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	in ation	I co-designed the study, extracted the data, completed data analysis, interpreted the data with co-authors, drafted the manuscript, prepared the subsequent revisions with consideration of comments from co-authors				
St	tudent Signature:		Date: 9/5/18				
Sı	upervisor Signature:		Date:9/5/18				
In	nproving health worldwide	2 B S	www.lshtm.ac.uk				

VOLUME 21 NO 10 PP 1311-1318 OCTOBER 2016

# Results of clubfoot treatment after manipulation and casting using the Ponseti method: experience in Harare, Zimbabwe

Tracey Smythe<sup>1</sup>, Daniel Chandramohan<sup>2</sup>, Jane Bruce<sup>2</sup>, Hannah Kuper<sup>1</sup>, Christopher Lavy<sup>3</sup> and Allen Foster<sup>1</sup>

1 International Centre for Evidence in Disability, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK

2 London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK

3 Oxford NIHR Musculoskeletal Biomedical Research Unit, University of Oxford, Headington, UK

**Abstract** OBJECTIVES The objective of this study was to evaluate the outcomes of the Ponseti manipulation and casting method for clubfoot in a tertiary hospital in Zimbabwe and explore predictors of these outcomes.

METHODS A cohort study included children with idiopathic clubfoot managed from 2011 to 2013 at Parirenyatwa Hospital. Demographic data, clinical features and treatment outcomes were extracted from clinic records. The primary outcome measure was the final Pirani score (clubfoot severity measure) after manipulation and casting. Secondary outcomes included change in Pirani score (pretreatment to end of casting), number of casts for correction, proportion receiving tenotomy and proportion lost to follow up.

RESULTS A total of 218 children (337 feet) were eligible for inclusion. The median age at treatment was 8 months; 173 children (268 feet) completed casting treatment within the study period. The mean length of time for corrective treatment was 10.2 weeks (9.5–10.9 weeks). Of the 45 children who did not complete treatment, 28 were under treatment and 17 were lost to follow up. A Pirani score of 1 or less was achieved in 85% of feet. Mean Pirani score at presentation was 3.80 (SD 1.15) and post-treatment 0.80 (SD 0.56, *P*-value <0.0001). Severity of deformity and being male were associated with a higher (worse) final Pirani score. Severity and age over two were associated with an increase in the number of casts required to correct deformity.

CONCLUSION This case series demonstrates that the majority (80%+) of children with clubfoot can achieve a good outcome with the Ponseti manipulation and casting method.

keywords clubfoot, congenital talipes equinovarus, Zimbabwe, Ponseti, treatment, cohort analysis

#### Introduction

Congenital talipes equinovarus (CTEV), a deformity commonly called clubfoot, is a complex congenital condition affecting the foot. It presents with varying degrees of rigidity that is not passively correctable [1]. Untreated clubfoot results in pain and disability [2]. The incidence of clubfoot varies globally [3] and it is estimated that 80% of children born with clubfoot each year live in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) [4]. Boys are affected 2.5 times as often as girls, and the condition is bilateral in half of the cases [5]. The causes of clubfoot are poorly understood, but may include genetic factors [6].

The Ponseti method of conservative clubfoot management is considered the best practice [7] and avoids corrective surgery in over 90% of cases [8]. Use of a primarily non-operative technique is beneficial in LMICs where there are limited resources and different cadres of health workers can be trained to treat clubfoot [9].

The Ponseti method is divided into two distinct phases: the corrective phase and the maintenance phase. The corrective phase involves manipulation of the foot followed by casting with plaster of paris. The cast holds the stretch achieved through manipulation of tight structures and allows time for soft tissue remodelling and correction of the position of the bones in the foot [10]. Sequential correction of the cavus, adductus and varus of clubfoot occurs around the talus [8]. A percutaneous Achilles tenotomy is usually required to correct the residual equinus (downward position of the foot), followed by 3 weeks in a cast to assist healing [11].

The maintenance phase consists of a bracing regime to prevent recurrence. The foot abduction brace is worn 23 h a day for the first 3 months and then at night during sleep until five years of age [11].

This study examines the outcomes of the corrective phase (manipulation and casting) for clubfoot as recommended by the Ponseti method in a cohort of children undergoing treatment at one referral hospital in Zimbabwe.

#### Methods

Ethical approval for this study was granted by the Joint Research Ethics Committee for the University of Zimbabwe, College of Health Sciences and Parirenyatwa Group of Hospitals, and the ethics committees at the Medical Research Council of Zimbabwe and the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine.

#### Study design

A cohort included children being treated for idiopathic clubfoot at Parirenyatwa Hospital's clubfoot outpatient clinic in Harare from 22 March 2011 to 23 April 2013 (25 months). All children with a diagnosis of unilateral or bilateral idiopathic clubfoot corrected by the Ponseti method at the study hospital were eligible. There was no restriction on previous treatment for clubfoot. The only exclusion criterion was foot conditions other than idiopathic clubfoot, for example clubfoot associated with a syndrome or comorbidity, such as spina bifida.

*Children aged under 2 years.* The corrective phase of the Ponseti method followed the kinematic principles of correction [10] and involved weekly cast changes. The knee was fixed at 90 degrees in the long leg plaster of paris casts (toe to groin). Physiotherapists performed the manipulation and casting, and casts were removed by parents at the clinic in the morning of the appointment. Medical officers performed a percutaneous Achilles tenotomy with local anaesthetic when indicated by clinical assessment. The foot was held in a long leg plaster cast in abduction and dorsiflexion for 3 weeks post-tenotomy.

The maintenance phase used the Steenbeek foot abduction brace [12] to hold both feet in seventy degrees abduction. The brace was made locally and supply was regular. The brace regime was initiated on the day of removal of the final cast.

*Children aged over 2 years.* Children over 2 years were treated with the modified principles of the Ponseti method as recommended for older children [13]. Abduction of thirty to forty degrees was achieved with manipulation and long leg plaster casts with seventy degrees of knee flexion. The casts were changed weekly. A percutaneous Achilles tenotomy was performed for all children aged over 2 years with residual equinus and the cast

post-tenotomy remained for 4–6 weeks. In the maintenance phase, the foot abduction brace held both feet in thirty degrees of abduction.

The key variables recorded on the clinic records by physiotherapists and extracted by the researchers, included child's date of birth, gender, diagnosis, order of birth, mother's date of birth, place of birth, family history of clubfoot, side of affected foot, history of previous treatment and weekly recording of Pirani score. The Pirani score is a classification system for assessing severity of clubfoot based on clinical examination [14] and was scored by the clinic physiotherapists. A decrease in score correlates to improvement in deformity. The Pirani score is from 0 to 6 where zero is a normal foot and six is the most severe deformity. Scoring is performed at half-point intervals.

#### Data management and analysis

Data were managed and analysed using Stata 14.1, Stata-Corp 4905, Lakeway Drive College Station, Texas 77845, USA. A hierarchical conceptual framework for analysis was developed [15]. The primary outcome measure was defined as Pirani score at the end of the manipulation and casting phase, with success determined as a score of 1 or less. The following secondary outcomes were defined: (i) the change in Pirani score from pre-treatment (first manipulation and casting appointment) to post-treatment (first brace fitting); (ii) number of casts required for correction, inclusive of the final cast after tenotomy; (iii) proportion having a tenotomy; (iv) proportion lost to follow up (defaulted appointment during casting and was not seen again).

Three factors that may influence the Ponseti manipulation and casting process were identified *a priori*: age at first treatment, history of previous treatment and pretreatment severity of deformity. Age at first treatment and a combination of treatments may affect the extent of clubfoot correction [16]. Response to casting may be influenced by initial presenting severity [4, 17]. Gender was included as a fourth possible predictor according to the hierarchical conceptual framework.

Age at first treatment was defined as a binary variable ( $\leq 2$  or > 2 years) to allow comparison to findings from the literature. An ordered categorical variable for pre-treatment severity of deformity was created based on Pirani score before treatment. An increase of 1 in the categorical variable represents an increase of 0.5 in the Pirani score.

#### Statistical methods

The associations between outcomes and gender, age at first treatment, history of previous treatment and severity

category were explored. Statistical significance for the case series was set at the 95% confidence level.

The outcomes of Pirani score (final and change in score) were analysed by feet. The outcomes of number of casts, tenotomy performed and loss to follow up were analysed by child.

Unilateral and bilateral clubfeet were included in analysis of the Pirani score. As right and left feet are correlated in the same child [18], a random effects model was used to assess the association between potential predictors and the Pirani score. The random effects model means that the right and left feet on the same child were not treated as independent. A linear regression model was fitted for the outcome of number of casts. This was possible on an individual level as children with bilateral clubfeet had the same number of casts applied per foot to enable both tenotomies to be performed on the same day. A logistic regression model was fitted to assess factors associated with the binary variables of tenotomy performed and loss to follow up. The models assumed no effect modification.

A second model was constructed with a backward elimination approach to identify a model of best fit and the joint predictive capability of the variables [19]. Any variable that affected the primary outcome by less than 10% was dropped and not considered as a confounder [19]. Further adjustment through backward elimination did not change the outcome of the first random effects model and is not included in the results.

#### Results

#### Characteristics

A total of 218 children (337 feet) with a diagnosis of idiopathic clubfoot presented for treatment (Figure 1); 28 children were excluded from analysis as they had yet to



Figure I Flow chart of clubfoot treatment pathway.

complete the manipulation and casting treatment, and of the remaining 190 children, 17 (8.9%) were lost to follow up during the casting period. Loss to follow up was not associated with gender, age at first treatment, previous treatment or severity; 173 children completed treatment within the study time period and continued to the bracing phase (Table 1). Mean length of time for the corrective phase was 10.2 weeks (9.5–10.9 weeks) and is inclusive of the final cast post-tenotomy.

Bilateral clubfoot was seen in 90 children (52%); 83 (48%) had unilateral clubfoot (37 left and 46 right). The sample included more males than females. The median age at first treatment was 8 months (interquartile range 2.8 months to 20.1 months old); 169 (97.7%) children

**Table I** Characteristics of the children who completed manipulation and casting (N = 173)

Gender       119 (68.8)         Female       54 (31.2)         Previous treatment†       40 (23.7)         Kite Method       118 (69.8)         Long leg cast       8 (4.7)         Short leg cast and surgery       2 (1.2)         Strapping       1 (0.6)         Presentation age $\leq 2$ years $\leq 2$ years       143 (82.7)         >2 years       30 (17.3)         Birthplace‡       143 (82.7)         Hospital       73 (45.3)         Clinic       73 (45.3)         Home       15 (9.2)         Side of clubfoot       83 (48.0)         Birth order†       111         First born       61 (36.1)         Second born       47 (27.8)         Third born       24 (14.2)         Previous family history§       153 (89.5)         Age of mother at first treatment‡ $\leq 20$ $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3) $20.1-30$ 89 (55.3) $30.1-40$ 42 (26.1)	Characteristics	N (%)*
Male119 (68.8)Female54 (31.2)Previous treatment† $40 (23.7)$ Kite Method118 (69.8)Long leg cast8 (4.7)Short leg cast and surgery2 (1.2)Strapping1 (0.6)Presentation age $\leq 2$ years $\leq 2$ years143 (82.7)>2 years30 (17.3)Birthplace‡ $+$ Hospital73 (45.3)Clinic73 (45.3)Bilateral90 (52.0)Unilateral83 (48.0)Birth order† $+$ First born61 (36.1)Second born47 (27.8)Third born24 (14.2)Previous family history§ $+$ Yes18 (10.5)No153 (89.5)Age of mother at first treatment‡ $\leq 20$ $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3) $20.1-30$ 89 (55.3) $30.1-40$ 42 (26.1)	Gender	
Female54 (31.2)Previous treatment†40 (23.7)Kite Method118 (69.8)Long leg cast8 (4.7)Short leg cast and surgery2 (1.2)Strapping1 (0.6)Presentation age $\leq 2$ years $\leq 2$ years143 (82.7)>2 years30 (17.3)Birthplace‡ $=$ Hospital73 (45.3)Clinic73 (45.3)Bilateral90 (52.0)Unilateral83 (48.0)Birth order† $=$ First born61 (36.1)Second born47 (27.8)Third born24 (14.2)Previous family history§ $Yes$ Yes18 (10.5)No153 (89.5)Age of mother at first treatment‡ $\leq 20$ $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3) $20.1-30$ 89 (55.3) $30.1-40$ 42 (26.1)	Male	119 (68.8)
Previous treatment†None40 (23.7)Kite Method118 (69.8)Long leg cast8 (4.7)Short leg cast and surgery2 (1.2)Strapping1 (0.6)Presentation age $\leq 2$ years $\leq 2$ years143 (82.7)>2 years30 (17.3)Birthplace‡ $=$ Hospital73 (45.3)Clinic73 (45.3)Bilateral90 (52.0)Unilateral83 (48.0)Birth order† $=$ First born61 (36.1)Second born47 (27.8)Third born24 (14.2)Previous family history§ $Yes$ Yes18 (10.5)No153 (89.5)Age of mother at first treatment‡ $\leq$ $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3)20.1-3089 (55.3)30.1-4042 (26.1)	Female	54 (31.2)
None       40 (23.7)         Kite Method       118 (69.8)         Long leg cast       8 (4.7)         Short leg cast and surgery       2 (1.2)         Strapping       1 (0.6)         Presentation age       2         ≤2 years       143 (82.7)         >2 years       30 (17.3)         Birthplace‡       143 (82.7)         Hospital       73 (45.3)         Clinic       73 (45.3)         Clinic       73 (45.3)         Home       15 (9.2)         Side of clubfoot       83 (48.0)         Birth order†       7         First born       61 (36.1)         Second born       47 (27.8)         Third born       37 (21.9)         ≥Fourth born       24 (14.2)         Previous family history§       153 (89.5)         Age of mother at first treatment‡       20         ≤20       23 (14.3)         20.1–30       89 (55.3)         30.1–40       42 (26.1)	Previous treatment <sup>†</sup>	
Kite Method118 (69.8)Long leg cast8 (4.7)Short leg cast and surgery2 (1.2)Strapping1 (0.6)Presentation age $\leq 2$ years $\leq 2$ years143 (82.7)>2 years30 (17.3)Birthplace‡ $=$ Hospital73 (45.3)Clinic73 (45.3)Birthome15 (9.2)Side of clubfoot $=$ Bilateral90 (52.0)Unilateral83 (48.0)Birth order† $=$ First born61 (36.1)Second born47 (27.8)Third born37 (21.9) $\geq$ Fourth born153 (89.5)Age of mother at first treatment‡ $\leq$ $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3)20.1–3089 (55.3)30.1–4042 (26.1)	None	40 (23.7)
Long leg cast8 (4.7)Short leg cast and surgery2 (1.2)Strapping1 (0.6)Presentation age $\leq 2$ years $\leq 2$ years143 (82.7)>2 years30 (17.3)Birthplace‡ $=$ Hospital73 (45.3)Clinic73 (45.3)Home15 (9.2)Side of clubfoot $=$ Bilateral90 (52.0)Unilateral83 (48.0)Birth order† $=$ First born61 (36.1)Second born47 (27.8)Third born37 (21.9) $\geq$ Fourth born24 (14.2)Previous family history§ $=$ Yes18 (10.5)No153 (89.5)Age of mother at first treatment‡ $\leq$ $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3)20.1-3089 (55.3)30.1-4042 (26.1)	Kite Method	118 (69.8)
Short leg cast and surgery2 (1.2)Strapping1 (0.6)Presentation age $\leq 2$ years $\leq 2$ years143 (82.7)>2 years30 (17.3)Birthplace‡ $\leq 3$ (45.3)Home15 (9.2)Side of clubfoot $\approx 3$ (48.0)Birth order† $\approx 3$ (48.0)First born61 (36.1)Second born47 (27.8)Third born37 (21.9) $\geq$ Fourth born24 (14.2)Previous family history§YesYes18 (10.5)No153 (89.5)Age of mother at first treatment‡ $\leq 20$ $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3) $20.1-30$ 89 (55.3) $30.1-40$ 42 (26.1)	Long leg cast	8 (4.7)
Strapping       1 (0.6)         Presentation age       2         ≤2 years       143 (82.7)         >2 years       30 (17.3)         Birthplace‡       73 (45.3)         Hospital       73 (45.3)         Clinic       73 (45.3)         Home       15 (9.2)         Side of clubfoot       83 (48.0)         Birth order†       61 (36.1)         First born       61 (36.1)         Second born       47 (27.8)         Third born       24 (14.2)         Previous family history§       Yes         Yes       18 (10.5)         No       153 (89.5)         Age of mother at first treatment‡       ≤20         ≤20       23 (14.3)         20.1–30       89 (55.3)         30.1–40       42 (26.1)	Short leg cast and surgery	2 (1.2)
Presentation age         ≤2 years       143 (82.7)         >2 years       30 (17.3)         Birthplace‡       143 (45.3)         Hospital       73 (45.3)         Clinic       73 (45.3)         Home       15 (9.2)         Side of clubfoot       83 (48.0)         Birth order†       61 (36.1)         First born       61 (36.1)         Second born       47 (27.8)         Third born       37 (21.9)         ≥Fourth born       24 (14.2)         Previous family history§       Yes         Yes       18 (10.5)         No       153 (89.5)         Age of mother at first treatment‡       ≤20         ≤20       23 (14.3)         20.1–30       89 (55.3)         30.1–40       42 (26.1)	Strapping	1 (0.6)
≤2 years 143 (82.7) >2 years 30 (17.3) Birthplace‡ Hospital 73 (45.3) Clinic 73 (45.3) Home 15 (9.2) Side of clubfoot Bilateral 90 (52.0) Unilateral 83 (48.0) Birth order† First born 61 (36.1) Second born 47 (27.8) Third born 37 (21.9) ≥Fourth born 24 (14.2) Previous family history§ Yes 18 (10.5) No 153 (89.5) Age of mother at first treatment‡ ≤20 23 (14.3) 20.1–30 89 (55.3) 30.1–40 42 (26.1)	Presentation age	
>2 years 30 (17.3) Birthplace‡ Hospital 73 (45.3) Clinic 73 (45.3) Home 15 (9.2) Side of clubfoot Bilateral 90 (52.0) Unilateral 83 (48.0) Birth order† First born 61 (36.1) Second born 47 (27.8) Third born 37 (21.9) ≥Fourth born 24 (14.2) Previous family history§ Yes 18 (10.5) No 153 (89.5) Age of mother at first treatment‡ $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3) 20.1–30 89 (55.3) 30.1–40 42 (26.1)	≤2 years	143 (82.7)
Birthplace‡ Hospital 73 (45.3) Clinic 73 (45.3) Home 15 (9.2) Side of clubfoot Bilateral 90 (52.0) Unilateral 83 (48.0) Birth order† First born 61 (36.1) Second born 47 (27.8) Third born 37 (21.9) ≥Fourth born 24 (14.2) Previous family history§ Yes 18 (10.5) No 153 (89.5) Age of mother at first treatment‡ $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3) 20.1–30 89 (55.3) 30.1–40 42 (26.1)	>2 years	30 (17.3)
Hospital       73 (45.3)         Clinic       73 (45.3)         Home       15 (9.2)         Side of clubfoot       90 (52.0)         Bilateral       90 (52.0)         Unilateral       83 (48.0)         Birth order†       61 (36.1)         First born       61 (36.1)         Second born       47 (27.8)         Third born       37 (21.9)         ≥Fourth born       24 (14.2)         Previous family history§       Yes         Yes       18 (10.5)         No       153 (89.5)         Age of mother at first treatment‡       23 (14.3) $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3) $20.1-30$ 89 (55.3) $30.1-40$ 42 (26.1)	Birthplace <sup>‡</sup>	
Clinic       73 (45.3)         Home       15 (9.2)         Side of clubfoot       90 (52.0)         Bilateral       90 (52.0)         Unilateral       83 (48.0)         Birth order†       61 (36.1)         First born       61 (36.1)         Second born       47 (27.8)         Third born       37 (21.9) $\geq$ Fourth born       24 (14.2)         Previous family history§       Yes         Yes       18 (10.5)         No       153 (89.5)         Age of mother at first treatment‡ $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3)         20.1–30       89 (55.3)         30.1–40       42 (26.1)	Hospital	73 (45.3)
Home       15 (9.2)         Side of clubfoot       90 (52.0)         Bilateral       90 (52.0)         Unilateral       83 (48.0)         Birth order†       61 (36.1)         First born       61 (36.1)         Second born       47 (27.8)         Third born       37 (21.9) $\geq$ Fourth born       24 (14.2)         Previous family history§       Yes         Yes       18 (10.5)         No       153 (89.5)         Age of mother at first treatment‡ $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3)         20.1–30       89 (55.3)         30.1–40       42 (26.1)	Clinic	73 (45.3)
Side of clubfootBilateral90 (52.0)Unilateral83 (48.0)Birth order†90 (52.0)First born61 (36.1)Second born47 (27.8)Third born37 (21.9) $\geq$ Fourth born24 (14.2)Previous family history§153 (89.5)Age of mother at first treatment‡23 (14.3) $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3) $20.1-30$ 89 (55.3) $30.1-40$ 42 (26.1)	Home	15 (9.2)
Bilateral       90 (52.0)         Unilateral       83 (48.0)         Birth order†       7         First born       61 (36.1)         Second born       47 (27.8)         Third born       37 (21.9) $\geq$ Fourth born       24 (14.2)         Previous family history§       7         Yes       18 (10.5)         No       153 (89.5)         Age of mother at first treatment‡       23 (14.3)         20.1–30       89 (55.3)         30.1–40       42 (26.1)	Side of clubfoot	
Unilateral       83 (48.0)         Birth order†       61 (36.1)         First born       61 (36.1)         Second born       47 (27.8)         Third born       37 (21.9) $\geq$ Fourth born       24 (14.2)         Previous family history§       Yes         Yes       18 (10.5)         No       153 (89.5)         Age of mother at first treatment‡       ≤20 $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3) $20.1-30$ 89 (55.3) $30.1-40$ 42 (26.1)	Bilateral	90 (52.0)
Birth order†       61 (36.1)         First born       61 (27.8)         Third born       37 (21.9) $\geq$ Fourth born       24 (14.2)         Previous family history§       153 (89.5)         Age of mother at first treatment‡       23 (14.3) $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3) $20.1-30$ 89 (55.3) $30.1-40$ 42 (26.1)	Unilateral	83 (48.0)
First born       61 (36.1)         Second born       47 (27.8)         Third born       37 (21.9) $\geq$ Fourth born       24 (14.2)         Previous family history§       Yes         Yes       18 (10.5)         No       153 (89.5)         Age of mother at first treatment‡       ≤20 $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3) $20.1-30$ 89 (55.3) $30.1-40$ 42 (26.1)	Birth order <sup>†</sup>	
Second born       47 (27.8)         Third born       37 (21.9) $\geq$ Fourth born       24 (14.2)         Previous family history§       Yes         Yes       18 (10.5)         No       153 (89.5)         Age of mother at first treatment‡       23 (14.3) $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3) $20.1-30$ 89 (55.3) $30.1-40$ 42 (26.1)	First born	61 (36.1)
Third born $37 (21.9)$ $\geq$ Fourth born $24 (14.2)$ Previous family history§ $18 (10.5)$ No $153 (89.5)$ Age of mother at first treatment‡ $\leq 20$ $\leq 20$ $23 (14.3)$ $20.1-30$ $89 (55.3)$ $30.1-40$ $42 (26.1)$	Second born	47 (27.8)
	Third born	37 (21.9)
Previous family history§       18 (10.5)         Yes       18 (10.5)         No       153 (89.5)         Age of mother at first treatment‡       23 (14.3) $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3) $20.1-30$ 89 (55.3) $30.1-40$ 42 (26.1)	≥Fourth born	24 (14.2)
Yes       18 (10.5)         No       153 (89.5)         Age of mother at first treatment‡ $\leq 20$ $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3) $20.1-30$ 89 (55.3) $30.1-40$ 42 (26.1)	Previous family history§	
No         153 (89.5)           Age of mother at first treatment: $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3) $\leq 2.0$ 23 (14.3)         89 (55.3) $30.1-40$ 42 (26.1)         42 (26.1)	Yes	18 (10.5)
Age of mother at first treatment‡ $\leq 20$ 23 (14.3) $20.1-30$ 89 (55.3) $30.1-40$ 42 (26.1)	No	153 (89.5)
	Age of mother at first treatment‡	
20.1-30       89 (55.3)         30.1-40       42 (26.1)	≤20	23 (14.3)
30.1–40 42 (26.1)	20.1–30	89 (55.3)
	30.1–40	42 (26.1)
≥40.1 7 (4.3)	≥40.1	7 (4.3)

\*Percentage excluding missing values.

<sup>†</sup>Missing for 4 children (2.3%).

<sup>\*</sup>Missing for 12 children (6.9%).

<sup>§</sup>Missing for 2 children (1.2%).

were under the age of 5 years, with four children between 5 and 6 years of age. At presentation, 67 (38.7%) children were under 6 months, and 40 (23.7%) children were new referrals with no previous treatment; 118 of 129 (91.5%) children with a history of previous treatment were treated with below-knee casts using the Kite method [20]. The mean number of casts reported with the Kite method was 16.03 (95% CI: 13.94–18.12). Less than 10% of children were born at home. A family history of clubfoot was reported by 18 (10.5%) parents.

#### Pirani score

Of the 173 children (268 feet) who completed casting, 161 children (246 feet) had a full record of pre- and post-treatment Pirani scores (Table 2).

At the start of treatment, 221 of 246 feet (89.8% – boys 90.9% and girls 89.2%) had a Pirani score of 2.0 or more. After completion of the corrective phase, 209 of 246 feet (85.0%) achieved a Pirani score of 1 or less, of which 37 feet had a Pirani score of 0; 99 achieved 0.5; and 73 had a Pirani score of 1. A further 27 (11.0%) feet had a Pirani score of 1.5 and 10 (4.0%) failed to achieve a score of 1.5 or less.

**Table 2** Pre- and post-treatment Pirani scores of feet thatcompleted casting

Pirani score	Pre-treatment foot N* (%)†	Post-treatment foot N* (%)†
0-1.0	13 (5.3)	209 (85.0)
1.5	12 (4.9)	27 (11.0)
2.0-6.0	221 (89.8)	10 (4.0)
Total	246 (100.0)	246 (100.0)

\*Missing for 22 children.

<sup>†</sup>Percentage excluding missing values.

A Pirani score of 1 or less was achieved more frequently in girls with clubfoot than boys (94.0% vs. 81.5%). The multivariable adjusted regression model showed that a girl's foot was 7.49 (95% CI: 1.24–45.45) times more likely to achieve a score of 1 or less after manipulation and casting than that of a boy. A more severe clubfoot was less likely to achieve an end Pirani score of 1 or less (AOR = 0.75, 95% CI: 0.56–0.99). Age at first treatment and previous treatment were not associated with final Pirani score (Table 3).

The mean Pirani score on presentation was 3.80 (SD 1.15), and mean Pirani score on final cast removal was 0.80 (SD 0.56) with P < 0.001 on paired t-test for change in Pirani score. Change in Pirani score is demonstrated in Figure 2.

Boys with clubfoot experienced less change in score than girls [-0.25 (95% CI: -0.43 to -0.07) (Table 4). A more severe clubfoot was likely to have a greater change in score with treatment. There is no evidence that age at first treatment or history of previous treatment is associated with change in Pirani score after multivariable adjustment.

The mean initial Pirani score for a girl's foot was 3.40 (95% CI: 3.05–3.74) and for a boy's foot, 3.76 (95% CI: 3.60–3.93). While there was overlap in the confidence intervals, there is a trend for girls having less severe deformity at baseline, which may explain the better (lower) final Pirani score outcome.

#### Number of casts

The mean number of casts required in the case series to completion of corrective phase was 7.27 (95% CI 6.7–7.9) (Table 5). Children under the age of 2 years required fewer casts (-1.72, 95% CI -3.27 to -0.18), but the more severe the initial deformity, the more casts were required (0.75, 95% CI: 0.44–1.06). There was no

**Table 3** Factors associated with a Pirani score of 1 or less (Number of feet = 246)

Predictor Variable	Category	Score $\leq 1$ Feet N (%)	Score >1 Feet N (%)	Crude OR (95%, CI)	AOR for all variables* (95%, CI)
Gender	Male	146 (81.6)	33 (18.4)	1	1
	Female	63 (94.0)	4 (6.0)	5.13 (1.07, 24.70)	7.49 (1.24, 45.45)
Age at first treatment	>2 years	31 (70.5)	13 (29.5)	1	1
0	≤2 years	178 (88.1)	24 (11.9)	4.89 (1.23, 19.49)	1.13 (0.31, 4.10)
Previous treatment	No	52 (91.2)	5 (8.8)	1	1
	Yes	154 (83.7)	30 (16.3)	0.43 (0.11, 1.69)	0.46(0.11, 1.95)
Pre-treatment severity category	Unit increas	e		0.82 (0.63, 1.06)	0.75 (0.56, 0.99)

\*Adjusted for place of birth, family history, birth order, affected foot, mother's age and remaining three potential predictors using a random effects model.



**Figure 2** Distribution of change in Pirani score from pre- to post-treatment.

**Table 4** Predictors of change in pre- to post-treatment Pirani scores (N feet = 246)

Predictor variable	Category	Mean score change (95%, CI)	Crude coefficient (95%, CI)	Adjusted coefficient* (95%, CI)
Gender	Female	2.87 (2.52, 3.23)	Reference	Reference
	Male	2.93 (2.75, 3.11)	0.07(-0.35, 0.50)	-0.25(-0.43, -0.07)
Age at first treatment	>2 years	2.59 (2.23, 2.96)	Reference	Reference
	≤2 years	2.99 (2.81, 3.17)	0.50 (-0.01, 1.01)	-0.01 (-0.23, 0.21)
Previous treatment	No	3.57 (3.25, 3.89)	Reference	Reference
	Yes	2.70 (2.52, 2.88)	-0.91(-1.35, -0.47)	0.06(-0.13, 0.26)
Pre-treatment severity category	Unit increase		0.47 (0.45, 0.50)	0.47 (0.44, 0.50)

\*Adjusted for place of birth, family history, birth order, affected foot, mother's age and remaining three potential predictors using a random effects model.

Table 5	Factors	associated	with	number	of	casts	(N =	164)

Predictor Variable	Category	Mean number of casts (95%, CI)	Crude coefficient (95%, CI)	Adjusted coefficient* (95%, CI)
Gender	Female	6.53 (5.47, 7.58)	Reference	Reference
Age at first treatment	>2 years	9.04 (7.25, 10.83)	0.65 (-0.69, 2.00) Reference	0.33 (-0.87, 1.94) Reference
	≤2 years	6.90 (6.22, 7.57)	-1.72(-3.27, -0.18)	-2.49(-4.10, -0.88)
Previous Treatment	No	7.55 (6.26, 8.84)	Reference	Reference
	Yes	7.24 (6.46, 8.01)	-0.62(-2.10, 0.85)	-0.37(-1.16, 1.90)
Pre-treatment severity category	Unit increase		0.75 (0.48, 1.01)	0.75 (0.44, 1.06)

\*Adjusted for place of birth, family history, birth order, affected foot, mother's age and remaining three potential predictors.

association between gender or previous treatment and the number of casts required to achieve correction.

#### Achilles tenotomy

A percutaneous Achilles tenotomy was performed on 127 (78.9%) of 161 children who completed treatment to

bracing phase; 69 tenotomies were on bilateral feet and 58 on unilateral (Table 6).

A child with a history of previous treatment was 8.15 (95% CI: 2.00–33.20) times more likely to have a tenotomy performed than a child with no prior treatment. An increase of pre-treatment Pirani score increased the likelihood that a tenotomy was performed (AOR = 1.72, 95%)

Predictor variable	Category	Tenotomy N (%)	No Tenotomy N (%)	Crude OR (95%, CI)	Adjusted OR* (95%, CI)
Gender	Female	36 (72.0)	14 (28.0)	1	
	Male	91 (81.3)	21 (18.7)	1.69 (0.77, 3.67)	1.72 (0.54, 5.48)
Age at first treatment	>2 years	23 (79.3)	6 (20.7)	1	
5	≤2 years	104 (78.2)	29 (21.8)	0.94 (0.35, 2.51)	0.99 (0.20, 4.99)
Previous treatment	No	27 (69.2)	12 (30.8)	1	
	Yes	97 (80.2)	24 (19.8)	1.64 (0.72, 3.78)	8.15 (2.00, 33.20)
Pre-treatment severity category	Unit increase	se		1.51 (1.26, 1.81)	1.72 (1.33, 2.23)

**Table 6** Factors associated with tenotomy (N = 173)

\*Adjusted for place of birth, family history, birth order, affected foot, mother's age and remaining three potential predictors.

CI: 1.33–2.23). There was no evidence for an association between gender or age at first treatment and whether a tenotomy was performed.

#### Discussion

The gender ratio and bilateral to unilateral clubfoot ratio are similar to global figures, with more males than females (2.2:1) and slightly more bilateral than unilateral cases [21]. The most common presenting Pirani (severity) score was 4.5, suggestive of a moderately severe clubfoot presentation, although less severe than other clubfoot cohort reports in the region [17, 22, 23]. Children attended Parirenyatwa clubfoot clinic prior to the introduction of the Ponseti method when treatment was with the Kite method [20]. The reduced initial Pirani scores are likely to be due to the inclusion of 118 children who had previous treatment with the Kite method. The mean age at first treatment was 13.5 months and less than 39% of children presented under 6 months of age.

This large cohort in Zimbabwe found that the Ponseti manipulation and casting method was successful in 85% of feet, when success is defined as a Pirani score of 1 or less at the end of the correction phase. However, further follow-up of this cohort is required to evaluate the longer-term outcome after bracing up to the age of 5 years. It will be important to see whether the good results obtained in the manipulation and casting phase can be maintained through the bracing phase when compliance with treatment is likely to be a greater problem. Also, it will be necessary to evaluate the patient or carer reported functional outcome, as well as the anatomical structural outcomes [24].

The only predictor of low Pirani score at the end of casting was female gender. Severity of deformity was associated with a larger change in Pirani score (pre- to post-treatment), which is in line with current literature that suggests the Ponseti method is also effective in severe cases [25]; however, a higher Pirani score at baseline was less likely to achieve a satisfactory outcome (Pirani score of 1 or less) on completion of manipulation and casting.

Children with high Pirani scores at presentation (severity of clubfoot) were more likely to require additional casts as expected [17, 25, 26]. In addition, more casts were required for the correction of clubfoot for children over 2 years.

The proportion of children having tenotomy in the current series (78.9% of children/79.7% of clubfeet) is higher than reported in most studies from sub-Saharan Africa [27]. The Parirenyatwa clubfoot clinic is a physiotherapist-led clinic and communication with the orthopaedic department occurred regularly regarding the progress of correction and timing of tenotomy. Medical officers and equipment were available to complete the required tenotomies upon request.

Children with high Pirani scores at presentation were more likely to require tenotomy, as shown previously [28]. This is likely due to tighter connective tissues which are evident in severe deformity and could relate to a biomechanical difference in the collagen itself [29]. In addition, children with a history of previous treatment were over eight times more likely to have a tenotomy performed than if there was no history of prior treatment. This may be due to previous inadequate management with the Kite procedure [30], or because children referred to Parirenyatwa with a history of previous treatment may have had more severe deformity, as children treated successfully elsewhere would be less likely to present to the clinic.

Seventeen children were lost to follow up during casting. No attempt was made to contact those lost to follow up. While services are provided free of charge for children under the age of five at Parirenyatwa, further cultural, financial and structural barriers pertinent to surgery [31] may contribute to the ability to adhere to treatment.

Results of the current cohort of children treated at Parirenyatwa hospital may not be representative of other settings in Zimbabwe. This tertiary referral clubfoot clinic had a regular supply of plaster of paris, Steenbeek foot abduction braces and access to Medical Officers during the study time period. It is difficult to generalise the results to clinics that experience shortages of orthopaedic, surgical and material resources.

Well-maintained medical records for a large cohort of children in a low-income country are strengths of this study and the 173 cases provide one of the largest case series reported in sub-Saharan Africa.

The study has a number of limitations. There was no comparator (control or other treatment group) within the case series. Although attribution of the change in Pirani score to the intervention is plausible, it is not proven. The study participants were self-selected and therefore selection bias cannot be ruled out. In addition, the Pirani score has been reported to have good intraand inter-rater reliability and validity in young children [14] and is recommended for use in LMICs [32]; however, it is not validated for older children. No information was available from the medical records as to whether further treatment including surgery was performed on the 37 feet that failed to achieve a Pirani score of 1.

Plausible evidence from case studies, before-and-after treatment studies and a small number of RCTs suggests the minimally invasive Ponseti method as the best practice. Continued evaluation of treatment results is required, and in the light of the evidence, randomised controlled trials with historical techniques are unethical. A standardised method of reporting service delivery is necessary for the evaluation of outcomes between clinics and regions. In addition, clearly outlined protocols will assist further exploration of the Ponseti method outcomes and predictors of success for clubfoot management.

In conclusion, a consensus is required on a simple userfriendly definition of success for the Ponseti method to compare one series with another and to assist field therapists monitor the results. Success for this case series on the completion of the corrective phase of treatment was defined as a Pirani score of 1 or less. The case series demonstrates that the majority (80%+) of children with clubfoot can achieve a Pirani score of 1 or less, with a relatively small loss to follow up (8.9%) to completion of corrective phase. Age at presentation and previous history of treatment did not greatly affect the final Pirani score. Follow-up is required to assess maintenance of a good result and if a low dropout rate can be maintained through bracing.

#### Acknowledgements

We thank the Zimbabwe Ministry of Health and Child Care, the Parirenyatwa Clubfoot Clinic Staff, Dr Max Gova and his orthopaedic team, Mrs R Muzarurwi, Ms C Ncube and the physiotherapy team, Ryan Bathurst and Debra Mudariki of The Zimbabwe Sustainable Clubfoot Programme, for their diligence in the treatment of clubfoot and support of this project. The Beit Trust is gratefully acknowledged for the scholarship awarded to TS.

#### References

- Bridgens J, Kiely N. Current management of clubfoot (congenital talipes equinovarus). BMJ 2010: 340: c355.
- Pirani S, Naddumba E, Mathias R *et al.* Towards effective ponseti clubfoot care: the Uganda sustainable clubfoot care project. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2009: 467: 1154–1163.
- Carroll NC. Clubfoot in the twentieth century: where we were and where we may be going in the twenty-first century. *J Pediatr Orthop B* 2012: 21: 1–6.
- Jowett CR, Morcuende JA, Ramachandran M. Management of congenital talipes equinovarus using the Ponseti method: a systematic review. J Bone Joint Surg 2011: 93-B: 1160– 1164.
- 5. Gibbons PJ, Gray K. Update on clubfoot. J Paediatr Child Health 2013: 49: E434–E437.
- Siapkara A, Duncan R. Congenital talipes equinovarus: a review of current management. J Bone Joint Surg 2007: 89-B: 995–1000.
- Cooper DM, Dietz FR. Treatment of idiopathic clubfoot. A thirty-year follow-up note. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1995: 77: 1477–1489.
- 8. Ponseti IV. The treatment of congenital clubfoot. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 1994: 20: 1.
- Owen RM, Kembhavi G. A critical review of interventions for clubfoot in low and middle-income countries: Effectiveness and contextual influences. *J Pediatr Orthop B* 2012: 21: 59–67.
- Ponseti IV, Campos J. Observations on pathogenesis and treatment of congenital clubfoot. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 1972: 84: 50–60.
- Ponseti IV, Campos J. The classic: observations on pathogenesis and treatment of congenital clubfoot. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2009: 467: 1124–1132.
- Mang'oli P, Theuri J, Kollmann T, MacDonald NE. Ponseti clubfoot management: experience with the Steenbeek foot abduction brace. *Paediatr Child Health* 2014: 19: 513–514.
- Lourenco AF, Morcuende JA. Correction of neglected idiopathic club foot by the Ponseti method. *J Bone Joint Surg Br* 2007: 89: 378–381.
- Pirani S, Hodges D, Sekeramayi F. A relaible and valid method of assessing the amount of deformity in the congenital clubfoot deformity. *J Bone Joint Surg* 2008: 90-B (Suppl. I): 53.

- Victora CG, Huttly SR, Fuchs SC, Olinto MT. The role of conceptual frameworks in epidemiological analysis: a hierarchical approach. *Int J Epidemiol* 1997: 26: 224–227.
- Zhao D, Li H, Zhao L, Liu J, Wu Z, Jin F. Results of clubfoot management using the Ponseti method: do the details matter? A systematic review. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2014: 472: 1329–1336.
- Lavy C, Mannion S, Mkandawire N *et al.* Club foot treatment in Malawi: a public health approach. *Disabil Rehabil* 2007: 29: 857–862.
- Gray K, Gibbons P, Little D, Burns J. Bilateral clubfeet are highly correlated: a cautionary tale for researchers. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2014: 472: 3517–3522.
- 19. Kirkwood B, Sterne J. *Essential Medical Statistics* (2nd edn), Blackwell: Oxford, 2003.
- Kite JH. Nonoperative treatment of congenital clubfoot. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 1972: 84: 29–38.
- Bass A. Update on club foot. *Paediatr Child Health* 2012: 22: 239–242.
- 22. Ayana B, Klungsoyr PJ. Good results after Ponseti treatment for neglected congenital clubfoot in Ethiopia. A prospective study of 22 children (32 feet) from 2 to 10 years of age. *Acta Orthopaedica* 2014: 85: 641–645.
- Harnett P, Freeman R, Harrison WJ, Brown LC, Beckles V. An accelerated Ponseti versus the standard Ponseti method: a prospective randomised controlled trial. *J Bone Joint Surg* 2011: 93-B: 404–408.
- 24. Perveen R, Evans AM, Ford-Powell V *et al.* The Bangladesh clubfoot project: audit of 2-year outcomes of Ponseti

treatment in 400 children. J Pediatr Orthop 2014: 34: 720–725.

- 25. Zhang W, Richards BS, Faulks ST, Karol LA, Rathjen KA, Browne RH. Initial severity rating of idiopathic clubfeet is an outcome predictor at age two years. *J Pediatr Orthop B* 2012: 21: 16–19.
- Dyer PJ, Davis N. The role of the Pirani scoring system in the management of club foot by the Ponseti method. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2006: 88: 1082–1084.
- 27. Harmer L, Rhatigan J. Clubfoot care in low-income and middle-income countries: from clinical innovation to a public health program. *World J Surg* 2014: 38: 839–848.
- Scher DM, Feldman DS, van Bosse HJ, Sala DA, Lehman WB. Predicting the need for tenotomy in the Ponseti method for correction of clubfeet. *J Pediatr Orthop* 2004: 24: 349–352.
- 29. Krauspe R, Wess KM, Raab P, Stahl U, Ronneberger D, Fietzek PP. Biomechanical analysis of collagen in clubfeet and in controls. *J Bone Joint Surg* 2002: 84-B (Suppl. I): 17-c-.
- Rijal R, Shrestha BP, Singh GK *et al.* Comparison of Ponseti and Kite's method of treatment for idiopathic clubfoot. *Indian J Orthop* 2010: 44: 202–207.
- Grimes CE, Bowman KG, Dodgion CM, Lavy CB. Systematic review of barriers to surgical care in low-income and middle-income countries. World J Surg 2011: 35: 941–950.
- Staheli L. Clubfoot: Ponseti Method. Global Help, 2009. (Available from: http://www.global-help.org/publications/ books/help\_cfponseti.pdf) [01 May 2016].

**Corresponding Author** Tracey Smythe, International Centre for Evidence in Disability, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street, London WC1E7HT, UK. Tel: +44 20 79 588348; E-mail: tracey.smythe@lshtm.ac.uk

# Epilogue (Main findings and limitations)

173 children (268 feet) completed manipulation and casting within the study period. The mean length of time for the corrective phase was 10.2 weeks. Seventeen (8.9%) of the initial 218 children were lost to follow up.

A Pirani score of 1 or less (defined as success) was achieved in 85% of feet. The only predictor of success (Pirani score  $\leq$  1) at the end of casting was female sex.

Children with severe clubfoot deformity (high Pirani scores at presentation), and those over two years old were more likely to require additional casts for correction. The proportion of children that had a tenotomy was 79%. Children with severe clubfoot deformity were more likely to receive a tenotomy.

The limitations of this retrospective case series are: (a) the clubfoot clinic records did not include all the details for risk factor analysis and therefore limit the analysis; (b) there is no comparator within the case series and although attribution of success to the intervention is very likely, it is not proven; (c) the cut-off score for success (Pirani score of 1 or less) was decided in consultation with expert Ponseti method trainers and was based on the acceptability of outcomes rather than a 'perfect' score; and (d) there is a risk of selection bias as the children are self-selected and attended a tertiary clinic that may not be representative of the clinics that other children in Zimbabwe attend.

<u>Additional Information:</u> Erratum. The odds of achieving a Pirani score of 1 or less are 25% less in a child with a more severe clubfoot compared to a child with a less severe clubfoot (AOR = 0.75, 95% CI: 0.56-0.99). A child with a history of previous treatment had eight times the odds (AOR= 8.15 (95% CI: 2.00-33.20) of having a tenotomy performed than a child with no prior treatment. The odds that a tenotomy would be performed increased with an increase of pre-treatment Pirani score (AOR = 1.72, 95% CI: 1.33-2.23). Children with a history of previous treatment had over eight times the odds of receiving a tenotomy compared to those without any previous treatment. This may be due to inadequate management with the Kite procedure (previous treatment), which relates to the formation of a complex clubfoot.

Tracey H. Smythe

PhD Thesis

# Chapter 7. What is a good result after clubfoot treatment? A Delphi-based consensus on success by regional clubfoot trainers from across Africa



Family waiting for first review in clubfoot clinic

# Preamble

Considerable variation exists in the evaluation of outcomes of clubfoot treatment. Whilst the Pirani score is frequently used to assess success during the corrective phase of treatment (Chapter 5), it is not validated for use in children of walking age because it does not reflect the extent of the deformity. Therefore, a different measure for use during the bracing (maintenance) phase is required to assess long-term outcome (Chapter 6).

In addition, non-specialist health workers deliver clubfoot services in clinics in Africa and these 'clubfoot therapists' assess, treat and manage children born with clubfoot. They require valid and repeatable outcome measures that are easy to use to determine their results of clubfoot treatment, and to know when to refer a child for specialist treatment.

As there is no agreed measure recommended for use by clubfoot therapists in Africa to document long-term outcome of treatment, the opportunistic meeting of 35 expert Ponseti method trainers in Ethiopia for the Africa Clubfoot Training project provided an environment to establish consensus on criteria for successful clubfoot correction during the bracing phase (long-term outcome).

A Delphi process with the regional trainers and experts in Africa was used to reach consensus on the most important criteria for assessing success in children of walking age. Although this sequential process does not ensure validity, the agreement provides a basis for establishing criteria that are likely to have clinical sensibility.

This chapter comprises a published research paper that outlines the Delphi method used, and the criteria identified for successful clubfoot management in Africa.

This research paper was published in the journal PLoS ONE in December 2017 after peer review.



#### Registry

T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@ishtm.ac.uk

# **RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET**

## **SECTION A – Student Details**

Student	Tracey Heather Smythe	
Principal Supervisor	Professor Allen Foster	
Thesis Title	Evidence to improve clubfoot services in Africa with Zimbabwe as a case study	

## **SECTION B – Paper already published**

Where was the work published?	PLOS ONE				
When was the work published?	21 <sup>st</sup> December 2017				
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	n/a				
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	The publication is covered by a Creative Commons Attribution CCBY Creative Commons Licence. Anyone may copy, distribute, or reuse the content as long as the author and original source are properly cited	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes		

\*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

### SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	

### SECTION D – Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)		I co-designed the study, designed the data collection tools, extracted the data, completed data analysis, drafted the manuscript, prepared the subsequent revisions with consideration of comments from co-authors		
S	tudent Signature:	Buche	Date:	9/5/18
S	upervisor Signature:_	Au the	Date:	9/5/18

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

Check for updates

# 

**Citation:** Smythe T, Wainwright A, Foster A, Lavy C (2017) What is a good result after clubfoot treatment? A Delphi-based consensus on success by regional clubfoot trainers from across Africa. PLoS ONE 12(12): e0190056. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0190056

Editor: Hiroyuki Tsuchiya, Kanazawa University, JAPAN

Received: December 23, 2016

Accepted: December 7, 2017

Published: December 21, 2017

**Copyright:** © 2017 Smythe et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

**Data Availability Statement:** All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

**Funding:** This work was supported by Beit Trust (TS) and CBM (TS).

**Competing interests:** The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

**RESEARCH ARTICLE** 

# What is a good result after clubfoot treatment? A Delphi-based consensus on success by regional clubfoot trainers from across Africa

Tracey Smythe<sup>10</sup>\*, Andrew Wainwright<sup>20</sup>, Allen Foster<sup>10</sup>, Christopher Lavy<sup>20</sup>

1 International Centre for Evidence in Disability, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom, 2 Nuffield Department of Orthopaedics Rheumatology and Musculoskeletal Science, University of Oxford, Headington, United Kingdom

• These authors contributed equally to this work.

\* tracey.smythe@lshtm.ac.uk

# Abstract

# Background

Congenital talipes equino-varus (CTEV), also known as clubfoot, is one of the most common congenital musculoskeletal malformations. Despite this, considerable variation exists in the measurement of deformity correction and outcome evaluation. This study aims to determine the criteria for successful clubfoot correction using the Ponseti technique in low resource settings through Africa.

### Methods

Using the Delphi method, 18 experienced clubfoot practitioners and trainers from ten countries in Africa ranked the importance of 22 criteria to define an 'acceptable or good clubfoot correction' at the end of bracing with the Ponseti technique. A 10cm visual analogue scale was used. They repeated the rating with the results of the mean scores and standard deviation of the first test provided. The consistency among trainers was determined with the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC). From the original 22 criteria, ten criteria with a mean score >7 and SD <2 were identified and were rated through a second Delphi round by 17 different clubfoot treatment trainers from 11 countries in Africa. The final definition consisted of all statements that achieved strong agreement, a mean score of >9 and SD<1.5.

### Results

The consensus definition of a successfully treated clubfoot includes: (1) a plantigrade foot, (2) the ability to wear a normal shoe, (3) no pain, and (4) the parent is satisfied. Participants demonstrated good consistency in rating these final criteria (ICC 0.88; 0.74,0.97).

### Conclusions

The consistency of Ponseti technique trainers from Africa in rating criteria for a successful outcome of clubfoot management was good. The consensus definition includes basic physical assessment, footwear use, pain and parent satisfaction.

### Introduction

Congenital talipes equino-varus (CTEV), or clubfoot, is one of the most prevalent congenital musculoskeletal malformations that affects mobility [1]. The most common method of treatment worldwide is now the Ponseti technique [2]. This primarily non-operative technique is beneficial in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) where there are limited resources and different cadres of health workers can be trained to treat clubfoot [3]. Despite this, considerable variation exists in the assessment of deformity correction and outcome. Goals of clubfoot treatment include improvement in foot function, the creation of a pain free, shoeable foot, parent satisfaction [4,5] and avoidance of corrective surgery [6]. As the treatment can be delivered by trained health workers [7], the non-specialist health workers require valid, repeatable and easy to measure outcome measures to determine their results of clubfoot treatment in low-resource settings. There is no consensus regarding the definition of success of clubfoot management and diverse criteria [8–10] have been proposed. The concept of success after the bracing phase requires further investigation in environments that share a context of public health systems with overcrowded clinics and limited access to equipment, such as goniometers.

The Delphi method is a structured consensus technique that may be used to reach agreement about outcomes [11]. It is a sequential process through which the anonymous opinions of participants are sought [12] and this allows equal weight to be given to all participants [13,14]. After the completion of each round of questionnaires, the collated group responses are fed back to participants. Establishing consensus does not ensure validity, however agreement provides a basis for establishing criteria that are likely to have clinical sensibility [15].

This study aims to determine criteria for successful clubfoot correction at the conclusion of the bracing phase in a low resource setting, by establishing consensus amongst expert Ponseti trainers in the Africa region.

### Materials and methods

The study was performed and reported following the recommended guidelines [11] for selection of healthcare quality indicators. Eighteen trainers from ten national clubfoot programmes in Africa attended a workshop in January 2016. The trainers were regional experts in clubfoot management, and they deliver training in the Ponseti method in their respective countries. The participants were chosen based on willingness to participate and knowledge of the topic [16] and included orthopaedic surgeons, physiotherapists and orthopaedic technicians. The mean length of time that the trainers had used the Ponseti method for was 7.7 years (95%CI 6.0–9.3) and the average number of trainings delivered was 4.7 (95%CI 2.2–7.1)

The Delphi method employed was a two-round self-administered questionnaire. To identify outcomes that are important, the questionnaire was developed through a regional workshop of Ponseti experts [17]. Potential criteria for assessment of good clubfoot correction were discussed. A systematic literature review of outcomes reported for clubfoot treatment through Africa found different definitions of success at various points in clubfoot treatment [18–23], all of which were discussed by the experts. Twenty-two potentially relevant criteria for good club-foot correction were identified in the workshop by the Ponseti technique trainers. The questionnaire was pilot tested for suitability.

The 18 regional trainers were invited to participate, and all completed a questionnaire that included the criteria of a successful outcome, previously generated in the workshop. The questionnaire asked the respondents to rate each of the items for their relative importance using a 10cm visual analogue scale (VAS) with the anchors 'completely unimportant' and 'extremely important' at each extreme. Respondents were asked to consider all the listed criteria as independent; the paper questionnaires were completed by hand.

The VAS means and standard deviations (SD) were calculated based on the responses of all the trainers. After two days, a second questionnaire was delivered to the same 18 trainers with the results of the previous questionnaire (VAS mean and SD). No criteria were excluded and there was no discussion among the participants.

The consistency among the 18 trainers was determined with the intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC). The conventional interpretation of the ICC is as follows:  $\leq 0.40$ , poor consistency or large variation in opinion; 0.41 to 0.74, acceptable consistency; and  $\geq 0.75$  good consistency [24]. All data were managed and analysed using Stata 14.2, StataCorp 4905, Lakeway Drive College Station, Texas 77845, USA.

In July 2016, 6 months after the first workshop, a second, two-round Delphi method was used to reach a consensus definition of good or acceptable clubfoot correction after bracing. Ten "successful outcome" criteria generated in January 2016 were included which met two predefined criteria: (1) a mean VAS higher than 7 on the ten-point scale, and SD <2; and (2) applicable to outcome at the conclusion of the bracing phase. As there is variability in the measurement of distribution of scores in studies that use the Delphi method [25], the thresholds for the VAS mean and SD were decided *a-priori*. The aim was to generate a list of items that participants considered important to assess for acceptable clubfoot correction after bracing from the original list of questions that related to outcome in general.

Seventeen different regional clubfoot trainers (from eleven countries) who attended a workshop in July 2016 were invited to participate. The mean length of time that the trainers had used the Ponseti method for was 7.9 years (95%CI 6.9–9.9) and the average number of trainings delivered was 8.3 (95%CI 5.1–11.5). The Delphi process was similar to that undertaken in January using a 10cm visual analogue scale with the anchors 'completely unimportant' and 'extremely important.' The paper questionnaires were completed by hand. The trainers repeated the rating with the results of the mean scores and standard deviation of the first test visible two days later. The questionnaires used in the second rounds of the Delphi process are included in Supplementary Information files (S1 and S2 Files).

Criteria with a mean VAS rated > 9 and with a SD < 1.5 were considered to have high agreement. Where two criteria described the same indicator with the difference being only the language used, (e.g. foot is flat on the floor and plantigrade foot) the criterion with the highest VAS mean and lowest SD was selected.

The study methodology and course of action for the management of responses is outlined in Fig 1.

#### Ethics statement

Ethical approval for this study was granted by the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Ethics Committee (approval number 10412). Written consent was obtained at the beginning of the workshop and data were analysed anonymously.



**Fig 1.** Flow chart of criteria selection. Definitions of abbreviations: SD = standard deviation, ICC = intra-class correlation, VAS = visual analogue scale).

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0190056.g001

### Results

The response rate of trainers to the questionnaires was 100% on the first round and 94% on the second round in both January and July 2016. The consistency of Ponseti trainers in Africa in rating criteria for successful outcome of clubfoot management was good. The first Delphi ICC had external consistency of 0.83 (0.71–0.92) and the second Delphi ICC had external consistency of 0.88 (0.74–0.97). From the initial 22 criteria, 10 met the inclusion criteria for the second two rounds of Delphi. Details for the ranking of each criterion by trainers in Africa are shown in Tables 1 and 2.

The distribution of the data for the final ten criteria is displayed in Fig 2.

Outcomes that had >9 VAS mean with <1.5 SD were criterion (4) plantigrade foot, (6) ability to wear a normal shoe, (10) no pain and (1) carer is satisfied.

Table 1.	Final rating of criteria in the first Delphi round (ordered by visual analogue scale mean and
standard	d deviation).

First Delphi round, January 2016		
Criterion	Mean	SD
The foot fits comfortably into a Foot Abduction Brace	8.90	0.71
The foot is plantigrade	8.78	1.26
The foot has 15 degrees of dorsiflexion or more	8.57	1.95
The heel is in a neutral position (no longer in varus)	8.23	1.53
The child can wear a normal shoe	8.16	1.76
The child reports no pain	8.13	1.83
The child demonstrates heel strike when walking	8.11	1.64
The forefoot adductus is corrected	8.09	1.15
The carer is satisfied	7.96	1.43
The foot does not supinate in swing phase when walking	7.92	1.33
The foot does not have less than 60 degrees of abduction	7.74	1.86
The Pirani score is 0.5 or less	7.67	3.04
The child keeps up with peers when walking and running	7.58	2.24
The foot has 10 degrees of dorsiflexion or more	7.52	1.81
The Pirani score is 0.5 or less	6.90	2.73
The foot is corrected within 6 casts	6.76	2.54
The Pirani score is 1 or less	6.66	2.72
The wear on the shoes are symmetrical (in unilateral clubfoot)	6.10	2.67
The child had a tenotomy	5.80	3.02
The foot has more than 30 degrees of abduction	5.44	1.74
The Pirani score is 1.5 or less	5.36	2.34
The Pirani score is 2 or less	4.94	2.74

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0190056.t001

### Discussion

Non-specialist health workers require valid, repeatable and easy to measure outcome measures to determine their results of clubfoot treatment in clinics through Africa. This study determined the opinions of experts from eleven countries in Africa about the criteria for success following clubfoot treatment after the manipulation and bracing phases with the Ponseti technique. The aim of the Delphi method was to define criteria that could be used by any

Table 2.	Final rating of criteria in the second Delphi rou	nd (ordered by visual analogue scale mean
and stan	ndard deviation).	

Second Delphi round, July 2016				
Criterion	Mean	SD		
The foot is plantigrade	9.56	0.79		
The child can wear a normal shoe	9.56	0.79		
The child reports no pain	9.47	0.88		
The carer is satisfied	9.01	1.13		
The foot has 15 degrees of dorsiflexion or more	8.99	1.01		
The heel is in a neutral position (no longer in varus)	8.79	1.10		
The forefoot adductus is corrected	8.65	1.22		
The child demonstrates heel strike when walking	8.51	1.01		
The foot does not supinate in swing phase when walking	8.44	1.18		
The foot does not have less than 60 degrees of abduction	7.44	2.04		

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0190056.t002







https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0190056.g002

clubfoot practitioner working in busy clinics with limited resources through Africa. Regional trainers were therefore deemed the most appropriate experts to interview in this context.

This study found that the highest rated outcomes were a plantigrade foot, ability to wear a normal shoe, parent satisfaction and absence of pain. These criteria are included in other published assessment tools. Laaveg and Ponseti described a detailed functional rating system [8] that requires the use of a goniometer to evaluate outcomes of treatment and incorporates patient satisfaction, pain, gait, heel position and range of motion. The Roye tool [4] consists of ten questions designed to measure treatment outcomes through overall satisfaction, appearance, pain and physical limitations in a high income setting [26]. The Bangla tool [9] was developed to evaluate results of clubfoot management in Bangladesh, where clinics required a tool that was quick, relevant and reliable for use in children of walking age. The Clubfoot Assessment Protocol (CAP) includes a detailed assessment of movement quality and requires accurate passive mobility testing with a goniometer and awareness of muscle testing [10], but it does not include parent reported outcomes. These four tools have been developed in local contexts by individual institutions.

This study used a Delphi process with many experts, in the context of Africa, to develop and then rank criteria that are viewed to be important in the assessment of a successful outcome for clubfoot management in low resource settings. The finding that these four criteria are included in the criteria of the other published assessment tools contributes to evidence of their validity.

There are limitations of this study. Previous research has shown that panel composition influences ratings [27]. The panel in this study was selected for their expertise, but may not be

representative of all Ponseti treatment practitioners. There may be some criteria that were not considered which may also be important.

The expert trainers showed good consistency in rating satisfactory outcomes for clubfoot management (ICC 0.88; 0.74,0.97) and a strength of this study includes the high response rate of the survey (94%).

The consensus definition includes four criteria—a simple physical assessment, footwear use, patient pain and parent reported outcome measures. It is likely that these four criteria will provide a good overall assessment of successful treatment of a child with clubfoot in Africa, and may be useful in other geographic contexts after further investigation. The use of these four criteria should allow the development a simple assessment tool that can be used by non-specialist health workers. The other aspects of utility and reliability of this tool will then need to be studied in future research.

### Conclusion

Appropriate measures are required to determine the successful outcome of clubfoot treatment and to compare different treatment techniques in low resource settings. Using a Delphi process with experts from across Africa, we were able to find consensus for the four most important criteria of a successful clubfoot treatment using the Ponseti method.

### Supporting information

**S1 File. Questionnaire for Delphi 1 round 2.** (DOCX)

**S2 File. Questionnaire for Delphi 2 round 2.** (DOCX)

### Acknowledgments

We thank the experts who participated in this study.

### **Author Contributions**

Conceptualization: TS AW AF CL. Data curation: TS. Formal analysis: TS. Funding acquisition: TS AF CL. Investigation: TS AW CL. Methodology: TS AW AF CL. Project administration: TS CL. Resources: TS AW AF CL. Supervision: AW AF CL. Validation: TS CL AW AF. Visualization: TS. Writing – original draft: TS. Writing - review & editing: TS AW AF CL.

#### References

- 1. Barker S, Chesney D, Miedzybrodzka Z, Maffulli N. Genetics and epidemiology of idiopathic congenital talipes equinovarus. J Pediatr Orthop. 2003; 23(2):265–72. PMID: 12604963
- Shabtai L, Specht SC, Herzenberg JE. Worldwide spread of the Ponseti method for clubfoot. World J Orthop. 2014; 5(5):585–90. https://doi.org/10.5312/wjo.v5.i5.585 PMID: 25405086
- Owen RM, Kembhavi G. A critical review of interventions for clubfoot in low and middle-income countries: effectiveness and contextual influences. J Pediatr Orthop B. 2012; 21(1):59–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/BPB.0b013e3283499264</u> PMID: 21811182
- Roye B, Vitale M, Gelijns A, Roye D. Patient-Based Outcomes After Clubfoot Surgery. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics January/February. 2001; 21(1):42–9.
- Evans AM, Perveen R, Ford-Powell VA, Barker S. The Bangla clubfoot tool: a repeatability study. J Foot Ankle Res. 2014; 7:27. https://doi.org/10.1186/1757-1146-7-27 PMID: 24812575
- Morcuende JA, Dolan LA, Dietz FR, Ponseti IV. Radical Reduction in the Rate of Extensive Corrective Surgery for Clubfoot Using the Ponseti Method. Pediatrics. 2004; 113(2):376–80. PMID: <u>14754952</u>
- Lavy CB, Mannion SJ, Mkandawire NC, Tindall A, Steinlechner C, Chimangeni S, et al. Club foot treatment in Malawi—a public health approach. Disabil Rehabil. 2007; 29(11–12):857–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638280701240169</u> PMID: 17577720
- 8. Laaveg S, Ponseti I. Long-term results of treatment of congenital club foot. J Bone Joint Surg. 1980; 62.
- 9. Evans AM, Perveen R, Ford-Powell VA, Barker S. The Bangla clubfoot tool: a repeatability study. Journal of Foot and Ankle Research. 2014; 7(1):1–6.
- 10. Andriesse H, Hägglund G, Jarnlo G-B. The clubfoot assessment protocol (CAP); description and reliability of a structured multi-level instrument for follow-up. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2005; 6.
- 11. Boulkedid R, Abdoul H, Loustau M, Sibony O, Alberti C. Using and Reporting the Delphi Method for Selecting Healthcare Quality Indicators: A Systematic Review. PLOS ONE. 2011; 6 (6).
- 12. Sinha IP, Gallagher R, Williamson PR, Smyth RL. Development of a core outcome set for clinical trials in childhood asthma: a survey of clinicians, parents, and young people. Trials. 2012; 13.
- 13. Jones J, Hunter D. Consensus methods for medical and health-services research. BMJ. 1995; 311.
- 14. Fink A, Kosecoff J, Chassin M, Brook RH. Consensus methods: characteristics and guidelines for use. Am J Public Health. 1984; 74(9):979–83. PMID: 6380323
- Graham B, Regehr G, Wright JG. Delphi as a method to establish consensus for diagnostic criteria. J Clin Epidemiol. 2003; 56(12):1150–6. PMID: 14680664
- 16. Goodman CM. The Delphi technique: a critique. J Adv Nurs. 1987; 12(6):729–34. PMID: 3320139
- Keeley T, Williamson P, Callery P, Jones LL, Mathers J, Jones J, et al. The use of qualitative methods to inform Delphi surveys in core outcome set development. Trials. 2016; 17(1):1–9.
- Malagelada F, Mayet S, Firth G, Ramachandran M. The impact of the Ponseti treatment method on parents and caregivers of children with clubfoot: a comparison of two urban populations in Europe and Africa. Journal of Childrens Orthopaedics. 2016; 10(2):101–7.
- Smythe T, Chandramohan D, Bruce J, Kuper H, Lavy C, Foster A. Results of clubfoot treatment after manipulation and casting using the Ponseti method: experience in Harare, Zimbabwe. Trop Med Int Health. 2016; 21(10):1311–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/tmi.12750 PMID: 27388947
- 20. Adegbehingbe O. Predicitve facotros for Ponseti clubfoot technique practitioners in Nigeria. International Society of Orthopaedic Surgery and Traumatology Annual Meeting. 2012.
- Adewole O, Williams O, Kayode M, Shoga M, Giwa S. Early experience with Ponseti Club Foot management in Lagos, Nigeria. East and Central African Journal of Surgery. 2014; 19(2):72–7.
- Ayana B, Klungsoyr PJ. Good results after Ponseti treatment for neglected congenital clubfoot in Ethiopia. A prospective study of 22 children (32 feet) from 2 to 10 years of age. Acta Orthopaedica. 2014; 85 (6):641–5. https://doi.org/10.3109/17453674.2014.957085 PMID: 25175659
- 23. Mang'oli P, Theuri J, Kollmann T, MacDonald NE. Ponseti clubfoot management: Experience with the Steenbeek foot abduction brace. Paediatrics and Child Health (Canada). 2014; 19(10):513–4.
- 24. Portney LG, Watkins MP. Foundations of Clinical Research. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall; 2009.
- Sinha IP, Smyth RL, Williamson PR. Using the Delphi technique to determine which outcomes to measure in clinical trials: recommendations for the future based on a systematic review of existing studies. PLoS Med. 2011; 8(1):e1000393. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000393 PMID: 21283604

- 26. Dietz FR, Tyler MC, Leary KS, Damiano PC. Evaluation of a Disease-specific Instrument for Idiopathic Clubfoot Outcome. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2009; 467.
- 27. Campbell SM, Hann M, Roland MO, Quayle JA, Shekelle PG. The effect of panel membership and feedback on ratings in a two-round Delphi survey: results of a randomized controlled trial. Med Care. 1999; 37(9):964–8. PMID: 10493474

# S1: Appendix 1. Delphi 1 round 2

How important are the following in determining a 'good' clubfoot correction? 1. The carer/family is happy with the results (average 8.0) \_| 2. The child demonstrates heel strike when walking (average 8.1) 3. The forefoot adductus is corrected (average 8.2) \_\_\_\_ 4. The wear on the shoes are symmetrical (unilateral clubfoot) (average 6.1) \_| 4 5 1. The child had a tenotomy (average 4.1) 9 10 6. The foot is plantigrade (average 8.7) 7. The Pirani score is 2 or less (average 4.1) 8. The foot has 15 degrees of dorsiflexion or more (average 8) 9. The Pirani score is 1 or less (average 6.3) \_| 9 10 10. The child can wear a normal shoe (average 8.1) 1 1 1 0 1 2 9 10 11. The Pirani score is 1.5 or less (average 5.5) 12. The foot does not supinate in swing phase when walking (average 7.4) Λ Λ q

13. The Pirani score	e is 0.	.5 or	less						(ave	erage	9.5)
	I				<u> </u>		<u>I</u>	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	····
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
14. The Pirani score	e is 0								(ave	erage	; 6.7)
	I										
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
15. The heel is in a	neutr	al po	sitior	n (no	longe	er in v	varus	;)	(av	erage	e 7.7)
	_	-	_			_	-		_		-
							····		····		
16 The foot is corre	0 botod	1 withi	2 n 6 c	3 acte	4	5	6	1	8 (วงต	y arage	10 56)
	ecieu	vvitiii	1100	a313					lave	Jaye	; 5.0)
	I			····	····	<u>r</u>	····	····		<u> </u>	····
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
17. The foot fits cor	nforta	ıbly ir	nto a	foot	abdu	ction	brac	е	(ave	erage	; 8.8)
		-				_		_			
						_ <u> </u>					]
18. The feet does n	0 Not hav		2 se th	3 20 60	4 )dogr	5	6 Sfabr	/ tuctio	8 00 ( 20/0	9 212900	10 71)
	otha		55 116		Juegi	663 (	JI abt		intave	Jaye	; (.1)
	I				·	····	····• <b>r</b> ····	1		····	
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
19. The foot has mo	ore th	an 30	) deg	rees	of ab	oduct	ion		(ave	erage	95.7)
	I								<u> </u>		I
	0	1	2	3	. 4	5	6	7	8	9	10
20. The foot has 15	aegr	ees o	or doi	sirie	kion c	or mo	re		(ave	erage	: 7.8)
	Т	ī	Т	Т		I	·····	····			·····1
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8		I
21. The child keeps	s up w	, ith p	eers	wher	, walk	kina a	and ru	unnin	a (ave	erade	e 7.3)
	[								3 (		,
	I										I
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
22. The child report	ts no j	oain							(ave	erage	: 7.7)
	I			<u> </u>							
	U	1	2	ত	4	5	ю	1	ð	9	10

# S2: Appendix 2. Delphi 2 round 2

How important are the following to determine an <u>acceptable</u> or '**good'** clubfoot correction at completion of bracing?

1. The carer/fam	ily is ha	рру и	vith th	ne res	sults				(ave	erage	8.9)
	I				_		_				I
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
2. The child dem	onstrate	es he	el stri	ke w	hen v	walkir	ng		(ave	erage	8.1)
	I				_	_					I
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
3. The forefoot a	dductus	s is co	orrect	ed					(ave	erage	8.3)
	I				_	_	_				<b> </b>
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
4. The foot is pla	Intigrad	е							(ave	erage	9.3)
	I				_		_				<b>I</b>
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
5. The foot has 1	5 degre	ees o	f dors	iflexi	on or	more	Э		(ave	erage	8.8)
	I				_		_		····		····
	0	1	2	З	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
	•		~	0	•	0	0		•	•	
6. The child can	wear a	norm	al sho	be	•	U	Ū	·	(ave	erage	9.6)
6. The child can	wear a I—	norm	al sho	oe I					(ave	erage	9.6)
6. The child can	wear a I	norm l 1	al sho  2	ce 		 5	 6	- 7	(ave 	erage  9	9.6)
<ol> <li>6. The child can</li> <li>7. The foot does</li> </ol>	wear a I not sup	norm I 1 pinate	al sho  2 in sw	be 	4	5 whe	6 en wa	- I 7 Iking	(ave 	erage I 9 avera	9.6) I 10 ige 8.4)
<ol> <li>6. The child can</li> <li>7. The foot does</li> </ol>	wear a I0 not sup	norm 1 inate	al sho  2 e in sw 	De 3 ving p	4 bhase	5 9 whe	6 en wa	7 Iking	(ave 	erage 9 avera	9.6) 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
<ol> <li>6. The child can</li> <li>7. The foot does</li> </ol>	wear a I 0 not sup I 0	norm 1 oinate 1	al sho  2 : in sw  2	200 3 ving p 3	4 4 4	5 9 whe 5 5	 6  6	- 7 Iking 	(ave 8 (a 8 8 (a	erage 9 avera 9	9.6) 9.6) 10 10 10 10 10 10
<ol> <li>6. The child can</li> <li>7. The foot does</li> <li>8. The heel is in</li> </ol>	wear a I not sup I 0 a neutra	norm 1 inate 1 1 al pos	al sho   in sw    	200 3 ving p 	4 bhase 4 0 4 0 ngei	5 e whe 5 5 r in va	-  6 en wa -  6 arus)	-   7 Iking 	(ave 8 (a 8 (ave 8 (ave	erage 9 avera 9 erage	9.6) 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 9.8.7)
<ol> <li>6. The child can</li> <li>7. The foot does</li> <li>8. The heel is in</li> </ol>	wear a I not sup I a neutra	norm 1 binate 1 al pos	al sho 2 in sw 2 sition 	oe 3 ving p 4 3 (no lo	4 ohase 4 ongei	5 9 whe 5 5 7 in va	6 en wa 6 arus)	7 Iking 7 7	(ave 8 (a 8 (av	erage 9 avera 9 erage	9.6) 10 10 10 10 10 10 2.4)
<ol> <li>6. The child can</li> <li>7. The foot does</li> <li>8. The heel is in</li> </ol>	wear a I not sup I a neutra I 0	norm 1 binate 1 1 al pos 1 1	al sho 2 	ving p 3 (no k 3 3	4 bhase 4 ongei 4	5 e whe 5 r in va 5	-   6 -   6 arus) -   6	7  king 7 7 7	(ave 8 (ave 8 (ave 8	erage 9 avera 9 erage 9 9	9.6) 10 10 10 10 10 10 9.8.7) 10 10
<ol> <li>6. The child can</li> <li>7. The foot does</li> <li>8. The heel is in</li> <li>9. The foot has 6</li> </ol>	wear a I not sup I a neutra I 0 60 degre	norm 1 binate 1 al pos 1 2 2 3 2 3 3 3 4 1 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	al sho 1 2 in sw 1 2 sition 2 f abdu	0 0 1 3 ving p -1 3 (no lo -1 -3 uctior	4 ohase 4 ongei 4 n or n	5 e whe 5 r in va 5 nore	6 en wa 6 arus) 6	7 Iking 7 7 7	(ave 8 (a (ave 8 (ave 8 (ave 8	erage	9.6) 10 10 10 10 10 2 10 2 10 2 10 2 10 2 10 2 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
<ol> <li>6. The child can</li> <li>7. The foot does</li> <li>8. The heel is in</li> <li>9. The foot has 6</li> </ol>	wear a I not sup 0 a neutra 0 60 degre	norm 1 binate 1 al pos 1 2 bes of 	al sho 2 in sw 2 sition 2 f abdu	ving p 3 (no lo 3 (no lo 3 uctior	4 ohase 4 ongei 4 n or n	5 e whe 5 r in va 5 nore	en wa 6 4 6 arus) 6	7  king 7 7 7	(ave 8 (ave 8 (ave 8 (ave 8 (ave	erage	9.6) 10 10 10 10 10 2.6 4.6 10 2.7 10 2.7 10 2.7 10 2.7 10 2.7 10 2.7 10 2.7 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
<ol> <li>6. The child can</li> <li>7. The foot does</li> <li>8. The heel is in</li> <li>9. The foot has 6</li> </ol>	wear a I not sup I a neutra 0 50 degre I 0	norm 1 binate 1 al pos 1 bes of 1 1	al sho - I - in sw  - 2 sition  2 f abdu  2 2	200 3 ving p 3 (no la 3 uctior 3 3	4 ohase 4 ongei 4 n or n 4	5 e whe 5 r in va 5 nore 5	6 en wa 6 arus) 6 6	7 Iking 7 7 7 7	(ave 8 (ave 8 (ave 8 (ave 8 8	erage	9.6) 10 10 10 10 10 2.6.4) 10 2.6.7) 10 2.7.0) 10 10 10
<ol> <li>6. The child can</li> <li>7. The foot does</li> <li>8. The heel is in</li> <li>9. The foot has 6</li> <li>10. The child rep</li> </ol>	wear a I not sup 0 a neutra 0 50 degre 0 0 0 0 0	norm 1 inate 1 al pos 1 ees of 1 pain	al sho 2 in sw 2 sition 2 f abdu 2	ving p 3 (no lo 3 uctior 3	4 ohase 4 ongei 4 n or n 4	5 e whe 5 r in va 5 nore 5	en wa 6 arus) 6 6	7 Iking 7 7 7 7	(ave 8 (ave 8 (ave 8 (ave 8 (ave 8 (ave	erage	9.6) 10 10 10 10 10 2.8.7) 10 2.7.0) 10 2.7.0) 10 2.7.0) 10 2.7.0) 10 2.7.0)
<ul> <li>6. The child can</li> <li>7. The foot does</li> <li>8. The heel is in</li> <li>9. The foot has 6</li> <li>10. The child rep</li> </ul>	wear a I not sup I a neutra 0 50 degre 1 0 50 degre 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	norm 1 binate 1 al pos 1 ces of 1 pain 1	al sho 1 2 in sw 2 sition 2 f abdu 1 2 1 2	ope 3 ving p 3 (no lo 3 uctior 3 	4 ohase 4 ongei 4 n or n 4	5 e whe 5 r in va 5 nore 5	6 en wa 6 arus) 6 6	7 Iking 7 7 7 7	(ave 8 (ave 8 (ave 8 (ave 8 (ave 1	erage	9.6) 10 10 10 10 10 8.4) 10 8.7) 10 9.7.0) 10 9.3) 11 10 9.3)

# Epilogue (Main findings and limitations)

This study found that the highest rated outcomes of clubfoot treatment were a plantigrade foot, ability to wear a normal shoe, parent satisfaction and absence of pain. These individual criteria are included in other published assessment tools.

It is likely that these four criteria taken together will provide a good overall assessment of successful treatment of a child of walking age with clubfoot in Africa.

The main limitations of this study include (a) the ratings of the criteria may have been influenced by the expert panel composition; (b) the panel was selected for their expertise and may not be representative of all Ponseti treatment practitioners; and (c) there may be some criteria that were not considered which may also be important.

Finally, whilst this Delphi study determined opinions of experts in Africa and was used to reach agreement, this process does not ensure validity.

<u>Additional Information:</u> Erratum. Table 1 line 15 of the published paper should read, "The Pirani Score is 0" (with a mean of 6.9 and a SD of 2.73).

Chapter 8. Evaluation of a simple tool to assess the results of Ponseti treatment for use by clubfoot therapists



Functional assessment in the clubfoot clinic

# Preamble

There is need for a user-friendly, comprehensive tool to assess children of walking age who have undergone Ponseti treatment for clubfoot in Africa.

The consensus definition of a 'good' long-term outcome of clubfoot treatment (Chapter 7) included four criteria - one simple physical assessment and three questions for the caregiver on the child's use of footwear, on-going pain experienced by the child, and carer satisfaction.

We developed a tool with four possible answers for each of the four identified criteria. Each answer is scored from 0 to 3, with 3 being the maximum and a total of 12 being the best result.

The submitted research paper in this chapter uses these four criteria to define and evaluate a simple assessment tool, called the 'Assessing Clubfoot Treatment (ACT) score', to assess the long-term success of Ponseti treatment in children of walking age.

A prospective cohort study of 218 children with clubfoot, treated in one clinic in Zimbabwe, was used. Two experts documented the long-term outcome in 68 children attending follow-up using the ACT tool against a gold standard of full clinical assessment.

The study evaluates how effective the use of the ACT score was in identifying children who needed referral for further specialised management. The study also identified factors that influence long-term successful outcome.

This paper was submitted to the journal Medicine in January 2018 and is undergoing peer review.


Registry

T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@ishtm.ac.uk

# **RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET**

# **SECTION A – Student Details**

Student	Tracey Heather Smythe				
Principal Supervisor	Professor Allen Foster				
Thesis Title	Evidence to improve clubfoot services in Africa with Zimbabwe as a case study				

# **SECTION B – Paper already published**

Where was the work published?		
When was the work published?		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	n/a	
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*		Was the work subject to academic peer review?

\*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

# SECTION C – Prepared for publication. but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	Medicine
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	Smythe T, Mudariki D, Gova M, Foster A, Lavy C
Stage of publication	Submitted

# **SECTION D – Multi-authored work**

For multi-authored wo the research included of the paper. (Attach a	ork, give full details of your role in in the paper and in the preparation a further sheet if necessary)	I co-designed the study and designed the data collection protocol. I developed the tool algorithm and performed the statistical analysis. I wrote the first draft of the manuscript and prepared the revisions with comments from co-authors		
Student Signature:	Sught	Date: 9/5   18		
Supervisor Signature:_	the to	Date:9/5/18		
Improving health world	wide	www.lshtm.ac.uk		

ig nearth worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

# Evaluation of a simple tool to assess the results of Ponseti treatment for use by clubfoot therapists: a diagnostic accuracy study

Authors' full names, highest academic degrees and affiliations:

Tracey Smythe<sup>1</sup>, PhD candidate, <u>tracey.smythe@lshtm.ac.uk</u>

Debra Mudariki<sup>2</sup>, BSc Physiotherapy, <u>debramashoro@ymail.com</u>

Maxman Gova<sup>3</sup>, Lecturer & Orthopaedic Surgeon, gova64@icloud.com

Allen Foster<sup>1</sup>, Professor of International Eye Health, <u>allen.foster@lshtm.ac.uk</u>

Christopher Lavy<sup>4</sup>, Professor of Orthopaedic and Tropical Surgery, <u>chris.lavy@ndorms.ox.ac.uk</u>

<sup>1</sup> International Centre for Evidence in Disability, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street, London WC1E7HT, UK

<sup>2</sup> University of Witwatersrand, 1 Jan Smuts Avenue, Braamfontein 2000, Johannesburg, South Africa

<sup>3</sup>Department of Surgery, Parirenyatwa Hospital, Harare, Zimbabwe & University of Zimbabwe

<sup>4</sup> Nuffield Department of Orthopaedics Rheumatology and Musculoskeletal Science, University of Oxford, Windmill Road, Headington, Oxford OX3 7HE, UK.

(c) Corresponding Author: Tracey Smythe International Centre for Evidence in Disability London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street London WC1E7HT Fax: +44 (0) 207299 4656

Tel: +44 (0) 20795 88348 Email: <u>tracey.smythe@lshtm.ac.uk</u>

Funding awarded to TS: The Beit Trust, MiracleFeet, ZANE

List of abbreviations:

ACT: assessing clubfoot treatment

FAB: foot abduction brace

ICC: interclass correlation coefficient

QoL: quality of life

ROC: Receiver Operating Characteristic

STARD: Standards for Reporting of Diagnostic Accuracy Studies

#### Abstract

#### Background:

We aimed to develop and evaluate a tool for clubfoot therapists in low resource settings to assess the results of Ponseti treatment of congenital talipes equinovarus (CTEV) in children of walking age.

### Method:

A literature review and a Delphi process were used to develop the Assessing Clubfoot Treatment (ACT) tool and score. We followed up 68 children with CTEV, treated between 2011 and 2013, in 2017. A full clinical assessment was conducted to decide if treatment was successful or if further treatment was required. The ACT score was then calculated for each child. Inter-observer variation for the ACT tool was assessed. Sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive values were calculated for the ACT score compared to full clinical assessment (gold standard). Predictors of a successful outcome were explored.

#### **Results:**

The ACT tool consists of 4 questions; each scored from 0 to 3, giving a total from 0 to 12 where 12 is the ideal result. The 4 questions consist of one physical assessment and three parent reported outcome measures. It takes 5 minutes to administer and had excellent inter-observer agreement.

An ACT score of 8 or less demonstrated 79% sensitivity and 100% specificity in identifying children that required further intervention, with a positive predictive value of 100% and negative predictive value of 90%. Children who completed two or more years of bracing were four times more likely to achieve an ACT score of 9 or more compared to those who did not (OR: 4.08, 95%CI: 1.31 - 12.65, p = 0.02).

# **Conclusions:**

The ACT tool is simple to administer, had excellent observer agreement, and good sensitivity and specificity in identifying children who need further intervention. The score can be used to identify those children who definitely need referral and further treatment (score 8 or less) and those with a definite successful outcome (score 11 or more), however further discrimination is needed to decide how to manage children with a borderline ACT score of 9 or 10.

Level of Evidence: Level II, Diagnostic Study

#### Introduction

Clubfoot, or congenital talipes equinovarus (CTEV), is a common deformity where the affected foot is fixed downward and inward. The birth prevalence of CTEV is estimated in the range of 0.5 to 2.0 cases/1,000 live births in LMIC (1). Most cases of clubfoot occur as an isolated birth defect and are known as 'idiopathic' because the cause is not known. The remaining 20% of cases are associated with other structural conditions such as arthrogryposis, syndromes and disorders of the nervous system, for example spina bifida (2). Male sex is consistently associated with an increased risk of clubfoot (3).

There is a global trend toward use of the minimally invasive Ponseti method (4) for the correction of CTEV, which consists of simultaneous correction of the components of the clubfoot deformity with manipulation and casting. A percutaneous tenotomy of the Achilles tendon is usually required to correct the residual equinus. A foot abduction brace (FAB) is then needed to maintain the corrected position until 4 years of age (5); the CTEV deformity has a strong tendency to recur after corrective treatment because the factors that initiate the deformity remain active as the child grows (6). Recurrence of elements of the deformity is therefore less common after the child is four years old as growth of the foot decreases in speed.

In low resource settings non-specialist health workers are trained as clubfoot therapists (7). They assess, diagnose, treat and follow up patients with CTEV (8). Several scoring systems have been described for CTEV; these include the Ponseti-Laaveg classification (9) and the Dimeglio classification (10), which are complicated to use. The Pirani score (11) is frequently used to assess success during the corrective phase of treatment, however it is not validated for use in children of walking age because it does not reflect the extent of the deformity. The Roye tool (12) measures patient based outcomes in a high-income setting and the Bangla tool (13) was developed to evaluate results in Bangladesh and requires mathematical calculations. There is no agreed assessment of severity of recurrence and elements of the deformity that recur are typically noted under clinical examination and observation of function.

There remains a need for a valid, repeatable and easy to administer tool that will allow clubfoot therapists to differentiate a good outcome of treatment from a less acceptable outcome that needs further intervention. In addition, a standardised method to assess parent reported outcomes after CTEV treatment is required. To address this gap, we aim to develop a user friendly, comprehensive tool to assess children of walking age

who have undergone Ponseti treatment for CTEV, including parent reported outcome measures about the key quality of life factors that affect the child and parent.

#### Materials and Methods

This study was conducted and reported according to established STARD (Standards for Reporting of Diagnostic Accuracy Studies) guidelines (14). (Additional File 1).

# Defining the ACT tool

The Assessing Clubfoot Treatment (ACT) tool was developed through a Delphi process with 35 Ponseti method trainers in Africa. The Delphi study method, criteria, description of consensus and analysis are published elsewhere in detail (15). The most important criteria for successful CTEV correction were determined and found to be (i) a plantigrade foot, (ii) the ability to wear a normal shoe, (iii) no pain, and (iv) the parent is satisfied. A literature review was used to develop four possible answers for each of the four identified criteria, and a score given for each answer. The assessment tool was then pilot tested including contextual relevance.

The inter-observer variation for the ACT tool was assessed with two experienced physiotherapists who train and mentor clubfoot therapists in Zimbabwe, and are experienced in co-ordinating national clubfoot programmes. The interclass correlation coefficient (ICC) was calculated for agreement. The conventional interpretation was used:  $\leq 0.40$ , poor consistency; 0.41 to 0.74, acceptable consistency; and  $\geq 0.75$  good consistency (16).

# Study population

A cohort study was established of 218 children with idiopathic CTEV managed at Parirenyatwa Hospital, Harare. The results of manipulation and casting are published elsewhere (17). The cohort included all children with a diagnosis of idiopathic CTEV corrected by the Ponseti method at the study hospital between March 2011 and April 2013 (25 months). The only exclusion criterion was conditions other than idiopathic CTEV, for example clubfoot associated with a syndrome or comorbidity, e.g. spina bifida.

# Cohort follow up

In January 2017, when patients were 3.5 – 5.0 years from initial casting, we attempted to follow up all children in the cohort. Phone numbers were extracted from clinic records and carers and their children were invited to participate in the study. Contact was attempted at least three times.

#### Study design

First, the ACT tool was administered independently by the two physiotherapists who were experienced in the management of CTEV in countries in Africa (examiners). Then within an hour a full clinical assessment was performed independently by the two examiners, which involved observation, physical assessment and functional performance review; this included assessment of passive and active range of motion (plantiflexion, dorsiflexion, eversion, inversion of the foot, and knee extension), muscle strength tests of the calf and evertors of the foot), heel raises, squatting ability and gait analysis (walking and running), and discussion with the carer of the child. This examination protocol led to a decision that referral of the child for further treatment (recasting or surgical review) was required, or that no further intervention was needed. The two examiners then discussed their independent decisions and came to one joint management decision. The examiners were therefore not blind to the decision outcome. The usual process is a clinical assessment by either one or two physiotherapists. The joint management decision was chosen as the gold standard with which to compare the ACT tool. After the decision was recorded, the ACT score was calculated.

#### Data collection

The question about the plantigrade position of the foot was answered first by independent physical examination of the child in supine by the physiotherapists, with the knee extended and though the measurement of passive range of dorsiflexion of the hindfoot. The remaining three questions of the ACT score were answered by the carers about the child's pain, ability to wear shoes and satisfaction. The child followed verbal instructions to complete the functional performance review. In addition, data were collected using a self-administered healthcare satisfaction questionnaire (18) and a quality of life questionnaire (19). The questionnaires were available in English and Shona and were cognitively tested. Each measure was recorded by hand on a separate paper. The study protocol was pilot tested for suitability before use.

# Data Management and Analysis

All data were entered into a Microsoft Excel 2000 (Microsoft Inc., Redmond, Washington) software package. Data were analysed using Stata 14.1 (Stata-Corp 4905, Lakeway Drive College Station, Texas 77845,USA.).

A descriptive analysis compared characteristics of the children who attended follow up with that of the whole cohort.

A comparative analysis of outcomes was explored between three groups of children (a) those who had not completed casting, (b) those who had completed casting and had < 2 years of bracing, and (c) those who completed casting and had 2+ years of bracing.

Sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive values were calculated for the ACT score compared to the gold standard (good outcome or needs referral for further orthopaedic management). A Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curve for the ACT score was created to demonstrate the trade-off between sensitivity and specificity (20).

The potential predictors of the ACT tool were explored. Proportions were calculated for the parent reported outcome measures of healthcare satisfaction and quality of life.

# Ethics

The Medical Research Council of Zimbabwe (MRCZ) and the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine (LSHTM) granted ethical approval. The caregiver provided informed written consent. Transport costs were reimbursed.

# Results

The ACT tool consists of one question about the plantigrade position of the foot answered by physical examination and three questions answered by the carers about the child's pain, ability to wear shoes and carer satisfaction (15) (Table 1). There are 4 possible answers to each question with a corresponding score from 0 (severe problems) to 3 (no problems). The total score is calculated within a range of 0 to 12.

Score	1.The foot is plantigrade	2.Does your child complain of pain in their affected foot?	3.Can your child wear shoes of your/their choice?	4.How satisfied are you with your child's foot?
0	Does not reach plantigrade, with additional adduction, cavus or varus	Yes and it often limits their activity	Never	Very dissatisfied
1	Does not reach plantigrade, no additional deformity	Yes and it sometimes limits their activity	Sometimes	Somewhat dissatisfied
2	Plantigrade achieved	Yes but it does not limit their activity	Usually	Somewhat satisfied
3	More than plantigrade i.e. some dorsiflexion	No	Always	Very satisfied

Table <sup>2</sup>	1•	АСТ	questions and	score
Iable		AC I	questions and	30010

#### Inter-observer agreement

The interclass correlation coefficient (ICC) was 0.99 for questions 1 and 3 and 1.0 for questions 2 and 4.

# Cohort follow-up

Sixty-eight children of the cohort of 218 children (31.2%) attended for assessment in early 2017. The total analysis time under observation was 171.3 years.

The follow up group is representative of the whole cohort in terms of sex, laterality, mean Pirani score at baseline, average number of casts applied, and tenotomy proportion (Table 2). They attended treatment for longer than those not seen, indicating increased compliance with treatment.

	Total	Followed up	Not followed up	P-value
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	
Total	218 (100%)	68 (31%)	150 (69%)	
Male	148 (68%)	50 (73%)	98 (65%)	0.22
Female	70 (32%)	18 (27%)	52 (35%)	0.23
Bilateral	119 (54%)	35 (51%)	84 (56%)	0.50
Unilateral	99 (45%)	33 (49%)	66 (44%)	0.53
Tenotomy**: Yes	158 (73%)	52 (76%)	106 (72%)	0.40
No	57 (27%)	16 (24%)	41 (28%)	0.43
	Total(95%CI)	Followed up (95%Cl)	Not followed up (95%CI)	P-value
Average age at first cast	14 months (12 – 17)	17months (11 – 23)	13 months (11 – 15)	0.16
Mean initial Pirani score				
L foot	3.8 (3.6 – 4.0)	3.7 (3.4 – 4.0)	3.8 (3.6 – 4.0)	0.21
R foot	3.7 (3.5 – 3.9)	4.0 (3.6 – 4.3)	3.6 (3.3 – 3.8)	0.56
Average number of casts	7.2 (6.6 – 7.9)	6.9 (5.9 – 8.0)	7.4 (6.6 – 8.2)	0.44
Average months attending since first appointment	23 months (20 – 25)	30 months (26 – 35)	19 months (17 – 22)	0.0001*

#### Table 2: Demographic details of cohort

\*\*missing data from 3 children

By the end of the second year of treatment, 60% of the cohort had stopped attending clinic appointments (Figure 1).



\*data missing for 8 children

#### Figure 1: Children attending clubfoot clinic (bracing and correction phase)\*

Of the 68 children seen at follow up, 63 (93%) completed casting and were fitted with a brace, and 38 (56%) used a brace for more than 2 years.

#### Clinical assessment

All children were assessed with the reference standard and after the full clinical assessment by the two examiners 44/68 (65%) children were judged not to require any further intervention and 24/68 (35%) were judged to require further treatment (recasting or surgical review). (Additional file 2) Where there was initial disagreement, consensus on the decision was reached through discussion. No adverse events occurred as a result of any of the outcome measures undertaken.

For the 38 children who finished casting and completed 2+ years of bracing 82% were judged to have a successful outcome (Table 3). Completion of casting and at least 2 years bracing was strongly associated with a successful outcome.

	Totals		Finished casting and 2+years bracing		Finished casting and <2yrs bracing		Did not finish casting	
Recruited at baseline**	218**	100%	83	39.5%	107	51%	20	9.5%
Seen at follow-up	68	31%	38	56%	24	35%	6	9%
No intervention required	44	65%	31	82%	12	50%	1	17%
Referral for further orthopaedic intervention	24	35%	7	18%	12	50%	5	83%
P value for difference in proportion of those requiring intervention and those not*				0.001*		0.06		0.02

#### Table 3: Outcome at follow-up as judged independently by two expert physiotherapists

\*\*missing data from 8 children (4%) \*Fischers exact test

ACT tool

55/68 (81%) children achieved plantigrade, and in those who had completed 2+ years of bracing, this increased to 97% (37/38). Scores for parent reported outcome measures increased for children who had completed two years of bracing (Table 4).

		Score 3	Score 2	Score 1	Score 0
		N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Tatal Oal and	Foot is plantigrade	33 (49%)	22 (32%)	7 (10%)	6 (9%)
followed up	Complain of pain	44 (65%)	18 (27%)	5 (7%)	1 (1%)
(n=68)	Wears shoe of choice	47 (69%)	13 (19%)	6 (9%)	2 (3%)
(	Satisfied with foot	42 (62%)	14 (21%)	9 (13%)	3 (4%)
	Foot is plantigrade	31 (49%)	22 (35%)	7 (11%)	3 (5%)
Completed	Complain of pain	43 (68%)	15 (24%)	5 (8%)	0 (0%)
(n=63)	Wears shoe of choice	45 (71%)	12 (19%)	6 (10%)	0 (0%)
	Satisfied with foot	41 (65%)	12 (19%)	9 (14%)	1 (2%)
Completed	Foot is plantigrade	22 (58%)	15 (39%)	1 (3%)	0 (0%)
≥2 years	Complain of pain	27 (71%)	9 (24%)	2 (5%)	0 (0%)
bracing	Wears shoe of choice	27 (71%)	8 (21%)	3 (8%)	0 (0%)
(n=38)	Satisfied with foot	28 (74%)	6 (16%)	4 (10%)	0 (0%)

#### Table 4: ACT score distribution

72% (49/68) of the children followed up achieved a score of 9 or more. This proportion increased to 84% (32/38) in those who had completed 2+ years of bracing (Table 5).

ACT score	Total N	Score ≤6	Score 7-8	Score 9-10	Score 11-12
ACT score for total cohort	68	10 (15%)	9 (13%)	13 (19%)	36 (53%)
ACT score for those completing casting	63	8 (13%)	7 (11%)	13 (21%)	35 (55%)
ACT score for those completing casting and bracing for ≥2 years	38	2 (5%)	4 (11%)	9 (24%)	23 (60%)

Table 5: ACT score according to compliance with Ponseti treatment

# Sensitivity and specificity

24 children required further intervention, of which 19 scored 8 or less on the ACT score (sensitivity: 79%) and the remaining children scored 9 or 10.

Of the 44 children who did not require further intervention on full clinical assessment, all scored 9 or more (specificity: 100%).

A score of 9 or more was found in 49 children, of which 44 were identified as not requiring further intervention (negative predictive value: 90%). Among the children who scored 8 or less, all 19 had been clinically assessed as requiring further intervention (positive predictive value: 100%).

If a score of 9 was used to predict the need for intervention instead of 8, the sensitivity increased from 79% to 83%, the specificity decreased from 100% to 87% and negative and positive predictive values from 90% to 80% and 100% to 91% respectively.

An ACT score of 8 or less correlates with the need for intervention and scores of 11 and 12 correlate with no need for further intervention. An ACT score of 9 or 10 warrants further review.

The ACT score ROC area is 0.97 (95% CI 0.94 - 1.00). (Figure 2) The closer the curve follows the left-hand border and then the top border of the ROC space, the more accurate the test.



#### Figure 2: ROC display for ACT score

#### Factors affecting ACT score

Children who completed casting and were fitted with a brace had twelve times the odds (95%CI: 1.33 - 123.49 p = 0.03) of achieving a good outcome (score 9 -12) than those who did not. Those with 2+ years of brace wear had four times the odds (95% CI: 1.31 - 12.65 p = 0.02) of achieving a score of 9 -12 than those who used a brace for < 2 years.

Sex, side of CTEV, age at first clinic attendance, initial severity, number of casts, and tenotomy performed were not associated with an ACT score that predicted need for further intervention (score 0 - 8) (Table 6).

Factor		Success / Borderline (ACT score 9-12) N (%)	Failure (ACT score 0-8) N (%)	Crude OR (95%CI)	P- value	
Total		54 (79%)	14 (21%)			
	Male	35 (71%)	14 (29%)	1.00		
Gender	Female	14 (74%)	5 (26%)	1.12 (0.34 – 3.70)	0.85	
	Bilateral	24 (69%)	11 (31%)	1.00		
Clubfoot	Unilateral	25 (76%)	8 (24%)	1.43 (0.49 – 4.17)	0.51	
Age first	<2 years	40 (74%)	14 (26%)	1.00		
attended clinic	≥ 2 years	9 (64%)	5 (36%)	0.57 (0.15 – 2.19)	0.42	
Initial severity	< 3	34 (69%)	15 (31%)	1.00		
(Pirani score)	≥ 3	15 (79%	4 (21%)	1.65 (0.47 – 5.82)	0.43	
	≥6	28 (68%)	13 (31%)	1.00		
Number of casts	<6	21 (78%)	6 (22%)	1.63 (0.53 – 4.98)	0.85	
	No	14 (74%)	5 (26%)	1.00		
Tenotomy	Yes	35 (71%)	14 (29%)	0.89 (0.27 – 2.95)	0.85	
Completed	No	1 (20%)	4 (80%)	1.00		
casting and fitted with brace	Yes	48 (76%)	15 (24%)	12.8 (1.3 – 123.5)	0.03*	
Completed	No	11 (55%)	9 (45%)	1.00		
casting with Pirani score ≤ 1	Yes	38 (79%)	10 (21%)	3.11 (1.01 – 9.56)	0.05*	
	< 2 years	17 (57%)	13 (43%)	1.00		
Brace use	≥ 2 years	32 (84%)	6 (16%)	4.08 (1.31 – 12.65)	0.02*	

#### Table 6: Predictors of ACT score

#### Quality of life

There is a marked improvement in QoL in all areas for those who complete casting compared to those who did not (Additional File 3). An ACT score 9 -12 was associated with an increased QoL (p=0.002).

# Healthcare Satisfaction

There was a tendency for parents whose children completed  $\geq 2$  years of bracing to be more satisfied (93%, 95%CI: 88 – 99) with the information given to them in the clubfoot clinic than those who did not (85%, 95%CI: 76 – 93) (Additional File 4) but this difference was not statistically significant.

#### Discussion

A simple tool to assist non-specialist health workers to identify a good outcome after treatment with the Ponseti method from an outcome that needs further management is required. The four-question ACT tool was shown to have a high sensitivity and specificity in identifying children who need additional intervention.

#### Gold standard

There is no accepted gold standard to assess the results of CTEV treatment. In the context of Africa, trained clubfoot therapists provide treatment. When children are seen during bracing, a decision on need for referral to an orthopaedic clinic is required. To assess whether the ACT tool could assist therapists in making that decision, the gold standard used was the agreement of two experienced physiotherapists after they had independently performed a full clinical assessment.

# Comparison to previous studies

This study found that further intervention was indicated in 35% (24/68) of children and the success rate in those that completed casting and 2+ years of bracing was 82%. This indicates what can be achieved if there is good compliance with treatment and adequate follow-up. This is similar to high income settings where the probability of further intervention is reported as approximately 29% (21).

#### ACT tool and score

The ACT tool (one physical observation and 3 questions to the child's carer) takes approximately five minutes to perform. There was excellent agreement in the results of the test between two different observers.

A score of 8 or less indicated that the child needed referral, whereas a score of 11 or 12 indicated the child had a good outcome. One child with a score of 9 and three children with a score of 10 were judged to need referral for more casting and one child with a score of 10 to need referral for surgical review. These cases included curvature of the lateral border of the foot and review for a Tibialis Anterior transfer. There were no cases that recorded low parent satisfaction or parent reported pain when the foot achieved plantigrade or more.

#### Strengths and limitations

This was a cohort study with follow-up after first treatment of at least 3.5 years. Repeat phone calls facilitated attendance at the study clinic. The ACT tool was developed through an extensive Delphi process and literature review. The tool is simple and quick to administer and can be used by non-specialist health workers. It includes both physical observation and carer reported outcomes. The study protocol was pilot tested before use.

There were also study limitations. The results in those followed up are likely to be better than those for the cohort as they attended clinic appointments for longer and length of follow up is a predictor of good outcome. The tool is limited to one clinical examination, which restricts identification of pathology that is reliant on complex investigations. It is possible that results from the ACT tool may have influenced the decision to refer. Administering the tool first, but calculating the total score after the full clinical assessment, in addition to requiring agreement on the referral decision, should have reduced this potential for observer bias.

#### Implications

As non-specialist health workers regularly manage the treatment of CTEV in low resource settings there is a need to provide appropriate tools to allow measurement and evaluation of their treatments. Further work is required to evaluate the ACT tool in other situations and with other cadres of clubfoot therapists. Also further exploration to differentiate children who score 9 or 10 with a good outcome from those who need referral is warranted; in particular the tool is not sensitive in identifying children who have a curvature in the front of the foot but who score high due to parent satisfaction, good footwear use and absence of pain.

#### Recommendations

The use of the ACT score is to accurately inform and predict future management. It answers such questions as: (1) does the child need more treatment? (2) has the child been successfully treated? and (3) will the child's quality of life be improved? It is suitable for use in children who are of walking age.

We recommend that the ACT tool is used on a yearly basis after completion of casting and commencement of bracing, or if the non-specialist health worker has concerns regarding the outcome of CTEV treatment in a child of walking age. A score  $\leq 8$ predicts the need for further intervention. If a child scores 9 to 10, we recommend the clubfoot therapist identifies the primary reason and seeks a second opinion.

# Conclusion

This paper contributes to the data on the measurement of CTEV treatment in low resource settings. The ACT tool includes a physical observation of the foot and parent reported outcome measures. A score  $\leq$  8 identifies children who need further intervention, and a score of 11 or 12 identifies children with a successful outcome. Further work is needed to distinguish the few children who have an ACT score of 9 or 10 and who require further treatment from those who have a successful outcome. There is an association between good outcome, high ACT score and higher quality of life.

#### <u>References</u>

1. Smythe T, Kuper H, Macleod D, Foster A, Lavy C. Birth prevalence of congenital talipes equinovarus in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Trop Med Int Health. 2017;22(3):269-85.

2. Dobbs MB, Gurnett CA. Genetics of clubfoot. J Pediatr Orthop B. 2012;21(1):7-9.

3. Dietz F. The genetics of idiopathic clubfoot. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2002(401):39-48.

4. Shabtai L, Specht SC, Herzenberg JE. Worldwide spread of the Ponseti method for clubfoot. World J Orthop. 2014;5(5):585-90.

5. Ponseti IV, Campos J. The classic: observations on pathogenesis and treatment of congenital clubfoot. 1972. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2009;467(5):1124-32.

6. Ponseti IV. Relapsing clubfoot: causes, prevention, and treatment. Iowa Orthop J. 2002;22:55-6.

7. Mkandawire N, Ngulube C, Lavy C. Orthopaedic clinical officer program in Malawi: a model for providing orthopaedic care. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2008;466(10):2385-91.

8. Tindall AJ, Steinlechner CWB, Lavy CBD, Mannion S, Mkandawire N. Results of Manipulation of Idiopathic Clubfoot Deformity in Malawi by Orthopaedic Clinical Officers Using the Ponseti Method: A Realistic Alternative for the Developing World? [Article]. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics September/October. 2005;25(5):627-9.

9. Laaveg SJ, Ponseti IV. Long-term results of treatment of congenital club foot. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1980;62(1):23-31.

10. Dimeglio A, Bensahel H, Souchet P, Mazeau P, Bonnet F. Classification of clubfoot. J Pediatr Orthop B. 1995;4(2):129-36.

11. Pirani S, Hodges D, Sekeramayi F. A reliable and valid method of assessing the amount of deformity in the congenital clubfoot deformity. Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery, British Volume. 2008(90-B (SUPP I):53).

12. Roye BD, Vitale MG, Gelijns AC, Roye DP, Jr. Patient-based outcomes after clubfoot surgery. J Pediatr Orthop. 2001;21(1):42-9.

13. Evans AM, Perveen R, Ford-Powell VA, Barker S. The Bangla clubfoot tool: a repeatability study. J Foot Ankle Res. 2014;7(1):27.

14. Cohen JF, Korevaar DA, Altman DG, Bruns DE, Gatsonis CA, Hooft L, et al. STARD 2015 guidelines for reporting diagnostic accuracy studies: explanation and elaboration. BMJ Open. 2016;6(11).

15. Smythe T, Wainwright A, Foster A, Lavy C. What is a good result after clubfoot treatment? A Delphi-based consensus on success by regional clubfoot trainers from across Africa. PLoS One. 2017;12(12):e0190056.

16. Portney LG, Watkins MP. Foundations of Clinical Research. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall; 2009.

17. Smythe T, Chandramohan D, Bruce J, Kuper H, Lavy C, Foster A. Results of clubfoot treatment after manipulation and casting using the Ponseti method: experience in Harare, Zimbabwe. Trop Med Int Health. 2016;21(10):1311-8.

18. Souza FM, Molina J, Terreri MT, Hilario MO, Len CA. Reliability of the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory - Healthcare Satisfaction Generic Module 3.0 version for the assessment of the quality of care of children with chronic diseases. J Pediatr (Rio J). 2012;88(1):54-60.

19. Desai AD, Zhou C, Stanford S, Haaland W, Varni JW, Mangione-Smith RM. Validity and responsiveness of the pediatric quality of life inventory (PedsQL) 4.0 generic core scales in the pediatric inpatient setting. JAMA Pediatr. 2014;168(12):1114-21.

20. Hajian-Tilaki K. Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) Curve Analysis for Medical Diagnostic Test Evaluation. Caspian J Intern Med. 2013;4(2):627-35.

21. Zionts LE, Jew MH, Bauer KL, Ebramzadeh E, S NS. How Many Patients Who Have a Clubfoot Treated Using the Ponseti Method are Likely to Undergo a Tendon Transfer? J Pediatr Orthop. 2016;July.

# Additional File 1. STARD Checklist

Section and Topic	No	Recommendation	Page No
TITLE/ ABSTRACT/	1	Identify the article as a study of diagnostic accuracy (recommend MeSH heading 'sensitivity and specificity').	1 & 6
INTRO	2	State the research questions or study aims, such as estimating diagnostic accuracy or comparing accuracy between tests or across	1 & 3
METHODS		participant groups.	
Participants	3	The study population. The inclusion and exclusion criteria, setting and	4
T al ticipants	5	locations where data were collected.	т —
	4	Participant recruitment: Was recruitment based on presenting symptoms, results from previous tests, or the fact that the participants had received the index tests or the reference standard?	4 & 5
	5	Participant sampling: Was the study population a consecutive series of participants defined by the selection criteria in item 3 and 4? If not, specify how participants were further selected.	4 & 5
	6	Data collection: Was data collection planned before the index test and reference standard were performed (prospective study) or after (retrospective study)?	4 & 5
Test methods	7	The reference standard and its rationale.	5 & 7
	8	Technical specifications of material and methods involved including how and when measurements were taken, and/or cite references for index tests and reference standard.	4 & 5
	9	Definition of and rationale for the units, cut-offs and/or categories of the results of the index tests and the reference standard.	5
	10	The number, training and expertise of the persons executing and reading the index tests and the reference standard	5
	11	Whether or not the readers of the index tests and reference standard were blind (masked) to the results of the other test and describe any other clinical information available to the readers	5
Statistical	12	Methods for calculating or comparing measures of diagnostic accuracy	6
methods	10	and the statistical methods used to quantify uncertainty (e.g. 95% CI)	
	13	Methods for calculating test reproducibility, if done.	n/a
RESULIS	14	When study was performed including recruitment beginning and dates	4
Farticipants	15	Clinical and demographic characteristics of the study population (at least	7
	16	The number of participants satisfying the criteria for inclusion who did or did not undergo the index tests and/or the reference standard; describe why participants failed to undergo either test (a flow diagram is strongly	7
Test Results	17	recommended). Time-interval between the index tests and the reference standard, and	5
	10	any treatment administered in between.	-
	18	target condition; other diagnoses in participants without the target condition.	/
	19	A cross tabulation of the results of the index tests (including indeterminate and missing results) by the results of the reference standard; for continuous results, the distribution of the test results by the results of the reference standard.	8&9
	20	Any adverse events from performing the index tests or the reference standard.	7
Estimates	21	Estimates of diagnostic accuracy and measures of statistical uncertainty (e.g. 95% confidence intervals).	8 & 9
	22	How indeterminate results, missing data and outliers of the index tests were handled.	n/a
	23	Estimates of variability of diagnostic accuracy between subgroups of	8 & 9
	24	Estimates of test reproducibility, if done.	n/a
DISCUSSION	25	Discuss the clinical applicability of the study findings.	10 & 11

# Additional File 2. Results of ACT score and treatment required

ACT	No	Re-casting	Surgical
score	intervention	required	review
	required (N)	(N)	required (N)
0			1
4			3
5			1
6		1	4
7		1	3
8		1	4
9	5	1	
10	3	3	1
11	12		
12	24		

# Additional File 3. Results of quality of life questionnaire (Higher % = higher perceived quality of life)

		-		-
Quality of life	Did not	Completed	Completed	Total cohort
Dimension**	complete	casting, but <2	casting, and 2+	followed up**
	casting	years bracing	years bracing	
	N = 6	N = 24	N = 38	N= 62
	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean
	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Physical functioning	68	88	96	93
	(27 – 100)	(81 – 96)	(93 – 99)	(89 – 96)
Emotional functioning	69	84	89	87
_	(54 – 82)	(76 – 91)	(85 – 94)	(83 – 91)
Social functioning	75	85	95	91
_	(41 – 100)	(78 – 93)	(93 – 98)	(87 – 95)
School functioning	65	81	94	88
_	(15 – 100)	(72 – 91)	(89 - 99)	(83 – 93)
Psychosocial health	72	83	93	89
-	(47 – 96)	(77 – 91)	(90 – 96)	(86 – 93)
Total score	69	86	94	91
	(31 – 100)	(80 – 92)	(92 – 97)	(87 – 94)

\*\*data missing from 6 children

Healthcare satisfaction Dimension**	Cohort Mean % (95%CI) n=64	Complete casting Mean % (95%CI) n=60	Did not complete casting mean % (95%CI) n=4	P-value	Pirani ≤1 % (95%Cl) (n=46)	Pirani ≥1 % (95%Cl) (n=18)	P-value	Children completing ≥2 years of bracing (n=37)	Children who do not complete 2 years (n=27)	P-value
Information	83	84	70	0.49	82	85	0.56	88	75	0.02*
	(77 – 88)	(78 – 90)	(0 – 100)		(75 – 88)	(72 – 97)		(83 – 96)	(64 – 86)	
Inclusion of family	82	82	77	0.25	81	84	0.50	83	80	0.63
	(76 – 87)	(76- 87)	(21 – 100)		(75 – 87)	(70 – 97)		(76 – 90)	(71 – 90)	
Communication	83	83	74	0.64	82	85	0.53	83	82	0.87
	(77-88)	(78 – 88)	(0 – 100)		(76 – 87)	(69 – 99)		(76-90)	(72 – 92)	
Technical skills	88	88	88	0.42	87	90	0.45	87	89	0.67
	(83 – 92)	(83 – 92)	(48 – 100)		(82 – 92)	(79 – 99)		(80 – 93)	(82 – 95)	
Emotional needs	74	74	74	0.98	75	71	0.81	72	76	0.61
	(66 – 82)	(66 – 82)	(0 – 100)		(66 – 83)	(50 – 92)		(61 – 83)	(64 – 88)	
Overall	90	91	74	0.98	91	87	0.59	93	85	0.07*
satisfaction	(85 – 95)	(86 – 95)	(4 – 100)		(86 – 95)	(73 – 99)		(88 – 99)	(76 – 93)	
Total score	83	83	76	0.18	83	82	0.82	84	81	0.54
	(78 – 88)	(79 – 88)	(10 – 100)		(78 – 88)	(69 – 96)		(78 – 90)	(73 – 90)	

# Additional File 4. Results of Healthcare Satisfaction Questionnaire (Higher % = higher satisfaction)

\*\*data from 4 children missing

# Epilogue (Main findings and limitations)

The Assessing Clubfoot Treatment (ACT) tool consists of one question about the plantigrade position of the foot answered by physical examination and three questions answered by the caregiver about: the child's pain, the child's ability to wear shoes and carer satisfaction. It takes approximately five minutes to perform.

After full clinical assessment by the two physiotherapists (gold standard) 44/68 (65%) children were judged not to require any further intervention and 24/68 (35%) were judged to require further treatment (re-casting or surgical review).

A score of 8 or less with the ACT tool indicated that the child needed referral, whereas a score of 11 or 12 indicated the child had a good outcome. 72% (49/68) of the children followed up achieved a score of 9 or more. This proportion increased to 84% (32/38) in those who had completed two or more years of bracing.

The ACT tool was shown to have a high sensitivity and specificity in identifying children who need additional intervention when compared to full clinical assessment by two experienced physiotherapists. An ACT score of 8 or less demonstrated 79% sensitivity and 100% specificity in identifying children that required further intervention, with a positive predictive value of 100% and negative predictive value of 90%.

Predictors of success, as defined by an ACT of 9 or more, were (a) the child completed casting with a Pirani score  $\leq$  1, (b) the child completed casting and was fitted with a FAB, and (c) the child used a FAB for two years or more.

A major limitation of this study is that only 31% (68/218) of the original cohort of children attended for long-term follow-up. The implication of this selection bias is that the results in those followed up are likely to be better than those for the whole cohort as they attended clinic appointments for longer and length of follow up is a predictor of good outcome. The tool was applied only to children with idiopathic clubfoot and may not be applicable to children with secondary clubfoot. The ACT tool and the full clinical assessment were administered by the same two people and it is possible that observer bias through administering the ACT tool first may have influenced the decision to refer taken in the full clinical assessment.

The ACT tool is limited to one clinical examination, which restricts identification of pathology that is reliant on complex investigations. In addition, the tool is not sensitive in identifying children who have a curvature in the front of the foot but who score high due to parent satisfaction, good footwear use and absence of pain.

# Chapter 9. A comparison of outcome measures used to report clubfoot treatment with the Ponseti method: results from a cohort in Harare, Zimbabwe



From wearing braces to school shoes

# Preamble

Clubfoot therapists often have no specialised physiotherapy or surgical support present in the clinics or nearby. It is important that clubfoot therapists monitor the results of treatment and know when to refer children for specialist review.

There are a variety of scores or clinical examination findings in use to assess outcome of clubfoot treatment. However, there is no consensus on which outcome measure clubfoot therapists should be trained to use. Also there are no agreed indications for referral, be it for review by a specialist or for further intervention, such as re-casting.

We therefore compared the results of the Ponseti method of clubfoot management at three to five years from initial correction using different outcome measures. We explored the ability of different assessment tools to discriminate between the need for referral for further intervention and a successful outcome.

This chapter includes a diagnostic accuracy study to compare the long-term results of Ponseti treatment in a cohort of children in one referral hospital in Zimbabwe.

Five tools that can be used by clubfoot therapists are evaluated. The tools assess success of treatment in children of walking age.

The submitted research paper investigates how the different outcome measures of clubfoot treatment can be used to identify the children needing referral compared to a comprehensive clinical assessment.

This paper was submitted to the journal BMC Musculoskeletal in March 2018 and is undergoing peer review.



#### Registry

T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@ishtm.ac.uk

# **RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET**

# <u>SECTION A – Student Details</u>

Student	Tracey Heather Smythe	
Principal Supervisor	Professor Allen Foster	
Thesis Title	Evidence to improve clubfoot services in Africa with Zimbabwe as a case study	

# **SECTION B – Paper already published**

Where was the work published?		
When was the work published?		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	n/a	
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*		Was the work subject to academic peer review?

\*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

# SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	BMC Musculoskeletal
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	Smythe T, Gova M, Muzarurwi R, Foster A, Lavy C
Stage of publication	Submitted

# SECTION D – Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of you the research included in the paper and in the of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necess	bur role in preparation sary) I co-designed the study and designed the data collection protocol. I developed the tool algorithm and performed the statistical analysis. I wrote the first draft of the manuscript and prepared the revisions with comments from co-authors
Student Signature: <u>Bughge</u>	Date: 9/5/18
Supervisor Signature:	Date:9/S/18
Improving health worldwide	www.lshtm.ac.uk

# A comparison of outcome measures used to report clubfoot treatment with the Ponseti method: results from a cohort in Harare, Zimbabwe

Authors:

Tracey Smythe<sup>1</sup>, Research Fellow Maxman Gova<sup>2</sup>, Orthopaedic Surgeon Rumbidzai Muzarurwi<sup>3</sup>, Physiotherapist Allen Foster<sup>1</sup>, Professor of International Eye Health Christopher Lavy<sup>4</sup>, Professor of Orthopaedic and Tropical Surgery

<sup>1</sup> International Centre for Evidence in Disability, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK
<sup>2</sup>Department of Surgery, Parirenyatwa Hospital & University of Zimbabwe, Harare, Zimbabwe
<sup>3</sup>Rehabilitation department, Parirenyatwa Group of Hospitals, Harare, Zimbabwe
<sup>4</sup>Nuffield Department of Orthopaedics Rheumatology and Musculoskeletal Science, University of Oxford, UK.

Corresponding Author: Tracey Smythe tracey.smythe@lshtm.ac.uk

Target journal: BMC Musculoskeletal

Key words: clubfoot, CTEV, measurement, quality, Ponseti, evaluate, indicator, low resource

Funders: The Beit Trust, MiracleFeet, ZANE

Abbreviations:

ACT tool: Assessing Clubfoot Treatment tool

**Background:** There are various established scoring systems to assess the outcome of clubfoot treatment after correction with the Ponseti method. We used five measures to compare the results in a cohort of children followed up for between 3.5 to 5 years

**Methods:** In January 2017 two experienced physiotherapists assessed children who had started treatment between 2011 and 2013 in one clinic in Harare, Zimbabwe. The length of time in treatment was documented. The Roye score, Bangla clubfoot assessment tool, the Assessing Clubfoot Treatment (ACT) tool, proportion of relapsed and of plantigrade feet were used to assess the outcome of treatment in the cohort. Inter-observer variation was calculated for the two physiotherapists. A comparative analysis of the entire cohort, the children who had completed casting and the children who completed more than two years of bracing was undertaken. Diagnostic accuracy was calculated for the five measures and compared to full clinical assessment (gold standard) and whether referral for further intervention was required for re-casting or surgical review.

**Results:** 31% (68/218) of the cohort attended for examination and were assessed. Of the children who were assessed, 24 (35%) had attended clinic reviews for 4-5 years, and 30 (44%) for less than 2 years. There was good inter-observer agreement between the two expert physiotherapists on all assessment tools. Overall success of treatment varied between 56% and 93% using the different outcome measures. The relapse assessment had the highest unnecessary referrals (19.1%), and the Roye score the highest proportion of missed referrals (22.7%). The ACT and Bangla score missed the fewest number of referrals (7.4%). The Bangla score demonstrated 79.2% (95%CI: 57.8 - 92.9%) sensitivity and 79.5% (95%CI: 64.7 - 90.2%) specificity and the ACT score had 79.2% (95%CI: 57.8 - 92.9%) sensitivity and 100% (95%CI: 92 - 100%) specificity in predicting the need for referral.

**Conclusion:** At three to five years of follow up, the Ponseti method has a good success rate that improves if the child has completed casting and at least two years of bracing. The ACT score demonstrates good diagnostic accuracy for the need for referral for further intervention (specialist opinion or further casting).

Key words: clubfoot, CTEV, measurement, quality, Ponseti, evaluate, indicator, low resource

#### **Background**

Clubfoot, or congenital talipes equinovarus, is a condition that is present at birth in which the foot is in a rigid turned-in position. Corrective treatment of a high quality remains a key requirement for reducing disability and improving function related to the deformity. Over the past decades there has been an increase in the use of the minimally invasive Ponseti method to correct clubfoot (1). The Ponseti method requires correction of the deformity by sequential manipulation and serial casting (often with an achilles tenotomy) followed by long term use of a foot abduction brace at night to maintain the foot position (2). Despite the global trend toward increased use of the Ponseti method, there remains variation in how success of clubfoot treatment is measured (3, 4).

In low resource settings through Africa the Ponseti method is administered by locally trained therapists (5). These therapists often work alone and have no specialised physiotherapy or surgical support present in the clinics or nearby. It is important that they have a user friendly assessment system with agreed criteria for when treatment is not working and referral to a specialist for further management is indicated.

No globally accepted outcome scoring system exists to inform locally trained therapists of the need for referral for further intervention. The most frequently used approach to measuring whether the Ponseti method has been successful (or not) is clinical assessment. In sub-Saharan Africa 68% to 98% of cases are reported to have a successful outcome with the Ponseti method (4). This study aims to compare the results of the Ponseti method of clubfoot management at three to five years from initial correction using five different outcome measures. We explore the diagnostic accuracy of the outcome measures, which is the ability of the assessments to discriminate between the need for referral for further intervention and a successful outcome (6). For methodology review, outcome score results in this study are compared with a reference standard of 'true' treatment success status (defined by full clinical assessment). The results are categorised as true positive, false positive (referred but not needed), true negative, and false negative (should have been referred but was missed) (7). Sensitivity of the scoring system relates to the proportion of the children who need referral for further intervention and who are correctly classified by the outcome measure as requiring referral, and specificity is the proportion of children who do not need referral and who are correctly classified as not requiring referral by the outcome measure. Positive predictive value and negative predictive value are useful to understand the probability that a child with a given positive or negative outcome score

result has the need for referral for further intervention and are therefore correctly classified.

# <u>Methods</u>

# Study design and population

This study was conducted and reported according to established STARD (Standards for Reporting of Diagnostic Accuracy Studies) guidelines (8) (Additional File 1). A cohort study of 218 children with idiopathic clubfoot was conducted in 2016. The children were managed with manipulation and casting at Parirenyatwa Hospital, Harare and the results are published elsewhere (9). All children with a diagnosis of unilateral or bilateral idiopathic clubfoot who started treatment with the Ponseti method at the study hospital between 22<sup>nd</sup> March 2011 and 23<sup>rd</sup> April 2013 (25 months) were included in the cohort. The only exclusion criterion was foot conditions other than idiopathic clubfoot, for example clubfoot associated with neural-tube defects such as spina-bifida.

# Sampling technique

The phone numbers of all carers of the cohort children were extracted from the clinic records in January 2017 and contact with them was attempted at least three times. Caregivers and their children were invited to attend the study. The children were between 3.5 and 5 years from initial casting.

# Ethics, consent and permissions

Ethical approval for this study was granted by the Medical Research Council of Zimbabwe (MRCZ) and the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine (LSHTM)(ref:11132 /RR/4725). All children and their caregivers were read an information sheet about the study and given an opportunity to ask questions. If they agreed to participate, written consent was taken from the caregiver who remained present throughout the assessment as per national requirements. Transport costs were reimbursed and referral services available in Harare were mapped pre-emptively to ensure appropriate onward referral for any children that required further intervention.

# Data collection

Two physiotherapists who are experienced in co-ordinating national clubfoot programmes reviewed the assessment tools over three days for contextual relevance. The questionnaires were available in English and Shona and were cognitively tested. We used five outcome methods, three that give a score, and two that give a binary (success/failure) outcome. The Roye score (10) is a self-reported measurement that is used in high income settings, the Bangla (11) and the Assessing Clubfoot Treatment (ACT) score (12) and (TBA, under review with the journal Medicine) combine physical assessment and parent reported outcome measures and have been developed for low resource settings. The Bangla score includes a functional assessment. The two binary outcomes were assessment of a plantigrade foot (5) and the relapse pattern (13). The assessment of a plantigrade positon of the foot was evaluated by the physiotherapists through physical examination of the child in supine; the knee was maintained in extension and the passive range of dorsiflexion of the hindfoot was measured. The study protocol was pilot tested for suitability in July 2016. Children were examined independently in January 2017 by the two physiotherapists and a decision was made if referral for further intervention (re-casting or surgical review) was required. Clinical examination composed observation, physical assessment and functional review; it included assessment of passive and active range of motion (plantiflexion, dorsiflexion, eversion, inversion of the foot, and knee extension), muscle strength tests of the calf and evertors of the foot), heel raises, squatting ability and gait analysis (walking and running).

#### Data Management and Analysis strategy

The data were entered into a Microsoft Excel 2000 (Microsoft Inc., Redmond, Washington) software package. Data were analysed using Stata 14.1 (Stata-Corp 4905, Lakeway Drive College Station, Texas 77845, USA). Statistical significance for the case series was set at the 95% confidence level. The inter-observer variation for the measurement of the physical assessment tools was assessed i.e. Intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC) ≥0.75 (10). Outcomes of children who had completed casting and  $\geq$  two years of bracing were compared to all of the children who were followed up, and to those who had only completed casting. A two-tailed paired t-test was used to assess the mean difference between the outcome measures of Roye, Bangla and ACT scores. Fisher's exact test of independence was used to assess the difference in proportion of children with an outcome of relapse and plantigrade foot. The five measures were compared against the standard of whether referral for further intervention was required (for re-casting or surgical review) as defined by a consensus agreement of two expert physiotherapists with experience of managing clubfoot in Africa. Sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive values were calculated for the five measures and compared to full clinical assessment (gold standard). The threshold for diagnostic accuracy was based on previous studies and was defined prior to the study. It was set at 70% for the three scores with continuous scales (14) and positive/negative for the binary outcomes (7).

# <u>Results</u>

31% (68/218) of the cohort attended for review and were assessed. 50 (73%) children were boys and 18 (27%) were girls. There were 35 (51%) bilateral and 33 (49%) unilateral clubfeet. Tenotomies had been performed in 52 (76%) cases and the average number of casts to correction was 6.9 (5.9 - 8.0 casts). The total analysis time under observation was 171.3 years. The average length of time attending appointments from initial review was 30 months (26 – 35months). Of the children followed up, 24 (35%) attended clinic reviews for 4-5 years (Figure 1).





There was good inter-observer agreement on the physical assessment of the Bangla tool, the ACT score tools and the relapse assessment, with an intra-class coefficient (ICC) of  $\geq$  0.82 on all criteria (Table 2). An ICC of 1.00 demonstrates perfect correlation.

Outcome Measure	ICC	95%CI			
Bangla Score					
1. Happy with child's feet?	0.96	0.94 - 0.98			
2. Recommend to others?	1.00	1.00			
3. Does child play with others?	1.00	1.00			
4. Does child wear shoes of choice?	0.97	0.95 - 0.98			
5. Does child have pain?	1.00	1.00			
6. Squatting	1.00	1.00			
7. Walking	1.00	1.00			
8. Running	1.00	1.00			
9. Up/down stairs	1.00	1.00			
10a. Heel position L	0.94	0.88 - 0.97			
10b. Heel position R	0.98	0.97 - 0.99			
11a. Ankle range L	0.82	0.66 - 0.90			
11b. Ankle range R	0.99	0.98 - 0.99			
Relapse assessment					
1A - reduced DF	0.96	0.93 - 0.98			
2A - fixed equinus	1.00	1.00			
1B - dynamic supination, flex add	0.88	0.79 - 0.93			
2B - fixed forefoot add	1.00	1.00			
3 - 2 or more deformities	1.00	1.00			
ACT score					
1. Foot is plantigrade	0.99	0.98 - 0.99			
2. Does child complain of pain?	1.00	1.00			
3. Can child wear shoes of choice?	0.99	0.99 - 1.00			
4. How satisfied is the carer?	1.00	1.00			

Table 1: Inter-observer variation for outcome measures (ICC >75 = good consistency)

In all the children who were followed up (n=68) the success of treatment with different scores varied between 56% and 89% (Table 2). In the children who completed casting (63) it was between 57% and 93% (Table 3); and in the children who completed casting and at least two years of bracing (38) it was from 58% to 97% (Table 4). The individual category calculations for each outcome measurement are in additional files 2 - 5.

#### Table 2: Results of cohort of children followed up (n=68)

Outcome measure	Poor <49	Fair: 50 – 69	Good: 70 – 84	V Good: 85 – 100
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Roye*	4 (6%)	3 (5%)	20 (30%)	39 (59%)
Total Roye*	7 (1	1%)	59	(89%)
Bangla	12 (17%)	16 (24%)	15 (22%)	25(37%)
Total Bangla	28 (41%)		40	(59%)
ACT score	7 (10%)	12 (18%)	13 (19%)	36 (53%)
Total ACT score	19 (28%)		49 (72%)	
	Cannot achieve plantigrade		Achieved pla	ntigrade or better
Plantigrade	13 (19%)		55 (81%)	
Any form of relapse	Yes		No	
	30 (44%)		38 (56%)	
Requires referral for	Yes		No	
further intervention				
	16 (24%)		52 (76%)	

\*data missing for 2 children

#### Table 3: Results of cohort of children followed up who completed casting (n=63)

Outcome measure	Poor <49	Fair: 50 – 69	Good: 70 – 84	V Good:85 –
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	100
				N(%)
Roye*	2 (3%)	2 (3%)	19 (31%)	38 (63%)
Total Roye*	4 (7	7%)	57 (9	93%)
Bangla	10 (16%)	15 (24%)	14 (22%)	24 (38%)
Total Bangla	25 (4	40%)	38 (60%)	
ACT score	5 (8%)	10 (16%)	13 (21%)	35 (55%)
Total ACT score	15 (2	24%)	48 (76%)	
	cannot achiev	/e plantigrade	Achieved plant	igrade or better
Plantigrade	10 (*	16%)	53 (84%)	
Any form of relapse	Yes		No	
	27 (42%)		36 (57%)	
Requires referral for	Yes		No	
further intervention				
	14 (2	22%)	49 (7	78%)

\*data missing from 2 children

#### Table 4: Results of cohort of children followed up who completed >2 years bracing (n=38)

Outcome measure	Poor <49 N (%)	Fair: 50 – 69 N (%)	Good: 70 – 84 N(%)	V Good:85 – 100 N(%)
Rove*	1 (3%)	1 (3%)	10 (28%)	24 (66%)
Total Roye*	2 (6	5%)	34 (94%)	
Bangla	3 (8%)	10 (26%)	9 (24%)	16 (42%)
Total Bangla	13 (34%)		25 (66%)	
ACT score	1 (3%)	5 (13%)	9 (24%)	23 (60%)
Total ACT score	6 (16%)		32 (84%)	
	cannot achieve plantigrade		Achieved plant	igrade or better
Plantigrade	1 (:	3%)	37 (97%)	
Any form of relapse	Yes		No	
	16 (42%)		22 (58%)	
Requires referral for further intervention	Yes		N	lo
	5 (13%)		33 (87%)	

\*data missing from 2 children

The results of success as defined by the outcome measures are illustrated in Figure 2, with the gold standard (full clinical assessment) results at the base of the figure. In the cohort, the relapse score and the Bangla tool had the lowest good outcome results of 56% and 59% respectively.



There was strong ovidence for a difference between the outcomes

There was strong evidence for a difference between the outcomes of the Roye score and the Bangla score (p<0.0001), the Roye and the ACT score (p=0.0013), and the ACT and Bangla score (p<0.0001). It follows that none of these assessments can provide essentially the same estimate of success as the other measures.

There was a difference in the relative proportion of the cohort with relapse and plantigrade foot when assessed with Fischer's exact test (p=0.012). The binary outcomes are therefore not interchangeable.

No adverse events occurred as a result of any of the outcome measures undertaken. When compared to the standard of full clinical assessment and the subsequent decision on the need for referral for further intervention, the Roye score had a sensitivity of 31.8% (95%CI: 13.9 – 54.9%) and a specificity of 100% (95%CI: 92 – 100%), with positive and negative predictive values of 100% and 74.6% respectively. The Bangla score demonstrated 79.2% (95%CI: 57.8 – 92.9%) sensitivity and 79.5% (95%CI: 64.7 – 90.2%) with 67.9% positive predictive and 87.5% negative predictive values, and the ACT score had 79.2% (95%CI: 57.8 – 92.9%) sensitivity and 100% (95%CI: 92 – 100%) specificity in predicting the need for referral, with positive and negative predictive values of 100% and 89.8% respectively. Of the 44 children that did not require referral for further intervention, all achieved plantigrade or more (positive predictive value: 100%) and of those who did require referral (n=24), 14 were identified with the plantigrade assessment (achieved less than plantigrade). The relapse score was most restrictive in identifying good outcome. False positive and false negative scores are displayed in Table 5.

Method	Unnecessary referral	Missed Referral
	(false positive)	(false negative)
	n(%)	n(%)
Roye (n=66)	0 (0%)	15 (22.7%)
Bangla (n=68)	10 (14.7%)	5 (7.4%)
ACT (n=68)	1 (1.5%)	5 (7.4%)
Plantigrade (n=68)	0 (0%)	10 (14.7)
Relapse (n=68)	13 (19.1%)	6 (8.8%)

Table 5: A comparison of measurement methods with the need for referral for further intervention

# **Discussion**

The Ponseti method is often administered by locally trained therapists through Africa, who may have no specialised physiotherapy or surgical support present in the clinics. They require a user-friendly assessment system to identify when clubfoot treatment is not working and when refer to a specialist for further management is indicated. This study found that five scoring systems that are used to report outcomes of clubfoot treatment provided a wide spectrum of success (from 56% to 89% of cases) in a cohort with 3.5 - 5 years of follow up. When compared with the standard of clinical assessment, missed referrals ranged from 7.4% (Bangla and ACT scores) to 22.7% (Roye score). The measurements assess different aspects of clubfoot correction, from parent reported outcome measures (the Roye score) to scores that include physical assessment (Bangla and ACT) and single measurements (plantigrade foot and evidence of relapse). Success improves in all measures with the completion of casting and at least two years of bracing.
#### Comparison to previous studies

There are limited studies that compare measurement tools in the same patient against which to compare our findings. However, success of treatment in the cohort is similar to other studies in sub-Saharan Africa (between 63% and 98% of cases) (9).The process outcomes of noncompliance and surgical intervention, often defined as failure, are reported to vary from 7% - 61% and 3% - 39.4% (15) respectively. Additional clubfoot measurement tools include a scoring system that was described by Ponseti and Laaveg (16). The authors describe the functional results as satisfactory in 88.5% of feet and further studies with this scoring system describe success as 89.3% (17). The criteria includes the need for a goniometer and the tool was therefore not included in evaluation of this cohort.

#### Use of outcome measures

The ease of administration and rate of incorrect classification in the tools used to measure success need to be considered when selecting an outcome measure. In this study the threshold on an outcome scoring system was defined from previous literature as 70% for the Roye, Bangla and ACT scores and the result of yes/no for evidence of relapse and plantigrade foot. Single item scales for assessment of individual children require no further calculation and may be easier to use in clinics (such as plantigrade foot or evidence of relapse), however their simplicity may not allow a full assessment of success. Multi-scale items prove difficult to transform into useful statistics without technology and are unlikely to be routinely used in clinic. This study found no clear agreement between the different outcome measurements in use.

All of the assessments used in this study have limitations. The Roye score has been validated in high income settings and parents in our study reported difficulty in answering the question of "How often does your child have problems finding shoes that he or she likes?" as it was understood to be related to the availability of a variety of shoes. The Bangla score took the longest time to transform with statistical analysis. Acceptability and feasibility of the ACT score is needed to be studied in future research. With regard to the relapse score, Bhaskar et al considered ankle dorsiflexion <15 degrees with knee in extension as grade IA relapse. This may be a reason for the restriction in defining good outcome as an evaluation of 85 normal feet in children found that the mean ankle dorsiflexion was 12.8 degrees with knees in extension (18). Greater than 15 degrees may therefore be difficult to achieve.

#### Relationship between the outcome measures and clinical assessment

The Bangla and ACT tool were most helpful in predicting the need for referral for further intervention (specialist opinion or for further manipulation and casting). The five referrals that were missed with the ACT score were children who required review of a mobile curvature of the lateral border of the foot or supination in swing phase, neither of which are assessed with the score. Despite this, the ACT tool demonstrates the best diagnostic accuracy for the need for referral for further intervention.

#### Strengths and limitations of study

This study reports on five measurements of success in a cohort at 3.5 – 5 years from initial treatment with a total analysis time under observation of 171.3 years. Repeat phone calls facilitated assessments when caregivers were initially unavailable. Two independent raters reduced the likelihood of reporting bias and all outcome measures were verified by the reference standard. The threshold for diagnostic accuracy was based on previous studies and was defined prior to the study. There were also study limitations. No distinction between a clubfoot that may not have been fully corrected and a relapsed clubfoot was made, and all cases with elements of the deformity were classified with the relapse score, which may be a source of potential bias that underestimates the accuracy of the relapse score. The tools were chosen based on ease of use in low resource high volume clinics and were not all initially developed to identify need for referral for further intervention.

#### Implications for practice

Maintenance of the corrected foot position with a foot abduction brace (FAB) constitutes an important part of treatment. Barriers to routine measurement include limited time available for in-depth assessment in busy clinics and a lack of technology needed to measure and interpret results for more complicated functional assessments. Successful programmes need to demonstrate the quality of care that is delivered, account for the resources that are allocated and verify that children are receiving the best possible care in relation to these resources (19). It follows that clubfoot clinics should measure the outcomes of their interventions for comparison to other models of care or to other types of service delivery. Task shifting and task sharing between orthopaedic and non-specialised health workers in some clinics means that outcome measures are even more important as teams expand. As older children are being treated with the principles of the Ponseti method (20) and the method has been shown to be cost effective (21), expert guidance on assessment and measurement in clubfoot care is needed. Healthcare workers starting to work in clubfoot care require training on

what measurement instruments to use, how to use them and what to do with the results. Proposed solutions to service delivery include increasing provider's knowledge and skill (22) and this includes how success is measured. Implementing outcome measures and improving quality inevitably involves change and supervision and mentorship is required through this process.

#### **Conclusion**

It is important that trained clubfoot therapists monitor the results of treatment and know when to refer children for specialist review. This study found no clear agreement between the different scores in use. When compared to the normal practice of full clinical assessment, the measurement tool with the best evidence for diagnostic accuracy was the ACT tool.

#### List of abbreviations

ACT: Assessing Clubfoot Treatment

ICC: Intra-class correlation coefficient

#### Declarations

Ethics approval and consent to participate: Ethical approval for this study was granted by the Medical Research Council of Zimbabwe (MRCZ) and the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine (LSHTM)(ref:11132 /RR/4725). All children and their caregivers were read an information sheet about the study and given an opportunity to ask questions. If they agreed to participate, written consent was taken from the caregiver who remained present throughout the assessment as per national requirements.

#### Consent for publication: not applicable

Availability of data and material: All data generated or analysed during this study are included in this published article [and its supplementary information files]. The datasets used and/or analysed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Competing interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests

Funding: The Beit Trust, MiracleFeet, ZANE as scholarship to TS

Authors' contributions: TS, CL and AF designed the study. TS, MG and RM designed the study protocol. TS analysed and interpreted the data. TS wrote the first draft of the manuscript. MG, RM, AF and CL reviewed and edited the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Acknowledgements: Zimbabwe Ministry of Health and Child Welfare, Parirenyatwa clubfoot clinic staff, Ryan Bathurst ZSCP, Debra Mudariki, Memory Mwadziwana and Mediatrice Mutsambi for data collection

#### **References**

1. Shabtai L, Specht SC, Herzenberg JE. Worldwide spread of the Ponseti method for clubfoot. World J Orthop. 2014;5(5):585-90.

2. Ponseti IV. The ponseti technique for correction of congenital clubfoot. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2002;84-A(10):1889-90; author reply 90-1.

3. Ganesan B, Luximon A, Al-Jumaily A, Balasankar SK, Naik GR. Ponseti method in the management of clubfoot under 2 years of age: A systematic review. PLoS One. 2017;12(6):e0178299.

4. Smythe T, Mudariki D, Kuper H, Lavy C, Foster A. Assessment of success of the Ponseti method of clubfoot management in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders. 2017;18(1):453.

 Tindall AJ, Steinlechner CWB, Lavy CBD, Mannion S, Mkandawire N. Results of Manipulation of Idiopathic Clubfoot Deformity in Malawi by Orthopaedic Clinical Officers Using the Ponseti Method: A Realistic Alternative for the Developing World? [Article]. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics September/October. 2005;25(5):627-9.
 Šimundić A-M. Measures of Diagnostic Accuracy: Basic Definitions. EJIFCC. 2009;19(4):203-11.

7. Mallett S, Halligan S, Thompson M, Collins GS, Altman DG. Interpreting diagnostic accuracy studies for patient care. BMJ : British Medical Journal. 2012;345.

8. Cohen JF, Korevaar DA, Altman DG, Bruns DE, Gatsonis CA, Hooft L, et al. STARD 2015 guidelines for reporting diagnostic accuracy studies: explanation and elaboration. BMJ Open. 2016;6(11).

9. Smythe T, Chandramohan D, Bruce J, Kuper H, Lavy C, Foster A. Results of clubfoot treatment after manipulation and casting using the Ponseti method: experience in Harare, Zimbabwe. Trop Med Int Health. 2016;21(10):1311-8.

10. Roye BD, Vitale MG, Gelijns AC, Roye DP, Jr. Patient-based outcomes after clubfoot surgery. J Pediatr Orthop. 2001;21(1):42-9.

11. Evans AM, Perveen R, Ford-Powell VA, Barker S. The Bangla clubfoot tool: a repeatability study. J Foot Ankle Res. 2014;7(1):27.

12. Smythe T, Wainwright A, Foster A, Lavy C. What is a good result after clubfoot treatment? A Delphi-based consensus on success by regional clubfoot trainers from across Africa. PLoS One. 2017;12(12):e0190056.

13. Bhaskar A, Patni P. Classification of relapse pattern in clubfoot treated with Ponseti technique. Indian J Orthop. 2013;47(4):370-6.

14. Evans AM, Chowdhury MMH, Kabir MH, Rahman MF. Walk for life - the National Clubfoot Project of Bangladesh: the four-year outcomes of 150 congenital clubfoot cases following Ponseti method. Journal of Foot and Ankle Research. 2016;9(1):42.

15. Zhao D, Li H, Zhao L, Liu J, Wu Z, Jin F. Results of clubfoot management using the Ponseti method: do the details matter? A systematic review. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2014;472(4):1329-36.

16. Laaveg SJ, Ponseti IV. Long-term results of treatment of congenital club foot. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1980;62(1):23-31.

17. Porecha MM, Parmar DS, Chavda HR. Mid-term results of Ponseti method for the treatment of congenital idiopathic clubfoot--(a study of 67 clubfeet with mean five year follow-up). J Orthop Surg Res. 2011;6:3.

18. Tabrizi P, McIntyre WM, Quesnel MB, Howard AW. Limited dorsiflexion predisposes to injuries of the ankle in children. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2000;82(8):1103-6.

19. Monitoring, evaluation and review of national health strategies: A country-led platform for information and accountability. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organisation, 2011.

20. Ayana B, Klungsoyr PJ. Good results after Ponseti treatment for neglected congenital clubfoot in Ethiopia. A prospective study of 22 children (32 feet) from 2 to 10 years of age. Acta Orthop. 2014;85(6):641-5.

21. Grimes CE, Holmer H, Maraka J, Ayana B, Hansen L, Lavy CBD. Costeffectiveness of club-foot treatment in low-income and middle-income countries by the Ponseti method. BMJ Glob Health. 2016;1(1):e000023.

22. Johnson RR, Friedman JM, Becker AM, Spiegel DA. The Ponseti Method for Clubfoot Treatment in Low and Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review of Barriers and Solutions to Service Delivery. J Pediatr Orthop. 2017;37(2):e134-e9.

# Appendix 1. The STARD 2015 list

Section and topic	No	Item
Title or abstra	act	
	1	Identification as a study of diagnostic accuracy using at least one measure of accuracy (such as sensitivity, specificity, predictive values or AUC) A comparison of outcome measures used to report clubfoot treatment with the Ponseti method: the predictive ability of need for further intervention
Abstract		
	2	Structured summary of study design, methods, results and conclusions
Introduction		
	3	Scientific and clinical background, including the intended use and clinical role of the index test In low resource settings through Africa the Ponseti method is administered by locally trained therapists. These therapists often work alone and have no specialised physiotherapy or surgical support present in the clinics or nearby. It is important that they have a user friendly assessment system with agreed criteria for when treatment is not working and referral to a specialist for
		further management is indicated.
	4	<ul> <li>Study objectives and hypotheses</li> <li>We aim to: <ol> <li>compare the results of the Ponseti method of clubfoot management at three to five years from initial correction using five different outcome measures.</li> <li>explore the diagnostic accuracy of the outcome measures (the ability of the assessments to discriminate between the need for referral for further intervention and a successful outcome)</li> </ol> </li> </ul>
Methods		
Study design	5	<ul> <li>Whether data collection was planned before the index test and reference standard were performed (prospective study) or after (retrospective study)</li> <li>Data were collected before the index test and reference standard were performed</li> </ul>
Participants	6	Eligibility criteria Cohort study: there was one set of eligibility criteria for all study participants
	7	On what basis potentially eligible participants were identified (such as symptoms, results from previous tests, inclusion in registry) All children with a diagnosis of unilateral or bilateral idiopathic clubfoot who started treatment with the Ponseti method at the study hospital between 22nd March 2011 and 23rd April 2013 (25 months) were included in the cohort.
	8	Where and when potentially eligible participants were identified (setting, location and dates) Treated at Parirenyatwa Hospital, Harare between 22nd March 2011
		and 23rd April 2013
	9	Whether participants formed a consecutive, random or convenience series The included study participants are a consecutive series of all patients evaluated for eligibility at the study location and satisfying the inclusion criteria

Test methods	10a	Index test, in sufficient detail to allow replication The index tests were performed as per guidelines in the published papers and references provided
	10b	Reference standard, in sufficient detail to allow replication Children were examined independently in January 2017 by the two physiotherapists and a decision was made if referral for further intervention (re-casting or surgical review) was required.
		Details include: Clinical examination composed observation, physical assessment and functional review; it included assessment of passive and active range of motion (plantiflexion, dorsiflexion, eversion, inversion of the foot and knee extension), muscle strength tests of the calf and evertors of the foot), heel raises, squatting ability and gait analysis (walking and running).
	11	Rationale for choosing the reference standard (if alternatives exist) The most frequently used approach to measuring whether the Ponseti method has been successful (or not) is clinical assessment. In sub-Saharan Africa 68% to 98% of cases are reported to have a successful outcome with the Ponseti method (4)
	12a	Definition of and rationale for test positivity cut-offs or result categories of the index test, distinguishing pre-specified from exploratory <b>References given and limitations outlined in the discussion</b> <b>section:</b>
		The threshold for diagnostic accuracy was set at 70% for the three scores with continuous scales (14) and positive/negative for the binary outcomes (7).
	12b	Definition of and rationale for test positivity cut-offs or result categories of the reference standard, distinguishing pre-specified from exploratory The threshold for diagnostic accuracy was based on previous studies and was defined prior to the study. It was set at 70% for the three scores with continuous scales (14) and positive/negative for the binary outcomes (7)
	13a	Whether clinical information and reference standard results were available to the performers or readers of the index test Categorisation of information for each test is provided in the web appendices
	13b	Whether clinical information and index test results were available to the assessors of the reference standard The clinical information and test results were available to the assessors of the reference standard and the reference standard was consensus on a decision for further referral or not
Analysis	14	Methods for estimating or comparing measures of diagnostic accuracy Sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive values were calculated for the five measures and compared to full clinical assessment (gold standard). The results are categorised as true positive (TP), false positive (FP) (referred but not needed), true negative (TN), and false negative (FN)(should have been referred but missed).
	15	How indeterminate index test or reference standard results were handled Two assessments by individual physiotherapists and subsequent consensus was required for the standard reference result to avoid indeterminate results
	16	How missing data on the index test and reference standard were handled Missing data were excluded and noted on all tables of results

	17	Any analyses of variability in diagnostic accuracy, distinguishing pre- specified from exploratory <b>Post hoc analyses was not performed</b>
	18	Intended sample size and how it was determined Sample size was based on of the number of children first attending a single clinic over a period of 25 months and the follow up of these children. 31% (68/218) of the cohort attended for review and were assessed
Results	10	
Participants	19	Reference of flow diagram in original cohort analysis is given and explanation of sampling technique included "The phone numbers of all carers of the cohort children were extracted from the clinic records in January 2017 and contact with them was attempted at least three times. Caregivers and their children were invited to attend the study. The children were between 3.5 and 5 years from initial casting."
	20	Baseline demographic and clinical characteristics of participants Included in the first paragraph of results
	21a	Distribution of severity of disease in those with the target condition <b>Included in the first paragraph of results</b>
	21b	Distribution of alternative diagnoses in those without the target condition <b>n/a due to selection criteria</b>
	22	Time interval and any clinical interventions between index test and reference standard Independent assessment occurred on the same day between the index test and the reference standard so as to avoid any change in condition of the clubfoot position
Test results	23	Cross tabulation of the index test results (or their distribution) by the results of the reference standard <b>Outlined in results and full tables included in web appendix</b>
	24	Estimates of diagnostic accuracy and their precision (such as 95% CIs)
	25	Any adverse events from performing the index test or the reference standard
		No adverse events occurred as a result of any of the outcome measures undertaken
Discussion		
	26	Study limitations, including sources of potential bias, statistical uncertainty and generalisability <b>Included in discussion</b>
	27	Implications for practice, including the intended use and clinical role of the index test <b>Included in discussion</b>
Other informa	tion	
	28	Registration number and name of registry This cohort study was not registered
	29	Where the full study protocol can be accessed The design and rationale of the study was not previously published
	30	Sources of funding and other support; role of funders Included in acknowledgements

#### Appendix 2. Summary of outcomes: Roye Score

The total score includes all 10 items. Scores are computed by reverse-coding, summing the responses, and then dividing the result by the number of items completed, ie, scores are a mean of the responses. For ease of interpretation, the scores are linearly transformed to a 0 to 100 scale with 100 being best, so that 1 = 0, 2 = 33.3, 3 = 66.7, and 4 = 100 for questions with four possible answers. The one yes-or-no item (ever complains of pain in affected foot) was coded yes = 0 or no = 100.

Table 1: Results of Roye score for cohort (N=66) \* results from 2 children missing as attended without primary carer

Roye score (cohort followed up, n=66*)	Very satisfied N	Somewhat	Somewhat	Dissatisfied		Individual Score	Subscale	
	(%)	satisfied N (%)	dissatisfied N	N (%)		Mean % (95%Cl)	Mean % (95%CI)	
1. satisfied with status of foot	42 (64)	15 (23)	5 (7)	4 (6)		81 (74 - 89)		
2. satisfied with appearance	43 (65)	14 (21)	5 (8)	4 (6)	ction	82 (75 - 89)		
	Never N(%)	Sometimes N(%)	Usually N(%)	Always N(%)	ifac			
3. How often is your child teased?	54 (82)	8 (12)	4 (6)	0 (0)	Satis	91 (87 - 96)	85 (80 - 90)	
4. How often does your child have problems finding shoes that fit?	49 (74)	10 (15)	3 (5)	4 (6)		86 (79 - 93)		
5. How often does your child have problems finding shoes that he or she likes?	45 (68)	15 (22)	3 (5)	3 (5)		85 (78 - 91)		
	No N (%)	Yes N(%)						
6. Does your child ever complain of pain in his or her [affected] foot?	26 (39)	40 (61)				61 (49 - 73)		
	Not at all limited N(%)	Somewhat limited N(%)	Moderately limited N(%)	Very limited N(%)				
7. How limited is your child in his or her ability to walk?	60 (91)	5 (8)	1 (1)	0 (0)	on	96 (94 - 99)	07	
8. How limited is your child in his or her ability to run?	52 (79)	10 (15)	3 (5)	1 (1)	<sup>=</sup> uncti	90 (84 - 96)	87 (82 - 91)	
	Never N(%)	Sometimes N(%)	Usually N(%)	AlwaysN(%)				
9. How often does your child complain of pain during heavy exercise?	46 (70)	18 (27)	1 (1.5)	1 (1.5)		88 (84 - 93)		
10. How often does your child complain of pain during moderate exercise?	61 (92.5)	4 (6)	1 (1.5)	0 (0)		97 (94 - 100)		

# Table 2: Results of Roye score for those who completed casting (N=61)

Roye score (completed casting) n=59	Very satisfied N (%)	Somewhat satisfied N (%)	Somewhat dissatisfied N (%)	Dissatisfied N (%)		Individual Mean % (95%Cl)	Subscale Mean % (95%Cl)
1. satisfied with status of foot	41 (67.2)	13 (21.3)	5 (8.2)	2 (3.3)		84 (77 - 91)	
2. satisfied with appearance	42 (68.8)	12 (19.7)	5 (8.2)	2 (3.3)	Ę	85 (78 - 91)	
	Never N(%)	Sometimes N(%)	Usually N(%)	Always N(%)	sfactic		
3. How often is your child teased?	52 (85.2)	7 (11.5)	2 (3.3)	0 (0)	Satis	94 (90 - 98)	87 (83 - 92)
4. How often does your child have problems finding shoes that fit?	48 (78.7)	8 (13.1)	2 (3.3)	3 (4.9)		89 (82 - 95)	
5. How often does your child have problems finding shoes that he or she likes?	42 (68.9)	14 (22.9)	3 (4.9)	2 (3.3)		86 (79 - 92)	
	No N (%)	Yes N (%)					
6. Does your child ever complain of pain in his or her [affected] foot?	39 (63.9)	22 (36.1)				64 (52 - 76)	
	Not at all limited N (%)	Somewhat limited N (%)	Moderately limited N (%)	Very limited N (%)			
7. How limited is your child in his or her ability to walk?	56 (91.8)	5 (8.2)	0 (0)	0 (0)	ion	97 (95 - 100)	00
8. How limited is your child in his or her ability to run?	49 (80.3)	10 (16.5)	1 (1.6)	1 (1.6)	-unct	92 (87 - 97)	(84 - 92)
	Never N (%)	Sometimes N (%)	Usually N (%)	Always N (%)			
9. How often does your child complain of pain during heavy exercise?	44 (72.1)	16 (26.2)	0 (0)	1 (1.7)		90 (85 - 94)	
10. How often does your child complain of pain during moderate exercise?	58 (95.1)	3 (4.9)	0 (0)	0 (0)		98 (97 - 100)	

### Table 3: Results of Roye score for those who completed ≥2 years bracing (N=38)

Roye score (completed ≥2 years bracing) n=36	Very satisfied N (%)	Somewhat satisfied N (%)	Somewhat dissatisfied N (%)	Dissatisfied N (%)		Individual Mean % (95%CI)	Subscale Mean % (95%Cl)
1. satisfied with status of foot	27 (75%)	7 (19%)	1 (3%)	1 (3%)		89 (81 -97)	
2. satisfied with appearance	28 (78%)	6 (16%)	1 (3%)	1 (3%)		90 (82 – 97)	
	Never N(%)	Sometimes N(%)	Usually N(%)	Always N(%)	actior		
3. How often is your child teased?	32 (89%)	3 (8%)	1 (3%)	0 (0%)	Satisf	95 (91 – 100)	89 (82 – 95)
4. How often does your child have problems finding shoes that fit?	27 (75%)	5 (14%)	1 (3%)	3 (8%)		85 (75 – 95)	
5. How often does your child have problems finding shoes that he or she likes?	25 (69%)	7 (19%)	2 (6%)	2 (6%)		84 (75 – 94)	
	No N (%)	Yes N (%)					
6. Does your child ever complain of pain in his or her [affected] foot?	27 (75%)	9 (25%)				75 (60 – 90)	
	Not at all limited N (%)	Somewhat limited N (%)	Moderately limited N (%)	Very limited N (%)			
7. How limited is your child in his or her ability to walk?	34 (94%)	2 (6%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	L	98 (96 – 100)	01
8. How limited is your child in his or her ability to run?	29 (81%)	6 (17%)	0 (0%)	1 (3%)	unctic	92 (84 – 98)	(87 – 96)
	Never N (%)	Sometimes N (%)	Usually N (%)	Always N (%)	Ē		
9. How often does your child complain of pain during heavy exercise?	28 (78%)	8 (22%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)		93 (88 – 97)	
10. How often does your child complain of pain during moderate exercise?	34 (94%)	2 (6%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)		98 (96 – 100)	

\*data from 2 children missing

### Appendix 3. Summary of outcomes: Bangla score

'Grading'	Very good	Good	Fair		Poor
%	85-100	70 - 85 60-70		<50	

- A. Parent rating subscore /5 where yes = +1, don't know = 0 and no = -1
- B. Gait assessment subscore /4 where yes = +1, not fully 0, no = -1
- C. Clinical examination /2 where valgus/>DF = +1, straight/90 degrees = 0 and varus/<0 df = -1

Scores for bilateral cases were halved to achieve same scale/foot for section C/clinical examination

Total score converted to % indicated quality/grade of individual child's results from treatment

	-				
A. Parent rating	Yes +1	Don't know 0	No -1	Mean	Rating
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	scores (%)	Number
1. Happy with child's	57 (84)	2 (3)	9 (13)	71	"Good"
feet					
2. Recommend to	68 (100)	0 (0)	0 (0)	100	
others?					
3. Does child play	68 (100)	0 (0)	0 (0)	100	
with others?	F0 (70)	0 (0)	45 (00)	50	
4. Does child wear	53 (78)	0 (0)	15 (22)	56	
snoes of choice?					
	Yes -1	Don't know 0	No +1		
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)		
5. Does child have	22 (32)	0 (0)	46 (68)	35	
pain?					
Parental Rating sub	score	ſ	I	72%	
B. Gait assessment	Yes +1	Not fully/ with	No -1	Mean	"Very
	N (%)	assistance 0	N (%)	scores (%)	good"
		N (%)			
6. Squatting	66 (97)	0 (0)	2 (3)	94	
7. Walking	67 (99)	1 (1)	0 (0)	99	
8. Running	67 (99)	0 (0)	1 (1)	98	
9. Up/down steps	67 (99)	0 (0)	1 (1)	98	
Gait assessment sub	score		• •	97%	
C. Clinical	Valgus +1	Straight 0	Varus -1	Mean	"Fair"
examination	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	scores (%)	
10. Heel position -	2 (4)	32 (60)	19 (36)	32	
left * n=53					
Heel position - right	4 (8)	28 (58)	16 (34)	25	
** n=48					
	>0	0/90 degrees	<0	Mean	
	dorsiflexion	0 N (%)	dorsiflexion N	scores (%)	
	+1 N (%)		(%)		
11. Ankle range -	28 (53)	17 (32)	8 (15)	38	
	00 (40)	45 (04)	40 (04)	07	
Ankle range - right**	23 (48)	15 (31)	10 (21)	27	
Clinical examination	sub score (24	5 bilatoral)		61%	
	Sub Score (3:			77%	"Good"
I Utal Scule	11/0	Guu			

#### Table 1: Results of Bangla score for entire cohort (n=68)

A. Parent rating	Yes +1	Don't know 0	No -1	Mean	Rating	
1 Hanny with child's	52 (85)	2 (3)	7 (12)	75	"\/erv	
feet	32 (00)	2 (0)	7 (12)	75	aood"	
2. Recommend to others?	61 (100)	0 (0)	0 (0)	100		
3. Does child play with others?	61 (100)	0 (0)	0 (0)	100		
4. Does child wear shoes of choice?	49 (80)	0 (0)	12 (20)	59		
	Yes -1 N (%)	Don't know 0 N (%)	No +1 N (%)			
5. Does child have pain?	18 (30)	0 (0)	43 (70)	40		
Parental Rating sub	score			75%		
B. Gait assessment	Yes +1 N (%)	Not fully/ with assistance 0 N (%)	No -1 N (%)	Mean scores (%)	"Very good"	
6. Squatting	60 (98)	1 (2)	0 (0)	97		
7. Walking	61 (100)	0 (0)	0 (0)	100		
8. Running	61 (100)	0 (0)	0 (0)	100		
9. Up/down steps	61 (100)	0 (0)	0 (0)	100		
Gait assessment sub	score			99%		
C. Clinical examination	Valgus +1 N (%)	Straight 0 N (%)	Varus -1 N (%)	Mean scores (%)	"Very good"	
10. Heel position - left * n=46	2 (4)	28 (61)	16 (35)	38		
Heel position - right **n=42	3 (7)	25 (60)	14 (33)	41		
	>0 dorsiflexion +1 N (%)	0/90 degrees 0 N (%)	<0 dorsiflexion N (%)	Mean scores (%)		
11. Ankle range - left* n=46	25 (54)	16 (35)	5 (11)	42		
Ankle range - right** n=42	21 (50)	14 (33)	7 (17)	33		
Clinical examination sub score (30 bilateral) 77%						
lotal score	84%	"Very good"				

#### Table 2: Bangla score results from children who completed casting (n=61)

A. Parent rating	Yes +1 N (%)	Don't know 0 N (%)	No -1 N (%)	Mean scores (%)	Rating Number
1. Happy with child's feet	34 (89%)	0 (0%)	4 (11%)	79	"Very
2. Recommend to others?	38 (100%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	100	_ 9000
3. Does child play with others?	38 (100%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	100	
4. Does child wear shoes of choice?	31 (82%)	0 (0%)	7 (18%)	63	
	Yes -1 N (%)	Don't know 0 N (%)			
5. Does child have pain?	28 (74%)	0 (0%)	10 (26%)	47	
Parental Rating sub	score		1	78	
B. Gait assessment	Yes +1 N (%)	Not fully/ with assistance 0 N (%)	No -1 N (%)	Mean scores (%)	"Very good"
6. Squatting	38 (100%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	100	1
7. Walking	38 (100%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	100	
8. Running	38 (100%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	100	
9. Up/down steps	38 (100%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	100	
Gait assessment sub	score	1 · · ·	1	100	
C. Clinical	Valgus +1	Straight 0	Varus -1	Mean	"Very
examination	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	scores (%)	good"
10. Heel position - left * n=46	1 (4%)	22 (73%)	7 (23%)	20	
Heel position - right **n=42	1 (4%)	17 (68%)	7 (28%)	24	
	>0 dorsiflexion +1 N (%)	0/90 degrees 0 N (%)	<0 dorsiflexion N (%)	Mean scores (%)	
11. Ankle range - left* n=46	19 (63%)	10 (33%)	1 (4%)	60	
Ankle range - right** n=42	15 (60%)	10 (40%)	0 (0%)	60	
Clinical examination	82				
lotal score	76	"Very good"			

Table 3: Bangla score results from children who completed ≥2 years bracing (n=38)

### Appendix 4. ACT score

#### Table 1: ACT score categories

Score	The foot is plantigrade	Does your child complain of pain in their affected foot?	Can your child wear shoes of your/their choice?	How satisfied are you with your child's foot?
3	More than plantigrade ie some dorsiflexion	No	Always	Very satisfied
2	Plantigrade	Yes but it does not limit their activity	Usually	Somewhat satisfied
1	Does not reach plantigrade	Yes and it sometimes limits their activity	Sometimes	Somewhat dissatisfied
0	Less than plantigrade with adduction, cavus or varus	Yes and it often limits their activity	Never	Very dissatisfied

#### Table 2: Results of ACT score distribution

		3	2	1	0
		Children N (%)	Children N (%)	Children N (%)	Children N (%)
Ochart	Foot is plantigrade	33 (49%)	22 (32%)	7 (10%)	6 (9%)
Conort followed up	Complain of pain	44 (65%)	18 (27%)	5 (7%)	1 (1%)
(n=68)	Wears shoe of choice	47 (69%)	13 (19%)	6 (9%)	2 (3%)
	Satisfied with foot	42 (62%)	14 (21%)	9 (13%)	3 (4%)
	Foot is plantigrade	31 (49%)	22 (35%)	7 (11%)	3 (5%)
Completed	Complain of pain	43 (68%)	15 (24%)	5 (8%)	0 (0%)
(n=63)	Wears shoe of choice	45 (71%)	12 (19%)	6 (10%)	0 (0%)
(	Satisfied with foot	41 (65%)	12 (19%)	9 (14%)	1 (2%)
Completed	Foot is plantigrade	22 (58%)	15 (39%)	1 (3%)	0 (0%)
≥2 years	Complain of pain	27 (71%)	9 (24%)	2 (5%)	0 (0%)
bracing	Wears shoe of choice	27 (71%)	8 (21%)	3 (8%)	0 (0%)
(n=38)	Satisfied with foot	28 (74%)	6 (16%)	4 (10%)	0 (0%)

\*\*Interpretation of ACT score in similar manner to Roye score - the scores are linearly transformed to a 0 to 100 scale with 100 being best, so that 1 = 0, 2 = 33.3, 3 = 66.7, and 4 = 100

# Appendix 5. Relapse score

#### Table 1: Assessment of relapse

Relapse type	Cohort Children (n=68) N (%)	Children completed casting (n=63) N (%)	Children completed ≥2years bracing (n=32)* N (%)
No relapse	37 (55%)	36 (57%)	18 (56%)
1A (decrease in ankle dorsiflexion from 15degrees to neutral with knee extension)	13 (19%)	13 (21%)	6 (19%)
2A Dynamic forefoot adduction or supination of foot	1 (1%)	1 (2%)	0 (0%)
1B Fixed equinus of any degree (passive correction to neutral not possible)	5 (7%)	4 (6%)	4 (13%)
2B Fixed adduction of forefoot and midfoot (fixed lateral curvature)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
3 (Two or more fixed deformities)	12 (18%)	9 (14%)	4 (13%)

\*missing data from 6 children

# Epilogue (Main findings and limitations)

In the children who were followed up (n=68), the success of treatment with different assessment tools varied between 56% and 93%.

The relapse score and the Bangla tool had the lowest successful outcome results of 56% and 59% respectively. The relapse score had the highest proportion of unnecessary referrals (19.1%) and the Roye score the highest proportion of missed referrals (22.7%), when compared to full clinical assessment.

The ACT score and the Bangla score missed the fewest number of children who needed referral (7.4%). The ACT score had no unnecessary referrals. When compared to full clinical assessment, the Bangla score demonstrated 79.2% (95%CI: 57.8 – 92.9%) sensitivity and 79.5% (95%CI: 64.7 – 90.2%) specificity and the ACT score had 79.2% (95%CI: 57.8 – 92.9%) sensitivity and 100% (95%CI: 92 – 100%) specificity in predicting the need for referral.

Study limitations include (a) the chosen tools were based on ease of use in low resource high volume clinics, and not all tools were initially developed to identify need for referral for further intervention; (b) no distinction was made between a clubfoot that may not have been fully corrected and a clubfoot that had elements of recurrence; and (c) the tools were only used to assess idiopathic clubfoot; findings may not be applicable to children with secondary clubfoot. Chapter 10. Indicators to assess the functionality of clubfoot clinics in low resource settings: a Delphi consensus approach and pilot study.



Data collection and clubfoot clinic charts

# Preamble

Evaluation of clinical services is central to the concept of quality improvement. Trained clubfoot therapists deliver services in designated clubfoot clinics in Zimbabwe and there is little comparative data on clubfoot clinic quality, or which indicators to measure.

Criteria to assess the functionality of these clubfoot clinics are needed to identify the areas that require attention to improve the overall service. For example, both a clinic with two excellent clubfoot therapists but no POP, and a clinic with all the equipment required for clubfoot treatment but no trained therapists are inadequate.

The study therefore investigates the components required for a good clubfoot service and clinic in Africa. The strengths and weaknesses of the current clubfoot clinics in Zimbabwe are identified by the extent to which these components are being provided. Recommendations are made on areas for future research.

This chapter comprises a submitted research paper, which includes two studies. First, a Delphi method was used to create a consensus definition on a set of indicators to assess the functionality of a clubfoot clinic in Africa. Second, a cross-sectional survey using ten indicators was performed of the 12 clubfoot clinics in Zimbabwe to assess their functionality and to make recommendations for improvement.

This paper was published in the journal International Health after peer review in May 2018.



Registry T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk

# **RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET**

#### **SECTION A – Student Details**

Student	Tracey Heather Smythe					
Principal Supervisor	Professor Allen Foster					
Thesis Title	Evidence to improve clubfoot services in Africa with Zimbabwe as a case study					

#### SECTION B - Paper already published

Where was the work published?	International Health		
When was the work published?	May 2018		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	n/a		
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	The publication is covered by a Creative Commons Attribution CCBY Creative Commons Licence. Anyone may copy, distribute, or reuse the content as long as the author and original source are properly cited	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes

\*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

## SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	

#### SECTION D - Multi-authored work

For multi-authored wo the research included of the paper. (Attach a	rk, give full details of your role in in the paper and in the preparation further sheet if necessary)	I co-designed the s collection tools, ex data analysis, draf the subsequent rev comments from co	study, designed the data tracted the data, completed ted the manuscript, prepared visions with consideration of -authors
Student Signature:	Branche	Date:	9/5/18
Supervisor Signature:_	The ho	Date:	9/5/18
Improving health world	wide	ания а типом з на к н	www.lshtm.ac.uk



# Indicators to assess the functionality of clubfoot clinics in low-resource settings: a Delphi consensus approach and pilot study

Tracey Smythe<sup>a,\*</sup>, Debra Mudariki<sup>b</sup>, Allen Foster<sup>a</sup> and Christopher Lavy<sup>c</sup>

<sup>a</sup>International Centre for Evidence in Disability, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street, London WC1E7HT, UK; <sup>b</sup>Witswatersrand University, 1 Jan Smuts Avenue, Braamfontein 2000, Johannesburg, South Africa; <sup>c</sup>Nuffield Department of Orthopaedics Rheumatology and Musculoskeletal Science, University of Oxford, Windmill Road, Headington, Oxford OX3 7HE, UK

\*Corresponding author: Tel: +44 (0) 2079 588348; E-mail: tracey.smythe@lshtm.ac.uk

Received 1 December 2017; revised 26 March 2018; editorial decision 11 April 2018; accepted 11 April 2018

**Background:** This study aims to determine the indicators for assessing the functionality of clubfoot clinics in a low-resource setting.

**Methods:** The Delphi method was employed with experienced clubfoot practitioners in Africa to rate the importance of indicators of a good clubfoot clinic. The consistency among the participants was determined with the intraclass correlation coefficient. Indicators that achieved strong agreement (mean≥9 [SD <1.5]) were included in the final consensus definition. Based on the final consensus definition, a set of questions was developed to form the Functionality Assessment Clubfoot Clinic Tool (FACT). The FACT was used between February and July 2017 to assess the functionality of clinics in the Zimbabwe clubfoot programme.

**Results:** A set of 10 indicators that includes components of five of the six building blocks of a health system leadership, human resources, essential medical equipment, health information systems and service delivery was produced. The most common needs identified in Zimbabwe clubfoot clinics were a standard treatment protocol, a process for surgical referrals and a process to monitor dropout of patients.

**Conclusions:** Practitioners had good consistency in rating indicators. The consensus definition includes components of the World Health Organization building blocks of health systems. Useful information was obtained on how to improve the services in the Zimbabwe clubfoot programme.

Keywords: clubfoot, congenital talipes equinovarus, Delphi, Ponseti, quality, Zimbabwe

#### Introduction

Measurement of the functionality (capability and suitability) of health facilities is central to the concept of quality improvement. It allows identification of opportunities to strengthen and improve health services and quality of care. Measurements of quality are difficult to compare and interpret<sup>1</sup> due to the complex nature of health facilities. Internationally comparable measures are scarce and there is a lack of data on facility quality assessments in low-resource settings.<sup>2</sup>

Clubfoot, or congenital talipes equinovarus (CTEV), is a rigid deformity of the foot and one of the most common congenital musculoskeletal malformations that affects mobility.<sup>3</sup> Incidence is estimated as 1.2 per 1000 live births.<sup>4</sup> Clubfoot correction of a high

quality continues to be a key requirement for reducing disability and improving function related to the congenital foot deformity. The minimally invasive Ponseti technique<sup>5</sup> is now the most common method of treatment, and involves manipulation and casting and a regime of bracing. In high-income settings, this technique radically reduces the need for extensive corrective surgery and the corrective phase is reported to have a success rate of 98%.<sup>6</sup> Although the definition and measurement of success of treatment are being explored in resource-constrained settings,<sup>7–9</sup> the provision of appropriate care is difficult to define, measure and evaluate. It is increasingly evident that patient outcomes are not solely a function of efficacious clinical interventions and practices but are also affected by the quality of non-clinical services. Evidence and consensus on what clinic qualities to measure are lacking.

© The Author(s) 2018. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons. org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/), which permits non-commercial re-use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact journals.permissions@oup.com A structured consensus technique that may be used to reach agreement about health care quality indicators<sup>10</sup> is the Delphi method. The anonymous opinions of participants are sought through a sequential process<sup>11</sup> and this allows equal weight to be given to all participants.<sup>12,13</sup> The collated group responses are fed back to participants after the completion of each round of questionnaires. Establishing consensus does not ensure validity; however, agreement provides a basis for establishing criteria that are likely to have clinical sensibility.<sup>14</sup>

Strategies to improve services for children with clubfoot require consideration of the clubfoot clinic within the health system and the paradigm shift from condition-specific interventions to interventions that strengthen health systems. The interdependence between caregiver demand for clubfoot services, the identification and referral of clubfoot within the context of primary health care, the service provision of the clubfoot clinic and the enabling environment of the broader health facility is required for good clubfoot treatment. Within this health system-oriented approach, appropriate measures are needed to assess the functionality of clubfoot clinics.<sup>15</sup> There are few formal monitoring systems in place to inform this planning.<sup>16</sup> This study aims to determine the indicators for assessing the functionality of clubfoot clinics in low-resource settings by establishing a consensus among expert Ponseti trainers in the Africa region and then to use those indicators to assess the Zimbabwe clubfoot programme.

#### Materials and methods

#### Study design

This study was designed and reported according to the recommended guidelines for selection of health care quality indicators.<sup>10</sup> A Delphi method was employed with experienced clubfoot practitioners (Ponseti technique) throughout Africa to rate the importance of indicators of a 'good Ponseti clubfoot clinic'. Based on the final consensus definition, a set of questions was developed to form the Functionality Assessment Clubfoot



Figure 1. Flow chart of criterion selection.

#### Table 1. The FACT

Domain	Criteria	Rating				Score
		0	1	2	3	
Leadership	There is an identifiable person in charge of the clinic	In the past 8 weeks: There was no identifiable person in charge of the clinic	There was an identifiable person in charge of five or fewer clinics	There was an identifiable person in charge of six to seven clinics	There was an identifiable person in charge of every clinic	
Human resources	There are regularly two or more Ponseti- trained health care workers (HCWs) available at each clinic	In the past 8 weeks: There were fewer than two trained HCWs available at every clinic	There were two or more trained HCWs available in five or fewer clinics	There were two of more trained HCWs available in six to seven clinics	There were two or more trained HCWs available at every clinic	
Essential medical equipment	There is always plaster of Paris available	In the past 8 weeks: Plaster of Paris was not available for three or more clinics	Plaster of Paris was not available for two clinics	Plaster of Paris was not available for one clinic	There was always plaster of Paris available	
	There is always equipment (such as bucket and scissors/ blade, tenotomy set, correct size braces) available	In the past 8 weeks: A bucket, scissors/blade, tenotomy set or correct size braces were not available for three or more clinics	A bucket, scissors/blade, tenotomy set or correct size braces were not available for two clinics	A bucket, scissors/blade, tenotomy set or correct size braces were not available for one clinic	There was always a bucket and scissors/blade, tenotomy set, correct size braces available	
Service delivery	There is a functioning	There is no standard protocol for treatment of idiopathic clubfoot in children <2 y of age, the older child with clubfoot or non-idiopathic clubfoot	There is a standard verbal treatment protocol but nothing in writing for treatment of idiopathic clubfoot in children <2 y of age, the older child with clubfoot and non-idiopathic clubfoot	There is a written protocol for treatment of idiopathic clubfoot in children <2 y of age, the older child with clubfoot and non-idiopathic clubfoot, but it is not consistently used	There is a standard written protocol for treatment of idiopathic clubfoot in children <2 y of age, the older child with clubfoot and non-idiopathic clubfoot and it is followed consistently	
	referral system for tenotomy	tenotomy cases: There was no clinician to whom children requiring a tenotomy could be referred	The children were referred for tenotomy and there is no record of the outcome	The children were referred but the tenotomy was not completed as anticipated	The children were referred for tenotomy and it was completed as anticipated	
	There is a process for surgical referrals	In the two most recent cases who required surgery:				
		There was no clinician to whom children requiring a surgical review could be referred	The children were referred and there is no record of the outcome	The children were referred and there is a record of the outcome without a plan for follow-up	The children were referred for surgery and there is a record of the outcome with a plan for follow-up	

Table 1. Conti	inued					
Domain	Criteria	Rating				Score
		0	1	2	3	
	There is a process to monitor dropout of patients	There is no process to monitor dropout of patients	There is a verbal process to monitor dropout of patients but nothing in writing	There is a written protocol to monitor dropout of patients but it is not consistently followed	There is a written protocol to monitor dropout of patients and it is consistently followed	
	The clinic occurs on a specific day, at minimum weekly	In the past 8 weeks: The clinic did not have an identified day for clubfoot treatment	The clinic has been held on the identified day(s) for less than six of the weeks	The clinic has been held on the identified day(s) for six to seven of the weeks	The clinic has been held on the identified day(s) every week	
Health information system	There is a completed clinic record for each patient visit	In the last 10 clinic records: ≤5 of the clinic records were filled in completely	6-7 of the records were filled in completely	8-9 of the clinic records were filled in completely	All of the clinic records were filled in completely	
Total score						

Clinic Tool (FACT). The FACT was used between February and July 2017 to assess the functionality of 12 clinics of the Zimbabwe national clubfoot programme.

#### Delphi method to develop a consensus definition

In the first Delphi exercise conducted in January 2016, 18 experienced Ponseti method clubfoot practitioners who are trainers in 10 national clubfoot programmes in Africa attended a workshop. They included orthopaedic surgeons, physiotherapists and orthopaedic technicians. The participants were chosen based on their knowledge and experience of the topic and willingness to participate.<sup>17</sup> Facilitated discussion in the workshop identified criteria (indicators) likely to demonstrate a well-functioning Ponseti clubfoot clinic. A questionnaire was then developed consisting of 28 potentially relevant indicators. It was pilot tested for understanding. The 18 trainers were invited to participate and rate each of the 28 indicators for their relative importance. A 10 cm visual analoque scale (VAS) with the anchors 'completely unimportant' and 'extremely important' was used. The paper questionnaires were completed by hand. The second round occurred 2 days later. The trainers were given the mean score and standard deviation (SD) for each indicator from the first round and asked to repeat the rating for the second round. No indicator was excluded and no discussion was allowed among the participants.

The consistency among the 18 trainers was determined with the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC). The ICC is interpreted as follows:  $\leq 0.40$ , poor consistency or large variation in opinion; 0.41-0.74, acceptable consistency; and  $\geq 0.75$ , good consistency.<sup>18</sup>

In July 2016, 6 months after the first workshop, a second workshop was held with 17 different trainers of the Ponseti technique (from 10 countries). The experts were not considered to differ from the first group and their attendance in July was based on convenience of the workshop schedule. Indicators generated in January 2016 that had a mean VAS >7 (on the 10-point scale) with an SD <2 were included (21 indicators) in the questionnaire of the second Delphi exercise.

The two-round Delphi exercise, with an identical process to that undertaken in January 2016, was used to reach a consensus on indicators to assess the functionality of clubfoot clinics in low-resource settings and therefore define a well-functioning Ponseti clubfoot clinic. Of the 17 indicators rated, those that scored  $\geq$ 9 with an SD <1.5 were considered to have high agreement and form the consensus definition. As there is variability in the measurement of distribution of scores in studies that use the Delphi method,<sup>19</sup> the thresholds for the VAS mean and SD were decided *a priori* and the cut-offs were selected to include indicators with high agreement.

The study methodology and course of action for the management of responses are outlined in Figure 1. The questionnaires answered in the second rounds of Delphi exercises 1 and 2 are in Supplementary files Appendix 1 and 2, respectively.

# Assessment of clubfoot clinics in Zimbabwe using the consensus definition

A questionnaire based on the 10 indicators that met the criteria for the consensus definition was developed and piloted. The

4 of 9

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/inthealth/advance-article-abstract/doi/10.1093/inthealth/ihy033/4999696 by London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine user on 20 May 2018 questionnaire was reviewed by the Zimbabwe national clubfoot clinical supervisor and the researchers. Each question has four response categories, scored from 0 to 3, where 3 is the ideal result. The maximum clinic score is 30. A response matrix was developed to analyse the results (Table 1).

#### **Data collection**

Data were collected between February and July 2017 during routine clubfoot clinic mentoring visits by the clinical supervisor of the Zimbabwe Sustainable Clubfoot Programme. The questionnaire was paper based and completed by hand. Routine discussion with

**Table 2.** Indicators for a functioning clubfoot clinic ranked by mean score and SD from the second round: Delphi exercise 1, January 2016

	Indicator	Mean	SD
1	100% foot abduction brace uptake post- tenotomy	9.68	0.42
2	Functioning referral for tenotomy	9.49	0.67
3	Completed record for each visit	9.37	0.49
4	Someone in charge (for continuity)	9.32	0.63
5	Two or more trained therapists regularly at the clinic	9.28	0.76
6	Standardized treatment protocol	9.20	0.88
7	Plaster of Paris available	9.19	0.85
8	Clinic occurs on a specific day	9.13	1.12
9	Equipment is available	8.94	1.17
10	Counsellor contact with 90% of families at each clinic	8.89	0.78
11	There is a process for surgical referrals	8.61	1.38
12	Clinicians refer if there is no change in Pirani score for four visits	8.61	1.59
13	The nearest maternity ward refers all cases	8.51	1.96
14	Clinicians refer if >10 casts	8.41	1.24
15	The family is followed up if an appointment is missed	8.32	1.96
16	There is a clubfoot champion in charge of the clinic	7.96	2.64
17	90% of patients wear a foot abduction brace at 4 months	7.92	2.10
18	Children are <6 months of age at the first treatment	7.52	1.69
19	Braces are received within 2 weeks of ordering	7.52	2.53
20	Tenotomy coverage >90%	7.42	2.35
21	Relapse rate <10%	7.25	2.00
22	Tenotomy coverage >70%	7.10	2.00
23	Relapse rate <20%	5.99	2.05
24	Only 10% drop out after 6 months of bracing	5.95	1.82
25	Relapse rate not >30%	5.88	1.98
26	Only 25% drop out after 6 months	4.25	1.86
27	<70% tenotomy coverage	3.95	2.05
28	50% drop out after 6 months of bracing	2.83	2.19

clinic staff, observation and review of equipment and clinic records provided data for completion of the questionnaire. The clubfoot clinic staff were informed of the outcome and subsequent recommendations discussed with the team. Data were collected from all 12 national clubfoot clinics.

#### Data management and analysis

All data were entered into an Excel 2000 (Microsoft, Redmond, WA, USA) spreadsheet. All data were managed and analysed using Stata 14.2 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA). A descriptive analysis compared the characteristics of the clinics. Proportions were calculated and a comparative analysis of criteria was explored.

#### Ethics

Ethical approval was granted by the Medical Research Council of Zimbabwe and the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine.

#### Results

#### Delphi method to develop a consensus definition

In Delphi exercise 1 (January 2016) the response rate of trainers to the questionnaires was 94.4% (17/18) and in exercise 2 (July 2016) the rate was 94.1% (16/17).

**Table 3.** Indicators for a functioning clubfoot clinic ranked bymean score and SD from the second round: Delphi exercise 2, July2016

	Indicators	Mean	SD
1	Plaster of Paris available	9.69	0.55
2	Equipment available	9.66	0.70
3	Completed record for each visit	9.65	0.58
4	Functional referral for tenotomy	9.59	0.81
5	Clinic occurs on a specific day	9.47	0.72
6	Standardized treatment protocol	9.46	0.53
7	Someone in charge (for continuity)	9.39	0.88
8	There is a process for surgical referrals	9.35	1.04
9	There is a process to monitor dropouts	9.09	0.78
10	Two or more trained therapists regularly at the clinic	9.00	1.33
11	The nearest maternity ward refers all cases	8.99	0.84
12	Clinicians refer if no change in Pirani score for four visits	8.96	1.04
13	Tenotomy coverage >70%	8.76	0.89
14	The family is followed up if an appointment is missed	8.71	1.06
15	Counsellor contact with 90% of families at each clinic	8.68	1.18
16	Clinicians refer if >10 casts	8.53	2.31
17	Children are <6 months of age at the first treatment	7.30	2.19

The consistency of Ponseti method trainers in Africa in rating indicators to assess the functionality of Ponseti clubfoot clinics was good. The first Delphi ICC had an external consistency of 0.96 (95% [CI 0.94–0.98]) and the second Delphi ICC had an external consistency of 0.84 (95% CI 0.70–0.93).

From the initial 28 indicators, 17 met the inclusion criteria for Delphi exercise 2. The results of the rating of each indicator by trainers in Africa are shown in Table 2 for Delphi exercise 1 (January 2016) and Table 3 for Delphi exercise 2 (July 2016).

Ten indicators in the second Delphi exercise met the *a priori* definition (mean score  $\geq$ 9 [SD <1.5]) for inclusion in the consensus definition: plaster of Paris available, equipment is available, completed record for each visit, functional referral for tenotomy, clinic occurs on a specific day, standard treatment protocol available, someone in charge (for continuity), there is a process for surgical referrals, there is a process to monitor dropouts and two or more trained therapists are regularly at the clinic.

# Assessment of clubfoot clinics in Zimbabwe using the consensus definition

The average clubfoot clinic score was 21 (range 16-26) (Table 4). All clubfoot clinics had an identifiable person in charge, two or more Ponseti clubfoot therapists that were



**Figure 2.** Mean scores for the 12 clubfoot clinics. Legend:

- (1) There is an identifiable person in charge of the clinic.
- (2) There are regularly two or more Ponseti-trained health care workers available at each clinic.
- (3) There is always plaster of Paris available.
- (4) There is always equipment (e.g. bucket and scissors/blade, tenotomy set, correct size braces) available.
- (5) There is a standard treatment protocol.
- (6) There is a functioning referral system for tenotomy.
- (7) There is a process for surgical referrals.
- (8) There is a process to monitor dropout of patients.
- (9) The clinic occurs on a specific day, at minimum weekly.
- (10) There is a completed clinic record for each patient visit.

regularly available and the clinic occurred on a specific day, at a minimum weekly (Figure 2). Indicators of a standard treatment protocol, a process for surgical referral and a process to monitor dropout of patients were overall the lowest scoring indicators of the clinics.

Regarding the health system building blocks, the indicators for leadership and human resources achieved full scores, while service delivery had the lowest score in all clinics (Table 4).

#### Discussion

This study determined the opinions of experts from 11 countries in Africa about the indicators for a successful Ponseti clubfoot clinic within health facilities. The aim of the Delphi method was to define criteria to evaluate the functionality of clubfoot clinics in low-resource settings, therefore regional trainers of the Ponseti method were deemed the most appropriate experts to participate in this context. A questionnaire was developed, based on the consensus indicators, to evaluate the functionality of the Zimbabwe clubfoot clinics.

#### Delphi exercise

The trainers had good consistency in rating indicators to assess the functionality of a clubfoot clinic. The consensus indicators include components of five of the six World Health Organization (WHO) building blocks of health system strengthening,<sup>20</sup> namely leadership, human resources, essential medical equipment, health information systems and service delivery.

#### Assessment of 12 clinics

The FACT took 15 min to complete and was undertaken as part of routine supervision visits. Of the 10 indicators piloted, leadership and human resources were found to score the highest in the Zimbabwe national clubfoot programme, with service delivery demonstrating the greatest need for improvement.

#### Comparison to other literature/previous studies

The indicators developed in this study reflect the WHO building blocks for health systems.<sup>20</sup> To our knowledge there are no quality indicators for clubfoot clinics published and evaluated in the literature; however, individual non-governmental organizations regularly use checklists and reporting templates for accountability and quality improvement purposes.

#### Strengths and limitations

This study has used many experts, in the context of Africa, to develop and rate criteria (indicators) of clubfoot clinic qualities that are viewed to be the most important. The response rate of the survey was high (94%). There are also study limitations. The panel in this study was selected for their expertise but may not be representative of all Ponseti treatment practitioners. Previous research has shown that panel composition influences ratings.<sup>21</sup> In addition, indicators will never completely capture the richness and complexity of a health system. Their design must be understood in

#### 6 of 9

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/inthealth/advance-article-abstract/doi/10.1093/inthealth/ihy033/4999696 by London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine user on 20 May 2018

#### Table 4. Individual clinic scores

Health system building block	Leadership	Human resources	Medical equipment Service delivery						Service delivery						ical equipment Service delivery Health				
Indicator	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	Total								
Clinic ID	Identifiable person in charge	Two trained therapists	Plaster of Paris	Bucket/scissors/ blade/tenotomy set/braces	Standard treatment protocol	Tenotomy referral	Process for surgical referrals	Process to monitor dropouts	Clinic occurs on a specific day	Completed clinic record	Clinic score out of 30								
1	3	3	3	2	0	2	1	1	3	3	21								
2	3	3	3	2	0	3	0	1	3	3	21								
3	3	3	1	3	1	2	0	1	3	2	19								
4	3	3	1	3	1	3	2	1	3	3	23								
5	3	3	1	3	1	0	0	1	3	1	16								
6	3	3	3	3	1	3	1	1	3	3	24								
7	3	3	3	3	1	3	0	1	3	3	23								
8	3	3	1	3	1	2	0	1	3	0	17								
9	3	3	3	3	1	3	0	1	3	3	23								
10	3	3	3	3	1	3	0	1	3	2	22								
11	3	3	3	3	1	3	3	1	3	3	26								
12	3	3	3	3	1	3	0	1	3	1	21								
Mean score	3.00	3.00	2.33	2.83	0.83	2.50	0.58	1.00	3.00	2.25									

context and there may be some indicators that we have not considered that may be important. For example, there was no consensus on the number of patients and one finding has been that hospitals caring for greater numbers of patients with similar conditions tend to have better outcomes for surgical procedures.<sup>22,23</sup> Consequently, while the questionnaire can provide valuable information, other data may be relevant to have a more complete understanding of the clubfoot clinic.

#### Implications

The data from this study provide useful information to assist in monitoring and improving services for children with clubfoot in lowresource settings. For example, clubfoot service provision in Zimbabwe utilizes a task-shifting approach, where trained 'clubfoot therapists' undertake manipulation and casting and brace reviews, and medical officers complete tenotomies. Tenotomies are undertaken in the outpatient clinic under local anaesthetic, and the decision of when to verbally refer for tenotomy rests with the clubfoot therapist. Surgical procedures that extend beyond a tenotomy require written referral to a specialist. This study highlights the need for defined care pathways to monitor standard procedures and contribute to a robust referral system.

Indicators are summary measures and no matter how valid they are, they will rarely by themselves motivate people to change. Using the questionnaire, clubfoot programme staff determined if all necessary elements were in place for a successful clinic that can deliver clubfoot care. Based on the results of the assessment, the need for standard treatment protocols, a process for surgical referrals and a process to monitor dropouts were identified in every clinic in Zimbabwe. These processes were discussed and a plan to address them in every clinic was created. The usefulness of this tool in clubfoot clinics is therefore twofold: (1) to assess the design and implementation of effective clubfoot clinic programmes and (2) to monitor services and highlight the improvements needed as the programme develops.

#### **Future research**

It is important that these indicators are tested in other situations to see if they are valid. The definition of indicators in greater detail (e.g. the development of a specific equipment list that includes braces and essential equipment for tenotomy) will identify gaps in resources and allow for clubfoot clinics to be appropriately equipped. Also, research questions such as how provider performance can be improved, responsiveness to change and why some clinics perform better than others may provide further insights into quality improvement.

Approaches to encourage completion of both the treatment and bracing phases include designing education resources with parents, who have unique insights about their challenges and situations but are often excluded from the design process about issues that directly affect their lives. An understanding of how caregivers can best be supported, when and where counselling is needed and mechanisms for delivery (e.g. peer group, one to one) warrant further investigation.

A well-equipped and managed clubfoot clinic may still provide poor care. A child's experience of care and parent-reported outcomes provide valuable insights on quality of care but are rarely measured. Agreement on how to measure these outcomes using metrics that are robust, comparable and financially efficient is required.

#### Conclusion

Appropriate measures are required to determine clubfoot clinic qualities and to compare different clinics. Using the Delphi method among experts from across Africa, we found a consensus for the most important indicators of a good clubfoot (Ponseti method) clinic. The consensus definition includes 10 indicators covering five of the six WHO building blocks of health system strengthening: leadership, human resources, essential medical equipment, service delivery and health information systems. The FACT indicators recommended are accompanied by descriptions of their technical properties, and methodological guidance is provided for their assessment.

In the Zimbabwe clubfoot clinics, the area of leadership scored the highest and the area of service provision had the greatest room for improvement. This article contributes to the data on clinic indicators globally. The data from this study provide useful information on planning services and may direct health care planning towards the areas of need.

#### Supplementary data

Supplementary data are available at *International Health* online (http://inthealth.oxfordjournals.org).

**Authors' contributions:** TS, AF and CL conceived the study. TS, AF and CL designed the study protocol. TS and DM collected data. TS analysed and interpreted the data. AF, CL and DM critically revised the manuscript for intellectual content. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

**Acknowledgements:** The authors are grateful to the Zimbabwe Ministry of Health and Child Welfare for their support. A further thanks goes to all of those clubfoot practitioners whose motivation and skills shape the success of the national clubfoot programme. Lastly, we thank the Zimbabwe Sustainable Clubfoot Programme, without whose commitment and generosity, none of this would have been possible.

**Funding:** This work was supported by the Beit Trust, ZANE and MiracleFeet, who are gratefully acknowledged for scholarship funding provided to TS.

Competing interests: None declared.

**Ethical approval:** Ethical approval was granted by the Medical Research Council of Zimbabwe and the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine.

#### References

- 1 Kruk ME, Pate M, Mullan Z. Introducing *The Lancet Global Health* Commission on High-Quality Health Systems in the SDG era. Lancet Glob Health 2017;5(5):e480–1.
- 2 Kruk ME, Larson E, Twum-Danso NAY. Time for a quality revolution in global health. Lancet Glob Health 2016;4(9):e594–6.

8 of 9

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/inthealth/advance-article-abstract/doi/10.1093/inthealth/ihy033/4999696 by London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine user on 20 May 2018

- 3 Barker S, Chesney D, Miedzybrodzka Z et al. Genetics and epidemiology of idiopathic congenital talipes equinovarus. J Pediatr Orthop 2003;23(2):265–72.
- 4 Smythe T, Kuper H, Macleod D et al. Birth prevalence of congenital talipes equinovarus in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Trop Med Int Health 2017;22(3): 269–85.
- 5 Shabtai L, Specht SC, Herzenberg JE. Worldwide spread of the Ponseti method for clubfoot. World J Orthop 2014;5(5):585–90.
- 6 Morcuende JA, Dolan LA, Dietz FR et al. Radical reduction in the rate of extensive corrective surgery for clubfoot using the Ponseti method. Pediatrics 2004;113(2):376–80.
- 7 Smythe T, Mudariki D, Kuper H et al. Assessment of success of the Ponseti method of clubfoot management in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2017;18(1):453.
- 8 Evans AM, Perveen R, Ford-Powell VA et al. The Bangla clubfoot tool: a repeatability study. J Foot Ankle Res 2014;7(1):1–6.
- 9 Smythe T, Wainwright A, Foster A et al. What is a good result after clubfoot treatment? A Delphi-based consensus on success by regional clubfoot trainers from across Africa. PLoS One 2017;12(12): e0190056.
- 10 Boulkedid R, Abdoul H, Loustau M et al. Using and reporting the Delphi method for selecting healthcare quality indicators: a systematic review. PLoS One 2011;6(6):e20476.
- 11 Sinha IP, Gallagher R, Williamson PR et al. Development of a core outcome set for clinical trials in childhood asthma: a survey of clinicians, parents, and young people. Trials 2012;13:103.
- 12 Jones J, Hunter D. Consensus methods for medical and healthservices research. BMJ 1995;311(7001):376–80.

- 13 Fink A, Kosecoff J, Chassin M et al. Consensus methods: characteristics and guidelines for use. Am J Public Health 1984;74(9):979–83.
- 14 Graham B, Regehr G, Wright JG. Delphi as a method to establish consensus for diagnostic criteria. J Clin Epidemiol 2003;56(12): 1150-6.
- 15 Pencheon P. The good indicators guide: understanding how to use and choose indicators Coventry, UK: NHS Institute for Innovation and Improvement, 2008.
- 16 Mainz J. Defining and classifying clinical indicators for quality improvement. Int J Qual Health Care 2003;15(6):523-30.
- 17 Goodman CM. The Delphi technique: a critique. J Adv Nurs 1987;12 (6):729–34.
- 18 Portney LG, Watkins MP. Foundations of clinical research Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall, 2009.
- 19 Sinha IP, Smyth RL, Williamson PR. Using the Delphi technique to determine which outcomes to measure in clinical trials: recommendations for the future based on a systematic review of existing studies. PLoS Med 2011;8(1):e1000393.
- 20 World Health Organization. Everybody's business. Strengthening health systems to improve health outcomes: WHO's framework for action Geneva: World Health Organization, 2007.
- 21 Campbell SM, Hann M, Roland MO et al. The effect of panel membership and feedback on ratings in a two-round Delphi survey: results of a randomized controlled trial. Med Care 1999;37(9):964–8.
- 22 Shahian DM, Normand SL. The volume-outcome relationship: from Luft to Leapfrog. Ann Thorac Surg 2003;75(3):1048–58.
- 23 Radler C, Mindler GT. [Pediatric clubfoot: treatment of recurrence]. Orthopade 2016;45(10):909–24.

Appendix 1. Delphi Questionnaire (Round1) How important are the following for a **good** clubfoot clinic:

How important are the following for a **good** clubfoot clinic:

1. The clubfoot clinic occurs on a specific day, at a minimum weekly (av:8.9)

I								<u> </u>	····	
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
2. The tenotomy rate is le	ess th	an 70	%						(a	ıv 3.7)
	_	_	-	_						
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
3. The children first atten	d clin	ic unc	ler 6	mon	ths o	f age	;		(a	iv 7.3)
I				·	····	<u></u>	····	····	··	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
4. There is 25% drop out	after	6 mo	nths	of br	acing	)			. (a	v 4.7)
	1 mant	2	3 blo (	4	5 huola	6 .t	/	8	9	10
5. There is always equipi		avalla		ey a i		יו, 50	15501	5 	(a)	10.9)
I	1	2		1			 7	 8	 0	—I 10
6 There is someone in c	harde	∠ of th	o clir	nic	5	0	'	0	j (av	91)
	I			1	1	I	Т	I	μ	····]
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
7. There is a place to refe	er to f	or sur	aerv	,	Ū	Ū.	•	U U	_ (av	8.5)
			<u> </u>	_						
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
8. There are regularly two	o or m	nore ti	raine	d Po	nseti	ther	apists	s avail	able a	at each
clinic (av 8.9)							•			
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	_	-	-	_	_	_	_			<b> </b>
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
9. The tenotomy rate is n	nore t	han 9	0%						(av	6.9)
I	_	_	<b>_</b>	·· <b> </b> ·····	···•	···  · · · ·	····	····	···•	<u> </u>
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
10. The relapse rate (as	denti	fied as	s rec	uirin	g re-	castii	ng) is	not a	bove	30%
(av 6.2)										
I		_	_							
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
11. The tenotomy rate is	more	than	80%						(av	6)
I		<u> </u>	<u> </u>							
U 12 Thora is a functioning	1 Lirofou	Z rrol ov	3 Voton	4 Afor	5 tanat	6	1	8	9	10
		nai sy	sten		lenou	oniy		ı	(av	9.3)
I	1		2	1				_	0	10
13 Braces can be obtain	י הא אם	∠ thin t∖	ວ ທດນທ	4 Dooke	of re		/ st	0	ีย (วง	77)
		1	1 1	I		T		····		1.1)
 0	1	2	3	4	5	6	<del> </del> 7	8	9	I 10
14. There is always plast	er of i	- paris :	avail	able	J	U	•	U	์(ลง	5.6)
							·····		,«••	
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
15. There is 10 % drop o	ut afte	er 6 m	nonth	ns of	braci	ng			(av	5.6)
I	-	-	· · · ·	··· <b>·</b> ····	···	Ť	····		ì	I ´
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10

16. The relapse rate	(as id	entifi	ed as	requ	iiring	re-ca	asting	) is b	elow	10%	(av 7.5)
	I	ļ	I	I	I	L	I	I	1	1	_
	0	1	2	3 4	4	5 0	6	7	8	9	10
17. There is 50% dro	p out	after	6 mc	onths	of bra	acing				(av	3.3)
	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	[	·····		ł	<u> </u>	ļ	<u> </u>	
10 There is sourced	0 Ior oor	1 ata at	2 for 0(	3 20/ at	4 E notic	5 (		/ Ninia	8 dav	y (av	10 9 <b>7</b> )
To. There is coursel			101.90	J% 01 I	patie	inis (	na i		uay	(av	0.7)
	۱ <u> </u>	I 1	ו כ	3	I	5	۰ ۱	↓ 7	۱ ۵	<u>ا</u>	—I 10
19 There is referral	if mor	' ≏ thai	ے 10 ر	rasts	are a	annlie	م hد	'	0	ູ (av	8)
	I	l	I	1	l	I	1	 I	 I	1	,
	0	 1	2	3	4	5 (	6	7	8	9	10
20. 90% of patients s	still us	e the	SFA	Bap	oropri	iatelv	at 4	mont	ths	(av	8.5)
•	I	I	I	Ļ	Ļ	Ĺ	I		<b>.</b>	. <b>.</b>	́
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
21. There is a compl	eted r	ecord	d for e	each	patie	nt vis	it			(av	9.4)
			I	I	L	I	I	I	· ·	1	····
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
22. There is a standa	ardise	d clin	ic sch	nedul	е	_	_	_		(av	8.9)
		ļ	ļ	ļ	ļ		ļ	<u> </u>	ļ	<u> </u>	
00 There is 4000/ E	0	1	2	3 4	4	5	6	7	8	9	10 0 E)
23. There is 100% F.	АВ ир	таке	post	tenot	omy					(av	9.5)
	I	<b>ا</b>	۱ <u> </u>	<del>ا</del>	<b>↓</b>			↓ 7		1	I 10
24. The child is refer	u rod if t	1 thara	z ie no	o Chai	4 200 E	o Dirani	o scor	/ a for	0 1 waa	y ake (1	10 2V 8 7)
	ICUII	I	I	i unai I	iye i I	nam I	I	- 101 I	+ wee	1	
	0	• 1	 2	3	4	5 (	• 6	+ 7	8	9	 10
25. The relapse rate	(as id	entifi	- ed as	reau	iirina	re-ca	stino	ı) is b	elow	20%	.(av 7)
					L		L		L		
	0	1	2	3	4	5 (	6	7	8	9	10
26. The person in ch	arge o	of the	clinio	c is a	chan	npion	for c	lubfc	ot		
	I	I	I	I	I	Ĺ	I	I	<b> </b>	<b>I</b>	_
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
27. The close materr	nity ho	spita	ls ref	er the	eir clu	lbfoo	t pati	ents			
		I	I	ļ	ļ	I	I	I	I	<b>I</b>	I
	0	1	2	3.	4	5 (	6	7	8	9	10
28. Each time a patie	ent mi	sses	an ap	poin	tmen	t It IS	TOIION	ved u	ib I		
	I	↓	↓	<u>ا</u>	<u>ا</u>		↓	↓ 7	<u>ا</u>		
	U	1	Ζ	J 1	4	5	b	1	8	9	10

# Appendix 2. Delphi Questionnaire (Round 2)

How important are the following for a **good** clubfoot clinic:

1. The clubfoot clinic	c occu	rs on	a spe	ecific	day,	at a	mini	mum	week	ly (av	/:9.2)
	I	ļ		ļ	ļ	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	1		
O. The children first	0	1 	2 	3	4	5	6	1	8	9	10
2. The children first a	attend I	Clinic	; una I	er 6 r I	nonti I	ns oi I	r age		1	_(av □	7.7) 
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
3. There is always e (av 9.3)	quipm	ent a	vailat	ole su	ich a	is a l	oucke	et, scis	ssors	, wate	er
(	I	I	I	I	I	1		_		· <b>·</b> · · · · · ·	····
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
4. There is an identif	fiable	perso	n in c	charg	e of	the c	clinic			(av	9.3)
	I	<b>I</b>	I	Ļ		-	_		I	<u></u>	<u> </u>
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
5. There is a proces	s for s	urgica	al refe	errals	5					(av	9.1)
	I	<b> </b>	ļ		I		_		1	· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	····
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
6. There are regular clinic (av 8.5)	ly two	or mo	ore tra	ainec	l Por	nseti	thera	pists	availa	able a	at each
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	I	<b>I</b>	I	ļ	I	1	_		1	-	<u> </u>
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
7. The relapse rate ( (av 8.2)	as ide	ntifie	d as i	equi	ring r	e-ca	sting	) is no	ot abc	ove 3	0%
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	I	I	I	I				··· <b>·</b> ·····	••••••••	·· <b>·</b> ···	
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
8. The tenotomy rate	e is mo	ore th	an 70	)%						(av	8.5)
	I	<b>I</b>	I	I	I	-			1	-	I
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
9. There is a function	ning re	eferra	l syst	em fo	or ter	notor	my	_		(av	9.4)
	I	ļ			ļ					- <b> </b>	····
	0	1 	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
10. Braces can be o	btaine	a witi	nin tw	vo we		or re	ques	[ 	. <b>.</b>	(av	8.9)
	I	<u>ا</u>	ו י	ـــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ	۱ ۱	-	6	-	•		I 10
11 There is always	u nlasta	r of n	∠ arie a	vaila	4 hla	5	0	1	0	ีย (วง	9.6)
TT. THEFE IS diways	I	ιοιρ	ans a I	i vana I	I	1	1	I.	1	<u>(av</u>	
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
12. There is no more	e than	20 %	drop	out	after	6 m	onths	, of bra	acina	์ (av	8.8)
		1	l I	I	l	1					<u> </u>
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
13. There is a proce	ss to r	nonite	or dro	p ou	t of b	oraci	ng			(av	9.1)
	I	L	L	Ĺ		1	-ĭ		<b>.</b>	·	ı ´
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
14. There is counsel	lor co	ntact	for 90	)% of	f pati	ents	on a	clinic	day	(av	8.4)
	I	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	Ĺ	1	···	·· <b>·</b> [·····	· [····	··· [ · · · · ·	
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
15. The child is refer	red if	more	than	10 c	asts	are a	applie	ed		<u>(</u> av	8.9)
	I	I	I	ļ	I			-	1		I
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10



		Rating							
Domain	Criteria	0	1	2	3	1			
	There is an	In the past 8 weeks:							
Leadership	identifiable person in charge of the clinic	There was no identifiable person in charge of the clinics	There was an identifiable person in charge of 5 or fewer clinics	There was an identifiable person in charge of 6-7 clinics	There was an identifiable person in charge of every clinic				
	There are	In the past 8 weeks:							
Human resources	regularly two or more Ponseti trained health care workers (HCW) available at each clinic	There were fewer than 2 trained HCWs available at every clinic	There were 2 or more trained HCWs available in 5 or fewer clinics	There were 2 of more trained HCWs available in 6 -7 clinics	There were 2 or more trained HCWs available at every clinic				
There is alv plaster of pa available	There is always	In the past 8 weeks:							
	plaster of paris available	Plaster of paris was not available for 3 or more clinics	Plaster of paris was not available for 2 clinics	Plaster of paris was not available for one clinic	There was always plaster of paris available				
Essential	There is always	In the past 8 weeks:							
medical equipment (su equipment scissors/blade tenotomy set, correct size braces) availa	equipment (such as bucket and scissors/blade, tenotomy set, correct size braces) available	A bucket, scissors/blade, tenotomy set or correct size braces were not available for 3 or more clinics	A bucket, scissors/blade, tenotomy set or correct size braces were not available for 2 clinics	A bucket, scissors/blade, tenotomy set or correct size braces were not available for one clinic	There was always a bucket and scissors/blade, tenotomy set, correct size braces available				
Service delivery	There is a standard treatment protocol	There is no standard protocol for treatment of idiopathic clubfoot in children under 2 years, the older child with clubfoot or non- idiopathic clubfoot	There is a standard verbal treatment protocol but nothing in writing for treatment of idiopathic clubfoot in children under 2 years, the older child with clubfoot and non- idiopathic clubfoot	There is a written protocol for treatment of idiopathic clubfoot in children under 2 years, the older child with clubfoot and non-idiopathic clubfoot but it is not consistently used	There is a standard written protocol for treatment of idiopathic clubfoot in children under 2 years, the older child with clubfoot and non-idiopathic clubfoot and it is followed consistently				

## Appendix 3. Quality Assessment Form

	· .				1			
	There is a	In the 2 most recent tenotomy cases:						
functioning		There was no clinician	The children were	The children were referred	The children were			
	referral system for	to whom children	referred for tenotomy	but the tenotomy was not	referred for tenotomy			
	tenotomy	requiring a tenotomy	and there is no record of	completed as anticipated	and it was completed as			
		could be referred	the outcome		anticipated			
There is a process for	There is a	In the 2 most recent cases who required surgery:						
	There was no clinician	The children were	The children were referred	The children were				
	surgical referrals	to whom children	referred and there is no	but the surgery was not	referred for surgery and			
		requiring a surgical	record of the outcome	completed as anticipated	it was completed as			
		review could be referred			anticipated			
	There is a	There is no process to	There is a verbal	There is a written protocol	There is a written			
	process to	monitor drop out of	process to monitor drop	to monitor drop out of	protocol to monitor drop			
	monitor drop out	patients	out of patients but	patients but it is not	out of patients and it is			
	of patients		nothing in writing	consistently followed	consistently followed			
The clinic occ	The clinic occurs	In the past 8 weeks:						
	on a specific day,	The clinic did not have	The clinic has been held	The clinic has been held on	The clinic has been held			
	at minimum	an identified day for	on the identified day/s	the identified day/s for 6-7	on the identified day/s			
	weekly	clubfoot treatment	for less than 6 of the	of the weeks	every week			
			weeks					
Health	There is a completed clinic	In the last 10 clinic records:						
		5 or less of the clinic	6-7 of the records were	8-9 of the clinic records	All of the clinic records			
information	record for each	records were filled in	filled in completely	were filled in completely	were filled in completely			
system	patient visit	completely						
-								
I otal score								
# Epilogue (Main findings and limitations)

The consistency of Ponseti method trainers in Africa in rating indicators to assess functionality of Ponseti clubfoot clinics was good. The set of 10 indicators include components of five of the six building blocks of a health system: leadership, human resources, essential medical equipment, health information systems and service delivery.

A questionnaire was developed consisting of the 10 indicators; each scoring from 0 to 3, giving a total from 0 to 30 where 30 is the ideal result.

The most common needs identified in the Zimbabwe clubfoot clinics related to service provision; they were (a) a standard treatment protocol, (b) a process for surgical referrals, and (c) a process to monitor drop out of patients.

Limitations to this study design include lack of guidelines on thresholds to determine consensus, therefore the thresholds for the VAS mean and SD were decided *a-priori* in an effort to determine indicators that were rated with a high mean value and minimal variance. The Delphi panel consisted of expert trainers in the Ponseti technique and are not representative of non-specialised health workers that deliver clubfoot care. Additional data will be required to have a complete understanding of clubfoot clinic functionality, as indicators never capture the richness and complexity of a health system.

Additional Information: Strategies to contain costs for children with clubfoot and their families need to be considered. The sixth health system building block (Financing) is not included in the FACT tool as it was not identified in the facilitated discussion workshop that was used to identify indicators likely to demonstrate a well-functioning Ponseti clubfoot clinic. This is a limitation of the FACT tool, and additional finance data are required to allow a more complete understanding of the functionality of the clubfoot clinic.

# Chapter 11. The development of a training course for clubfoot treatment in Africa: learning points for course development



Small group practical sessions with the ACT project

# Preamble

Two trained clubfoot therapists are required to deliver the Ponseti method of clubfoot treatment (Chapter 10). There is a lack of trained health workers to provide treatment for clubfoot in Africa and there is no standard training course for these clubfoot therapists.

The Africa Clubfoot Training (ACT) project was developed in response to requests to build local training capacity in the Africa region, and to develop training materials with standard elements for novice clubfoot therapists.

Information on the content of this training course is required to optimise the task-shifting and task-sharing role of clubfoot therapists.

In addition, there is a paucity of data to inform dialogue on the development of medical training in LMIC. Qualitative and quantitative data that are used to identify what elements of the training work, what needs to be improved and how this process may occur, are rarely reported. These mixed methods are required to inform the design of content, and to improve understanding of the factors that influence training outcomes.

This chapter comprises a mixed methods (both qualitative and quantitative) study that describes the development of a training course for clubfoot therapists in Africa. It outlines the inputs that the Africa Clubfoot Training project used to create the training course, the processes by which these were achieved, and it describes the content of the course.

This paper was submitted to BMC Medical Education in September 2017 and is undergoing revision after peer review.



#### Registry

T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@ishtm.ac.uk

# RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

# **SECTION A – Student Details**

Student	Tracey Heather Smythe
Principal Supervisor	Professor Allen Foster
Thesis Title	Evidence to improve clubfoot services in Africa with Zimbabwe as a case study

# SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	BMC Medical Education		
When was the work published?	13 July 2018		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	n/a		
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	The publication is covered by a Creative Commons Attribution CCBY Creative Commons License. Anyone may copy, distribute, or reuse the content as long as the author and original source are properly cited.	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes

\*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

# SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	

# SECTION D – Multi-authored work

	For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	I co-designed the d the data, completed manuscript, prepar- with consideration of	lata collection tools, extracted d data analysis, drafted the ed the subsequent revisions of comments from co-authors
S	tudent Signature:	Date:	14/8/18
S	upervisor Signature:	Date:	14-08-18
1	mproving health worldwide		www.lshtm.ac.uk

# **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

**Open Access** 



# The development of a training course for clubfoot treatment in Africa: learning points for course development

Tracey Smythe<sup>1\*</sup>, Grace Le<sup>2</sup>, Rosalind Owen<sup>3</sup>, Birhanu Ayana<sup>4</sup>, Linda Hansen<sup>5</sup> and Christopher Lavy<sup>2</sup>

## Abstract

**Background:** Clubfoot is a common congenital musculoskeletal disorder that causes mobility impairment. There is a lack of trained mid-level personnel to provide clubfoot treatment in Africa and there is no standard training course. This prospective study describes the collaborative and participatory approach to the development of a training course for the treatment of clubfoot in children in resource constrained settings.

Methods: We used a systems approach to evaluate the development of the training course.

Inputs: The research strategy included a review of context and available training materials, and the collection of data on current training practices. Semi-structured interviews were conducted with seven expert clubfoot trainers. A survey of 32 international and regional trainers was undertaken to inform practical issues. The data were used to develop a framework for training with advice from two technical groups, consisting of regional and international stakeholders and experts.

Process: A consensus approach was undertaken during workshops, meetings and the sharing of documents. The design process for the training materials took twenty-four months and was iterative. The training materials were piloted nine times between September 2015 and February 2017. Processes and materials were reviewed and adapted according to feedback after each pilot.

**Results:** Fifty-one regional trainers from Africa (18 countries), 21 international experts (11 countries), 113 local providers of clubfoot treatment (Ethiopia, Rwanda and Kenya) and local organising teams were involved in developing the curriculum and pilot testing. The diversity of the two technical advisory groups allowed a wide range of contributions to the collaboration.

Output: The resulting curriculum and content comprised a two day basic training and a two day advanced course. The basic course utilised adult learning techniques for training novice providers in the treatment of idiopathic clubfoot in children under two years old. The advanced course builds on these principles.

**Conclusion:** Formative research that included mixed methods (both qualitative and quantitative) was important in the development of an appropriate training course. The process documentation from this study provides useful information to assist planning of medical training programmes and may serve as a model for the development of other courses.

Keywords: Clubfoot, Congenital talipes equinovarus, Ponseti, Africa, Training, Clinical skill, Course development

\* Correspondence: tracey.smythe@lshtm.ac.uk

<sup>1</sup>International Centre for Evidence in Disability, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street, London WC1E7HT, UK

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s). 2018 **Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

#### Background

Clubfoot, or congenital talipes equinovarus, is a common congenital disorder that causes mobility impairment if untreated. It is a structural and functional deformity where the child is born with the foot turned inwards [1]. The Ponseti method [2, 3] is promoted as an effective and low cost treatment of clubfoot [4]. This minimally invasive method includes a correction phase and a maintenance phase, and can be delivered by trained mid-level health care providers in resource constrained settings [5]. The correction phase of treatment involves the simultaneous correction of three components of the clubfoot deformity, with the equinus (downward pointing of the foot) corrected last. The manipulated foot is held in a series of long leg (toe to groin) plaster of paris casts, with the knee at 90 degrees. Manipulation and casting usually occurs weekly. The plaster cast retains the degree of correction and allows the soft tissue time to remodel. Once the cavus, adductus and varus have been corrected, an outpatient procedure to cut the Achilles tendon (heel tendon), known as a tenotomy, is usually needed to correct the rigid downward position of the foot. The final cast remains for 3 weeks to allow the Achilles tendon to re-grow in this lengthened position. To prevent recurrence of the deformity, it is recommended that a foot abduction brace is worn for 23 h/day for 3 months following correction, and then at night until the child is 4 years old [6].

Despite the worldwide spread of the Ponseti method for clubfoot [7], there is a discrepancy between what is known about effective clubfoot management and its availability to children with clubfoot in Africa. A major barrier is trained health care providers. The World Health Organization (WHO) recognises a health workforce crisis in Africa [8] and the need to share resources to narrow the gap between the ideal health workforce and the capacity of training institutions [9].

The Africa Clubfoot Training (ACT) project was developed in response to requests to build local training capacity in the Africa region and to develop training materials with standard elements for novice clubfoot treatment providers. The project aimed to align with local priorities though joint planning and co-ordination, and to establish a long-lasting partnership and community of practice. It proposed to:

- i. Develop a simplified training course for novice clubfoot treatment providers with standard elements
- Strengthen training and delivery capacity for clubfoot treatment in sub-Saharan Africa through providing national clubfoot trainers with standardised and evaluated training materials

iii. Build capacity for clubfoot training and mentoring through developing an integrated training of trainers course

Historically a narrow technical focus without contextual understanding and limited teamwork [9, 10] have led to a lack of agreement on curricula and relevant frameworks for medical education. The tendency of professionals to act in isolation compounds this difficulty [9]. While frameworks for successful partnership networks and principles of good collaboration are reported [10–14], there is a paucity of data to inform dialogue on the development of medical training [15]. Many training courses include components of knowledge, skill and competency [16], however formative research used to inform the design of content is rarely reported [17]. Formative research is systematic and process oriented. It allows the collection of data (both qualitative and quantitative) and analysis of what elements of the training work, what needs to be improved and how this process may occur [18]. It aims to develop and improve training design from an early stage when opportunities for influence are likely to be greatest, and it allows improved understanding of the factors that influence training [19].

There is little evidence of the effectiveness of training and mentoring health care providers in the management of clubfoot in Africa, or how such interventions can be best designed to be feasible and appropriate. This prospective study describes a systems approach [20] to the design and implementation of a health related training course. We describe the inputs and processes [21] that the ACT project used to create the training course, and how these were achieved. The lessons learned may be useful for development and implementation of other medical training courses.

#### Methods

#### Inputs

#### Partnership of stakeholders

The ACT project is a partnership between the Nuffield Department of Orthopaedics, Rheumatology and Musculoskeletal Sciences (NDORMS) at the University of Oxford, the Global Clubfoot Initiative (GCI), CURE Clubfoot and CURE Ethiopia Children's Hospital, in co-ordination with the Ministries of Health in Ethiopia and Rwanda. These partners formed a core project team and informed project planning and course design through comprehensive knowledge of regional context and needs. The Tropical Health Education Trust (THET) funded the ACT project through the Health Partnership Scheme funded by the UK Department for International Development. The London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine provided monitoring and evaluation expertise.

#### Comprehensive needs analysis

A situational needs analysis and scoping meeting was undertaken in March 2015 with the core project team. The current understanding, context and needs for a training course were mapped extensively.

#### Review of existing training materials and current practice

Initially, a review of available training materials, teaching methods and processes was undertaken. Two researchers in Public Health then conducted semi-structured interviews with regional and international trainers in the Ponseti method of clubfoot management to collect data on current training practices and challenges. The interviews were transcribed and coded to identify common themes. Following the interviews, an online survey was created and regional and international trainers, purposively selected as experts in the field, were invited to participate. The survey was designed to identify which training practices provided desired clubfoot management behaviours and potential areas for improvement. It aimed to understand practical issues, such as whom to include in the training, current knowledge and skills gaps, and follow up mentoring requirements (Additional file 1). Throughout this review process, published materials and current literature were explored [22] to identify best practice in both clubfoot management and principles of adult learning (for example, providing effective feedback) [23].

#### Expert consultation

A wide spectrum of experts were involved in the decisions of what should be included in the training and how this should be achieved. The experts were invited to participate in one of two technical advisory groups (TAG). The Africa TAG consisted of trainers in clubfoot management (Ponseti technique) throughout Africa and experts from non-governmental organisations (NGOs) that currently support clubfoot management in Africa; representatives from CBM, CURE, International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC), MiracleFeet, Mobility Outreach International (MOI) and Ponseti International Association (PIA) were invited to participate. The UK TAG consisted of members of the UK Clubfoot Consensus Group [24] and medical educationalists. The roles of each TAG were outlined at the beginning of the project and included the review of course material for appropriate training delivery, technical and methodological accuracy, and suitability for delivery in a low-income setting.

#### Training of trainers

Regional trainers were identified to deliver and pilot the 'Basic Provider Course' (BPC) training and supervise

new providers. The trainers were chosen based on willingness to participate, knowledge of the topic and their strategic role as key clubfoot trainers in their country. They included orthopaedic surgeons, physiotherapists, physician assistants, prosthetists and orthotists, nurses and orthopaedic technicians. The mean length of time that the trainers had used the Ponseti method was 7.8 years (95%CI 6.5–9.0) and the average number of trainings delivered was 6.4 (95%CI 4.4–8.4). The regional trainers attended a two-day, customised "Train the Trainer" (TTT) course delivered by clubfoot experts and immediately delivered the two-day 'Basic Provider Course' (BPC) themselves, to reinforce newly learned principles and to give feedback on the BPC structure and content.

#### Equipment

Rubber models and skeleton models were required. A list of material inputs (e.g. plaster of paris, underwrap, tenotomy kits, buckets) was created over the pilot trainings to assist future training courses and is outlined in Additional file 2.

#### Patients

Children with clubfoot, under the age of 6 months, were assessed and treated by providers under close supervision. All caregivers were read an information sheet about the training and given an opportunity to ask questions. If they agreed to participate, written consent was taken. The caregiver was required to provide written consent and to remain present throughout the assessment as per national requirements. Transport costs were reimbursed referral and services available were mapped pre-emptively to ensure appropriate onward referral for any children that required further intervention.

#### Process

# Plan: Partnership development plan, workshops, meetings, draft documents

All partners that formed the core project team formally committed to a partnership development plan at the beginning of the project. The BPC and APC training goals and design were developed from the extensive needs analysis, project planning, literature search, interview and survey data. They were presented at web meetings with the two TAGs and subsequently commented on over a two-week period. The goals and design were modified accordingly and topics where consensus was not reached were noted. Meetings occurred after each pilot with the core project team and draft documents were shared electronically for further comments and suggestions, after which they were amended. This occurred seven times. The APC was presented and discussed with regional trainers on the final day of two BPC pilots. Figure 1 outlines the timescale of key activities.

#### Design: consensus approach

A list of topics that required consensus was generated where evidence in the literature was lacking or unclear. Two additional web meetings were held with the TAGs prior to the delivery of the pilot training to discuss the topics where consensus was required. As the aim for the BPC was to create a course that was simple to understand for novice providers, materials with a standardized approach on the controversial areas in clubfoot treatment were required. Further consensus forums were therefore scheduled in the pilots for discussion with regional trainers.

#### Development: iterative approach

The BPC content and structure was edited twice before the first pilot in September 2015. The training material was piloted four times. Semi-structured interviews with trainers and trainees were conducted during each pilot training and collated with feedback from verbal debrief



sessions and written questionnaires. The training materials were reviewed and adapted according to feedback after each pilot. This process evaluation allowed further development of the training material and substantial changes were made to the timing and content of the training course. The comprehensive needs analysis allowed a good foundation for the format of the course, however at the beginning of the project partnership, the precise content of the training course was unknown. Through the iterative approach, it was identified precisely where novice providers required support after basic training and the APC content was developed into a 2 day course from the recommendations made at the end of the BPC. The process evaluation for the five APC pilots was the same as for the BPC.

#### Delivery

The two-day BPC was piloted with eight international trainers in September 2015. The content, materials, supervisory and mentorship structure [16] of the BPC was then piloted with 51 regional trainers in Ethiopia (2 courses) and Rwanda (1 course) and included both Anglophone and Francophone trainers. The one-day APC was piloted in Ethiopia (2 courses) and the UK (1 course) and a one-day and two-day version of the APC course was piloted in Kenya.

Monitoring

A theory of change (ToC) was developed to hypothesise the pathways that may contribute to behaviour change in the BPC training (Fig. 2). Regional trainers attending the TTT course completed a knowledge MCQ and confidence matrices immediately pre- and post-course, and a further confidence matrix after applying teaching skills in delivering a BPC.

The ToC was adjusted throughout the twenty-four months as further assumptions and contextual factors were considered. The standard elements to be delivered in training were defined in order to inform a skills checklist, knowledge and confidence pre- and post-training. Quantitative data were collected through pre- and post-training questionnaires to monitor efficacy of training and to identify areas for improvement and increased learning opportunities. Knowledge was assessed before and after the course with a pilot tested single best answer multiple-choice questionnaire (Additional file 3). Long-term knowledge retention was not assessed. Confidence in key skills in clubfoot management was assessed before and after the course with a pilot tested confidence matrix. Extensive written and verbal feedback was obtained from national, regional and international trainers following each pilot to identify areas for improvement.

#### Ethics, consent and permissions

The London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine granted ethical approval for this study ref.:10412 /RR/3466. Informed written consent was obtained from all participants.



#### Results

#### **Training goals**

The design process for the curriculum and content of the training course for clubfoot treatment in Africa took twenty-four months (March 2015 – February 2017) and was iterative. The comprehensive needs analysis proposed a project design that included goals to:

- Create and pilot a simplified basic course with key messages and increased practical opportunities and videos, with the use of a standardised teaching method to promote critical thinking and problem solving
- ii. Create and pilot an advanced course and an integrated training of trainers
- iii. Pilot the test materials with trainers from throughout Africa to ensure input to material development and enhance acceptability, feasibility and ownership
- iv. Ensure manuals include logistics for administration staff and briefings for the trainers to promote the link between training and follow up supervision and mentoring.
- v. Purposively select pilot locations and regional trainers based on extensive knowledge and capacity
- vi. Translate the materials into French due to needs of the region
- vii. Integrate principles of adult learning.

#### Participation

Of the 26 international and regional trainers invited to the first interviews, seven (27%) were available to participate. Participants reported the need for training materials with consistent language and messages, and understandable learning outcomes. The importance of practical components in training and follow up mentoring were highlighted, as was the need to facilitate expectations of what practical skills a provider may develop through participation in the training programme.

Thirty-two of 100 trainers (32%) responded to the online survey. Collectively, the 32 trainers had held courses in 54 countries. Twenty of the 32 trainers (63%) had delivered more than 10 courses. Seventy percent had used their own materials for training and 63% had used materials from the Global Clubfoot Initiative (GCI). Eighty-three percent advised on a separate basic and advanced provider course. The need for refresher training and mentoring was a key theme, in addition to requests for targeted training at an appropriate level for novice clubfoot providers. The creation of opportunities to share the previously developed curricula, best practices and lessons learned were common goals.

#### Output, basic provider course

The resulting BPC has a focus on adult learning techniques for the training of novice providers in the treatment of idiopathic clubfoot in children less than 2 years of age. The final curriculum and content of the BPC focuses on a problem solving approach with group work and practical exercises to promote optimal learning and facilitate active engagement. It is designed to be delivered face to face over 2 days, or as fourteen stand-alone modules, with a sequence of learning tasks that progress from simple to more complex. If delivered as stand-alone modules, this would be in response to a specific training need or contextual issues that were identified by a clinic or individual. It contains clearly defined content and learning objectives for the development of required skills for the novice provider (Additional file 4 outlines the training courses). The structure of the BPC allows for the teaching of content through small group and other interactive activities and communication is promoted through built-in open questions to stimulate dialogue. The learning outcomes for novice local providers were based on the diversity of cadre to be trained and the need for a training course with standard elements.

#### Learning outcomes BPC

The BPC was therefore designed with three main learning outcomes; providers of the Ponseti method of clubfoot treatment will be able to:

- i. Explain the clubfoot deformity and the method of correction using the Ponseti technique;
- Demonstrate practical skills in treating a child under 2 years presenting with idiopathic, previously untreated clubfoot; and
- iii. Identify more complex cases, when treatment is not progressing as would be expected and when to seek guidance with these cases.

#### Output, advanced provider course

The APC was designed to build on the knowledge, competence and opportunities for mentoring that were developed through the BPC. The main objectives include:

- i. To refresh understanding and skills in basic Ponseti treatment, and to add advanced knowledge to these
- ii. To develop understanding and skills in non-surgical management of challenging cases such as atypical, recurrent, neglected, and secondary clubfoot
- iii. To facilitate exchange of knowledge through case discussion of challenging cases
- iv. To establish a common approach to measuring and improving quality of care in clinics, to encourage reflection on what is and what is not working well

in own practice / clinic setting, and to identify priority actions

v. To promote consideration of how parents can be supported to promote treatment adherence during clubfoot treatment.

#### Application of formative research

Consensus topics included, but were not limited to, the definition of recurrence of the clubfoot deformity, the definition of complex and atypical clubfoot, Pirani score and positioning, and the brace review protocol. Consensus on the format, content and structure was gained after the fourth pilot course. The need for a third training course that includes surgical management was identified.

As planning progressed, new questions were identified. Feedback included comments on individual slides, clarity and context of images, organisation and order of topics, consistency of language, context specific details, level of difficulty, and the identification of further practical opportunities.

The diversity of advisory groups and trainers allowed a wide range of contributions to the collaboration, but also complexity in the management of different interests. Table 1 outlines the results of the demographic analysis of the pilot courses.

The following examples demonstrate the type of information collected in the formative research and how this information was used to inform decisions about the approach to the training message.

First, the need to develop a training of trainers was developed as part of the grant application. The need to model best practice when training was further raised in the interviews and TAG meetings. In response, the TTT was developed to build the foundation for best practice training techniques. On the basis of the content and the observed need to be closely supervised and assisted in practical sessions, a 1:4 trainer to participant model was adopted when delivering the BPC. Closer supervision of trainees was required given the increased emphasis on interactive learning and the inclusion of detailed practical sessions.

Second, the proposed 1 day 'Advanced Provider Course' that was identified in the needs analysis was modified to the 2 day 'Advanced Non-Surgical Clubfoot Treatment Course' over the pilots. Challenges with scope of content were raised in the September 2015, January 2016 and July 2016 pilots. Small group discussions and responses from questionnaires advised that trainees with a good level of skill in clubfoot management (Ponseti technique), who are actively receiving mentoring and supervision, require an environment in which to refresh understanding and skills in basic clubfoot management and to delve deeper into how and why the technique works, in addition to sharing tips and advice through discussion of complicated cases. Consequently, it was agreed that changes to the APC were needed. A low-cost pilot in the UK was undertaken in December 2016, ahead of the pilot in Kenya in January 2017, to maximise the opportunity for success. The one-day advanced course was therefore developed with the intentional focus on non-surgical intervention. It was extended to 2 days to allow adequate time for discussion, reflection, practice and development of practical skills, based on pilot course feedback by trainers and participants. It was noted that a further course on surgical management is required.

#### Knowledge and skills gained

Fifty-one regional trainers and 113 national clubfoot treatment providers (Ethiopia, Rwanda and Kenya) were trained through the course development. Results of a knowledge MCQ and confidence matrix completed preand post-training by local providers are demonstrated in Table 2.

Correct multiple choice questionnaire (MCQ) answers increased from 59 to 80%, (BPC participants) and 59 to 73%, (APC participants) after training. Self-reported confidence increased from 57 to 89% (BPC participants) and 85 to 95% (APC participants) (Table 2).

#### Discussion

This study outlines the formative research that informed the design of a training course for clubfoot providers in resource constrained settings. A two-day training course for novice clubfoot providers (Ponseti method) and two-day training course for advanced clubfoot providers were developed. Decisions were made using a data driven approach with a comprehensive contextual understanding, and involved key stakeholders. The ACT project delivered consensus on the content and quality of training material through partnership with technical advisory groups, regional trainers and local participants. The local organising teams, who were not involved in the training design, provided insight on practical issues and it is likely that their involvement will increase sustainability. In-depth needs analysis, interviews, surveys, opinion polls, group discussions with experts, consensus meetings, piloting the materials and observation allowed the development of a training course that aligned with regional priorities.

#### Strengths

From the beginning of the ACT project there was agreement on the focus of the training course. The partnership development plan ensured commitment to health system partnerships and partnerships in practice. The flexibility in design of the course allowed the decision-making process to be iterative and the training

Table 1 Demographics of	the pilot courses							
Pilot number	-	2	С	4	5	9	7	Total <sup>a</sup>
City, Country	Addis Ababa, Ethiopia	Addis Ababa, Ethiopia	Addis Ababa, Ethiopia	Kigali, Rwanda	London, UK (1 day)	Nairobi, Kenya (1 day)	Nairobi, Kenya (2 day)	
Dates of pilot trainings	23–24 September 2015	25–29 January 2016	25–29 July 2016	24–28 October 2016	2 December 2017	26 January 2017	24–25 January 2017	21 days
Type of pilot training	BPC and APC	BPC, APC and TTT	BPC and TTT	BPC and TTT	APC	APC	APC	
Number of International experts delivering training	ω	6	σ	0	Ŋ	Ś	Ŷ	21
Countries represented by International experts	Ethiopia, Norway, Netherlands, UK Zimbabwe	Australia, Ethiopia, UK, Zimbabwe	A ustralia, Ethiopia, Kenya, Tanzania, UK, Zimbabwe	Australia, Canada, Cameroon, DRC, Rwanda, Switzerland, UK, Zimbabwe	ž	UK, Kenya, Australia	UK, Kenya, Australia	<u>6</u>
Number of organisers for training course	4	С	б	m	2	Μ	m	12
Countries represented (organisers)	Australia, Ethiopia, UK	Ethiopia, UK	Ethiopia, UK	Rwanda, UK	UK	Kenya, Zambia	Kenya, Zambia	4
Number of regional trainers	0	18	17	16	0	-	-	51
Number of countries represented (trainers)	Trainers were ACT faculty	10	10	7	-	m	m	18
Names of countries represented (regional trainers)		Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, Lliberia, Mozambique, Rwanda, Tanzania, Zambia, Zimbabwe	Ethiopia, Cameroon, DRC, Ghana, Kenya, Malawi, Sierra Sierra Leone, Zambia, Zimbabwe	Burundi, Niger, DRC, Senegal, Rwanda, Togo				<u>0</u>
Cadres of trainers: Surgeon	5 M	11 M	M 6	5 M	0	0	0	30
Physiotherapist	2F, 1 M	1F, 5 M	1F, 2 M	8 M	0	0	0	20
Medical doctor	0	0	0	1F, 1 M	0	0	0	2

Table 1 Demographics	s of the pilot courses	(Continued)						
Pilot number	-	2	m	4	Ŀ	9	7	Total <sup>a</sup>
Clinical officer	0	1 M	3 M	0	0	0	0	4
Nurse/other	0	1F	2 M	1 M	0	0	0	4
Number of local providers trained	20	17	18	21	12	12	<u>6</u>	113
Cadres of providers trained: Surgeon	Ме	Ж	0	۲ ک	2 M, 1F	0	0	10
Physiotherapist	1F, 7 M	1F, 3 M	1F, 9 M	3F, 9 M	2 M, 6F	1 M, 2F	2 M, 1F	48
Nurse	ZF	4F, 5 M	2F, 1 M	2 M	1F	1 M	0	23
Doctor	2 M	1 M	1F, 4 M	4 M	0	0	1 M	13
Other	0	0	0	0	0	6 M, 2F	5 M, 4F	17
M male, F female								

"Several trainers were involved with multiple trainings. The total is the number of individuals involved and does not count a person more than once

 Table 2 Knowledge and confidence of participants before and after training

5		
	Pre-course mean (95%Cl)	Post-course mean (95%Cl
BPC participants		
MCQ	59% (53–65)	80% (74–85)
Confidence	57% (50–64)	89% (86–92)
APC participants		
MCQ	59% (49–68)	73% (63–82)
Confidence	85% (79–92)	95% (92–98)

materials to be modified as new information emerged. For example, the process allowed the development of two courses and identification that a further course focusing on surgical management was required, and the APC was expanded from a one-day to a two-day course in order to meet training needs as identified by contextual understanding, the training experts and participants. In addition, pooled resources (human, institutional and financial) contributed to the success of the training course design and the constant dialogue between colleagues, experts and stakeholders with different backgrounds facilitated exposure to different views and approaches [25, 26]. Stakeholder meetings, webinars and pilot trainings were used as arenas for decision-making on consensus issues and the various mediums were useful to build regional ownership.

#### Limitations

A limitation of the training course is the absence of a pass/fail competency [27]. Instead, a skills checklist (Additional file 5) was developed to allow follow-up mentoring to identify areas of strength and weakness in novice providers. The skills checklist allows a skill gap analysis and follow up in supervision clinics [16]. Consensus was that the course would provide the initial foundation for the delivery of clubfoot treatment and further mentorship is required; as such a competency pass/fail was deliberately avoided. Seventy-three percent (19/26) of the experts invited for an interview and 68 % (68/100) of international trainers invited to complete the survey did not participate. The survey participants were also self-selected and selection bias in the development of the training curriculum cannot be ruled out. With regards translation, the forward translation was undertaken by a health professional, however the expert panel participating in the backward translation consisted of the regional francophone trainers. This research is limited to the description of how a training course was designed and the collaborative process undertaken, and intentionally does not evaluate the long-term outcomes or impact of the training course. The authors were closely involved in the implementation of the ACT project and in the development of the manuscript, which may lead to researcher bias in the results of this study.

#### Lessons learnt

- 1. Within the ACT collaboration, each partner had unique characteristics without which the partnership would not have be possible (e.g. human resources, technical expertise, funding ability, awareness of context); common shared values and interests among the partners were essential.
- 2. The rigor and focus of the Health Partnership Scheme grant brought partners together with a sense of purpose and common goals.
- 3. Minutes that outlined the understanding of proceedings and action points to be undertaken after each meeting allowed an organised approach to communication and accountability.
- The management of expectations and activities was aided by clearly defined objectives for the training that were regularly assessed and modified when necessary.
- The constant evaluation of all aspects of the training materials, and their potential limitations, was promoted to inform the design and development of the training course.
- 6. The use of a variety of methods to deliver the training messages (such as demonstration, pair work, practical opportunities) was important to help select the anticipated behaviour changes.

The work we describe took 2 years to develop and will require further evaluation of regional implementation and impact.

#### Challenges

The creation of partnerships between non-governmental organisations (NGOs) that are often in competition for funding, combined with avoiding a culture of individualism, took leadership and patience on all sides. Establishing consensus among multiple stakeholders was one of the most difficult and time-intensive steps, and required negotiation skills as well as a shared commitment to the ultimate goal. Meetings with international and regional stakeholders were limited by time as participation was on a volunteer basis. Practically, different time-zones and inconsistent internet access required web meetings to have thorough advanced planning. Barriers to volunteering with the ACT project faculty included difficulty in National Health Service staff taking time away from the UK, as observed in other projects [28].

#### Main findings as related to previous literature

The importance of formative research for the design of successful interventions extends from the provision of neonatal care in rural Ghana [17], to hygiene promotion programmes [29] and programmes to reduce the treatment gap for mental health disorders in low resource settings [30]. Principles of good collaboration have been proposed to include (i) development across a diverse group of stakeholders, (ii) establishment of a community of practice, (iii) strengthened links between the project, communities, and ministries of health, and (iv) enhanced mutual respect for different cultures and contexts [14]. However, while interventions regularly include various forms of training, there are few published examples of the design process undertaken to create the training.

#### Implications

Major gaps in evidence are highlighted through this research. There is little information available on the formation of training courses for health care workers in resource constrained settings. The accurate identification of processes that assist and facilitate learning and application of new skills within appropriate contexts is required. Further evaluation of the interaction between knowledge and competence is needed. In addition, evaluation of how different components of a training programme are understood by different cadres is required, as is the carry-over of skills after the training course.

# Recommendations for implementation of the training course

- 1. Training with practice-based learning requires direct supervision and multiple opportunities for the clubfoot providers to demonstrate competency in practice over time. In this example, the training is designed to occur in a 1 to 4 (trainer to provider) model to allow providers adequate participation and supervised practice in assessment and treatment.
- 2. Supportive supervision and mentoring 'on the job' is needed to meaningfully build on initial skills gained in training.
- 3. The sharing of knowledge of existing curricula, programmes and systems will increase opportunities globally to build regional capacity and increase access to interdisciplinary services.
- 4. Innovative ways to address the potentially limited access to clubfoot models or equipment suggested in this training warrants further research (e.g. through the use of mobile health tools).

5. National investments in provider training and in supporting the health system are required for scaling up and sustaining clubfoot treatment.

#### Conclusion

Formative research with mixed methods (both quantitative and qualitative) was essential for the development of the training courses. Consensus meetings were central to the harmonisation of aims and goals of the ACT project. A broad spectrum of multidisciplinary stakeholders, beyond those with clinical expertise, shaped the success of the training project through a shared vision and mutual accountability. Knowledge increased in both novice and advanced participants after training. Self-reported confidence increased on all measures tested after participating in the training. The process data from this study provide useful information to assist planning of medical training programmes and may serve as a model for the development of other courses.

#### Additional files

Additional file 1: Survey of current training practices. Includes questions and topic guides for survey that aimed to understand practical issues, current knowledge and skills gaps, and follow up mentoring requirements. (DOCX 21 kb) Additional file 2: Considerations for equipment and location. A list of material inputs that was created over the pilot trainings to assist the

material inputs that was created over the pilot trainings to assist the planning and organisation of future training courses. (DOCX 76 kb)

Additional file 3: Example of the basic provider course MCQ. The pilot tested single best answer multiple-choice questionnaire. (DOCX 25 kb)

Additional file 4: Finalised training course components. Outlines the components of the training courses. (DOCX 15 kb)

Additional file 5: Skills checklist. The checklist developed to allow follow-up mentoring to identify areas of strength and weakness in novice providers. (DOCX 17 kb)

Additional file 6: Acknowledgements. Acknowledgements of the multi-disciplinary team involved in the ACT project. (DOCX 15 kb)

#### Abbreviations

ACT: Africa Clubfoot Training; APC: Advanced provider course; BPC: Basic provider course; GCI: Global clubfoot initiative; MCQ: Multiple choice questionnaire; NDORMS: Nuffield Department of Orthopaedics, Rheumatology and Musculoskeletal Sciences; NGO: Non-Government Organisation; TAG: Technical advisory group; THET: Tropical Health Education Trust; ToC: Theory of change; TTT: Train the trainer; WHO: World Health Organisation

#### Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to the co-ordinators and organisers in Ethiopia and Rwanda who facilitated training logistics. A further thanks to all of those who participated in the course, whose motivation and skills shaped the success of the project. We thank the Ethiopian Ministry of Health and Rwandan Ministry of Health and Human Resources for Health for their support of trainee attendance. We thank the ACT project Core Working Group, Africa Technical Advisory group, UK Technical Advisory group and the UK Clubfoot Consensus Group, without whose commitment and generosity, none of this project would have been possible. Lastly, we acknowledge and thank the multi-disciplinary ACT team involved in assembling, writing, piloting, reviewing and rewriting the material included in Additional file 6.

#### Funding

The ACT project was supported by the Tropical Health Education Trust and funded through the Health Partnership Scheme, which is funded by the UK Department for International Development (DFID) for the benefit of the UK and partner country health sectors. The Beit Trust are acknowledged for scholarship funding provided to TS.

#### Availability of data and materials

Supporting data can be accessed in Additional Files. Further data used and analysed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

#### Authors' contributions

CL, GL, LH, RO, TS conceived the study; CL, GL, LH and TS designed the study protocol; BA, GL, LH, RO and TS developed the outcome measures; GL, RO and TS carried out the analysis and interpretation of these data. TS and CL drafted the manuscript; BA, GL, LH, and RO critically revised the manuscript for intellectual content. All authors read and approved the final manuscript. TS and CL are guarantors of the paper.

#### Ethics approval and consent to participate

This research was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and The London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine granted ethical approval for this study ref.:10412 /RR/3466. Informed written consent was obtained from all participants.

#### Consent for publication

Not Applicable.

#### **Competing interests**

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

#### **Publisher's Note**

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

#### Author details

<sup>1</sup>International Centre for Evidence in Disability, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street, London WC1E7HT, UK. <sup>2</sup>Nuffield Department of Orthopaedics, Rheumatology and Musculoskeletal Sciences, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK. <sup>3</sup>Global Clubfoot Initiative, London, UK. <sup>4</sup>Black Lion Hospital, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. <sup>5</sup>CURE International, Beit CURE Hospital, Lusaka, Zambia.

#### Received: 5 September 2017 Accepted: 26 June 2018 Published online: 13 July 2018

#### References

- Dobbs MB, Gurnett CA. Update on clubfoot: etiology and treatment. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2009;467(5):1146–53.
- Laaveg SJ, Ponseti IV. Long-term results of treatment of congenital club foot. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1980;62(1):23–31.
- Ponseti IV. Treatment of congenital club foot. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1992; 74(3):448–54.
- Grimes CE, Holmer H, Maraka J, Ayana B, Hansen L, Lavy CBD. Costeffectiveness of club-foot treatment in low-income and middle-income countries by the Ponseti method. BMJ Global Health. 2016;1(1):e000023.
- Tindall AJ, Steinlechner CW, Lavy CB, Mannion S, Mkandawire N. Results of manipulation of idiopathic clubfoot deformity in Malawi by orthopaedic clinical officers using the Ponseti method: a realistic alternative for the developing world? J Pediatr Orthop. 2005;25(5):627–9.
- Ponseti IV. Relapsing clubfoot: causes, prevention, and treatment. Iowa Orthop J. 2002;22:55–6.
- Shabtai L, Specht SC, Herzenberg JE. Worldwide spread of the Ponseti method for clubfoot. World J Orthop. 2014;5(5):585–90.
- WHO. Framework for Action on Interprofessional Education & Collaborative Practice In: Diana Hopkins FE, Geneva Switzerland, editor. Health Professions Networks Nursing & Midwifery Hum Resour Health Geneva 2010.
- Frenk J, Chen L, Bhutta ZA, Cohen J, Crisp N, Evans T. Health professionals for a new century: transforming education to strengthen health systems in an interdependent world. Lancet. 2010;376(9756):1923–58.

- Cancedda C, Farmer PE, Kerry V, Nuthulaganti T, Scott KW, Goosby E, et al. Maximizing the impact of training initiatives for health professionals in lowincome countries: frameworks, challenges, and best practices. PLoS Med. 2015;12(6):e1001840.
- Larkan F, Uduma O, Lawal SA, van Bavel B. Developing a framework for successful research partnerships in global health. Glob Health. 2016;12(1):17.
- 12. Adams LV, Wagner CM, Nutt CT, Binagwaho A. The future of global health education: training for equity in global health. BMC Med Educ. 2016;16(1):296.
- Acharya B, Maru D, Schwarz R, Citrin D, Tenpa J, Hirachan S, et al. Partnerships in mental healthcare service delivery in low-resource settings: developing an innovative network in rural Nepal. Glob Health. 2017;13(1):2.
- 14. Olapade-Olaopa EO, Baird S, Kiguli-Malwadde E, Kolars JC. Growing partnerships: leveraging the power of collaboration through the medical education partnership initiative. Acad Med. 2014;89:519–23.
- Celletti F, Reynolds TA, Wright A, Stoertz A, Dayrit M. Educating a new generation of doctors to improve the health of populations in low- and middle-income countries. PLoS Med. 2011;8(10):e1001108.
- Rowe AK, de Savigny D, Lanata CF, Victora CG. How can we achieve and maintain high-quality performance of health workers in low-resource settings? Lancet. 2005;366(9490):1026–35.
- Hill Z, Manu A, Tawiah-Agyemang C, Gyan T, Turner K, Weobong B, et al. How did formative research inform the development of a home-based neonatal care intervention in rural Ghana? J Perinatol. 2008;28(Suppl 2):S38–45.
- Worthen B, Sanders J. Educational evaluation: alternative approaches and practical guidelines. New York: Longman; 1987.
- Dehar M-A, Casswell S, Duignan P. Formative and process evaluation of health promotion and disease prevention programs. Eval Rev. 1993;17(2): 204–20.
- 20. Eseryel D. Approaches to evaluation of training. Educ Technol Soc. 2002;5(2):93–8.
- 21. Bushnell D. Input, process, output: a model for evaluating training. Train Dev J. 1990;44(3)
- 22. Grant MJ, Booth A. A typology of reviews: an analysis of 14 review types and associated methodologies. Health Inf Libr J. 2009;26(2):91–108.
- Shannon S. Adult learning and CME. Lancet (London, England). 2003; 361(9353):266.
- 24. Böhm S, Sinclair M. Report of the 1st European consensus meeting on Ponseti clubfoot treatment. J Child Orthop. 2013;7(3):251–4.
- Lasker RD, Weiss ES, Miller R. Partnership synergy: a practical framework for studying and strengthening the collaborative advantage. Milbank Q. 2001;79
- Boydell LR, Rugkasa J. Benefits of working in partnership: a model. Crit Public Health. 2007;17(2):179–205.
- Gruppen LD, Mangrulkar RS, Kolars JC. The promise of competency-based education in the health professions for improving global health. Hum Resour Health. 2012;10:43.
- Beran D, Aebischer Perone S, Alcoba G, Bischoff A, Bussien C-L, Eperon G, et al. Partnerships in global health and collaborative governance: lessons learnt from the division of tropical and humanitarian medicine at the Geneva University Hospitals. Glob Health. 2016;12(1):14.
- Curtis V, Kanki B, Cousens S, Sanou A, Diallo I, Mertens T. Dirt and diarrhoea: formative research in hygiene promotion programmes. Health Policy Plan. 1997;12(2):122–31.
- Lund C, Tomlinson M, De Silva M, Fekadu A, Shidhaye R, Jordans M, et al. PRIME: a programme to reduce the treatment gap for mental disorders in five low- and middle-income countries. PLoS Med. 2012;9(12):e1001359.

#### Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

#### At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions



# Additional File 1. Survey on current training practices

# 1. Please tell us about your experiences of conducting Ponseti training...

How many Ponseti training courses have you been a trainer on in the past? What level of Ponseti courses have you taught? (beginner/advanced courses, or both) Which countries were the Ponseti courses held in?

# **2. When delivering Ponseti courses, what training materials have you used?** GCI training materials

Your own training materials

Other training materials (Please specify below)

# 3. If you have used the GCI training materials please comment on how they could be improved.

# 4. In your experiences of training, what is the best format to deliver a Ponseti training course:

1-part course: Teach all theoretical and practical aspects at once

2-part course: Start with a preliminary 'beginners course' followed by an 'advanced' or 'refresher' course some time later.

Comments

5. If you were to deliver a 2-part course starting with a preliminary 'beginners course' followed by an 'advanced' or 'refresher' course what modules should be included in each course:

Please suggest any additional modules that should be included

6. What 'red flags' or potential complications of treatment would you make course participants aware of during a beginner's course? (tick all that apply) Atypical or complex appearance and features

Cast slips

Casting sores

Under-correction of the foot

Over-correction of the foot

Casting errors such as pronating or pushing the foot into dorsiflexion

Relapse of foot deformity

Patient dropping out of treatment

Others (please list below in comments box)

Other (please specify)

# 7. What hands-on practice elements should be included in a Ponseti course? (tick all that apply)

Practice manipulation on clubfoot skeleton models

Manipulation and casting using rubber foot models

Manipulation and casting on patients

Brace fitting on patients

Pirani scoring on patients

Any other practical exercises you would recommend? (please list in the comments box below)

Other (please specify)

8. Ponseti course practicals...

For practical exercises, what is the ideal number of trainees per trainer?

How many children should each person practice casting on, ideally?

# 9. Is a 2-3 day Ponseti course with theoretical and practical elements sufficient for participants to learn how to apply the Ponseti technique effectively? Yes/No

If not, what additional elements would you suggest?

10. Do you have any other comments or suggestions on the best ways to deliver training in the Ponseti technique?

# Additional File 2. Considerations for equipment and location

- Choice of course location and venue : consider regional versus central, cost, space for both lectures and practicals, noise, ease of catering, accommodation nearby, experts
- 2. Create an agenda that is realistic, allowing for set-up time each day, breaks, travel times, practical sessions, debriefing
- 3. Organize equipment projector, laptop, power blocks, flipcharts, buckets, plinths, scissors, plaster cutters
- 4. Organize consumables plaster, padding, braces, gloves, tenotomy supplies
- 5. Organize resources electronic copy of slides, manuals, handouts, blank patient records, certificates of attendance
- 6. Set up the day before the course room set-up, check equipment is working, organize handouts / manuals / stationery, ensure course materials are on laptop, consider layout / equipment for different sessions
- 7. Consider publicity / media for the course
- 8. Organize accommodation, catering, and transport
- Arrange a faculty / team meeting before the course allocate topics / sessions / roles:
  - a. Course leader
  - b. Timekeeping and liaise with catering team
  - c. Allocated instructor for each session
  - d. Preparation for practical sessions including group sizes and room layout (before course and on the day)
  - e. Technical support (computers)
  - f. Invitations, registration, and paperwork
  - g. Giving each other feedback
  - h. Coordinating patients and families
  - i. Set-up and set-down

# Additional File 3: Example of the Basic Provider Course MCQ

# Basic Ponseti Provider Course – Multiple Choice Questionnaire (MCQ)

There are 12 questions, with 1 correct answer for each question. There is no negative marking. Please answer every question, and guess the correct answer if you are not sure.

- 1. Which of the following is not a clinical component of clubfoot?
  - A. Equinus
  - B. Abductus
  - C. Varus
  - D. Cavus
- 2. Which of the following is not a goal of the Ponseti Method?
  - A. A functional foot
  - B. A plantargrade foot
  - C. To use modified shoes
  - D. A painfree foot
- 3. According to the Pirani score, when should a tenotomy be performed?
  - A. When the midfoot score is more than 1
  - B. When the midfoot score is 0
  - C. When the hindfoot score is 0
  - D. When the lateral head of talus score is 1
- 4. Which of the following is not assessed in the Pirani score?
  - A. Posterior Crease
  - B. Empty Heel
  - C. Degrees of Abduction
  - D. Medial Crease

5. Which combination of elements are required by the Ponseti method to successfully manage a clubfoot?

- A. Manipulation and foot abduction brace
- B. Manipulation, casting, Achilles tendon tenotomy and foot abduction brace
- C. Casting and Achilles tendon tenotomy
- D. Manipulation, casting and Achilles tendon tenotomy
- 6. What is the Pirani score NOT helpful for?
  - A. Using a common language to discuss patients with other clubfoot providers
  - B. Informing your next treatment
  - C. Deciding when to discharge your patient
  - D. Monitoring correction of deformity
- 7. Which is NOT required for successful Ponseti casting?
  - A. Discussing the care of the cast with parents
  - B. An aim for the cast
  - C. Two people to cast
  - D. Manipulation of the foot after casting

- 8. Why is moulding of the cast important?
  - A. To make the cast look nice for the parents
  - B. To keep the manipulated position of the foot
  - C. To give you something to do as the cast dries
  - D. To strengthen the cast so that the child can walk on it
- 9. What position does the first Ponseti cast maintain?
  - A. Dorsiflexion of the ankle
  - B. Abduction
  - C. Pronation
  - D. Supination
- 10. What deformity of clubfoot does the first Ponseti cast correct?
  - A. Adductus
  - B. Cavus
  - C. Equinus
  - D. Varus

11. The 'lateral head' of which bone is the fulcrum for manipulation with the Ponseti method?

- A. Calcaneum
- B. Lateral Malleolus
- C. Navicular
- D. Talus

12. What is INCORRECT in your assessment of brace quality?

The brace should have:

- A. Shoes attached to bar at 50° abduction
- B. Dorsiflexion of 10°-15°
- C. A well rounded heel cup
- D. An inspection hole on the medial side

Course	Components
Basic Provider Course	Introduction to clubfoot and Ponseti management
	Anatomy and definitions
	Pirani score
	Clubfoot Deformity and Ponseti method of manipulation
	Practical session with rubber and skeletal models
	Applying Ponseti casts
	Demonstration of Pirani score and casting on 2 children
	Practical session with casting on rubber models
	Tenotomy
	Bracing and relapse
	Practical session on assessment
	Manipulation and casting on patients
	Practical session on brace fitting and tenotomy
	When to stop and re-think treatment
Advanced Non-surgical Clubfoot Treatment Course	Review of clubfoot management (Ponseti Method)
	Why the method works (alternative hand holds and kinematic coupling)
	Practical exercises with skeletal models
	Common errors
	Atypical cases including video and case study
	Management of recurrence
	Treating older children
	Syndromic cases
	Practical exercises with casting on rubber models
	Group assessment of patients and formulation of treatment plant
	Demonstration of treatment on patients
	Clinic and treatment quality
	Parent education and adherence

# Additional File 4. Finalised training course components

# Additional File 5. Skills checklist

Training skills	skills Skills demonstrated under		erved	Comments
check	supervision	Yes	No	Comments
Discuss Ponseti	Uses demonstration or descriptions to communicate to			
treatment	parents			
with parents	Discusses the plan for treatment			
	Asks if the parents have questions			
Assessment Pirani score	Completes entire Pirani score form including date and initials			
	Interprets and analyses findings to establish treatment plan			
Manipulation of child's foot	Good position of child and parent			
	Identifies lateral head of talus, correct handhold			
	Manipulates foot into accurate position to correct deformity			
	Uses gentle handling, 'soft hands'			
Casting of	Cast over toes			
child's foot	Lower half of cast applied first			
	Cast up to groin and gluteal fold			
	Moulds cast until dry			
	Knee at 90 degrees			
	Toes visible in casts			
	Regular talking with moulder			
Application of brace	Correct measurement of foot and selection of brace			
	Looks at heel cup to ensure heel is in brace correctly			
	Accurately conveys information regarding relapse			
	Makes appointment for review of brace			

# Additional File 6: Acknowledgements

The multi-disciplinary ACT team involved in assembling, writing, piloting, reviewing and rewriting the material includes:

Endashaw Abera, Kinfe Araya, William Guy Atherton, Birhanu Ayana, Ryan Bathurst, Rachel Buckingham, Alexis Buunaaim, John Cashman, Christopher Carter, Augustine B. Chiewolo, Sandram Chimangeni, Naomi Davis, Marieke Dreise, , Roderick Duncan, Mesfin Etsub, Jennifer Everhart, Solomon Fasika Demissie, Gregory Firth, Rick Gardner, Prosper Guo-Moh, Ben Gwilliam, Lin Habimana, Soeur Odette Habimana, Jean Claude Habyarimana, Linda Hansen, Moussa Moise Henri Martin, Alison Hulme, Nathaniel Sallu Kargbo, Stephen Kariuki, Christian Katembo Kamavu, Kakule Katenge Joseph, Pascal Kayishema, Simplice Kighoma Vuhaka, Charles V. Alain Kinkpé, Peter Klungsøyr, Joseph Korpisah, Koffi Kouwekou, Giorgio Lastroni, Chris Lavy, Grace Le, Benjamin Lwayivweka Ngahangondi, Chouchou Safi Matsoro, Deborah McMillan, Samuel Maina, Paul Mang'oli, Stephen Mannion, Osman Ibrahim Mohamud, Karen Moss, Ilho Moyo, Debra Mudariki, Ibrahim Issaka Niandou, Isidor Ngayomela, Marie-Caroline Nogaro, Tim Nunn, Henry Ndasi, Jean-François Negrini, André Georges Nguene Nyemb, Emmanuel Nsengiyumva, Isaac Otieno, Rosalind Owen, Safalao Phalira, Norgrove Penny, Rebecca Radcliffe, Scott Reichenbach, Sampson Sarpong-Peprah, Prem Saggurthi, Peter Matthias Schmauch, Jana Shih, Kamwanda Sililo, Tracey Smythe, Michiel Steenbeek, Unisa A Tarawallie, Tim Theologis, Joseph Theuri, Tewodros Tilahun, Tchaa Hodabalo Towoezim, Michael Uglow, Esperance Uwizeye, Bernard Uzabakiriho, Andrew Wainwright, Situmbeko Wambulawae, Denise Watson and Kagnew Wubishet.

In developing these materials we acknowledge the foundational work of many individuals over the years that the Ponseti technique has been practiced in Africa. We are very grateful for material shared by many in the group above, and we also thank the following for a combination of expertise, advice, inspiration and photographs: CBM, Winfried Danke, Fred Dietz, Matthew Dobbs, Marieke Dreise, Bryce Flurie, Vikas Gupta, John Herzenberg, Iris Lohan, A F Lourenco, Colin MacFarlane, Jennifer McCahill, José Morcuende, Vince Mosca, Monica Noguiera, Norgrove Penny, Shafique Pirani, Ignacio Ponseti, David Scher, Marc Sinclair, David Spiegel, Lynne Staheli, Michiel Steenbeek, UK Clubfoot Consensus Group, Miraclefeet and Walk for Life Bangladesh

# Epilogue (Main findings and limitations)

Fifty-one regional trainers and 113 national clubfoot therapists (Ethiopia, Rwanda and Kenya) were trained through the course development.

The final curriculum and content of the two-day basic course (BPC) focuses on a problem solving approach with group work and practical exercises to promote the application of learned techniques.

The advanced course was designed to build on the knowledge, competence and opportunities for mentoring that were developed through the BPC.

Limitations to the study include survey participants that were self-selected and therefore selection bias cannot be ruled out. The authors were closely involved in the implementation of the ACT project and in the development of the manuscript, which may lead to observer bias in the results of this study.

A further limitation of the evaluation of this training is the absence of a pass/fail competency. Instead, a skills checklist was developed to allow follow-up mentoring of novice providers.

Chapter 12. The feasibility of a training course for clubfoot treatment in Africa: a mixed methods study



Practising casting with rubber models in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia

# Preamble

Process data from the ACT project was important to understand the delivery of an appropriate and suitable training course for clubfoot therapists. This training programme includes standard elements and continued mentorship, and has the potential to contribute to improving treatment of clubfoot in children. Information on the feasibility of the training programme in Africa and evaluation of shortterm outcomes is required to assess implications for training effectiveness and scale up.

We undertook a prospective, mixed methods evaluation of the ACT project that was based on a model designed to assess the feasibility of public health interventions (Bowen et al 2010). The model includes eight facets of feasibility: acceptability, demand, implementation, practicality, adaption, integration, expansion and limited efficacy.

This chapter includes a feasibility study of the ACT project that builds on the learning points for course development (Chapter 11). It presents the short-term results and outcomes of a training programme for clubfoot therapists in Africa and makes recommendations for implementation.

This research paper was submitted to the journal PLoS ONE in March 2018 and is undergoing peer review.



Registry

T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@ishtm.ac.uk

# **RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET**

# **SECTION A – Student Details**

Student	Tracey Heather Smythe
Principal Supervisor	Professor Allen Foster
Thesis Title	Evidence to improve clubfoot services in Africa with Zimbabwe as a case study

# SECTION B - Paper already published

Where was the work published?		
When was the work published?		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	n/a	
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*		Was the work subject to academic peer review?

\*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

# SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	PLOS ONE
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	Smythe T, Owen R, Le G, Uwizeye E, Hansen L, Lavy C
Stage of publication	Submitted

# SECTION D – Multi-authored work

	For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)		I co-designed the data collection tools, extracted the quantitative data, completed quantitative data analysis, drafted the manuscript, prepared the subsequent revisions with consideration of comments from co-authors	
S	Student Signature:	$\sim$	Date: _	9/5/18
S	Supervisor Signature: A. H.		Date: _	9/5/18
lı	mproving health worldwide		t construir s	www.lshtm.ac.uk

www.isntm.ac.uk

# The feasibility of a training course for clubfoot treatment in Africa: a

# mixed methods study

Tracey Smythe, Rosalind Owen, Grace Le, Esperance Uwizeye, Linda Hansen,

Christopher Lavy

Authors:

Tracey Smythe<sup>1</sup>, <u>tracey.smythe@lshtm.ac.uk</u>

Rosalind Owen<sup>2</sup>, rosalind.owen@globalclubfoot.org

Grace Le<sup>3</sup>, <u>grace.le@ndorms.ox.ac.uk</u>

Esperance Uwizeye<sup>4</sup>, <u>esperance.uwizeye@cureinternational.org</u>

Linda Hansen<sup>5</sup>, linda.hansen@cureinternational.org

Christopher Lavy<sup>3</sup>, <u>chris.lavy@ndorms.ox.ac.uk</u>

<sup>1</sup> International Centre for Evidence in Disability, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine

<sup>2</sup> Global Clubfoot Initiative, London, UK

<sup>3</sup>Nuffield Department of Orthopaedics, Rheumatology and Musculoskeletal

Sciences, University of Oxford, UK

<sup>4</sup> CURE International, Kigali, Rwanda

<sup>5</sup> CURE International, Beit CURE Hospital, Lusaka, Zambia

Corresponding Author: Tracey Smythe International Centre for Evidence in Disability, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street London WC1E7HT Tel: +44 (0) 2079 588348 **Target Journal**: PLoS ONE **Figures**: 2 Abstract 274 words, Text 3,098 words Funders: Scholarship awarded to TS by The Beit Trust and ZANE.

# Abstract

## Background

There is no available training programme with standard elements for health workers treating clubfoot in Africa. Standardised training with continued mentorship has the potential to improve management of clubfoot. We aimed to evaluate the feasibility of such a training programme among clubfoot providers in Africa, and assess implications for training effectiveness and scale up.

## Method

We used participatory research with trainers from 18 countries in Africa over two years to devise, pilot and refine a 2-day basic and a 2-day advanced clubfoot treatment course. (The Africa Clubfoot Training or 'ACT' Course.) The pilots involved training 113 participants. Mixed methods (both qualitative and quantitative) were used for evaluation. We describe and synthesise the results using the eight elements proposed by Bowen et al (2010) to assess feasibility. All participants completed feedback questionnaires, and interviews were conducted with a subset of participants. We undertook a narrative description of themes raised in the participant questionnaires and interviews. Descriptive statistics were used to compare pre- and post-course scores for confidence and knowledge.

# Results

113 participants completed pre and post-course measures (response rate 100%). Mean participant confidence increased from 63% (95%CI: 59 – 69%) to 88% (95%CI: 86 – 90%) post course. Mean participant knowledge increased from 55% (95%CI: 51 – 60%) to 78% (95%CI: 76 – 81%) post course. No difference was found in mean for either subscale of cadre or sex. The qualitative analysis generated themes under four domains: 'practical learning in groups', 'interactive learning', 'relationship with the trainer' and 'ongoing supervision and mentorship'

# Conclusion

The Africa Clubfoot Training package to teach health care workers to manage clubfoot is likely to be feasible in Africa. Future work should evaluate its impact on short and long term treatment outcomes and a process evaluation of implementation is required.

# Introduction

Clubfoot is a common congenital disorder that causes mobility impairment if untreated. The Ponseti method for clubfoot management is recommended for the correction of the fixed foot deformity [1] and can be effectively delivered by mid-level personnel [2]. The treatment consists of sequential correction of the deformity through manipulation and casting, with a tenotomy in most cases, followed by the use of a foot abduction brace to maintain correction [3]. To date, no structured training programme with standard elements exists in Africa.

General strategies to improve clinical practice include didactic teaching, printed educational materials, audit and feedback, interactive workshops, use of local opinion leaders and computerised decision support systems. The effects of these interventions vary from minor to moderately large [4]. There is limited exploration of the development of training for clubfoot providers in the literature, with existing research largely restricted to outcomes of treatment. Evidence suggests that multifaceted training strategies have a higher efficacy, particularly when tailored to address specific barriers and settings [5] and the development of the Africa Clubfoot Training (ACT) project was therefore underpinned by adult learning theory, which is essentially experiential [6, 7].

Our preliminary research suggested that the training developed for clubfoot treatment providers should include a more basic and repetitive introductory element, understandable learning outcomes, practical skill development and elements to improve problem solving [8]. Pre-existing training materials were deemed by users to be too complex for mid-level learners and to contain an excess of information. The materials were thought to be confusing in the way that complex clinical theories (such as kinematic coupling) were presented to participants with a lower level of anatomical knowledge, and to provide insufficient links between assessment and treatment. The challenges of teaching mixed cadres of clinicians were noted, as well as the need for a clearly structured learning experience. The resulting ACT course therefore included two-day basic and advanced training courses, which consist of large group presentations, small group discussions, practical exercises and problem solving scenarios, and a training of trainers course. The content of the basic and the advanced course is included in Supplementary Information files (S1 and S2 files respectively). Materials included training manuals, presentation slides, videos, practical exercises and guidelines for supervision and mentoring.

The feasibility of such training has not previously been reported. Understanding the

PhD Thesis

feasibility of delivering the training, and the experiences of participants is crucial for the intervention to be effective beyond the pilot phase. To address this gap, we aimed to evaluate the development of the ACT course.

# Method

# Study Design

We conducted a mixed methods evaluation between March 2015 and February 2017, based on a model proposed by Bowen et al (2010). The model is designed to assess the feasibility of public health interventions [9] and we evaluated the training from the eight facets of acceptability, demand, implementation, practicality, adaption, integration, expansion and limited efficacy. We evaluated both qualitative and quantitative data to gain a deeper understanding of the research findings.

## Setting

Participants were clubfoot treatment providers from Ethiopia, Rwanda, the UK and Kenya. Trainers were international experts and Anglophone and Francophone regional trainers from throughout Africa. The training materials were appraised on nine occasions. The Basic Provider Course (BPC) was trialled four times (Ethiopia x3, Rwanda x1) and the Advanced Provider Course (APC) was trialled five times (Ethiopia x2, UK x1, Kenya x2)

## Recruitment

All participants were sent information about the training prior to the start. There were no exclusion criteria and we invited all participants attending the training to participate in the evaluation.

## Data collection

The extensive needs analysis and project planning, including the project funding application and minutes from the project team meetings, provided contextual background to inform our training design and application. The needs analysis included mapping of existing clubfoot service delivery and training opportunities, and information collected from key stakeholders including national and regional clubfoot programme directors, existing trainers and clubfoot service providers, and discussion with parents.

Semi-structured interviews with key informants and trainers started prior to the first training and continued throughout all nine training courses. The interviews undertaken with participants in the training courses were lightly structured and allowed

respondents to express in their own ways and pace. The interview schedule was subdivided into three parts:

(i) Questions concerning the process and structure of the training, to understand the demand for and acceptability of the training;

(ii) General questions about practical training opportunities to identify relevant activities to implement;

(iii) Specific questions about gaining knowledge and skills, to inform how to integrate mentoring.

Participants completed paper questionnaires by hand pre- and post-training. The key sections in the questionnaires included: participant demographics, the ranking of seven aspects of the course from most to least important, the most useful thing that was learned on the course and how to improve the materials. The questionnaires also included pre- and post-training confidence and knowledge on management of clubfoot. The confidence question format was statements to be scored on a five point Likert scale, ranging from "not at all confident" to "completely confident", and the knowledge section was a single correct answer multiple choice question. A repeated-measures design examined changes immediately after the training session. Satisfaction questions were included on the end line questionnaire (S3: Pre and post training questionnaire).

National clubfoot supervisors completed a paper based skills checklist (S4: Skills checklist) in routine supervision visits to the participant's clinic within three months of completing the course (Ethiopia and Rwanda).

A six-month follow up electronic survey was sent to all regional trainers who participated in the ACT courses held in January and July 2016 to understand uptake.

# Data management and analysis

Two researchers in Public Health collated the responses to the open-ended questions into a word document and undertook a qualitative content analysis using the questions as the codes; similar responses were grouped, groups were titled and the number of responses counted. Using conventional content analysis, coding groups were derived directly from the text data [10]. We analysed satisfaction questions thematically and undertook a narrative description of themes raised in trainer questionnaires, interviews and the electronic survey. As the pilot training courses were conducted over a number of months, with the materials being revised after each pilot, the themes were examined for evidence of change over time in the participants' perceptions of the training. All quantitative data were entered into a Microsoft Excel 2000 (Microsoft Inc., Redmond, Washington) software package and managed and analysed data using Stata 14.2 (StataCorp 4905, Lakeway Drive College Station, Texas 77845, USA). Categorical and nominal/ordinal data were analysed using simple descriptive statistics, including calculation of proportions, and exploration of a comparative analysis of cadre (background of participant) and sex was undertaken. Linear regression was then used to examine the associations between post-test score and the variable of interest (cadre and sex) after adjustment for pre-test score. For the composite confidence score, all participants' Likert scale scores were added together, and the means and standard deviations (SD) were calculated.

Detailed descriptive statistics for the participants are provided in our research that reports on the development of the training course [8] and included in S5: descriptive statistics of participants.

# Ethics

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, ref:10412 /RR/3466. Informed written consent was obtained from all participants.

# Results

# Acceptability

The content of the training materials and style of learning were found to be effective and appreciated by participants.

'this was exactly the material that I needed to advance my knowledge at this stage'. (Participant, Advanced Course)

Participant satisfaction improved when the limitations and parameters of the course were explained clearly in advance, as this allowed participants to manage their own expectations of the course.

Initial discussions on content resulted in debates on some areas, for example, on how much to correct a clubfoot before scoring its severity, about which there is little in the published literature. Contentious points were recorded and discussed with all stakeholders and consensus gained on presentation in the training [8]. In the final pilot courses, these consensus points were presented without generating much discussion, indicating their acceptability to the users.

The programme deliverers determined the training to be suitable through direct observation of engaged participants; supervision was provided by trainers (ratio of 1 trainer to 4 participants), which assisted the consistent engagement of all participants. The training approaches were found to be highly acceptable to participants, with several commenting that they appreciated the time for building relationships with the trainers and the informal learning and mentoring that occurred during the course.

The opportunity for hands on practical training was valued:

*'Faculty with good physical dexterity, explained well positioning of the thumb, index and middle finger while correcting.' –* Participant casting on model legs

However, in the final versions of the training, when timing that allowed for practical sessions was maximised, requests from participants to have more hands on practice remained.

Some practical sessions included treatment of children with clubfoot. The factors that reduced acceptability for families included: insufficient explanation to parents, crowding of participants, taking photographs without permission, and parents' embarrassment in being questioned in front of a large group. Clear guidance to manage these situations was subsequently developed in response.

# Demand

The needs analysis and pre-ACT consultation with existing trainers revealed a high level of demand for the development of a standardised training course. Emphasis on supervision and mentoring was built into all components of the training course, as identified in the needs analysis and requested by users. The majority of participants requested follow up training:

"very useful and will definitely help us...repeat training is necessary" (Participant quotation).

Participants requested that a training structure be developed in their country so that regular refresher training and advanced training is available, and that their colleagues attend future courses.

# Implementation

Trainers reported the challenge of presenting materials that they themselves had not written, and the need for very clear guidance around the topics to cover when delivering each section of the training, the timings of each component and the

instructions for interactive and practical sessions. As this guidance was refined, trainers' satisfaction with the materials improved. Participants noted that the training delivery was aided with an identified course leader to direct each course; specific guidance for course leaders was developed and included in the training materials, and mentoring by more experienced trainers was given to new course leaders of ACT courses, to develop local course leadership capacity.

## Practicality

Environmental considerations for the training include adequate space, audio-visual equipment, ventilation, accommodation and refreshments. Participants reported that these issues played a very important role in the learning experience overall. Much organisation and support of local administration staff was required to identify appropriate participants and children with clubfoot and to assist in the daily running of the training course, the implementation of which was not assessed outside of the nine pilots. In addition, the increased volume of children for the clubfoot programmes after the training required consideration of local staffing requirements to absorb additional cases.

# Adaption

The course materials were piloted in English in Ethiopia, Kenya and UK and in French in Rwanda, and provided many opportunities to consider both local contexts and their more global applications. After the initial pilots, trainers noted that some of the more active learning styles were less familiar to many local participants. The materials were designed to support an interactive and practical skills-based learning experience, including small group discussions, problem-based learning, case studies, teaching of practical skills, reflexive practice, action planning, using evaluation tools, and structured feedback on teaching, practical and communication skills. Ten clear and memorable key 'take-home' messages for the basic course were identified and agreed by the development team that were actively repeated and reinforced through the course. Trainers and participants reported enjoying using a variety of learning styles and finding these beneficial.

This training was provided to mixed groups of professionals and had the potential to lead to tensions due to medical hierarchies. Cadres of lead trainers were therefore mixed to model good relationships and communication, e.g. between physiotherapists and orthopaedic surgeons. In some cases, specific instructions were given to overcome professional boundaries that might affect treatment quality – e.g. any

clinician assisting a tenotomy was encouraged by the surgeon trainer to prompt the surgeon if the tenotomy was not considered to be complete.

# Integration

16/35 (45.7%) of national trainers responded to the electronic survey sent at six months following attendance at either the January or July 2016 pilots. All (100%) of the respondents reported that they had been involved in training other healthcare workers in clubfoot treatment and used the materials provided. This included workshops, courses and lectures and the majority of trainers had trained between 16 and 25 providers in this time.13/16 (81%) of the trainers had been involved in mentoring other healthcare workers.

The respondents noted that the materials for the course facilitated change in the way that they teach, and the most commonly reported change involved the way of teaching a practical skill. All trainers wanted to integrate the ACT materials into their current training programme. Reasons given included the simplicity of the theoretical and practical material, that the materials underwent many reviews with stakeholders, that principles of adult learning are incorporated, and that the standardised approach is useful.

# Expansion

Training with the ACT materials occurred in 20 countries (Burkina Faso, Burundi, Cameroon, Congo-Brazzaville, DRC, Ethiopia, Ghana, Guinea Bissau, Kenya, Madagascar, Malawi, Niger, Rwanda, Senegal, South Africa, Tanzania, Togo, Uganda, Zambia, and Zimbabwe) between April 2017 and February 2018. The training augmented existing regional programmes in these countries and program co-ordinators were encouraged to formalise the continuing professional development (CPD) gained through the ACT course on a local level. However, challenges include trainers not recruiting enough cases for the training, and requests to deliver the advanced course directly after the basic course with the same participants, as well as not understanding exactly what materials are needed to deliver the training.

# Limited efficacy

The BPC training elicited change in the knowledge and confidence of the participants. Mean participant confidence increased from 63% (95%CI: 59 – 69%) to 88% (95%CI: 86 – 90%) post course. Mean participant knowledge increased from 55% (95%CI: 51 – 60%) to 78% (95%CI: 76 – 81%) post course. (Figs 1 and 2).


Fig 1: Pre- and post-course self-reported confidence as reported by cadre



Fig 2: Pre- and post-course knowledge performance by cadre

There was no evidence for a difference between sex in confidence or knowledge when cadre was accounted for.

All participants practiced manipulation and casting on rubber models prior to the supervised treatment of children with clubfoot. The following comment reveals how a patient demonstration enabled a participant to improve their clinical reasoning skills:

'Live demonstration of the whole process from history taking to treatment was a good experience...has improved my professional judgement.'

The ACT training may contribute to the successful supervised treatment of children with clubfoot (Ponseti method), even though the pilots were undertaken in a highly controlled setting.

Twenty-five participants who attended the clubfoot provider courses in Ethiopia were observed in their clinics. Over 80% (21/25) correctly assessed the clubfoot with the Pirani score and 92% (23/25) correctly manipulated the clubfoot. 22/23 health care workers met the criteria for correct application of braces. Participants met the fewest criteria in relation to discussing the Ponseti treatment with parents. Twenty participants who attended the clubfoot provider courses in Rwanda were observed in their clinics. Nineteen (95%) participants correctly assessed the clubfoot with the Pirani score and 17 (85%) correctly manipulated the clubfoot. 18 (90%) of the clubfoot providers met the criteria for correct application of braces. Supervisory notes identified one healthcare worker whom required additional support and assistance in several areas and a supervisory plan was initiated.

#### Discussion

This study evaluates participant, trainer and stakeholder responses to the training of clubfoot providers through Africa. Participants expressed enthusiasm and a high acceptability of the program, which they attributed to its clear purpose and the interpersonal interaction with the trainers. The role of an available trainer in direct observation and mentoring of the participants to give feedback and support cannot be overemphasized. Success is further indicated through the request of tertiary institutes in the UK to use the training materials.

The development of the training material required substantial organisation and commitment to trial the facilitated participatory training programme nine times. The combined use of quantitative data and qualitative findings produced a course design that was feasible and acceptable. Participants appreciated the final clinical content for being clear and well structured. The basic course content was distilled, with clear key messages. The advanced course introduced more complex concepts, clinical reasoning and opportunity to reflect on one's own practice.

The development of a skills checklist allowed the identification of opportunities to strengthen and improve clubfoot treatment in participants who attended clubfoot provider training. The breakdown of specific skills within the checklist allows for targeted mentoring. For example, although the overall casting of the child's foot was performed well, one area that consistently required improvement was casting over the

child's toes. In Rwanda, a high percentage of health care workers achieved all the criteria (>80%). Supervising individuals with the skills list allowed for the identification of one participant whom required assistance and closer mentoring.

#### Strengths and limitations

The methodology of this study allows a rich and deep understanding of the numerical data relating to the ACT, as well as the meaning that it had for both trainers and participants. This was a large prospective study that was situated in Anglophone and Francophone contexts. Study limitations include a short-term follow-up. The authors were closely involved in the implementation of the ACT project and in the development of the manuscript, which may lead to researcher bias. In addition, participants may have been reluctant to express their negative opinions or criticisms to the researchers since the interviewers were on the ACT development team. This study is not powered to detect a difference and there is no control group, however the figures for short-term improvement in knowledge and confidence indicate that this measure can be used in future training.

#### Lessons Learnt

Assessing our recruitment capability and resulting sample characteristics was important to determine if the training and future efficacy studies may be successful. Field notes and project team meeting notes were invaluable for the review of the content. Participants were eager to give feedback on the course materials and this provided an opportunity for ownership and engagement with the training course development. The selection of outcome measures was challenging and required continual assessment and re-evaluation. There was a need for clear instructions on how to run practical sessions in order to maximise their impact.

#### Implications and future steps

An understanding of the barriers to the success of delivering the training within individual country contexts is required for implementation, and opportunities to enhance the technology used in the training warrant further examination. Evaluation of the effectiveness of national training is required in future studies, in addition to studies that explore the retention of knowledge and confidence post-training. As countries cascade the training, the numbers of participants that complete training will increase. Recognising the growing global collaboration to decrease clubfoot as a disability by 2030 [11] and the heterogeneity of measurement and assessment, perhaps the time has come to draft globally agreed minimum standards similar to those for medical education programmes.

#### Conclusion

ACT has been received as a welcome addition to clubfoot treatment providers. Participants expressed high acceptability of the training, which they attributed to its clear purpose and guidance, convenience, and the interpersonal interaction with the trainers. The role of a supervisor, in direct observation of the participant, and dedicated mentoring that includes feedback and support, cannot be overemphasized. This is a particular challenge in low-resource countries due to the gap in services. The findings from this study are encouraging and merit further investigation in implementation process evaluations and larger clinical trials.

#### Acknowledgements:

The authors are grateful to the co-ordinators and organisers in Ethiopia, Rwanda, Kenya and the UK who facilitated training logistics. A further thanks to all of those who participated in the course, whose motivation and skills shaped the success of the project. We thank the Ethiopian Ministry of Health and Rwandan Ministry of Health and Human Resources for Health and the Ministry of Health for Kenya for their support of trainee attendance. We thank the ACT project Core Working Group, Africa Technical Advisory group, UK Technical Advisory group and the UK Clubfoot Consensus Group, without whose commitment and generosity, none of this project would have been possible. Lastly, we acknowledge and thank the multi-disciplinary ACT team involved in assembling, writing, piloting, reviewing and rewriting the ACT material.

#### **References**

1. Ponseti I, Smoley E. Congenital Club Foot: The Results of Treatment. JBJS. 1963;45(2):261-344.

 Harmer L, Rhatigan J. Clubfoot Care in Low-Income and Middle-Income Countries: From Clinical Innovation to a Public Health Program. World Journal of Surgery. 2014;38(4):839-48.
 Laaveg SJ, Ponseti IV. Long-term results of treatment of congenital club foot. JBJS. 1980;62(1):23-31.

4. Grimshaw JM, Thomas RE, MacLennan G, Fraser C, Ramsay CR, Vale L, et al. Effectiveness and efficiency of guideline dissemination and implementation strategies. Health Technol Assess. 2004;8(6):iii-iv, 1-72.

5. Forsetlund L, Bjorndal A, Rashidian A, Jamtvedt G, O'Brien MA, Wolf F, et al. Continuing education meetings and workshops: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2009(2):Cd003030.

6. Malcolm S. Knowles, Elwood F. Holton, Swanson RA. The Adult Learner : The Definitive Classic in Adult Education and Human Resource Development. London, UK: Taylor & Francis Ltd 2015.

7. Yardley S, Teunissen PW, Dornan T. Experiential learning: Transforming theory into practice. Medical Teacher. 2012;34(2):161-4.

8. Smythe T, Le G, Owen R, Ayana B, Hansen L, Lavy C. The development of a training course for clubfoot treatment in Africa: learning points for course development. BMC Medical Education. 2018;18(1):163. doi: 10.1186/s12909-018-1269-0.

9. Bowen DJ, Kreuter M, Spring B, Cofta-Woerpel L, Linnan L, Weiner D, et al. How We Design Feasibility Studies. American journal of preventive medicine. 2009;36(5):452-7.

10. Hsieh H-F, Shannon SE. Three Approaches to Qualitative Content Analysis. Qualitative Health Research. 2005;15(9):1277-88.

11. Global Clubfoot Initiative. Run Free 2030. Strategy report. <u>http://globalclubfoot.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Global-Clubfoot-Strategy-final-copy.pdf</u> Accessed 13/02/2018

# S1 Additional File: BPC Outline

# BASIC CLUBFOOT TREATMENT PROVIDER COURSE (BPC) TIMETABLE

Start	Mins	Number	Session	
			DAY 1	
08:00	30"		Registration	
08:30	15″	1	Day 1 Opening Session (Welcome, course overview, introductions, ice-breaker, & formation of small groups)	
08:45	15″	2	Pre-course Assessment	
09:00	30″	3	Introduction to Clubfoot and the Ponseti Method	
09:30	30″	4	Anatomy and Definitions	
10:00	20″	5	The Clubfoot Deformity – CAVE	
10:20	30″		Теа	
10:50	30″	6	How to Assess the Severity of a Clubfoot Using the Pirani Score	
11:20	40"	7	The Ponseti Method of Manipulation	
12:00	30"	8	Practical Session 1: Small group hands-on manipulation of rubber models and skeleton models	
12:30	45″		Lunch	
13:15	30″	9	Applying Clubfoot Casts	
13:45	45"	10	Practical Session 2: Demonstration of Pirani score and casting (with patients)	
14:30	15″	11	Room Set up for Practical Session 3	
14:45	30″		Теа	
15:15	90"	12	Practical Session 3: Casting on rubber models (in small groups of 3)	
16:45	30″	13	Practical Session 4: Ponseti video	
17:15	15″	14	Day 1 Closing Session	
			DAY 2	
08:30	20"	15	Day 2 Opening Session (Review)	
08:50	30"	16	The Tenotomy and When to Do it	
09:20	40"	17	Maintenance Phase: Bracing and Relapse	
10:00	30"		Теа	
10:30	150"	18	<b>Practical Session 5:</b> Pirani score, manipulation, and casting with patients (in small groups of 3 or 4)	
13:00	60"		Lunch	
14:00	90″	19	<b>Practical Session 6:</b> (Parallel session) Group 1: Brace fitting Group 2: Tenotomy (theory & practical)	
15:30	30"		Теа	

16:00	30″	20	When to Stop and Rethink Treatment	
16:30	15″	21	Post-course Assessment	
16:45	15″	22	Day 2 Closing Session (Review, evaluation forms, and certificates)	

# S2 Additional File: APC Outline

# ADVANCED NON-SURGICAL CLUBFOOT TREATMENT PROVIDER COURSE (APC) TIMETABLE

Start	Mins	Number	Session	Trainer
			DAY 1	
08:00	30"		Registration	
08:30	30″	1	Day 1 Opening Session (Welcome, course overview, & introductions)	
09:00	15″	2	Pre-course Assessment	
09:15	45″	3	A Review of the Ponseti Method for Idiopathic Clubfoot	
10:00	30″	4	Advanced Ponseti for Idiopathic Clubfoot	
10:30	30″		Теа	
11:00	45″	5	Common Errors in Clubfoot Management	
11:45	45″	6	Recognition and Treatment of Atypical Clubfoot (includes video)	
12:30	60"		Lunch	
13:30	45″	7	Recurrent Clubfoot	
14:15	45″	8	Treating Older Children	
15:00	30″		Теа	
15:30	90"	9	<ul><li>Practical Session 1:</li><li>1. Refresher of casting on rubber legs</li><li>2. Demonstration &amp; practice of new handholds &amp; atypical casting</li></ul>	
17:00	10"	10	Day 1 Closing Session	
			DAY 2	
08:30	15″	11	Day 2 Opening Session	
08:45	30″	12	Secondary Clubfoot	
09:15	15″	13	Briefing on Patients	
09:30	30″		Теа	
10:00	180"	14	Practical Session 2: Case discussions (with assessment of patients, if available)	
13:00	60″		Lunch	
14:00	60″	15	Parent Education and Support	
15:00	60"	16	Clubfoot Clinic Set-up and Quality	
16:00	15″		Теа	
16:15	15″	17	Post-course Assessment	
16:30	30"	18	Day 2 Closing Session (Review, evaluation forms, and certificates)	

# S3 Additional File 3: skills checklist

Training skills check	Skills demonstrated under	Observed		Comments
SKIIIS CHECK	supervision	Yes	No	-
Discuss Ponseti treatment	Uses demonstration or descriptions to communicate to parents			
with parents	Discusses the plan for treatment			
	Asks if the parents have questions			
Assessment with Pirani score	Completes entire Pirani score form including date and initials Interprets and analyses findings to establish treatment plan			
Manipulation of child's foot	Good position of child and parent			
	Identifies lateral head of talus, correct handhold			
	position to correct deformity			
	Uses gentle handling, 'soft hands'			
Casting of child's foot	Cast over toes			
	Moulds cast until dry			
	Lower half of cast applied first			
	Cast up to groin and gluteal fold			
	Knee at 90 degrees			
	Toes visible in casts			
	Regular talking with moulder			
Application of brace	Correct measurement of foot and selection of brace			
	Looks at heel cup to ensure heel is in brace correctly			
	Accurately conveys information regarding relapse			
	Makes appointment for review of brace			

## S4 Additional File: ACT pre training confidence questionnaires for BPC

#### 1. Enrolment

#### Please complete using CAPITAL letters

First Name:	
Surname/Family Name):	
Address:	
Email address:	
Mobile number including code:	
Age:	
Gender:	Male / Female
Gender: Course Location:	Male / Female
Gender: Course Location: Job title:	Male / Female
Gender: Course Location: Job title: Specialty:	Male / Female

#### 4. Please place 'X' next to the 1 statement that describes you best:

1. Never seen Ponseti method before	
2. Seen but never used the basic Ponseti method before	
3. Only used the Ponseti technique under supervision	
4. Treated simple clubfoot cases with Ponseti method	
5. Competent in Ponseti method and would like to check and enhance skills	

#### 5. Pre-Course Confidence

For each scenario in the table, please put a 'X' in the box that best applies to you

#### Scale of 1-5, where '1 = NOT confident at all' and '5 = Completely Confident'

	How confident are you to?	1	2	3	4	5
А	Assess a clubfoot using the Pirani score					
в	Treat a newborn child with clubfoot					
с	Treat a 6 year old child with clubfoot					
D	Manipulate a clubfoot using the Ponseti technique					
E	Talk to the parents about prognosis for clubfoot					
F	Apply a Ponseti POP cast to a clubfoot					
G	Fit a foot abduction brace and instruct parents on use					
н	Explain to someone how the bones are positioned in clubfoot					
I	Diagnose an "atypical" clubfoot					
J	Know when a tenotomy is needed					

#### ACT post course confidence BPC

2. Please RANK the follow aspects in the course, where '1' is MOST important, and '7' is the LEAST important

BASIC COURSE	
Manipulation using the skeletal models	
Casting on the rubber feet models	
Watching the Ponseti video	
Scoring and casting the feet of patients	
Brace-fitting and analysis	
Small group discussions	
Talking to trainers	

#### 3. Post-Course Confidence Matrix

For each scenario in the table, please put a 'X' in the box that best applies to you

Scale of 1-5, where '1	<ul> <li>NOT confident at all'</li> </ul>	' and '5 = Completely Confident'
------------------------	---	----------------------------------

	How confident are you to:	1	2	3	4	5
Α	Assess a clubfoot using the Pirani score					
В	Treat a newborn child with clubfoot					
С	Treat a 6 year old child with clubfoot					
D	Manipulate a clubfoot using the Ponseti technique					
E	Talk to the parents about prognosis for clubfoot					
F	Apply a POP cast to a clubfoot					
G	Fit a foot abduction brace and instruct parents on use					
н	Explain to someone how the bones are positioned in clubfoot					
I.	Diagnose an "atypical" clubfoot					
J	Know when a tenotomy is needed					

1. What was the most useful thing you have learned (or skill you have gained) during this course?

2. How could this course be improved? Please list 3 things.

- 1. 2.
- 3.

# Epilogue (Main findings and limitations)

Participants expressed high acceptability of the training, which they attributed to its clear purpose and guidance, and the interpersonal interaction with the trainers. The role of a supervisor, in direct observation of the participant and dedicated mentoring, contributed to the success of the training.

Twenty-five participants who attended the clubfoot provider courses in Ethiopia were observed in their clinics. Over 80% (21/25) correctly assessed the clubfoot with the Pirani score and 92% (23/25) correctly manipulated the clubfoot. 96% (22/23) clubfoot therapists met the criteria for correct application of braces.

Twenty participants who attended the clubfoot provider courses in Rwanda were observed in their clinics. 95% (19/20) clubfoot therapists correctly assessed the clubfoot with the Pirani score and 85% (17/20) correctly manipulated the clubfoot. 90% (18/20) clubfoot therapists met the criteria for correct application of braces.

Study limitations include (a) a short-term follow-up, (b) participants may have been reluctant to express their negative opinions or criticisms to the researchers since the interviewers were on the ACT development team, and (c) this study used a convenience sample size and was not powered to detect a difference in pre-post intervention knowledge and confidence.

# SECTION C DISCUSSION

# Chapter 13. Improving clubfoot services in Zimbabwe



Case study discussions in Kigali, Rwanda

This research aims to provide evidence to improve services for children with clubfoot in Africa. Synthesis of the evidence identified in the previous chapters is required to inform recommendations for improvements. However, no framework or method of evaluation is consistently used to analyse clubfoot services. Therefore in this chapter three approaches that are used to analyse health service pathways are presented. The use of these methods provides information on achievements and barriers to implementation of health services.

These approaches are used to analyse clubfoot service pathways in Zimbabwe. Limitations to each approach are considered.

Recommendations to improve clubfoot services in Africa are presented using evidence identified in the previous chapters and informed by the analysis of clubfoot service pathways and the case study of Zimbabwe.

## 13.1 The need

The Global Clubfoot Initiative (GCI) launched 'Run Free 2030' on 3<sup>rd</sup> June 2017, World Clubfoot Day. The strategic approach aims for 70% of children born with clubfoot in LMIC each year to access treatment, by 2030. With data provided by 55 countries in 2015, GCI estimated that 13% of children born with clubfoot in LMIC accessed treatment that year (1). Only ten (18%) of those countries (Bangladesh, Dominican Republic, El Salvador, Georgia, Honduras, Malawi, Namibia, Rwanda, Solomon Islands and Zimbabwe) provided a service that more than 50% of children born with clubfoot accessed within the year they were born. Therefore, the needs of children with clubfoot are not being fully met by health systems in LMIC.

We estimated the birth prevalence of clubfoot in Africa to be 1.11/1,000 live births (Chapter 4). Extrapolation to the population of Zimbabwe (16.15 million) with a crude birth rate of 33 live births/1,000 population (2), the number of children born per year with clubfoot in Zimbabwe is estimated to be 598. This assumes the birth prevalence of clubfoot is similar across Africa. In 2015, 307 children under the age of one year started clubfoot treatment in Zimbabwe (3). Therefore, 51% (307/598) of children in Zimbabwe with clubfoot access a clubfoot clinic for treatment at least once within their first year. The proportion of children that start treatment after the age of one year is unknown.

Of the children that access care, we calculated the proportion with long-term success was approximately 72% (Chapter 8), as defined by an ACT score of 9 or more. Adherence to treatment was defined in Chapter 9 as children attending clinic appointments for two years or more; adherence in the cohort in Zimbabwe was 56% of children that were followed up. However, considering the infant mortality rate (IMR) of Zimbabwe is 40 deaths/1,000 live births (4), assuming the IMR of children with clubfoot is similar to the national IMR, an estimated 24 children with clubfoot will die before one year of age.

In Figure 12 below, these estimates are presented diagrammatically. The figure demonstrates the number of children with clubfoot born per year in relation to the number of children that will be in care between the ages of 0-4 years (assuming 100% access), and the need to identify follow up rates.



Legend: mill pop = million population; yr = year; IMR = infant mortality rate

Figure 12 Flow chart of access and follow up for children with clubfoot in Zimbabwe

#### 13.2 Analysis of intervention pathways

Approaches to identify achievements and areas for improvement in clubfoot services are required but there is no framework that is consistently used to assess these services. Other health programme evaluations use a step-by-step analysis of implementation pathways to identify potential limitations to the service. Three such methods are (i) cascade analysis, (ii) bottleneck analysis, and (iii) community and systems effectiveness analysis (5). A description of these three methods follows, with a view to adapting and using these approaches in the analysis of clubfoot services in Zimbabwe. Examples of how each analysis was previously used in programme evaluation are provided. These include evaluation of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), malaria and child and maternal health programmes. A brief outline of the study aim, findings and recommendations is provided for each example to establish the rationale for use in clubfoot service evaluation.

**Cascade analysis** is a tool used to evaluate the success of the intervention delivery, acceptance, adoption and adherence. Data from both supply and demand indicators are considered. Indicators of supply relate to measuring the extent that an intervention is offered and available to the population in need. Indicators of demand of the population relate to the proportion of uptake of products, information, or procedures offered by the intervention. A loss in the proportion of the population between the cascade stages indicates where action is required.

For example, Garnett et al (2016) (6) used a cascade analysis to monitor HIV programmes in rural Zimbabwe. Study findings from 2012 - 2013 included an increase in proportion of men and women testing for HIV, whilst only a small proportion (12%) of eligible men sought to be circumcised. The application of the cascade analysis demonstrated that voluntary medical male circumcision was limited by supply in 2009 – 2011, but limited by demand in the following years. This informed recommendations for counselling services.

**Bottleneck analysis** is used to identify the limiting component of a system and is similar to cascade analysis. It is based on a coverage and evaluation model developed by Tanahashi et al (1978) (7) that was used to identify gaps in health service delivery. The components that are analysed are determined by the features of the intervention and may include efficacy of treatment, access of the eligible population, quality of the intervention and adherence. An indicator is defined for each component and each stage of implementation is conditional on the previous one being met. Therefore, when the proportion of success at each stage is multiplied sequentially (i.e. efficacy x access x quality x adherence), an

estimation of population level effectiveness is calculated. The 'bottleneck' is the component that limits the successive stages.

For example, this approach used cross sectional data to examine the effect of the EQUIP (Expanded Quality Management Using Information Power) project on maternal and new-born health in Tanzania (8). In the first district, health facility readiness was identified as the largest bottleneck. Access was identified as the limiting component in the second district. Recommendations from these findings included prioritising health service quality and provision of high-quality data to assist planning and prioritisation.

**Community and systems effectiveness analysis** relies on the assessment of steps in access, delivery and community effectiveness to evaluate the intervention. Indicators of the steps are determined *a priori*. The methods assume a linear process and that one step is necessary to achieve the next. Both quantitative and qualitative data from indicators may be used to identify the steps where success is achieved or improvement is required. Examples of this model of analysis include logical frameworks, logic models and theory of change. These terms are often used interchangeably. For the purpose of this PhD thesis, a logic model is defined as an illustration of programme components that depict programme activities and outcomes (9). A theory of change is defined as '*an approach which describes how a programme brings about specific long-term outcomes through a logical sequence of intermediate outcomes*.' (10) The theory of change is expected to come about.

For example, Webster et al (11) aimed to explain the quantitative data from a prevention of malaria in pregnancy intervention in Mali with a theory of change approach. The study found that incorrect practices were recommended in training and supervision, and there was inconsistent management of pregnant women. The application of this method identified complex treatment guidelines and the lack of implementation guidelines. This informed the recommendations to address broad health system issues as well as specific intervention practises.

## 13.3 Analysis of clubfoot service pathways in Zimbabwe

The above examples demonstrate how improvements in health services were identified by three approaches that analyse intervention pathways.

The remainder of this chapter demonstrates the use of these evaluation tools for the assessment of clubfoot service pathways in Zimbabwe and then makes recommendations to improve services for children with clubfoot. Due to the similarity of approaches, the cascade analysis and bottleneck analysis are combined into one example. The second example is the community and systems effectiveness analysis.

## Example (i). Cascade and bottleneck analysis approach

The first example uses the components of efficacy, access, quality and adherence in the analysis of clubfoot services in Zimbabwe. This combined cascade and bottleneck analysis approach is demonstrated in Table 6. The evidence provided in the previous chapters determines the indicators (column two and four). The assumptions and limitations of the indicators are outlined in column three. The proportion of children for whom the components are successful is outlined in column five. The population effectiveness of clubfoot services in Zimbabwe is then calculated step-by-step in the final column.

For example, efficacy of the Ponseti technique in trials is estimated as 90% (Chapter 1). If the component of '*access*' is considered, defined as the proportion of the eligible population (children born with clubfoot in that year) that access treatment within the first year, then 51% of the eligible population access treatment that is 90% effective, so the population level effectiveness decreases to 46% (efficacy x access).

Table 6 Estimates of population level effectiveness of clubfor	ot care in Zimbabwe
--	---------------------

Component of clubfoot service	Indicator	Assumption	Evidence	Estimated proportion of success	Sequential population level effectiveness (%)
				(%)	(,,,
Efficacy of treatment	Ponseti treatment success in trials	Results from clinical trials are replicated in programmes	Chapter 1	90	90
Access	Number of children born/year that attend a clubfoot clinic in that year	No children access treatment after one year	GCI report and extrapolation to population	51	46 [(90 x 51)/100 <sup>*</sup> ]
Quality	Success of treatment measured with the ACT tool	Success in all children who access	Chapter 8	72	33 [(46 x 72)/100 <sup>**</sup> ]
Adherence	Clinic attendance for >2yrs of bracing	Less than 2 years bracing has no success	Chapter 8	56	18 [(33 x 56)/100***]

\*Sequential calculations are indicated in figure 13 as \* to \*\*\*

As demonstrated in the table, adherence to treatment for more than two years of bracing (56%) and access to treatment (51%) are identified as the two components with the lowest proportion of success (defined by the indicator). The information in this table is displayed in Figure 13. The blue columns demonstrate the proportion of success of individual components of the clubfoot service. The red line depicts total population effectiveness of clubfoot care in Zimbabwe.

The components that limit the overall effectiveness of the system (identified as absolute attrition from one stage to the next) are indicated by an arrow.



Figure 13 Cascade and bottleneck analysis

Consideration of all bottlenecks in the service is required. Figure 14 illustrates a hypothetical example. If every child adheres to treatment for two or more years of bracing (increase of adherence from 41% to 100%), the overall population effectiveness does not increase proportionately; access remains a limiting factor. Children need to attend clinic in order to adhere to either corrective treatment or bracing with a FAB of the appropriate size. Issues of access therefore also need to be addressed.





Figure 14 Hypothetical bottleneck analysis with increase of adherence

#### Limitations

Data analysed here were not collected with cascade or bottleneck analysis in mind. First, limitations arose from relying on cross-sectional and cohort data. The analysis does not consider the children that are treated after one year of age, or the treatment of children that were lost to follow up and then re-attend. Second, there are limitations in the definitions used in this example, as outlined in the assumptions column of Table 6. In this example, successful adherence is determined as those who attend treatment for two or more years, however it is recommended that children wear a FAB at night until the age of four. The cut off of 'two years or more' was used in Chapters 8 and 9 to assess the difference in outcome between children who wore the FAB for <2 years compared to those with  $\geq$ 2 years of wear. This information is used for the cascade analysis, however the estimates do not conform to the recommended number of years for FAB wear. Third, whilst this analysis demonstrates that access and adherence need to be addressed, it does not explain how to improve either component.

Qualitative approaches are needed to support a nuanced understanding of the problems that may occur with each component and a theory of change may be

useful in providing a more comprehensive understanding of steps to improve clubfoot services.

## ii. Community and systems effectiveness analysis

This example includes a logic model and theory of change to identify necessary improvements in clubfoot services.

First, at the start of this research, a model of user needs and service requirements in Zimbabwe was created (Figure 15). This logic model identified key actors and activities of clubfoot services and their hypothesised interaction. The desired short-term outcome was identified as increased coverage of good quality clubfoot services and is indicated on the right hand side. The networks are linked from left to right with arrows. The community and caregivers are at the top, the clubfoot clinic in the middle, and the health system is at the base.



Figure 15 Initial network map of clubfoot services

Second, a theory of change for clubfoot services was developed to illustrate hypothesised causal pathways. Detail of the development of the theory of change is described in Chapter 1. This model considers the interaction of the

primary health care system, with the community and caregivers (on the right side), the clubfoot clinic (in the center) and the environment in which all of these are found, thus the enabling ecosystem of the health system (on the left side) (Figure 16). Distinct inputs are required at the level of the community, caregiver, primary health care, clubfoot clinic and health systems for good clubfoot management to be received. These activities are located at the base of the model. Assumptions of context and processes are noted in shaded boxes.

The theory of change illustrates how the planning, monitoring and resourcing of clubfoot services is needed in parallel with the capacity to provide good clubfoot treatment. However, for good clubfoot treatment to be received, these services must be matched by increasing access to care for children with clubfoot and adherence to treatment.

The previous chapters of this PhD thesis highlight the unmet need for indicators of clubfoot clinic functionality and success of long-term treatment. The two simple tools developed (FACT and ACT score) provide data to fill the information gap, and their use will contribute to assessing the proximal outcomes of 'good quality clubfoot services are planned, monitored and resourced' and 'good quality clubfoot treatment is provided' in the theory of change.

#### Limitations

The logic model is only conceptual. It focuses on expected outcomes and does not consider the dynamic interrelationships between resources, capacity building, identification, treatment and care. The theory of change was used to identify gaps in evidence for clubfoot service improvement. It requires further testing and may provide a framework for developing future indicators. The assumptions of the theory of change have not been tested.

The models were developed in parallel with the research and they are unable to make conclusive judgements on the impact of clubfoot services in Zimbabwe, as more information, particularly qualitative data, is required.

Impact	Good clubfoot management is received throughout the country & physical impairment & disability from clubfoot is eliminated							
Outcome (Distal)	Good clubfoot management is received							
Assumptions		Services are accessible, affordable, acceptable, available & are accommodating						
Outcomes (Proximal)	Good quality clubfoot services are planned, monitored and resourced		Good quality clubfoot treatment is provided		Caregivers seek diagnosis and treatment promptly & attend correction and brace reviews			
		<b>h</b>	<b>^</b>	<b>^</b>	<b>↑</b>	<b>^</b>	<b>^</b>	
Assumptions	CF service planning, monitoring, evaluation & availability of resources are feasible, effective and supported within national health system		Corrective treatment and bracing is appropriate	Training & supervision is effective, therapists remain in posts	Caregiver willing to seek treatment	Community acts on increased knowledge	Counselling accepted by caregivers	
	<b>^</b>	<b>^</b>	<b>^</b>	<b>↑</b>	<b>↑</b>	<b>^</b>	<b>^</b>	
Output	Institutional capacity to plan, monitor & evaluate CF services is strengthened	Resources available for CF clinic	FABs & POP available	At least two trained therapists	HW identify clubfoot & refer child to appropriate clinic	Increased community knowledge of clubfoot	Effective counselling about treatment & bracing received	
	<b>↑</b>	<b>^</b>	<b>^</b>	<b>^</b>	<b>↑</b>	<b>↑</b>	<u>^</u>	
Input / Activities	Institutional strengthening to plan for CF services, monitor & evaluate	Enabling of resources to be available for CF clinic	Functioning FAB & POP supply chain	Training, mentoring & supervising clubfoot therapists	Training HW to identify clubfoot & refer to clubfoot clinic	Providing sensitising & educational activities for the community	Giving counselling about treatment & bracing to caregivers	
	Systems		Clubfoot clinic		Primary health care, community and caregiver			

Legend: CF = clubfoot; HW = health worker; POP = plaster of paris; FAB = foot abduction brace Figure 16 The theory of change for clubfoot services

## 13.4 Conclusions from analysis of clubfoot service pathways

Acknowledging these limitations, the use of the bottleneck and cascade approach suggests that access and adherence are two areas in which to prioritise action to improve clubfoot services in Zimbabwe. However, as demonstrated in the theory of change, increasing access to care for children with clubfoot and adherence to treatment is necessary but not sufficient for good clubfoot treatment to be received; it must be matched with improved quality of care and services that are appropriately planned, monitored and resourced. These elements of clubfoot services should be addressed in parallel.

Therefore, based on the needs identified in this body of work and guided by the analysis of clubfoot service pathways, the following recommendations to improve services of clubfoot care in Zimbabwe are made. They are embedded in a health systems-oriented approach.

#### 13.5 Health systems-oriented approach for recommendations

The WHO defines a good health system as one that delivers "quality services to all people, when and where they need them (12) and is built on "a robust financing mechanism; a well-trained and adequately paid workforce; reliable information on which to base decisions and policies; well-maintained facilities and logistics to deliver quality medicines and technologies." (12) Health systems also include a combination of networks, such as public and private systems, local or regional systems, and social and organisational structures (13).

The analysis of clubfoot services that is co-ordinated with a health systemoriented perspective may contribute to the decrease of functional impairment and disability from clubfoot. Good quality clubfoot care cannot occur in a condition-specific silo. An example to illustrate responses to strengthen clubfoot care is as follows: Whilst programmes and health systems both use performance and results based financing, a clubfoot programme response to poorly motivated staff may be to offer financial incentives to reward delivery of priority services. The additional actions of a health system response include clarifying roles and expectations of performance, reviewing salary structures and promotion procedures, and facilitating the implementation of performance reviews (14).

The following recommendations to improve clubfoot services in Africa are discussed with consideration of the six functions of health systems as outlined by the WHO (15):

- 1. Governance and leadership
- 2. Human resources
- 3. Financing
- 4. Essential equipment
- 5. Technology and health information systems
- 6. Service delivery

## 13.6 Recommendations for improving clubfoot services in Zimbabwe

Evidence from this research as identified in the previous chapters suggest the need to improve all six areas and (i) strengthen health system leadership (planning) for clubfoot services; (ii) provide human resources for clubfoot care; (iii) finance clubfoot care; (iv) make essential equipment, including POP and FAB, available; (v) provide and monitor an information system for clubfoot management; and (vi) improve service delivery for children with clubfoot.

## i. Strengthen health system leadership and planning

Support for national policy, planning, and resourcing monitoring and evaluation is required by Ministry of Health. The provision of resources and implementation is required at Provincial level. Both support and provision require policies, management and plans for clubfoot services to be informed by evidence. However there is an evidence gap. Clubfoot services need to be supported to include clinical, operational, social and health system research to determine ways to improve access, adherence rates and the experiences of children and families attending clubfoot clinics. For clubfoot care to be sustainable the Ministry of Health must lead with accountability. Integration of clubfoot services with national child health and paediatric services is likely to promote sustainability.

#### ii. Provide human resources for clubfoot care

Task sharing approaches are recommended in resource constrained settings where health worker shortages limit the availability for specialised care (16). A clear definition of roles and agreement on responsibilities is required to optimise health worker performance without compromising patient outcomes. A training course for clubfoot therapists in Africa was found to be feasible and acceptable (Chapter 12). Performance standards should be set for the training outcomes as well as for the implementation of training. The requirements for mentoring and supervision of clubfoot therapists need to be understood. Indicators to measure activities to improve the provision of quality of care can be created and will allow informed decisions to be made to improve quality of care.

The ACT score provides a simple to use indicator to monitor the quality of clubfoot treatment (Chapter 8) and may assist clubfoot therapists to determine their long-term results, and identify which children need referral for further intervention.

Further strategies to facilitate early referral include identification of clubfoot in newborns by primary healthcare workers and during the postnatal period in the community, and the provision of appropriate counselling to parents about the next steps. The support and integration of detection and screening of clubfoot with programmes for child health may assist early referral to services. For example, the inclusion of case management for physical impairment within a child health delivery strategy, such as the Integrated Management of Childhood Illness (IMCI). The IMCI has been adopted by 102 countries as the preferred primary health care delivery strategy for ill children under 5 years (17). Training of health workers in IMCI was initiated in 1998 in Zimbabwe (18). The integrated care model focuses on management of common childhood illnesses such as acute respiratory infections, treatment of dysentery and the common causes of fever through specific case management steps and algorithms. Given the 'survive, thrive and transform agenda' of the WHO's Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescents' Health (19), perhaps there is need to move beyond 'survive' and include strategies to address 'thrive and transform,' which include early detection and referral for children with physical impairment, such as clubfoot.

PhD Thesis

#### iii. Finance clubfoot care

Health care is provided free of charge for children under the age of five years in Zimbabwe, however the costs of transport and parents' time away from work can be prohibitive to seeking treatment. No child should experience pain and disability from clubfoot because their family cannot afford treatment. Strategies to contain costs for children with clubfoot need to be considered (e.g. income generation from private patients).

Key service provision components include salaries for staff and financed equipment and consumables. Salaries for clubfoot therapists are not high when compared to specialists and consumables include POP and locally made FAB, which in Zimbabwe cost USD2-5 and USD18 respectively. Given that the number of children born with clubfoot per year is estimated to be less than 600, integrating the finance of clubfoot care within the national health budget is an achievable goal.

## iv. Make essential equipment, including POP and FAB, available

National policies and regulations that support policy are required to provide an enabling environment for the functioning supply chain of essential equipment for clubfoot care (e.g. POP, FAB, and tenotomy sets). Cost containment measures such as waivers of import duty for POP will improve procurement. The local production of braces and regular quality assessment of the FAB produced can support reliable manufacturing practices and sustainability. For example, FAB are manufactured in Ruwa, 30 minutes outside of Harare in Zimbabwe and provide employment for three technicians. The monitoring and planning of orders, distribution and stock-keeping of POP, FAB, and tenotomy sets will assist to ensure availability of these essential medical equipment.

## v. Provide and monitor information systems for clubfoot

Functioning health information systems are necessary to improve services for clubfoot. A good medical records system allows patients to be tracked and trends in treatment to be monitored over time. Nationally defined care pathways contribute to a robust referral system and allow comparison between clinics. Adequate record keeping is essential to identify children that are being lost to follow-up. Analysis of care should occur for the eligible population and not

merely for the population for which complete records are available. While success of treatment can be determined through analysis of documented clinical findings, complex paperwork systems or the lack of a recording system make central analysis and identifying individual clinic results difficult. Clubfoot therapists may be motivated to record data that are seen as immediately beneficial, and identification of simple processes to collect these data is needed.

The analysis of clubfoot service pathways may identify potential stumbling blocks to implementation. For example, in Zimbabwe 51% of the population that need the service accessed it before one year of age. This parameter can be used to monitor progress over time. As the Run Free Global Strategy to end clubfoot disability aims for 70% access in 70% of LMIC by 2030 (1), these figures will be used in the following illustration.

Figure 17 includes a series of graphs that demonstrate the hypothesised improvement of 70% access (indicated with a patterned column). In part 1, an increase of access from 51% to 70% results in an increase from 19% to 25% of population level effectiveness. In part 2, activities to increase both adherence and quality to 85% raise the total population effectiveness, however the clubfoot service still does not have an effect on more than half of the eligible population and access remains the bottleneck. Strategies to increase all three components of access, quality and adherence are required.





Part 3: Increase access to 90%, increase both quality and adherence to 85%100 90 90 90 85 85 80 81 70 69 Percent (%) 60 59 50 40 30 20 10 0 Efficacy Access Quality Adherence Sequential stages of clubfoot care Estimated proportion of success (%) -----Population level effectiveness (%)

Figure 17 Models of bottleneck analysis

The goal of 70% of the eligible population accessing clubfoot services in 70% of LMIC may be a lofty benchmark given the lack of recording and collection of national level data from clubfoot services. Accurate data are needed to inform services, however measurement has been limited by lack of consistent tools and consensus on what data to collect. Data on the number of children disaggregated by age, a measure of quality of long-term treatment (as proposed with the ACT score) and data on follow-up will provide this baseline. In addition, the provision of greater access to services, with the design and implementation of demand creation activities is required to achieve the target of 70%.

#### vi. Improve service delivery of clubfoot management

Case volume can be used to inform the number and distribution of clubfoot clinics per population. In addition, the regular treatment of children with clubfoot may assist to maintain the skills of clubfoot therapists. The delivery of treatment for children with clubfoot, when and where it is needed, therefore requires the balance of quality of treatment and accessibility. An additional clinic may increase coverage, however in sparsely populated areas the balance between the cost of the service, the number of children that access the service, and the quality that these services can provide needs to be considered.

For example, service units of one million population have been used to estimate need in eye care programmes (20). This 'district' level calculation of need and resources per million population per year assists health planning and management and allows extrapolation for national requirements. District level need can be calculated for clubfoot services. The example in Table 7 uses birth rate data from Zimbabwe and the average number of casts from the case series (Chapter 6) to demonstrate estimation of need per one million population.

Estimation of Need	Term		Comment	
Birth rate (hirthe/1.000 pepulation)		22		
Birth rate (births/1,000 population)		33		
Births/mill population	BR/mill	33,000	Calculation (BRx1,000)	
Birth prevalence of clubfoot/1,000 births	BPCF	1.11	Chapter 4	
New clubfoot cases/mill pop/yr	BPCF /mill	37	Calculation (BR x BPCF)	
Prevalence of clubfoot age ≤4yrs (ie include all children from birth – 4 yrs)/mill/pop/yr	PCF	148	Assumes no mortality and no treatment of cases; calculation (BPCF/millx4)	
Service delivery				
New cases needing casting/yr/mill pop	New cases	37	BPCF/mill	
Average number of casts until bracing	No casts/ case	7	Chapter 6	
Number of casts for new cases/yr/mill pop	No casts	259	New cases x No casts/ case	
Number of casts/week/mill pop	No casts/wk	6	Assumes clinic works 47 wks /yr, and 100% access	
Number of tenotomies/yr/mill pop	No tenoty/yr	30	Assumes tenotomy coverage = 80%. calculation (new cases x 0.8)	
Number needing bracing from 0-4 yrs/mill pop	All bracing	148	Total 4 years of bracing	
Average number of brace visits/child/yr		4	Assumes 100% adherence	
Number of brace visits/yr/mill pop	Brace visits/yr	592	Assumes 4 visits/yr	
Number of brace visits/week/mill pop	Brace visits/wk	13	Assumes clinic works 47 wks/yr; no mortality; no loss to follow-up; 100% access	

#### Table 7 Estimation of clubfoot service need per million population in Zimbabwe

Legend: mill = million; wk = week; yr = year; pop = population; tenoty = tenotomy

Therefore a clubfoot clinic serving one million population in Zimbabwe can expect to have about 150 children (aged 0-4) under its care at any one time, with approximately 37 new cases per year (assuming no mortality). It will need to complete an average of 6 casts and 13 brace fittings per week and a tenotomy every 2 weeks. The clubfoot clinic is likely to require 3 - 4 trained clubfoot therapists to deliver care for this estimated caseload.

As of May 2018, Zimbabwe has 13 clubfoot clinics for a population of 16.15 million, with one clubfoot clinic for each of the ten provinces and additional

clinics in the densely populated Harare and Bulawayo Provinces (two and one additional clinics respectively). The proportion of clinics that offer suitable services can be calculated with the FACT (Functionality Assessment clubfoot Clinic Tool) (Chapter 10).

## 13.7 Understand demand

Clubfoot is easily recognised and diagnosed and key to treatment is access to the service. Access requires caregiver knowledge about the service, finance and the decision to attend. In addition, there is a role for both caregiver 'education' and for the ability of the health worker to detect, counsel the parents and refer the child to the appropriate service. Identifying and understanding the pathways that permit people to engage with services will inform the planning of accessible services for clubfoot care (21). For example, treatment seeking behaviour and theories of causation of the clubfoot deformity have been explored in Malawi and Uganda (22-25). The studies found that lack of income, additional responsibilities, the beliefs of the caregiver and limited support from fathers and extended family affect treatment-seeking behaviour. Additional barriers to care include insufficient information about treatments and long distances to clinics. Interventions to address these challenges, such as counselling sessions, outreach clinics, brace recycling and a range of education programmes, are understudied. Examples of approaches to community sensitisation include designing education resources with caregivers. Caregivers and family members have unique insights about their challenges and situations, but are often excluded from the design process about issues that directly affect their lives.

## 13.8 Conclusion

Physical impairment and disability from clubfoot is preventable. It requires a health system oriented approach.

It is proposed that clubfoot therapists can effectively treat children with clubfoot (using the Ponseti method) in appropriately equipped clubfoot clinics in Zimbabwe. The case series found that the short-term outcome was successful (defined as a Pirani score of 1 or less) in 85% of feet, with a low loss to follow up (8.9% of children), when delivered by clubfoot clinic staff in Parirenyatwa

hospital, Harare. After 3.5 - 5 years, 72% of children achieved success (an ACT score of 9 or more). The cross-sectional clinic service provision study identified strengths of the clubfoot clinics in Zimbabwe; all clinics had an identifiable person in charge, two or more clubfoot therapists trained in the Ponseti method were regularly available and clinics occurred on a specific day.

The studies also demonstrated areas that require targeted intervention. Resources in clubfoot clinics need to be planned and managed appropriately; the estimate of service units of one million population provides useful information to plan treatment services. In addition, qualitative data on access and adherence is necessary to support good clubfoot management being received.

## References

1. GCI. Run Free 2030. A global strategy to end clubfoot disability. 2017.

2. The World Bank. DataBank 2016 [Accessed: 07/05/2018]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org.

3. Owen R. Global Clubfoot Initiative impact report. Personal Communication. ed2018.

4. The World Bank. DataBank Microdata Data Catalog 2015 [Accessed: 20/03/2018]. Available from:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.DYN.CBRT.IN.

5. Webster. J. Timely evaluation to inform programme adaptation and improvement in international development. Personal Communication ed. April 20182018.

6. Garnett GP, Hallett TB, Takaruza A, Hargreaves J, Rhead R, Warren M, et al. Providing a conceptual framework for HIV prevention cascades and assessing feasibility of empirical measurement with data from east Zimbabwe: a case study. Lancet HIV. 2016;3(7):e297-306.

7. Tanahashi T. Health service coverage and its evaluation. Bull World Health Organ. 1978;56(2):295-303.

8. Baker U, Peterson S, Marchant T, Mbaruku G, Temu S, Manzi F, et al. Identifying implementation bottlenecks for maternal and newborn health interventions in rural districts of the United Republic of Tanzania. Bull World Health Organ. 2015;93(6):380-9.

9. Hargreaves JR, Goodman C, Davey C, Willey BA, Avan BI, Schellenberg JR. Measuring implementation strength: lessons from the evaluation of public health strategies in low- and middle-income settings. Health Policy Plan. 2016;31(7):860-7.

10. Breuer E, Lee L, De Silva M, Lund C. Using theory of change to design and evaluate public health interventions: a systematic review. Implementation Science. 2016;11(1):63.

11. Webster J, Kayentao K, Diarra S, Diawara SI, Haiballa AA, Doumbo OK, et al. A qualitative health systems effectiveness analysis of the prevention of malaria in pregnancy with intermittent preventive treatment and insecticide treated nets in Mali. PLoS One. 2013;8(7):e65437.

12. WHO. Health Systems [Accessed 07/05/2018]. Available from: http://www.who.int/topics/health\_systems/en/.

13. Snijders. T DP. Introduction to the special issue on network dynamics. Social Networks. 2010;32.

14. Travis P, Bennett S, Haines A, Pang T, Bhutta Z, Hyder AA, et al. Overcoming health-systems constraints to achieve the Millennium Development Goals. Lancet. 2004;364(9437):900-6.

15. WHO. Everybody business : strengthening health systems to improve health outcomes : WHO's framework for action. WHO Document Production Services, Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organisation, 2007.

16. WHO. Task shifting : rational redistribution of tasks among health workforce teams : global recommendations and guidelines. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organisation, 2008.

17. Pandya H, Slemming W, Saloojee H. Health system factors affecting implementation of integrated management of childhood illness (IMCI): qualitative insights from a South African province. Health policy and planning. 2018;33(2):171-82.

18. Habimana P. Assessment of the quality of IMCI implementation in four districts in Zimababwe. South Africa: University of Witwatersrand; 2009.

19. Kuruvilla S, Bustreo F, Kuo T, Mishra CK, Taylor K, Fogstad H, et al. The Global strategy for women's, children's and adolescents' health (2016-2030): a roadmap based on evidence and country experience. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2016;94(5):398-400.

20. Cook C. VISION 2020 at the district level. Community Eye Health. 2005;18(54):85-9.

21. Penchansky R, Thomas JW. The concept of access: definition and relationship to consumer satisfaction. Med Care. 1981;19(2):127-40.

22. Drew S, Lavy C, Gooberman-Hill R. What factors affect patient access and engagement with clubfoot treatment in low- and middle-income countries? Meta-synthesis of existing qualitative studies using a social ecological model. Tropical Medicine & International Health. 2016;21(5):570-89.

 McElroy T, Konde-Lule J, Neema S, Gitta S, Uganda Sustainable Clubfoot C. Understanding the barriers to clubfoot treatment adherence in Uganda: a rapid ethnographic study. Disabil Rehabil. 2007;29(11-12):845-55.
 Bedford KJ, Chidothi P, Sakala H, Cashman J, Lavy C. Clubfoot in Malawi: treatment-seeking behaviour. Trop Doct. 2011;41(4):211-4.
 Bedford KJ, Chidothi P, Sakala H, Cashman J, Lavy C. Clubfoot in

Malawi: local theories of causation. Trop Doct. 2011;41(2):65-7.
# Chapter 14. Strengths and limitations



Baby with bilateral clubfoot (Credit: ACT project) The strengths and limitations of the study methods and designs are examined in the individual research papers included in this PhD thesis. This chapter includes a summary table of specific limitations from individual studies. A discussion of the methodological strengths and limitations of the research study follows, and key features of the study design are considered in further detail.

# 14.1 Individual research paper limitations

A number of limitations of individual research papers need to be considered and are summarised on the next page (Table 8).

Research Question	Method	Main Limitations
1	Systematic review and meta- analysis	<ul> <li>Included studies are characterised by low quality and narrow representation;</li> <li>Two large databases strongly influenced the birth prevalence of clubfoot in China;</li> <li>Only two papers contribute to the estimates of Europe (Turkey) and the South East Asia Region.</li> </ul>
2	Systematic review and integrative review	<ul> <li>Lack of a consistent measure of success and insufficient follow up of cases restricts the conclusions;</li> <li>The majority of studies were observational;</li> <li>Limited external validity: many children were recruited from University and tertiary hospitals/ national centres, and not representative samples.</li> </ul>
3	Delphi study	<ul> <li>The panel may not be representative of all Ponseti treatment practitioners;</li> <li>The ratings of the criteria may have been influenced by the expert panel composition;</li> <li>There may be some important criteria that were not considered.</li> </ul>
4	Case series: retrospective analysis of clinic records	<ul> <li>The clubfoot clinic records did not include all the details for risk factor analysis and therefore limit the analysis;</li> <li>There is no comparator within the case series, attribution of success to the intervention is likely but not proven;</li> <li>High risk of selection bias: the children are self-selected and attended a tertiary clinic that may not be representative of the clinics that other children in Zimbabwe attend.</li> </ul>
4	Cohort study: prospective follow-up	<ul> <li>Only 31% (68/218) of the original cohort of children attended for long-term follow-up;</li> <li>High risk of selection bias: those followed up are likely to have better results than the whole cohort;</li> <li>Results are only applicable to children with idiopathic clubfoot and not secondary clubfoot;</li> <li>Likelihood of observer bias: the ACT tool and the full clinical assessment were administered by the same two people.</li> </ul>
4	Diagnostic accuracy study	<ul> <li>Not all tools that were used were developed to identify need for referral for further intervention;</li> <li>No distinction was made between a clubfoot that may not have been fully corrected and a clubfoot that had recurrence of the deformity;</li> <li>Conclusions can only be drawn for use with idiopathic clubfoot.</li> </ul>

# Table 8 Summary of limitations of individual research papers

Research Question	Method	Main Limitations
5	Delphi study	<ul> <li>The thresholds for the VAS mean and SD were chosen to include the highest ranked criteria with least variation in opinion, there was no published evidence for the chosen cut off;</li> <li>The Panel was not representative of non-specialised health workers that deliver clubfoot care;</li> <li>Additional data may be relevant to have a complete understanding of clubfoot clinic functionality.</li> </ul>
6	Cross-sectional clinic service provision study	Likelihood of observer bias: data were collected by a clinic supervisor well known to the clinics and who was internal to the research
7	Mixed methods evaluation of training development	<ul> <li>High risk of selection bias: survey participants were self-selected;</li> <li>Absence of a pass/fail competency;</li> <li>Likelihood of researcher bias: the authors were closely involved in the implementation of the ACT project and in the development of the manuscript.</li> </ul>
7	Feasibility study of training course for clubfoot therapists	<ul> <li>Short-term follow-up;</li> <li>There is no control group;</li> <li>Likelihood of observer bias: the interviewers were on the ACT development team; participants may have been reluctant to express their negative opinions;</li> <li>Not powered to detect a difference in pre-post intervention knowledge and confidence and there is no control group.</li> </ul>

# 14.2 Strengths of this study

The use of both quantitative and qualitative methods, with a cohort study, a cross-sectional clinic service provision study and a pre-post evaluation of training, presented multiple perspectives of evidence to improve clubfoot services in Africa, which is a strength of is study.

This study also proposed an outcome measure (ACT score) to assist clubfoot therapists to identify successful treatment in a child of walking age, and when to refer for a second opinion or further treatment.

In addition, this study identified a tool (FACT) to enable programme managers to monitor the functionality of the national clubfoot service. The use of the tool provides information on areas for improvement and allows the comparison of clinics.

I understood the settings and the contextual factors as well as the medical implications of recommended actions, and this allowed for a comprehensive evaluation of findings.

# 14.3 Strengths and limitations of the study design

The study design includes a (i) case series, (ii) cohort study, (iii) cross-sectional study, and (iv) a mixed methods evaluation to provide data on treatment outcomes, clinic functionality and training feasibility.

# Short-term treatment: case series

A tertiary hospital based cohort in Harare, Zimbabwe, was chosen for the study. A retrospective design is suitable for data analysis after the intervention has been implemented. Clinic records that were completed between 2011 and 2013 were analysed in 2015. The primary disadvantage of this study design is the limited control that the investigator has over data collection, and the medical records may not have all the details for a comprehensive risk factor analysis. However, well-maintained medical records for over 200 cases provided one of the largest case series reported in sub-Saharan Africa. Parirenyatwa was therefore well placed to provide the data to create a foundation for the prospective cohort study. Although the case series was self-selected and there is no comparison group, the results are in line with the published studies in sub-Saharan Africa.

# Long-term treatment: cohort study

The cohort was followed through time to evaluate long-term success of treatment. The prospective study design allowed specific data to be collected. Selection bias in prospective cohorts can occur at baseline and as a result of differential loss to follow-up. To address possible selection bias between those followed up and those not followed up, efforts were made to find as many children in the case series as possible from phone numbers and physical addresses. In the pilot phase, efforts to minimise loss to follow-up included study team members visiting all home addresses provided in clinic notes for participants that could not be reached by phone. In cases where the family had moved, the study team met with neighbours and visited door-to-door in an attempt to identify the new residence of the participant. Reminder text messages were sent to caregivers on the day before treatment. Despite these efforts, only 68 children of the cohort of 218 children (31.2%) attended. This selection bias affects papers in Chapter 8 and Chapter 9. The implication of this bias is that the children that were followed up (n=68) are likely to have better results than the entire cohort (n=218) as length of time in treatment is a predictor for good outcome.

In addition, the clubfoot services offered by clubfoot therapists in the 13 clinics may be acceptable, but this study did not assess the results of the Ponseti method of clubfoot treatment by clubfoot therapists in all the clinics in Zimbabwe; it evaluated a tertiary clinic in Zimbabwe and the ACT score was assessed with expert physiotherapists.

# Clinic analysis: cross-sectional study

Cross-sectional designs are suitable to estimate the prevalence of a characteristic in a population. A strength of this cross-sectional service provision study is that all clinics participated and data were collected by the same investigator over six months, which minimised the potential for non-response bias. As the study design allows the examination of data at one

particular time point, there is no loss to follow-up. However, only an association, and not causation, can be inferred from the study.

# Training evaluation: prospective mixed methods

The mixed methods evaluation of the Africa Clubfoot Training project was a before-after design that involved both qualitative and quantitative methods. It measured the occurrence of outcomes before and again after the training was implemented. Limitation of this design is a lack of control of external factors. The study does not control for elements that may change at the same time that the intervention was implemented (e.g. an increase in the availability and supply of POP). Attribution of the change in knowledge and practice to the training is plausible. However, it is not proven.

# 14.4 Generalisability of results

The findings and recommendations of this research are likely to be applicable to clubfoot services in contexts in sub-Saharan Africa where the challenges faced by most clubfoot therapists and their patients are similar, such as limited human resources and specialised equipment. However, the cohort was based in a large tertiary hospital and may limit the generalisability of results to small clinics. In addition, the application of results is only to idiopathic clubfoot and not secondary clubfoot. The inclusion of all ages in the cohort that attended the clinic between 2011 and 2013 reflects the likely range of age groups that are treated in clubfoot clinics. This improves the generalisability of the results. This analysis of 'a real life situation' is a strength of the study, however in this case it is also a weakness as the study cannot be perfectly designed.

# 14.5 Ongoing research

Ongoing research questions were framed by the gaps in evidence identified through this body of work. Current research includes providing evidence for the development of clinical guidelines and protocols to manage older children with clubfoot in Zimbabwe. This need was identified through the prospective cohort study, in which some children that had been lost to follow-up were reviewed. These children are older and typically have an element of recurrence of the deformity. A young baby can be treated with manipulation and casting,

tenotomy and bracing; an older child may require modified casting techniques in close consultation with surgical teams. There are currently no national guidelines in Zimbabwe for this treatment pathway and further research is needed to inform the best management guidelines for older children.



# Chapter 15. Conclusions and recommendations

Training in Tanzania, April 2018

This final chapter draws upon the entire PhD thesis to address the aim of the thesis and the research undertaken to achieve this aim. The findings and recommendations for each research question are summarised. Suggestions for future research and the implications for policy and clubfoot programmes conclude this chapter.

# 15.1 Review of the aim of this research

The aim of this PhD thesis was to determine how services for children with clubfoot in Africa can be improved using Zimbabwe as a case study.

# Research methods to achieve this aim included:

- A systematic review and meta-analysis, to investigate the birth prevalence of clubfoot in LMIC. These estimates informed the actual need, so that the resources required to develop services for children born with clubfoot in Africa can be planned and made available.
- A second systematic review, to determine and evaluate how results of clubfoot management in sub-Saharan Africa are reported. This review identified that clinical assessment was commonly used to report short-term outcome, with the Pirani score the most frequent outcome measure used. It identified gaps in how the long-term results of clubfoot treatment are reported.
- 3. A Delphi process, which established key criteria for measuring success of treatment in children of walking age.
- 4. A retrospective case series of 218 children with idiopathic clubfoot, treated in one clinic in Harare, Zimbabwe. The short-term outcomes of clubfoot treatment were documented and factors that influence the outcome were identified.
- A cohort study, to document long-term outcomes of clubfoot treatment at 3.5 - 5 years follow up. Factors that influence the outcome were identified and results of five outcomes measures were compared.

- A second Delphi study, that identified the components required for a good clubfoot service and clinic in Africa. The indicators were piloted in a tool to evaluate the Zimbabwe clubfoot clinics.
- A prospective mixed methods (both quantitative and qualitative) evaluation, to assess the feasibility of a training programme for clubfoot therapists in Africa.

# 15.2 Main findings and conclusions

# Research Question 1: How many children are born with clubfoot per million population in African countries each year?

We estimate that approximately 43 children/million population are born with clubfoot in sub-Saharan Africa each year, based on a birth prevalence of 1.11 (95%CI: 0.96 – 1.26)/1,000 live births and a crude birth rate of 38.3/1,000 population. These estimates will be useful for planning of services and to estimate areas of need for country programmes.

# Research Question 2: What are the reported results of clubfoot treatment (Ponseti technique) in Africa?

The short-term results of clubfoot treatment (Ponseti technique) in Africa are commonly reported through clinical assessment. Different outcome measures are used and report success in 68% - 98% of cases. Long-term results of treatment are inconsistently reported in the literature. There is need for the definition of success after Ponseti management to be standardised. This will assist the monitoring and evaluation of service delivery, allow comparison of results and identify reasons for poor outcome.

# Research Question 3: How can the results of Ponseti treatment be monitored and assessed by clubfoot therapists in Africa?

The results of Ponseti treatment can be monitored and assessed using one question about the plantigrade position of the foot answered by physical examination, and three questions answered by the caregiver regarding the child's pain, the child's ability to wear shoes and caregiver satisfaction. It is likely that clubfoot therapists in Africa can use these questions delivered through the ACT tool to assess the success of treatment. The total ACT score

has a high sensitivity and specificity in identifying children who need additional intervention compared to full clinical assessment. Further work is required to evaluate the ACT tool in other clinics and countries, and with other cadres of clubfoot therapists.

Research Question 4: What are the short and long-term results of Ponseti treatment in a cohort of children with clubfoot in Zimbabwe and what factors influence the outcome of treatment?

A case series of children with clubfoot treated in one tertiary hospital in Harare found that 85% of feet achieved a successful short-term result, when success is defined as a Pirani score of 1 or less at the end of the correction phase. After 3.5 - 5 years, 72% of children achieved success (defined as an ACT score of 9 or more). Female sex was the only factor associated with success in short-term outcome, however it was not a factor that influenced long-term outcome. Factors associated with the success of long-term outcome included (a) the child completed casting with a Pirani score of  $\leq 1$ , (b) the child completed casting and was fitted with a FAB, and (c) the child used the FAB for two years or more.

# Research Question 5: What indicators are required to assess the functionality of clubfoot clinics in Africa?

The indicators that are required to assess the functionality of clubfoot clinics in Africa were identified as (1) Plaster of paris is available; (2) Essential equipment is available; (3) A completed record for each visit; (4) A functional referral system for tenotomy; (5) The clinic occurs on a specific day; (6) There is a standard treatment protocol available; (7) There is someone in charge (for continuity); (8) There is a process for surgical referrals; (9) There is a process to monitor drop out; and (10) Two or more trained therapists regularly attend the clinic. The FACT was developed to measure these indicators. Further work in other settings in Africa is required to assess the validity of the FACT. The tool also needs to be used in long-term monitoring of clinic services to see if it assists with decision-making and improvement of services. Research Question 6: What are the strengths and weaknesses of current clubfoot clinics in Zimbabwe; how can the services be improved? All clubfoot clinics in Zimbabwe had an identifiable person in charge and two or more trained clubfoot therapists in clinics that occurred on a specific day. The most common needs identified related to service provision; they were (a) a standard treatment protocol, (b) a process for surgical referrals, and (c) a process to monitor drop out of patients. The services can be improved through an understanding of individual clinic contexts and a health system-oriented approach to supporting the development of the above protocols and processes.

# Research Question 7: What is the feasibility of a training programme for clubfoot therapists in Africa?

A training programme that includes a basic and an advanced course with standardised elements and opportunity for close supervision and mentorship is feasible for clubfoot therapists in Africa. Next steps should include exploring the retention of knowledge and confidence post-training and investigating the shortterm and long-term outcomes of children that are treated by the trained clubfoot therapists.

# 15.3 Implications for future research

Whilst the findings of this research contribute to evidence for improving clubfoot services in Africa, they also demonstrate that gaps remain and present opportunities for future research.

The key questions are:

1. What further adaptions to the theory of change model are required, and which assumptions in the theory of change are realised?

2. Can the ACT tool be used by clubfoot therapists, in other countries and what is the reliability, validity and effectiveness of the tool?

3. Can the FACT be used in other countries and what is the reliability, validity and effectiveness of the tool?

4. What factors are associated with access to clubfoot treatment in Zimbabwe?

5. What factors are associated with adherence to clubfoot treatment in Zimbabwe?

6. To what extent does family and community support continue following the correction phase, and what is the role of this support in adherence to bracing?

# 15.4 Implications for policy

The National Health Strategy for Zimbabwe (2016 – 2020) 'Equity and quality in health: leaving no one behind' (1) has an objective to 'reduce disability and dependence by 50%.' The strategy laid out plans to improve availability of services, however both baseline (2014) and target (2020) data for the measurement of disability remain to be determined. There is little detail on the resources that will be provided to support services that will reduce disability. Policies that include clubfoot care with programmes for child health may improve awareness and access, and contribute to realisation of these plans. In addition, policies that define roles and expectations of performance for health care workers involved in the task-shifting of clubfoot services may improve the supportive environment for these services. Collaboration within government structures and between NGOs is necessary to identify which part of a clubfoot service works for whom and how, to share learning and to allow extrapolation to other countries.

# 15.5 Implications for clubfoot programmes

The evidence provided by this research has important implications for the implementation of clubfoot programmes in Africa: clubfoot therapists can be trained to provide treatment for children with clubfoot, they are likely to be able to assess the long-term outcomes of their treatment with the ACT tool and score, and clinic supervisors can use the FACT to assess clubfoot clinic functionality (capability and suitability).

Increasing access to care for children with clubfoot is necessary but not sufficient to ensure disability from clubfoot is eliminated; it must be matched with adherence to treatment and improved quality of care. Continued supervision and mentoring of clubfoot therapists and appropriate counselling of caregivers to promote access and adherence to treatment should be addressed in parallel. The following recommendations are formulated on the basis of the PhD thesis findings:

- Use the number of children with clubfoot per million population to estimate need for clubfoot care and to plan and resource services; one clubfoot clinic per million population provides estimates of feasible service delivery at 'district' level and allows extrapolation for national requirements.
- 2. Trial the use of the ACT score with clubfoot therapists as a monitoring and decision-making tool. Evaluation of the tool for acceptability in different contexts is required.
- Assess the use and effectiveness of the FACT in long-term monitoring of clinic services for decision-making and improvement of services. Evaluation of acceptability in different countries is required.
- 4. Given the evidence that only half of expected children with clubfoot access services in the first year of life, it is important to give health education to community health workers about clubfoot treatment, in particular how to counsel parents on the importance of going for treatment early.
- 5. Factors that influence the success of long-term outcome of treatment include (a) the child completed casting with a Pirani score ≤ 1, (b) the child completed casting and was fitted with a FAB, and (c) the child used a FAB for two years or more. These factors offer direction for strategies to improve long-term outcome.
- 6. Provide training with the ACT programme and follow up mentorship to improve the skills of clubfoot therapists.
- Liaise closely with national policy regulators to advocate for clubfoot clinics to be well equipped.
- 8. Analyse routinely collected data (e.g. input and output data) and provide timely feedback to clubfoot therapists and clinic supervisors.

9. Analyse data to determine which components in the health system-oriented approach to clubfoot care, and in what quantity, are essential for effectiveness. For example, identify the pathways that contribute much of the effect (such as strategies to increase access, quality community mobilisation, adherence support, trained therapists or functioning supply chain) and prioritise these components.

# Conclusion

Clubfoot services can be improved in Zimbabwe and probably the wider Africa region. It requires a health system-oriented approach. The evidence presented in this PhD thesis indicates that children with clubfoot can be effectively treated by trained clubfoot therapists (using the Ponseti method). To enable this there is a need to ensure that clubfoot clinics are appropriately equipped and clubfoot therapists are appropriately trained.

The work presented in this PhD thesis sought to address gaps in evidence to improve services for children with clubfoot in Africa. This study highlighted the fundamental unmet need for indicators of success of long-term treatment and clubfoot clinic functionality within a health system. We propose two simple tools to provide data to fill the information gaps for clubfoot services. This research has provided evidence for where to prioritise action. Strengthening multiple pathways of the health system will ensure that all children born with clubfoot can 'Run Free'.

# References

1. Ministry of Health and Child Care. The national health strategy for Zimbabwe. 2016 - 2020. Equity and quality in health: leaving no one behind [Accessed: 20/05/2018]. Available from:

https://www.unicef.org/zimbabwe/National\_Health\_Strategy\_for\_Zimbabwe\_20 16-2020\_FINAL.pdf.

# SECTION D APPENDICES

# Appendix 1 Ethics approval

Appendix one includes the ethics approval for the cohort study and crosssectional survey in Zimbabwe, and the evaluation of training with the Africa Clubfoot Training project.

# Medical Research Council of Zimbabwe (MRCZ)

Telephone: 791792/791193 Telefax: (263) - 4 - 790715 mrcz@mrcz.org.zw E-mail: Website http://www.mrcz.org.zw



Medical Research Council of Zimbabwe Josiah Tongogara / Mazoe Street P. O. Box CY 573 Causeway Harare

#### APPROVAL

#### Ref: MRCZ/B/789

11 February, 2015

**Tracy Smythe** London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London, WC1E7HT London

C/O Parirenyatwa Hospital, Harare, Zimbabwe

#### RE:- Zimbabwe's first Ponseti Clubfoot Clinic based at Parirenyatwa Hospital, Harare: a review of the initial two years of the programme.

Thank you for the above titled proposal that you submitted to the Medical Research Council of Zimbabwe (MRCZ) for review. Please be advised that the Medical Research Council of Zimbabwe has <u>reviewed</u> and <u>approved</u> your application to conduct the above titled study. This is based on the following documents (among others) that were submitted to the MRCZ for review:

- Research Protocol a)
- b) Informed Consent forms (English and Shona)

#### : MRCZ/B/789 APPROVAL NUMBER

- This number should be used on all correspondence, consent forms and documents as appropriate. TYPE OF REVIEW
  - : EXPEDITED
    - : 11 February, 2015
  - EFFECTIVE APPROVAL DATE EXPIRATION DATE
    - : 10 February, 2016

After this date, this project may only continue upon renewal. For purposes of renewal, a progress report on a standard form obtainable from the MRCZ Website should be submitted three months before the expiration date for continuing review

- SERIOUS ADVERSE EVENT REPORTING: All serious problems having to do with subject safety must be reported to the Institutional Ethical Review Committee (IERC) as well as the MRCZ within 3 working days using standard forms obtainable from the MRCZ Website.
- MODIFICATIONS: Prior MRCZ and IERC approval using standard forms obtainable from the MRCZ Website is required before implementing any changes in the Protocol (including changes in the consent documents)
- TERMINATION OF STUDY: On termination of a study, a report has to be submitted to the MRCZ using standard forms obtainable from the MRCZ Website.
- QUESTIONS: Please contact the MRCZ on Telephone No. (04) 791792, 791193 or by e-mail on mrcz@mrcz.org.zw
- Other
- Please be reminded to send in copies of your research results for our records as well as for Health Research Database
- You're also encouraged to submit electronic copies of your publications in peer-reviewed journals that may emanate from this study.

Yours Faithfully

MRCZ SECRETARIAT	
FOR CHAIRPERSON	
MEDICAL RESEARCH	COUNCIL OF ZIMBABWE

MEDICAL RESEARCH COUNCIL OF ZIMBABWE
2015 -02- 1 1
P.O. BOX CY 573 CAUSEWAY, HARAKE

PROMOTING THE ETHICAL CONDUCT OF HEALTH RESEARCH

## MRCZ - continuing approval



Joint Research Ethics Committee, for the University of Zimbabwe, College of Health Sciences and Parirenyatwa Group of Hospitals (JREC)



## Joint Research Ethics Committee For The University of Zimbabwe, College of Health Sciences and Parirenyatwa Group of Hospitals

JREC Office No.4, 5th Floor College of Health Sciences Building Telephone: +263 4 708140/ 791631 Exts 2241/2242 Email: jrec.office@gmail.com/ jrec@medsch.uz.ac.zw,website:www.jrec.uz.ac.zw



Date: 20th July 2014

APPROVAL LETTER JREC Ref: 143/14

Names of Researchers: Miss Tracey Smythe

Address: c/o Parirenyatwa Hospital, Department of Physiotherapy,

## Re: Zimbabwe's First Ponseti Clubfoot Clinic: A Retrospective Review of The Initial Two Years.

Thank you for your application for ethical review of the above mentioned research to the Joint Research Ethics Committee. Please be advised that the Joint Research Ethics Committee has reviewed and approved your application to conduct the above named study. You are still required to obtain MRCZ approval and if required by the nature of your study, RCZ approval as well, before you commence the study.

- APPROVAL NUMBER: JREC/143/14
- APPROVAL DATE: 29th September 2014
- EXPIRY DATE: 28th September 2015

This approval is based on the review and approval of the following documents that were submitted to the Joint Ethics Committee:

- a) Completed application form
- b) Full Study Protocol
- c) Informed Consent in English and/or appropriate local language
- d) Data collection tool version:

After this date the study may only continue upon renewal. For purposes of renewal please submit a completed renewal form (obtainable from the JREC office) and the following documents before the expiry date:

- a. A Progress report
- b. A Summary of adverse events.
- c. A DSMB report

#### MODIFICATIONS:

Prior approval is required before implementing any changes in the protocol including changes in the informed consent.

#### • TERMINATION OF STUDY:

On termination of the study you are required to submit a completed request for termination form and a summary of the research findings/ results.

Yours faithfully.



## Ministry of Health and Child Care - Zimbabwe

Telephone: +263-4-722187 Telegraphic Address: "MEDICUS", Harare Fax: +263-4-794734 (702293 FHP) Telex: MEDICUS 22211ZW



**Reference:** 

Ministry of Health and Child Care P. O. Box CY1122 Causeway HARARE

13 May 2016

Attention: Tracey Smythe 16 Pendennis Rd Mt Pleasant **Harare** 

## Re: Request for permission to carry out research to provide evidence for Clubfoot Management

The above subject matter refers:

Your letter of request seeking permission and approval to carry out research on "Club foot Management" in some of our institutions in Zimbabwe is acknowledged.

We authorize you to pursue your project, with the understanding that all clearances with relevant authorities have been effected. We however need to be appraised of the proposed study sites in order to inform the relevant authorities.

The Rehabilitation Unit in the Ministry will be your contact point during your research time. You may feel free to contact them to discuss practical implementation of the research

0

Brigadier General (Dr) G. Gwinji Secretary for Health and Child Care



## London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine - Zimbabwe study

Miss Tracey Smythe

24 May 2016

Dear Tracey

Study Title: Evidence to improve clubfoot services in Africa with emphasis on Zimbabwe as a pilot programme

#### LSHTM Ethics Ref: 11132

Thank you for responding to the Observational Committee's request for further information on the above

research and submitting revised documentation. The further information has been considered on behalf of the

Committee by the Chair.

#### **Confirmation of ethical opinion**

On behalf of the Committee, I am pleased to confirm a favourable ethical opinion for the above research on the basis described in the application form, protocol and supporting documentation as revised, subject to the conditions specified below.

#### Conditions of the favourable opinion

Approval is dependent on local ethical approval having been received, where relevant.

#### Approved documents

The final list of documents reviewed and approved by the Committee is as follows:

Document Type	File Name	Date	Version
Covering Letter	Response to clarification questions 16th May 2016		
Protocol / Proposal	1. Study proposal Zimbabwe Clubfoot research v1	29/03/2016	1
Protocol / Proposal	2. Interview Guide for clubfoot health care worker v1	29/03/2016	1
Protocol / Proposal	2b.Health System Assessment Questionnaire v1	29/03/2016	1
Protocol / Proposal	3a.Proxy or child PedsQLgeneral wellbeing questions	29/03/2016	1
Protocol / Proposal	3b. Proxy or child PedsQL satisfaction with health system treatment	29/03/2016	1
Investigator CV	Tracey Smythe CV 2016	29/03/2016	1
Information Sheet	5a.Information Sheet and Consent form for Trainees	29/03/2016	1
Information Sheet	5b.Information Sheet and Consent form for hospital interviewee	29/03/2016	1
Information Sheet	5c. Information for Consent to Parents	29/03/2016	1
Local Approval	Zimbabwe programme consent	29/03/2016	1
Information Sheet	5c. Information for Consent to Parents v2 ammended 16 May 2016	16/05/2016	2

#### After ethical review

The Chief Investigator (CI) or delegate is responsible for informing the ethics committee of any subsequent changes to the application. These must be submitted to the Committee for review using an Amendment form. Amendments must not be initiated before receipt of written favourable opinion from the committee.

The CI or delegate is also required to notify the ethics committee of any protocol violations and/or Suspected Unexpected Serious Adverse Reactions (SUSARs) which occur during the project by submitting a Serious Adverse Event form.

At the end of the study, the CI or delegate must notify the committee using an End of Study form.

All aforementioned forms are available on the ethics online applications website and can only be submitted to the committee via

the website at: http://leo.lshtm.ac.uk Additional information is available at: www.lshtm.ac.uk/ethics

Yours sincerely,



# Zimbabwe Sustainable Clubfoot Programme

23rd February, 2016

Ms Tracey Smythe London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London, WC1E7HT

Dear Tracey,

Re: Evaluation of the Clubfoot Programme in Zimbabwe

Thank you very much for your enthusiasm to do evaluation and research in Zimbabwe with regard to the existing clubfoot programme during 2016/2017.

On behalf of the Zimbabwe Sustainable Clubfoot Programme, we grant permission for you to perform your research and evaluation in all the clinics that have been established by the ZSCP in Zimbabwe as part of your PhD study entitled "Does the introduction of a standardised training programme improve quality of services for children with clubfoot?"

You have our consent to include monitoring and evaluation data, (current, historical and future), collected from the 13 established clinics in Zimbabwe

The ZSCP is funded by Miraclefeet, CURE and ZANE, and is supported by the MOHCC, It would be appreciated if their contribution to the programme can be acknowledged in your study.

Therefore I would be very grateful if you would confirm in writing your acceptance of these terms and conditions, specifically that:

You will notify the ZSCP and partners of public presentation or publication of work that includes
 ZSCP programme data, and provide opportunity for review prior to release or publication.
 You will acknowledge the programme funders and partners in publication or dissemination of this work

With many thanks,

Yours sincerely,



Ryan Bathurst Director: ZSCP

CC: Chipo Harper, Programme Manager, ZSCP Mrs C Nleya, Deputy Director Rehabilitation Services, MOHCC

# London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine - ACT project

Miss Tracey Smythe LSHTM 24 November 2015

Dear Tracey

Study Title: The introduction of a standardised training programme for the management of clubfoot in children: a pilot evaluation of the Africa Clubfoot Training Project at the Cure Hospital, Addis Ababa

#### LSHTM Ethics Ref: 10412

Thank you for responding to the Observational Committee's request for further information on the above research and submitting revised

documentation. The further information has been considered on behalf of the Committee by the Chair.

#### **Confirmation of ethical opinion**

On behalf of the Committee, I am pleased to confirm a favourable ethical opinion for the above research on the basis described in the application form, protocol and supporting documentation as revised, subject to the conditions specified below.

#### Conditions of the favourable opinion

Approval is dependent on local ethical approval having been received, where relevant.

#### Approved documents

The final list of documents reviewed and approved by the Committee is as follows:

Document Type	File Name	Date	Version
Protocol / Proposal	1.Study protocol for pilot in Ethiopia Jan 2016	29/10/2015	1
Protocol / Proposal	2. Interview Guide for CURE clubfoot health care worker	29/10/2015	1
Protocol / Proposal	3.ACT PRE COURSE assessment answer form	29/10/2015	1
Protocol / Proposal	4.ACT POST-course form	29/10/2015	1
Protocol / Proposal	5.MCQ-questions for PRE and POST course	29/10/2015	1
Protocol / Proposal	6.Pilot Health System Assessment Questionnaire for clubfoot clinics coordinator	29/10/2015	1
Investigator CV	Tracey Smythe CV 2015	29/10/2015	1
Information Sheet	7.Information Sheet for ACT trainee	29/10/2015	1
Information Sheet	8.Participant Consent Form ACT trainee	29/10/2015	1
Information Sheet	9. Information Sheet for CURE hospital interviewee	29/10/2015	1
Information Sheet	10.Participant Consent Form CURE hospital	29/10/2015	1
Covering Letter	LSHTM Ethics Committee clarification 151120	20/11/2015	1

#### After ethical review

The Chief Investigator (CI) or delegate is responsible for informing the ethics committee of any subsequent changes to the application. These must be submitted to the Committee for review using an Amendment form. Amendments must not be initiated before receipt of written favourable opinion from the committee.

The CI or delegate is also required to notify the ethics committee of any protocol violations and/or Suspected Unexpected Serious Adverse Reactions (SUSARs) which occur during the project by submitting a Serious Adverse Event form.

At the end of the study, the CI or delegate must notify the committee using an End of Study form.

All aforementioned forms are available on the ethics online applications website and can only be submitted to the committee via the website at: http://leo.lshtm.ac.uk

information is available at: www.lshtm.ac.uk/ethics

Yours sincerely,



## Cure International – ACT Project



Linda Hansen CURE Clubfoot Regional Manager - Africa Beit CURE Hospital of Zambia Great North Road PO Box 36961 Lusaka, Zambia C +260 (0)977 740 164 E <u>Indo-hansen@cure.org</u> Carto.org

18<sup>th</sup> January, 2016

Ms Tracey Smythe London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London, WC1E7HT

Dear Tracey,

#### Re: Evaluation of Clubfoot Training in Ethiopia

Thank you very much for your assistance with the design and implementation of monitoring and evaluation of the clubfoot training activities related to the Africa Clubfoot Training (ACT) project (March 2015 – February 2017).

On behalf of the ACT partners (University of Oxford, CURE Ethiopia Children's Hospital, CURE Clubfoot programme and Global Clubfoot Initiative), we grant permission for you to include anonymised ACT project monitoring and evaluation data collected in accordance to agreed ACT project protocols as part of your PhD study entitled "Does the introduction of a standardised training programme improve quality of services for children with clubfoot?"

You may include monitoring and evaluation data collected with consent from course participants during clubfoot training courses held in Ethiopia during the ACT Project, and as part of follow-up monitoring and evaluation activities such as follow-up questionnaires and interviews with course participants up to one year after the training event.

The Africa Clubfoot Training project is funded by the UK Department for International Development and, as such, the use or publication of any data collected during the project is subject to the terms and conditions of the funding contract. Therefore I would be very grateful if you would confirm in writing your acceptance of these terms and conditions, specifically that:

- Any of your participation in monitoring and evaluation data collection on behalf of the ACT project will be undertaken in partnership with the ACT team, according to the ACT monitoring and evaluation plan approved by our funders
- You will notify the ACT project partners of public presentation or publication of work that includes ACT project data, and provide opportunity for review prior to submission or presentation.
- You will acknowledge the project funders and partners in publication or dissemination of work that includes ACT project data as per the funders' guidelines on acknowledgements in the main funding contract

With many thanks,

Yours sincerely,



Linda Hansen CURE Clubfoot – Regional Director, Africa

CC:

Grace Le, ACT Project Manager, University of Oxford Rosalind Owen, Global Clubfoot Initiative Programme Manager Richard Gardner, Consultant Orthopaedic Surgeon, CURE Ethiopia Children's Hospital

# Appendix 2 Information and consent documents

Appendix two contains the research information sheet and consent documents in Shona and English in the format that is required by the Medical Research Council of Zimbabwe.

## Information form and consent – Shona

Page 1 [of 2]

## INFORMED CONSENT FORM FOR ADULT CONSENT

London School of Hyglene & Tropical Medicine Reppel Street, London W01E 7HT United Kingdom Switchboard: +44 (0)20 7636 8636 www.ishtm.ac.uk



IRB No.

Evidence to Improve Clubfoot Services in Africa with Zimbabwe as a Case Study

Principal Investigator: Tracey Smythe Supervisor: Allen Foster Phone number 0785 939 322

Tinoda kukukokai kuti muve nhengo ye avo vanopinda muchidzidzo chiri maererano nemashandiro e clubfoot. Musati maita sarudzo, zvakakosha kuti munzwisise kuti sei tsvakiridzo iyi ichiitwa uye kuti chii chinodiwa. Torai nguva yenyu munyatsoverenga zvinyorwa izvi muchitauriranawo nevamwe kana zvichiita. Mutibvunze kana paine chimwe chisina kunyatsojeka kana kuti paine zvamunoda kutsanangurirwa.

Musoro wenyaya: humboo hwekuvandudza mashandiro e Clubfoot mu Africa.

#### Ndini ani

Ndinonzi Tracey Smythe, mudzidzi pachikoro chinonzi 'London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine'.

#### Zvatirikuita

Tinoda kunzwisisa kuti kurapwa kwe clubfoot kunoshanda sei mu Zimbabwe. Pakuita izvi, tinodawo kunzwa kuti munoti chii nemarapiro e clubfoot.

Kana mukabvuma, muchakumbirwa kudaira mibvunzo inoenderana nezvamakasangana nazvo kuchipatara che clubfoot uye zvamunofunga pamusoro pegumbo remwana wenyu. Zvehupenyu hwenyu zvinosanganisira zera, kuti muri munhurume kana munhukadzi nekwamunoshanda zvichabvunzwawo. Zita renyu richapiwa imwe nhamba yekudaidzwa nayo. Musati matanga kubvunzwa, muchanyora rugwaro rumoratidza kuti mabvuma kupinda muchirongwa ichi. Izvi zvinoitirwa tsvakiridzo yezvidzidzo. Zvinozoratidza kuti mumonzwisisa kuti chidzidzo chacho chiri maererano nei uye kuti mungapindawo sei muchidzidzo chacho. Kupinda muchirongwa ichi isarudzo yenyu, uye munogona kungobuda machiri chero nguva zvayo musina kutarisirwa kutaura zvikonzero zvekubuda. Kana mukabuda hamuzobhadhariswi kana kurasikirwa nechimwe chinhu. Kubvunzurudza chichava awa. Muchapandukirwa \$3- \$5 nokuda kwenyu kufamba mari.

#### Kuvanzika

Mhinduro dzenyu dzichachengetedzwa mumichina panzvimbo yakachengetedzwa dzoshandiswa izvozvi kana muneramangwana uye zvisingaburitswe kuti dzabva kunani. Kunogona kutanga kwaitwa dzimwe tsvakiridzo uye kupiwa mvumo neve Research Ethics Committee kuti zvinyorwa zvakachengetedzwa zvishandiswe munguva inotevera. Zvinyorwa zvese zvine mazita zvichagara zvakavharirwa munzvimbo yakachengetedzeka, hazvizoonekwi nevamwe vanhu uye zvichagara zvakavanzika sezvinotarisirwa nemutemo. Zvinyorwa zvese zvinobva mumibvunzo yamunobvunzwa zvingangotarisiswa zvakare neavo vane kodzero yekuona kuti tsvakiridzo inoitwa nemazvo. Vanhu vese ava vanotarisirwa kuchengetedza zita renyu rakavanzika.

Kana muine mibvunzo munogona kubvunza chero nguva ipi zvayo.

### Zvakaipirei

Parizvino, hationi chakaipa chingaitike nekuda kwekupinda kwenyu muchirongwa ichi. Zvibingamupinyi zvingangosanganikwa nazvo mushure mekupinda kwenyu muchirongwa ichi ndezvinongosanganikwawo nazvo mazuva ose muhupenyu.

#### Zvakanakirei

Tinovimba kuti chidzidzo ichi chichabatsira mukukurudzira kunzwisisa kurapwa kwe clubfoot mu Zimbabwe.

Tinotenda kutipa nguva yenyu.

## Page 2 [of 2]

IRB No.

Usati kusaina fomu ichi, tapota kubvunza chero mibvunzo iri chero chinhu chine chokuita kudzidza iri kujeka kwauri. Unogona kutora nguva yakawanda sezvinobvira zvakafanira kufunga pamusoro.

1.	Ndawana mukana wekufunga nezvakanyorwamo,ndikabvunz ndikapindurwa mibvunzo yangu	a mibvunzo uye	
2.	Ndinonzwisisa kuti kupinda muchidzidzo ichi isarudzo yangu kungobuda chero nguva ipi zvayo ndisina kupa chikonzero.	uye ndinogona	
3.	Ndinonzwisisa kuti zvinyorwa zvaunganidzwa kubva muchid zvingangotariswa nevakuru varipamutemo uye vanemvumo. I kuvanhu ava kuti vapiwe zvinyorwa	zidzo ichi Ndinopa mvumo	
4.	Ndinobvuma kuti mibvunzo yandabvunzwa pamwe nemhindu mumuchina wekutapa mazwi.	iro dzacho zviiswe	
5.	Ndinobvuma kuti dzimwe mhinduro dzangu dzishandiswe pał tsvakiridzo nezvimwewo zvinyorwa zvingada kuitwa.	kuita dzimwe	
б.	Ndinobvuma kuva nhengo yechidzidzo ichi.		
Zita re	ari kubvunzwa ne Signature	Date and Time	
Signat	ure reuchapupu		
Zita re	ari kubvunza ne Signature	Date and Time	

lwe achapiwa kopi chimiro ichi

Kana muine mibuunzo pamusoro kudzidza ichi muine uye vangada kutaura munhu asiri nhengo tsvakurudzo chikwata, tapota inzwa wakasununguka kuonana Medical Research Council of Zimbabwe on runhare 791792 kana 791193 uye cellphone nhamba 0784 956 128

## Information form and consent - English

Page 1 [of 2]

## INFORMED CONSENT FORM FOR ADULT CONSENT

London School of Hyglene & Tropical Medicine Reppel Street, London W01E 7HT United Kingdom Switchboard: +44 (0)20 7636 8636 www.ishtm.ac.uk



IRB No.\_\_\_

Evidence to Improve Clubfoot Services in Africa with Zimbabwe as a Case Study

Principal Investigator: Tracey Smythe Supervisor: Allen Foster Phone number 0785 939 322

We would like to invite you to take part in a study about clubfoot services. Before you decide, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with other people if you wish. Ask us if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information.

Title of the study: Evidence to improve clubfoot services in Africa

### Who I am

I am Tracey Smythe, a student at the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine. What we are doing

We would like to understand how treatment of clubfoot in Zimbabwe works. To do this, we would like to hear what you think about clubfoot treatment.

If you agree, you will be asked to answer some questions about your experience at the clubfoot clinic and what you think about your child's foot. Some personal information such as age, gender and employment will also be asked. Your name will be linked with a made up code number. Before the interview starts I will ask you to sign a consent form to show that you have agreed to take part. This is always done for a research study. It will show that you understand what the study is about and how you can take part. It is up to you to decide to join the study. Taking part is completely voluntary and you are free to withdraw at any time without giving a reason. If you do this there will be no penalties and you will not be prejudiced in any way. The interview will be an hour. You will be reimbursed \$3-\$5 for your travel costs.

### Confidentiality

Your answers will be stored electronically in a secure environment and used for research now or at a later date and will not reveal who you are. All future use of the stored data will be subject to further Research Ethics Committee review and approval. All identifying information will be kept in a locked file cabinet, will not be available to others and will be kept confidential to the extent possible by law. The records from your participation may be reviewed by people responsible for making sure that research is done properly. All of these people are required to keep your identification confidential.

If you have any questions you can ask them at any time. You can refuse to answer a question you do not want to answer.

### Disadvantages

At the present time, we do not see any risk of harm from your participation. The risks associated with participation in this study are no greater than those encountered in daily life.

### Advantages

We hope that this study will be helpful in promoting understanding of clubfoot treatment in Zimbabwe.

Thank you for your time.

Page 2 [of 4]

IRB No.

Before you sign this form, please ask any questions on any aspect of this study that is unclear to you. You may take as much time as necessary to think it over.

#### AUTHORIZATION

YOU ARE MAKING A DECISION WHETHER OR NOT TO ALLOW YOUR CHILD TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS STUDY. YOUR SIGNATURE INDICATES THAT YOU HAVE READ AND UNDERSTOOD THE INFORMATION PROVIDED ABOVE, HAVE HAD ALL YOUR QUESTIONS ANSWERED, AND HAVE DECIDED TO ALLOW YOUR CHILD TO PARTICIPATE.

The date you sign this document to enroll your child in this study, that is, today's date, MUST fall between the dates indicated on the approval stamp affixed to each page. These dates indicate that this form is valid when you enroll your child in the study but do not reflect how long your child may participate in the study. Each page of this Informed Consent Form is stamped to indicate the form's validity as approved by the MRCZ.

Name of Child (please print)

Name of Parent (please print)

Date and Time

Signature of Parent or legally authorized representative

Relationship to the Participant

Signature of Witness (Optional)

Name (Print) and Signature of Research Staff

Date and Time

YOU WILL BE GIVEN A COPY OF THIS CONSENT FORM TO KEEP.

If you have any questions concerning this study or consent form beyond those answered by the investigator, including questions about the research, your rights as a research Participant or research-related injuries; or if you feel that you have been treated unfairly and would like to talk to someone other than a member of the research team, please feel free to contact the Medical Research Council of Zimbabwe on telephone 791792 or 791193 and cellphone number 0784 956 128

## Shona caregiver consent - cohort

www.lshtm.ac.uk

Page 1 [of 2]

# INFORMED CONSENT FORM

FOR PARENTAL CONSENT London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Kepaie Street, Landon WC1E 7HT United Kingdom Switchbard: +34: 0-20 7636 8630



IRB No.

Evidence to Improve Clubfoot Services in Africa with Zimbabwe as a Case Study

Principal Investigator: Tracey Smythe Supervisor: Allen Foster Phone number 0785 939 322

## Rugwaro rwevabareki rwekutsvaka ruzivo pamusoro penhaurirano

Tinoda kukukokai kuti muve nhengo ye avo vanopinda muchidzidzo chiri maererano nemashandiro e clubfoot. Musati maita sarudzo, zvakakosha kuti munzwisise kuti sei tsvakiridzo iyi ichiitwa uye kuti chii inodiwa. Torai nguva yenyu munyatsoverenga zvinyorwa izvi muchitauriranawo nevamwe kana zvichiita. Mutibvunze kana paine chimwe chisina kunyatsojeka kana kuti paine zvamunoda kutsanangurirwa.

## Musoro wenyaya: humboo hwekuvandudza mashandiro e Clubfoot mu Africa.

#### Ndini ani

Ndinonzi Tracey Smythe, mudzidzi pachikoro chinonzi 'London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine'.

#### Zvatirikuita

Tinoda kunzwisisa kuti kurapwa kwe clubfoot kunoshanda sei mu Zimbabwe. Pakuita izvi, tinodawo kunzwa kuti munoti chii nemarapiro e clubfoot.

Kana mukabvuma, muchakumbirwa kudaira mibvunzo inoenderana nezvamakasangana nazvo kuchipatara che clubfoot uye zvamunofunga pamusoro pegumbo remwana wenyu. Zvehupenyu hwenyu vinosanganisira zera, kuti muri munhurume kana munhukadzi nekwamunoshanda zvichabvunzwawo. Zita renyu richapiwa imwe nhamba yekudaidzwa nayo. Musati matanga kubvunzwa, muchanyora rugwaro runoratidza kuti mabvuma kupinda muchirongwa ichi. Izvi zvinoitirwa tsvakiridzo yezvidzidzo. Zvinozoratidza kuti munonzwisisa kuti chidzidzo chacho chiri maererano nei uye kuti mungapindawo sei muchidzidzo chacho. Kupinda muchirongwa ichi isarudzo yenyu, uye munogona kungobuda machiri chero nguva zvayo musina kutarisirwa kutaura zvikonzero zvekubuda. Kana mukabuda hamuzobhadhariswi kana kurasikirwa nechimwe chinhu.

#### Kuvanzika

Mhinduro dzenyu dzichachengetedzwa mumichina panzvimbo yakachengetedzwa dzoshandiswa izvozvi kana muneramangwana uye zvisingaburitswe kuti dzabva kunani. Kunogona kutanga kwaitwa dzimwe tsvakiridzo uye kupiwa mvumo neve Research Ethics Committee kuti zvinyorwa zvakachengetedzwa zvishandiswe munguva inotevera. Zvinyorwa zvese zvine mazita zvichagara zvakavharirwa munzvimbo yakachengetedzeka, hazvizoonekwi nevamwe vanhu uye zvichagara zvakavanzika sezvinotarisirwa nemutemo. Zvinyorwa zvese zvinobva mumibvunzo yamunobvunzwa zvingangotarisiswa zvakare neavo vane kodzero yekuona kuti tsvakiridzo inoitwa nemazvo. Vanhu vese ava vanotarisirwa kuchengetedza zita renyu rakavanzika.

Kana muine mibvunzo munogona kubvunza chero nguva ipi zvayo.

#### Zvakaipirei

Parizvino, hationi chakaipa chingaitike nekuda kwekupinda kwenyu muchirongwa ichi. Zvibingamupinyi zvingangosanganikwa nazvo mushure mekupinda kwenyu muchirongwa ichi ndezvinongosanganikwawo nazvo mazuva ose muhupenyu.

#### Zvakanakirei

Hapana chouviri chamunowana pakupinda muchirongwa ichi. Zvichakadaro, tinovimba kuti chidzidzo ichi chichabatsira mukukurudzira kunzwisisa kurapwa kwe clubfoot mu Zimbabwe

Tinotenda kutipa nguva yenyu.

## English caregiver consent - cohort

Page 1 [of 2]

## INFORMED CONSENT FORM FOR PARENTAL CONSENT

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Reppel Streat, London W01E 7HT United Hingdom Switchboerd: +44 (0)20 7636 8636 www.ishtm.ac.uk



IRB No.

Evidence to Improve Clubfoot Services in Africa with Zimbabwe as a Case Study

## Principal Investigator: Tracey Smythe Supervisor: Allen Foster Phone number 0785 939 322

What you should know about this research study:

- We give you this consent so that you may read about the purpose, risks, and benefits of this research study.
- The main goal of research studies is to gain knowledge that may help future patients.
- You have the right to refuse to allow your child to take part, or agree for your child to take part now
  and change your mind later.
- Whatever you decide, it will not affect your child's regular care.
- Please review this consent form carefully. Ask any questions before you make a decision.
- · Your choice to allow your child to participate is voluntary.

#### PURPOSE

You are being asked to allow your child to participate in a research study of clubfoot management. The purpose of the study is to understand how treatment of clubfoot in Zimbabwe works. Your child was selected as a possible participant in this study because your child has had clubfoot treatment.

#### PROCEDURES AND DURATION

If you decide to allow your child to participate, your child will undergo one assessment of their feet for approximately one hour. It will be similar to the assessments your child had in the clubfoot clinic.

#### RISKS AND DISCOMFORTS

At the present time, we do not see any risk of harm from participation. The risks associated with participation in this study are no greater than those encountered in daily life.

#### BENEFITS AND/OR COMPENSATION

We hope that this study will be helpful in promoting understanding of clubfoot treatment in Zimbabwe. Reimbursement for your transport to and from the clinic with your child will be provided (\$3-\$5 in total).

#### CONFIDENTIALITY

If you indicate your willingness for your child to participate in this study by signing this form, we plan to let the Ministry of Health and Child Care and the Zimbabwe Sustainable Clubfoot Programme know the results. Any information that can be identified with your child will remain confidential and will be disclosed only with your, and when appropriate, your child's permission. Under some circumstances, the MRCZ and the local Institutional Review Board may need to review patient records for compliance audits. Identification will be kept confidential.

#### IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS

If you have questions, contact Tracey Smythe on 0785 939 322

#### VOLUNTARY PARTICIPATION

Participation in this study is voluntary. If you decide not to allow your child to participate in this study, your decision will not affect your or your child's future relations with the clinic. If you decide to allow your child to participate, you and your child are free to withdraw your consent and assent and discontinue participation at any time without penalty.

Page 2 [of 4]

IRB No.

Before you sign this form, please ask any questions on any aspect of this study that is unclear to you. You may take as much time as necessary to think it over.

#### AUTHORIZATION

YOU ARE MAKING A DECISION WHETHER OR NOT TO ALLOW YOUR CHILD TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS STUDY. YOUR SIGNATURE INDICATES THAT YOU HAVE READ AND UNDERSTOOD THE INFORMATION PROVIDED ABOVE, HAVE HAD ALL YOUR QUESTIONS ANSWERED, AND HAVE DECIDED TO ALLOW YOUR CHILD TO PARTICIPATE.

The date you sign this document to enroll your child in this study, that is, today's date, MUST fall between the dates indicated on the approval stamp affixed to each page. These dates indicate that this form is valid when you enroll your child in the study but do not reflect how long your child may participate in the study. Each page of this Informed Consent Form is stamped to indicate the form's validity as approved by the MRCZ.

Name of Child (please print)

Name of Parent (please print)

Date and Time

Signature of Parent or legally authorized representative

Relationship to the Participant

Signature of Witness (Optional)

Name (Print) and Signature of Research Staff

Date and Time

YOU WILL BE GIVEN A COPY OF THIS CONSENT FORM TO KEEP.

If you have any questions concerning this study or consent form beyond those answered by the investigator, including questions about the research, your rights as a research Participant or research-related injuries; or if you feel that you have been treated unfairly and would like to talk to someone other than a member of the research team, please feel free to contact the Medical Research Council of Zimbabwe on telephone 791792 or 791193 and cellphone number 0784 956 128

## Participant consent - ACT project

#### BASIC Pre-Course

#### Page 1 of 2

20170607

## ACT BASIC PRE-COURSE Participant Form

Welcome to the ACT Basic Clubfoot Treatment Provider Course.

#### 1. Enrolment

Please complete using CAPITAL letters

First Name:	
Surname/Family Name):	
Address:	
Email address:	
Mobile number including code:	
Age:	
Gender:	Male / Female
Gender: Course Location:	Male / Female
Gender: Course Location: Job title:	Male / Female
Gender: Course Location: Job title: Specialty:	Male / Female

## 2. Consent

We hope you enjoy this course and that what you learn will be of use to you in the future wherever you work.

In order to assess how relevant the course material is for your situation, at the start and end of the course we will ask you to answer a few questions and to complete a short assessment. Your answers will remain confidential and will not affect your being given a course attendance certificate.

Your name, address, telephone and email details will be kept by ACT only for the purposes of this course follow up. They will not be given to any third party without your consent.

We will take photos during the course and follow up visits which maybe used in an end of course report, or on our websites and other publications to promote the clubfoot training.

If you are happy to take part in the course and the follow up, please sign below.

I give my consent to participate in the course and the follow up described above. I understand that I can withdraw my consent at any time without giving a reason, and still attend the course.

Signature:\_\_\_\_\_Date:\_\_\_\_

# Appendix 3 Data collection forms

Appendix three contains the forms that were used to collect data in the cohort, and the cross-sectional study. Data were collected on paper forms.
## Pilot Clubfoot assessment form

Pilot Clubfoot As	sessment and Parent reported outcomes
T list Sidbloot As	sessment and Furent reported outcomes
Tick when attached:	
Heathcare satisfaction	
Quality of Life Questionnaire	
Roye Score Bandla Score	
Completed:	
Physical assessment	
Photograph	
	DATE:
Patient Name:	PID:
DOB:	Age:
Parent/Guardian	Phone
Address	
Date of last attendance at clubfo	ot clinic:
Reason for appointment:	
Ever Fitted for braces: Yes	No 🗖
Number of years braces worn: <	1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years
Humber of years blaces worth.	3.4 years 4.5 years
General Questions	
Where could improvements in vo	our experience of clubfoot management be made?
Referral to the clubfoot clinic	Yes No
The first clinic appointment	Yes No No
Information to take home Ves	
Time to ask questions of clubfee	
Schodulo of appointments (doub	
Schedule of appointments (day/r	
The tenetory	
The tenotomy procedure Yes	
Follow up atter tenotomy Yes	
Brace fitting Yes L	
Brace reviews Yes 🗌	No 🛄
Other	

1

## Pilot Clubfoot Assessment and Parent reported outcomes

Many parents and children have difficulties with bracing. Please could you tell us what problems you found, or what was difficult for you. What was easy?

	_		_	
B. Functional Activities	Yes	Not fully/with assistance	No	Comment on quality
6. Squatting				
7. Walking				
8. Running				
9. Up/down steps				
C. Clinical examination	Valgus	Straight	Varus	
10. Heel position - L				
Heel position - R				
	Fixed	Mobile	None	
11. Supination/Cavus - L				
Supination/ Cavus - R				
	> 0 dorsiflexion	0 / 90 degrees	< 0 dorsiflexion	
12. Ankle range - L				
Ankle range - R				

Further comments on quality of function/ROM/ Clinical measurements

### Clubfoot assessment form

Clubfoot Assessment	PID:		DATE:					
Tick when attached:         Heathcare satisfaction         Quality of Life Questionnaire         Completed:         Description	- -							
Physical assessment of Photograph			DATE:					
PID:								
DOB:		Age:						
Parent/Guardian		Phone						
Address								
Date of last attendance at clubfoot	clinic:							
Reason for appointment:								
Ever Fitted for braces: Yes	No E	]						
Number of years braces worn: <1	year 🗆	1-2 years 🗆	2-3years					
		3-4 years 🗆	4-5 years 🗆					
Many parents and children have difficulties with bracing. Please could you tell us what problems you found, or what was difficult for you. What was easy?								

Clubfoot Assessment		PID:		DATE:	
Roye Score					
1 How satis	sfied are you	with the statu	is of your child	l's foot?	
	Very satisfied	Somewhat satisfied	Somewhat dissatisfied	Very dissatisfied	
2 How satisfie	d are you witl	h the appeara	nce of your ch	nild's foot?	
	Very satisfied	Somewhat satisfied	Somewhat dissatisfied	Very dissatisfied	
3 How often is	your child tea	ased because	of his or her o	clubfoot?	
	Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always	
4 How often doe	es vour child l	have problem	e finding shoe	e that fit?	
4 110% 01(01/40)	Never	Sometimes	Usually	Alwavs	
5 How often does y	our child have	e problems fi	nding shoes h	e or she likes?	
	Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always	
6 Does your d	hild complair	n of pain in hi	s or her affect	ed foot?	
		Yes	No		
7 How lin	nited is your (	child in his or	her ability to	walk?	
	Not at all	Somewhat	Moderately	Very	
	IImited	limited	limited	limited	
8 How lin	nited is your	child in his or	har ability to	run?	
о по <b></b> ч ш	Not at all	Somewhat	Moderately	Very	
	limited	limited	limited	limited	
0 How much door	your shild as	malaia of asi	n during been	u exercise?	
9 How much does	your child co	Sometimes	I during neav	Alwaye	
	NOVO	Joineanica	osdany	Alwaya	
10 How much does v	our child con	nplain of pain	during moder	ate exercise?	
	Never	Sometimes	Usually	Always	

### Bangla Score

A. Parental rating	Yes	Don't know	No
1. Are you happy with your child's feet?			
<ol><li>Would you recommend this program to others?</li></ol>			
3. Does your child play with other children?			
4. Does your child wear shoes of your/their choice?			
5. Does your child have painful feet?			

2

Clubfoot Assessment

PID:

DATE:

B. Functional Activities	Yes	Not fully/with assistance	No	Comment on quality
6. Squatting				
7. Walking				
8. Running				
9. Up/down steps				
C. Clinical examination	Valgus	Straight	Varus	
10. Heel position – L				
Heel position – R				
	> 0 dorsiflexion	0 / 90 degrees	< 0 dorsiflexion	
11. Ankle range – L				
Ankle range – R				

#### Relapse

Description (Grade)	L	R
Reduced ankle DF (<15 to 0) (1A)		
Fixed ankle equinus <0 (2A)		
Dynamic supination, flexible (1B)		
Fixed adduction of forefoot (2B)		
Two or more deformities (3)		

#### Clubfoot score

Score	The foot is plantigrade	Does your child complain of pain in their affected foot?	Can your child wear shoes of your/their choice?	How satisfied are you with your child's foot?
1	Less than plantigrade with add,cavus, varus	Yes and it often limits their activity	Never	Very dissatisfied
2	Less than plantigrade	Yes and it sometimes limits their activity	Sometimes	Somewhat dissatisfied
3	Plantigrade	Yes but it does not limit their activity	Usually	Somewhat satisfied
4	More than plantigrade	No	Always	Very satisfied

## Shona Peds QL

In the	nast	ONE	month	how	much	of a	nrohlem	has	vour	child	had	with	
in uie	pasi	UNE	monui,	, 110w	much	01 d	problem	IIdo	your	cillia	IIdu	wiui	

Pamusoro pemuviri wake (problems with)	Haana	dzimwe nguva	Kazhinji	Dzaka- wanda	Nguva dzose
1. zvakandiomera kufamba chinhambwe chakareba	0	1	2	3	4
2. kumhanya	0	1	2	3	4
3. kutamba mitambo	0	1	2	3	4
4. kusimudza zvinhu zvinorema	0	1	2	3	4
5. kuita mabasa emumba	0	1	2	3	4
Pamusoro pekunzwa kwake (problems with)	Haana	dzimwe nguva	Kazhinji	Dzaka- wanda	Nguva dzose
1.kunzwa kutya	0	1	2	3	4
2. kunzwa kutsamwa	0	1	2	3	4
3. kunzwa hasha	0	1	2	3	4
<ol> <li>kutya zvinhu zvichaitika kwaari</li> </ol>	0	1	2	3	4
Pamusoro pekuva navamwe (problems with)	Haana	dzimwe nguva	Kazhinji	Dzaka- wanda	Nguva dzose
1. kutamba nevamwe zvakanaka	0	1	2	3	4
2. vamwe vana vanosarudza kusatamba naye	0	1	2	3	4
3. kutukwa navamwe	0	1	2	3	4
Pamusoro pechikoro (problems with)	Haana	dzimwe nguva	Kazhinji	Dzaka- wanda	Nguva dzose
1. kunzwisisa zvirikudzidziswa	0	1	2	3	4
2. kukanganwa zvinhu zvaadzidza	0	1	2	3	4
<ol><li>kurongeka pabasa rake rechikoro</li></ol>	0	1	2	3	4

# English Peds QL

In the	past ONF	month	how	much	of a	problem	has	vour	child had	d with	
	pastone	monui,	11011	mach	or a	problem	1103	your	crinic ner		

PHYSICAL FUNCTIONING (problems with)	Never	Almost never	Some- times	Often	Almost always
1. Walking 100meters	0	1	2	3	4
2. Running	0	1	2	3	4
3. Participating in sports activites or exercise	0	1	2	3	4
4. Lifting something heavy	0	1	2	3	4
5. Doing chores, like picking up his or her toys	0	1	2	3	4
EMOTIONAL FUNCTIONING (problems with)	Never	Almost never	Some- times	Often	Almost always
1. Feeling afraid or scared	0	1	2	3	4
2. Feeling sad	0	1	2	3	4
3. Feeling angry	0	1	2	3	4
4. Worrying about what will happen to him or her	0	1	2	3	4
SOCIAL FUNCTIONING (problems with)	Never	Almost never	Some- times	Often	Almost always
1. Getting on with other children	0	1	2	3	4
2. Other children not wanting to be his or her friend	0	1	2	3	4
3. Getting teased by other children	0	1	2	3	4
	_	_		_	
SCHOOL FUNCTIONING (problems with)	Never	Almost never	Some- times	Often	Almost always
1.Paying attention in class	0	1	2	3	4
2. Forgetting things	0	1	2	3	4
3.Keeping up with school activities	0	1	2	3	4

## Shona Healthcare Satisfaction PedsQL

#### Munofadzwa zvakadii neizvi...

Ruzivo	Haana	dzimwe nguva	Kazhinji	Dzaka- wanda nguva	Nguva dzose	Hazvi- goneke
1.Makapiwa ruzivo rwakawanda sei maringe nechirwere chakawanikwa chine mwana wenyu	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
2. Makapiwa ruzivo rwakawanda sei maringe nekurapwa nemamiriro ehutano hwemwana wenyu	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
3.Munopiwa ruzivo rwakadii maringe nezvingakanganiswe nemishonga yekurapa mwana wenyu	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
4.Mukawana nekukasika zvakadii zvakabuda mukuongororwa kwakaitwa mwana wenyu	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
5.Munoudzwa nezve hutano hwemwana wenyu mushure menguva yakareba sei	0	1	2	3	4	N/A

Kusanganisira vemhuri	Haana	dzimwe nguva	Kazhinji	Dzaka- wanda nguva	Nguva dzose	Hazvi- goneke
1.Mwoyo murefu wamakaratidzwa imi pamwe nevemhuri yenyu pairapwa mwana wenyu.	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
2.Chido chekupindura mibvunzo yamuinayo imi nevemhuri yenyu	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
3.Kurudziro yekuti imi nevemhuri yenyu mupinde munhaurirano pamusoro pemachengeterwo emwana wenyu, uye kupiwa ruzivo maringe nemamiriro ehutano hwemwana wenyu	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
4.Makapiwa mukana wakareba sei wekubvunza mibvunzo maererano nehurwere hwemwana wenyu pamwe nemarapirwo acho.	0	1	2	3	4	N/A

Healthcare satisfaction PID:				DATE:		
KUTAURIRANA	Haana	dzimwe nguva	Kazhinji	Dzaka- wanda nguva	Nguva dzose	Hazvi- goneke
1.Vashandi vakatsanangura zvakanaka sei mamiriro ehutano nekurapwa kwemwana wenyu nenzira yaakanzwisisa	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
2.Nguva yakatorwa kutsanangurwa mamiriro ehutano hwemwana wenyu nemarapirwo acho kwamuri nenzira yamakanzwisisa	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
3.Vashandi vaiterera nekunzwisisa zvichemo zvenyu here	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
4.Gadziriro yemakapiwa nezvekutarisira pazvinhanho zvese zvekurapwa kwemwana	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
5.Gadziriro yakapiwa mwana wenyu maringe nezvinhanho zvese zvekurapwa kwake.	0	1	2	3	4	N/A

MASHANDIRO AKANAKA	Haana	dzimwe nguva	Kazhinji	Dzaka- wanda nguva	Nguva dzose	Hazvi- goneke
1.Vashandi vanobata mwana zvakanaka sei	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
2.kuyedza kwavo kuti mwana wenyu agadzikana uye marwadzo ake aderere	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
3.vakatora nguva yakadii kubatsira pakudzoka kwemwana wenyu kumba	0	1	2	3	4	N/A

ZVITSVAKO ZVEMWOYO	Haana	dzimwe nguva	Kazhinji	Dzaka- wanda nguva	Nguva dzose	Hazvi- goneke
1.Nguva inopiwa mwana yekutamba,kutaura manzwiro ake uye nemibvunzo yaangangova nayo	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
2.Nguva inotorwa kubatsira mwana wenyu kudzokera kuchikoro	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
3.Nguva inotorwa kuchitariswa zvitsvago zvemwoyo wemwana wenyu	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
4.Nguva inotorwa kuchitariswa zvitsvago zvemwoyo <b>wenyu</b>	0	1	2	3	4	N/A

KUGUTSIKANA PANE ZVESE	Haana	dzimwe nguva	Kazhinji	Dzaka- wanda nguva	Nguva dzose	Hazvi- goneke
1.Zvese zvirikuitwa pakuchengeta mwana wenyu	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
2.Vashandi vakasununguka uye vanobatsira zvakadii	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
3.Nzira mwana wenyu yaanobatwa nayo kuchipatara	0	1	2	3	4	N/A

# English Healthcare satisfaction PedsQL

#### PedsQL 2

### How happy are you with...

INF	FORMATION	Never	Some- times	Often	Almost Always	Always	Not Appli
1.	How much information was provided to you about your child's diagnosis	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
2.	How much information was provided to you about the treatment and course of your child's health condition	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
3.	How much information was provided to you about the side effects of your child's treatment	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
4.	How soon information was given to you about your child's test results	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
5.	How often you are updated about your child's health	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
INC	CLUSION OF FAMILY	Never	Some- times	Often	Almost Always	Always	Not Appli
1.	The sensitivity shown to you and your family during your child's treatment	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
2.	The willingness to answer questions that you	0	1	2	3	4	N/A

						a de ben
<ol> <li>The sensitivity shown to you and your family during your child's treatment</li> </ol>	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
2. The willingness to answer questions that you and your family may have	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
<ol><li>The effort to include your family in discussion of your child's care and other information about your child's health condition</li></ol>	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
<ol> <li>How much time the staff gave you to ask any questions you may have had about your child's health condition and treatment</li> </ol>	0	1	2	3	4	N/A

COMMUNICATION	Never	Some- times	Often	Almost Always	Always	Not Appli
<ol> <li>How well the staff explained your child's health condition and treatment to your child in a way that she/he could understand</li> </ol>	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
<ol><li>The time taken to explain your child's health condition and treatment to you in a way you could understand</li></ol>	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
<ol> <li>How well the staff listens to you and your concerns</li> </ol>	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
<ol> <li>The preparation provided for you about what to expect during tests and procedures</li> </ol>	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
<ol><li>The preparation provided for your child about what to expect during tests and procedures</li></ol>	0	1	2	3	4	N/A

#### PedsQL 3

### How happy are you with...

TECHNICAL SKILLS	Never	Some- times	Often	Almost Always	Always	Not Appli
<ol> <li>How well the staff responds to your child's needs</li> </ol>	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
<ol><li>Efforts to keep your child comfortable and as pain-free as possible</li></ol>	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
<ol><li>How much time the staff took to help you with your child coming back home</li></ol>	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
EMOTIONAL NEEDS	Never	Some- times	Often	Almost Always	Always	Not Appli
<ol> <li>The amount of time given to your child to play.</li> </ol>						
talk about her/his feelings, and any questions she/he may have	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
<ol><li>The amount of time spent helping your child with going back to school</li></ol>	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
<ol> <li>The amount of time spent attending to your child's emotional needs</li> </ol>	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
<ol> <li>The amount of time spent attending to your emotional needs</li> </ol>	0	1	2	3	4	N/A

OVERALL SATISFACTION	Never	Some- times	Often	Almost Always	Always	Not Appli
<ol> <li>The overall care your child is receiving</li> </ol>	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
2. How friendly and helpful the staff is	0	1	2	3	4	N/A
3. The way your child is treated at the hospital	0	1	2	3	4	N/A

# Cross-sectional study

		Rating					
Domain	Criteria	0	1	2	3		
	There is an	In the past 8 weeks:	•	-			
Leadership	identifiable person in charge of the clinic	There was no identifiable person in charge of the clinics	There was an identifiable person in charge of 5 or fewer clinics	There was an identifiable person in charge of 6-7 clinics	There was an identifieable person in charge of every clinic		
	There are regularly	In the past 8 weeks:	•	-			
Human resources	two or more Ponseti trained health care workers (HCW) available at each clinic	There were fewer than 2 trained HCWs available at every clinic	There were 2 or more trained HCWs available in 5 or fewer clinics	There were 2 of more trained HCWs available in 6 -7 clinics	There were 2 or more trained HCWs available at every clinic	-	
	There is always	In the past 8 weeks:	•	-			
	plaster of paris available	Plaster of paris was not available for 3 or more clinics	Plaster of paris was not available for 2 clinics	Plaster of paris was not available for one clinic	There was always plaster of paris available		
Essential	There is always	In the past 8 weeks:	1	ļ.			
medical equipment	equipment (such as bucket and scissors/blade, tenotomy set, correct size braces) available	A bucket, scissors/blade, tenotomy set or correct size braces were not available for 3 or more clinics	A bucket, scissors/blade, tenotomy set or correct size braces were not available for 2 clinics	A bucket, scissors/blade, tenotomy set or correct size braces were not available for one clinic	There was always a bucket and scissors/blade, tenotomy set, correct size braces available	_	
Service delivery	There is a standard treatment protocol	There is no standard protocol for treatment of idiopathic clubfoot in children under 2 years, the older child with clubfoot or non-idiopathic clubfoot	There is a standard verbal treatment protocol but nothing in writing for treatment of idiopathic clubfoot in children under 2 years, the older child with clubfoot and non- idiopathic clubfoot	There is a written protocol for treatment of idiopathic clubfoot in children under 2 years, the older child with clubfoot and non-idiopathic clubfoot but it is not consistently used	There is a standard written protocol for treatment of idiopathic clubfoot in children under 2 years, the older child with clubfoot and non-idiopathic clubfoot and it is followed consistently		

	There is a	In the 2 most recent tenotomy cases:				
	functioning referral	There was no clinician to	The children were referred	The children were referred	The children were referred	
	system for	whom children requiring a	for tenotomy and there is	but the tenotomy was not	for tenotomy and it was	
	tenotomy	tenotomy could be referred	no record of the outcome	completed as anticipated	completed as anticipated	
	There is a process for surgical referrals	In the 2 most recent cases who required surgery:				
		There was no clinician to whom children requiring a surgical review could be referred	The children were referred and there is no record of the outcome	The children were referred but the surgery was not completed as anticipated	The children were referred for surgery and it was completed as anticipated	
	There is a process to monitor drop out of patients	There is no process to monitor drop out of patients	There is a verbal process to monitor drop out of patients but nothing in writing	There is a written protocol to monitor drop out of patients but it is not consistently followed	There is a written protocol to monitor dop out of patients and it is consistently followed	
	The clinic occurs on a specific day, at minimum weekly	In the past 8 weeks:				
		The clinic did not have an identified day for clubfoot treatment	The clinic has been held on the identified day/s for less than 6 of the weeks	The clinic has been held on the identified day/s for 6-7 of the weeks	The clinic has been held on the identified day/s every week	
Health information system	There is a completed clinic record for each patient visit	In the last 10 clinic records:				
		5 or less of the clinic records were filled in completely	6-7 of the records were filled in completely	8-9 of the clinic records were filled in completely	All of the clinic records were filled in completely	
Total score		*	•	•	8	